Public Document Pack

AGENDA FOR

PLANNING CONTROL COMMITTEE

Contact: Michael Cunliffe

Direct Line: 0161 253 5399

E-mail: m.cunliffe@bury.gov.uk

Website: www.bury.gov.uk

To: All Members of Planning Control Committee

Councillors : G McGill (Chair), C Boles, D Duncalfe,
U Farooq, J Harris, M Hayes, B Ibrahim, D Quinn,
G Staples-Jones, D Vernon and M Walsh

Dear Member/Colleague

Planning Control Committee

You are invited to attend a meeting of the Planning Control Committee
which will be held as follows:-

Date: Tuesday, 16 December 2025
Place: Peel Room, Bury Town Hall
Time: 7.00 pm

If Opposition Members and Co-opted Members require
o briefing on any particular item on the Agenda, the
Facilities: appropriate Director/Senior Officer originating the related
report should be contacted.

Briefing




AGENDA

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Members of the Planning Control Committee are asked to consider whether they
have an interest in any of the matters on the Agenda and, if so, to formally declare
that interest.

MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON THE 18TH NOVEMBER 2025
(Pages 3 - 6)

The Minutes of the meeting held on Tuesday the 18" November 2025 are attached.

PLANNING APPLICATIONS (Pages 7 - 160)

Reports attached.

ARTICLE 4 DIRECTION PROPOSAL - HOUSES IN MULTIPLE
OCCUPATION (Pages 161 - 218)

A report from the Head of Development Management is attached seeking
authorisation for the making of an immediate Article 4 Direction to give greater
planning controls over proposals for change of use from Use Class C3
(dwellinghouse) to Use Class C4 (HMO).

DELEGATED DECISIONS (Pages 219 - 232)

A report from the Head of Development Management on all delegated planning
decisions since the last meeting of the planning control committee is attached.

PLANNING APPEALS (Pages 233 - 256)

A report from the Head of Development Management on all planning appeal
decisions since the last meeting of the Planning Control Committee is attached.

URGENT BUSINESS

Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair agrees may
be considered as a matter of urgency.



Agenda Item 3

Minutes of: PLANNING CONTROL COMMITTEE
Date of Meeting: 18" November 2025
Present: Councillor G McGill (in the Chair)

Councillors C Boles, D Duncalfe, U Farooq, D Green, J Harris,
M Hayes, B Ibrahim, G Staples-Jones, D Vernon and M Walsh

Public Attendance: 25 members of the public and 2 members of the press were present
at the meeting.

PCCA

PCC.2

PCC.3

PCC.4

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were submitted by Councillor D Quinn.
Councillor D Green acted as a substitute representative for Councillor D Quinn.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no reported declarations of interest.

MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON THE 21ST OCTOBER 2025
Delegated decision:

That the Minutes of the meeting held on the 215 October 2025 be approved as a correct record
and signed by the Chair.

PLANNING APPLICATIONS

A report from the Head of Development Management was submitted in relation to applications
for planning permission.

There was supplementary information to add in respect of application numbers 72236, 72334
and 71784.

The Committee heard representations from applicants, objectors and Ward Councillors in
respect of the applications submitted. This was limited to three minutes for the speaker.

Delegated decisions:

1. That the Committee Approved with Conditions the following application in accordance
with the reasons put forward by the Development Manager in the report submitted and
subject to all other conditions included: -

Councillor B Ibrahim was absent from the meeting for the whole duration of this application on
the agenda and took no part in the determination or voting.

Councillor G McGillin his role as Chair presided over a casting vote after the voting process
was tied at 5 in favour of the Officer's recommendation and 5 against.

Shore Top Farm, Kearsley Road, Radcliffe, Manchester, M26 1FA
Construction, operation and decommissioning of a Battery Energy Storage System (BESS)
facility and associated infrastructure

Pagel3



Planning Control Committee, 18 November 2025

PCC.5

PCC.6

PCC.7

2. That the Committee Approved with Conditions the following application in accordance
with the reasons put forward by the Development Manager in the report and the
supplementary information submitted and subject to all other conditions included: -

Coach House, Knowsley View, Knowsley Road, Bolton, BL2 5PT
Change of use from coach house to 3 no. 2 bed apartments; Raising ridge height on existing
extension; Single storey front extension; Single storey side extension.

3. That the Committee Approved with Conditions the following application in accordance
with the reasons put forward by the Development Manager in the report and the
supplementary information submitted along with an additional condition in relation to
soundproofing in the interests of residential amenity and subject to all other conditions
included:-

10 Chiltern Drive, Bury, BL8 1QY
Change of use from residential property (Class C3) to Residential
institutions - Childrens home for 2 no children (Class C2)

4, That the Committee Approved with Conditions the following application in accordance
with the reasons put forward by the Development Manager in the report and the
supplementary information submitted along with an amended condition 10 in relation to
the inclusion of swift bricks and subject to all other conditions included: -

Land to rear of 69 Sandy Lane/Lowther Court, Prestwich, Manchester, M259PS
Demolition of existing garages and erection of 2 no. dwellings

DELEGATED DECISIONS

A report from the Head of Development Management was submitted listing all recent planning
application decisions made by Officers using delegated powers since the last meeting of the
Planning Control Committee.

Delegated decision:

That the report and appendices be noted.

PLANNING APPEALS

A report from the Head of Development Management was submitted listing all recent planning
and enforcement appeal decisions since the last meeting of the Planning Control Committee.

Delegated decision:

That the report and appendices be noted.

URGENT BUSINESS

No urgent business was reported.

Page 4



Planning ControlCommittee, 18 November2025
COUNCILLOR G MCGILL
Chair

(Note: The meeting started at 7.00pm and ended at 8.45pm)

Page3b



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 6



Agenda Item 4

Title Planning Applications

To: Planning Control Committee
On: 16 December 2025
By: Development Manager

Status: For Publication

Executive Summary

The attached reports present members with a description of various planning applications, the
results of consultations, relevant policies, site history and issues involved.

My recommendations in each case are given in the attached reports.

This report has the following implications

Township Forum/ Ward: l|dentified in each case.
Policy: Identified in each case.
Resources: Not generally applicable.

Equality Act 2010: All planning applications are considered in light of the Equality Act 2010 and
associated Public Sector Equality Duty, where the Council is required to have due regard for:
The elimination of discrimination, harassment and victimisation;

The advancement of equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic and person who do not share it;

The fostering of good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic
and person who do not share it; which applies to people from the protected equality groups.

Human Rights: All planning applications are considered against the provisions of the Human
Rights Act 1998.

Under Article 6 the applicants (and those third parties who have made representations) have the
right to a fair hearing and to this end full consideration will be given to their comments.

Article 8 and Protocol 1 of the First Article confer a right to respect private and family life and a
right to the protection of property, ie peaceful enjoyment of one's possessions which could
include a person's home, and other land and business assets.

In taking account of the Council policy as set out in the Bury Unitary Development Plan 1997 and
all material planning considerations, | have concluded on balance that the rights conferred upon
the applicant/ objectors/ residents/ other interested party by Article 8 and Article 1 of the First
Protocol may be interfered with, since such interference is in accordance with the law and is
justified in the public interest. Any restriction of these rights posed by refusal/ approval of the
application is legitimate since it is proportionate to the wider benefits of such a decision, is based

Page 7



upon the merits of the proposal, and falls within the margin of discretion afforded to the Council
under the Town & Country Planning Acts.

The Crime and Disorder Act 1998 imposes (without prejudice to any other obligation imposed on
it) a duty upon the Council to exercise its functions and have due regard to the likely effect of the
exercise of its functions on, and the need to do all that it reasonably can to prevent crime and
disorder in its area. In so doing and on making planning decisions under the Town and Country
Planning Acts, the Planning Control Committee shall have due regard to the provisions of the
Crime and Disorder Act 1998 and its implications in the exercise of its functions.

Development Manager

Background Documents

The planning application forms and plans submitted therewith.
Certificates relating to the ownership.

Letters and Documents from objectors or other interested parties.
Responses from Consultees.

POON =

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION ON THE CONTENTS OF EACH REPORT PLEASE CONTACT
INDIVIDUAL CASE OFFICERS IDENTIFIED IN EACH CASE.

Page 8



01

02

03

04

05

Township Forum - Ward: Radcliffe - East App No. 71426

Location: Land adjacent to Bealey Industrial Estate, Dumers Lane, Radcliffe,
Manchester, M26 2BD

Proposal: Demolition of buildings and erection of 77 no. affordable dwellings and
associated access off Wild Street, landscaping and parking.

Recommendation: Minded to Approve Site Visit: N

Township Forum - Ward: Radcliffe - East App No. 72127

Location: 25 Thomas Street, Radcliffe, Manchester, M26 2UH

Proposal: Change of use from public house (Sui Generis) to a 15 Bedroom (18

Persons) HMO together with first floor extension at side/rear and single
storey extension at rear
Recommendation: Approve with Conditions Site Visit: N

Township Forum - Ward: Whitefield + Unsworth - Unsworth App No. 72240

Location: Spurr House, Pole Lane, Bury, BL9 8QL

Proposal: Demolition of existing buildings, site clearance works including removal of
areas of hardstanding and the erection of two blocks of apartments,
comprising 60 no. residential units, relocation of existing site access, and
associated landscaping

Recommendation: Minded to Approve Site Visit: N
Township Forum - Ward: Prestwich - Holyrood App No. 72327
Location: 263 Bury Old Road, Prestwich, Manchester, M25 1JA

Proposal: Change of use from hot-food takeaway (Use Class Sui Generis) to part

ground floor office (Use Class E) and part ground floor and all first floor 3
bedroom (single occupancy) House in Multiple Occupation (HMO) (Use

Class C4)
Recommendation: Approve with Conditions Site Visit: N
Township Forum - Ward: Bury West App No. 72425
Location: 8 Stephen Street South, Bury, BL8 2NT
Proposal: Change of use from existing 6 bedroom (single occupancy) HMO to 6

bedroom (6-8 occupants) HMO (House in Multiple Occupation) (Use Class
Sui Generis)
Recommendation: Approve with Conditions Site Visit: N

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Ward: Radcliffe - East ltem 01

Applicant: Westchurch Homes Ltd

Location: Land adjacent to Bealey Industrial Estate, Dumers Lane, Radcliffe, Manchester, M26
2BD

Proposal: Demolition of buildings and erection of 77 no. affordable dwellings and associated
access off Wild Street, landscaping and parking.

Application Ref: 71426/F ull Target Date: 07/04/2025
Recommendation: Minded to Approve

It is recommended that this application is Minded to Approve subject to the signing
and completion of a Section 106 agreement for the provision of affordable housing. If
the agreement is not signed within a reasonable timeframe, then delegated authority
is sought by the Development Manager to determine the application.

Description

The application relates to an area of land to the north west of Dumers Lane. The site is
adjacent to the established Bealey Industrial Estate to the south and west and Eton Hill
Industrial Estate to the west. Residential dwellings are located to the east of the site along
Dumers Lane and north of the site along Borough Avenue and Seddon Avenue.

The site is allocated within the UDP as an employment generating area under Policy
EC2/1/10 - Eton Hill Road, Radcliffe. The site is also allocated within the UDP as Land for
Business (B1), General Industrial (B2) and Warehousing Uses (B8) under Policies EC1/1/21
- Former Wilds Paper Mill, Dumers Land and EC1/1/17 - Land Between Hutchinson's Goit
and Bealey's Goit, Radcliffe.

Planning permission is sought for the demolition of existing buildings in association with a
car wash and food use on the junction of Dumers Lane and Wild Street, removal/demolition
of steel containers and demolition of Units 15 and 13 of Bealey Industrial Estate. The
proposal also seeks removal of areas of hardstanding, external storage and parking
associated with the Industrial Estate.

The proposal seeks construction of 77 no. affordable dwellings and associated access off
Wild Street that would comprise the following:

¢ 18no. 1 bedroom flats;

e 6no. 2 bedroom houses;

e 37no. 3 bedroom houses; and

e 16n0. 4 bedroom houses.

135 no. parking spaces are proposed, across the site comprising 132 residents spaces and
3no. visitor spaces as well as areas of public realm landscaping. All properties would be
serviced by solar panels and Air Source Heat Pumps (ASHP).

Relevant Planning History

02971/E - Erection of circa 100 no. affordable dwellings including a new vehicular access to
Dumers Lane - Enquiry Complete 1st July 2024.

Page 11



Publicity

Letters sent to 216 neighbouring properties 08/01/2025. An additional 4 letters were sent on
the 20/01/2025.

Site notice posted 16/01/2025

Press notice within the Bury Times 23/01/2025

Application was advertised as a departure from the Local Plan via site notice and press
notice on the dates set out above.

15 objections were received in relation to:

The area has been subjected to multiple housing developments and is at capacity.

There are better brownfield sites that should be considered first.

Local primary school is at capacity and doctors and dentists severely limited.

No High School in Radcliffe

| object to the suggestion that these properties are to be affordable homes

Loss of light

Loss of privacy

Noise and vehicle pollution created by the new development and future occupants.

Industrial units are noisy and will impact future residents.

It will be an eyesore.

Existing residents in bungalows are predominantly elderly, disabled or both and would

not be able to cope with the building noise and may not be able to object or understand

the implications of not objection.

e United Utilities wouldn't be able to cope with the extra houses, the tanks they have are
not adequate for the properties that are already here.

e Loss of existing, established businesses that employ staff in the area without
compensation to those businesses.

e Loss of houses on Wild Street.

e Japanese knotweed on site. No plans to address this.

¢ With reference to Japanese Knotweed the removal plan must extend to all fringes (and
parts) of the Industrial Estate and not just the red line area. If you cannot condition an
industrial estate wide removal you must refuse the plan. Then the developers can come
back when they can undertake a whole industrial estate plan.

e No ecology report.

¢ Site supports nesting birds, hedgehog, common toad, frogs and smooth and palmate
newts.

e Swan Lodge and Bealey's Goit remnant is a Site of Biological Importance and some of
the amphibians which breed there will live on this site so yes, the development will be
detrimental to the SBI.

e Are the Biodiversity Net Gain figures correct? Have they been checked?

e There are badgers in the area - video submitted.

e The habitat of our local wildlife has been decimated over recent years due to the high
volume of other developments.

e The Transport Assessment does not take into consideration existing on street parking
on Dumers Lane restricting visibility both sides of proposed access.

¢ Relocation of the existing bus stop on eastbound carriage will push on street parking
down the road and exacerbate an existing problem.

e Cars/vans and HGVs frequently double park outside bungalows.

¢ Relocated bus stop should offer shelter if there's an increase in residents to encourage
public transport use.

e TA does not confirm parking provision alongside standards. Where do visitors park if

existing residents have to park on the road?

Page 12



Committed development in Transport Assessment should be agreed with the LPA (eg
like York Street).

Loss of bus stop and safe area to cross the road.

Increased traffic on Dumers Lane through this, and recently approved developments.
Not enough on site parking.

Not enough parking for existing residents on Dumers Lane.

Roads are in a state of disrepair

The proposal would create an access road not 10 metres up from an existing access
road.

Number of collisions happen on this road.

The new road will be placed on a bend in the road that has limited visibility.

Dumers Lane can not withstand vehicles coming onto site with construction materials.
On 26th December 2015 neighbouring properties on Seddon Avenue and Borough
Avenue were flooded as were other properties within this area.

We receive numerous amounts of flood warnings every year since this.

Taking away another piece of green space that can soak up some rain that can protect
our homes that house very vulnerable people should not be developed whatsoever.
The flood defences that were put in after the flooding in 2015 fail in Close Park across
the road.

No archaeology report.

There was a rail line which came in from the canal so | am always unhappy at potential
loss of industrial archaeology.

| see no provision for restricting access to the fields to the north. The fields have been
subject to anti social behaviour over the years and unrestricted access would encourage
this.

2 comments received in relation to:

—

If this development goes ahead | ask that integrated swift bricks be conditioned on the
basis of 1 or 2 per dwelling as recommended in ERAP's ecological report and in line
with the motion passed by Council last July.

ERAP has also recommended House Sparrow terraces, | would suggest that integrated
bird bricks, BS 42021 as recommended by CIEEM would be a better option, providing
nesting opportunities for several red listed species, including House Sparrows and
Starlings.

Because of their protective agenda has the developers and with your collaboration taken
into account of the bats existence and protection.

representation from the Lancashire Wildlife Trust received in relation to:

Biodiversity Net Gain Metric not available on the website. GMEU have commented on
the metric and their concerns must be addressed.

Main concern regarding the development is potential impacts on priority species due to
the proposed off-site habitat provision.

The habitat creation map for indicates that even on the area identified as other neutral
grassland, trees are to be planted throughout. It is unclear as to what the ecological
reasoning is behind planting trees within the grassland habitat.

Tree planting might also have an adverse impact on any ground nesting birds that are
currently using the site.

As far as | can determine, no assessment for priority species has been undertaken on
the off-site habitat.

Recommend that an assessment of the off-site compensation area in terms of its
potential to support priority species is undertaken and the conclusions set out.

Note that GMEU have welcomed the boundary changes to avoid Swan Lodge and
Bealey’s Goit and maximise the buffer to Hutchinsons Goit. My only comment here

Page 13



therefore is that in the past, there has been a loss of habitat due to partial infilling of
Bealey's Goit. My feeling is that habitat enhancement works within the Swan Lodge
area/SBI would provide a better outcome than trying to squeeze in BNG requirements
off-site that might not provide the best overall biodiversity outcome.

e With regard to the clearance works within the development area, | would call attention to
the fact that all the habitats on site have the potential to support nesting birds, including
trees, shrubs and Bramble and tall herb habitat. Method statements for habitat
clearance works must include all these habitats. Precautionary working measures must
also be put in place for amphibians.

e Welcome that Swift has been identified as a bird that can be aided outside of the BNG
requirements

Following receipt of amended, that included the removal of a proposed access directly from
Dumers Lane and upgrade of Wild Street and additional plans amending the internal layout
further neighbour letters sent 01/09/2025.

Councillor Birchmore relayed the following concerns:

¢ Although | understand the need for affordable housing, | do have some concerns about
this particular application.

e | am disappointed that the revised plans still do not appear to take into account the
concerns of the residents living in the bungalows from 179 to 207 Dumers Lane relating
to loss of privacy and light.

e As you are aware there is a right to light and positioning two story houses behind single
story houses is likely to impact on that right.

o What the developer should do is to build the houses directly behind the properties on
Dumers Lane within the same roof line as the existing properties i.e. bungalows.

e | am also aware of safety concerns expressed by residents in relation to the road
access.

e Dumers Lane is a very busy road and residents have already experienced damage to
their vehicles on a number of occasions.

e | am aware that a study in relation to environment issues has been submitted but it is
not clear as to whether the developer has listened to those concerns.

9 objections were received in relation to:

We don't need more houses. The area is already overcrowded.

Roads are in terrible condition.

Increased congestion and pollution.

Parking occurs on Dumers Lane which is a strategic route and creates hazards.

Driveways for plots 1 and 6 should not be accessed from Dumers Lane.

Adding to traffic will cause more hazards at existing junctions wtihin the vicinity of the

site.

Buses, HGVs, vans, and residents all battle for space, and it's dangerous.

¢ Increase traffic on Wild Street would be problematic. Turning on to the main road at
that junction frequently causes near accidents with the kink in the road there

e The row of terraces next to Wild Street have an area of on-street parking and the
residents' vehicles (daily) park right on the Wild Street/Dumers Lane priority junction.

o Visibility from Wild Street is very limited.

¢ When HGVs do enter the site, the access isn't sufficient to allow this size of vehicle to
enter and manoeuvre within the site.

¢ HGVs from Bealey Industrial Estate park up in the adjacent bus stop and on the
footway.

e Two parking spaces per four-bed house is insufficient and will lead to parking on
Dumers Lane.

Page 14



Lack of parking for existing residents on Dumers Lane.

Developer should provide drives for the existing houses on Dumers Lane.

Loss of local businesses and jobs.

Drains in area have been blocked this year and needed clearing.

Flooding from increased surface ground water and river.

Heavy rain resulted in reservoir filling up, residents are not happy with plans that have
not been considered regards the water and filling up of these reservoirs.

| want to know what reports have been done regarding the badgers.

e Where will the wildlife on the land go?

When will the developer is going to clear the Japanese knotweed and brambles that are
coming into my garden from their land.

Planting trees will reduce light into existing gardens.

Noise and disruption from construction.

Not affordable. Private landlords will buy them and rent them out.

| have a lot of very vulnerable neighbours who either can not or are incapable of
understanding the consequences of not objecting to this application.

e Not enough school places.

—

comment received in relation to:

¢ | don't so much have an issue with the building of the houses, however, | do have a
major issue with the number of 60ft wagons turning in and out of these Bealey Industrial
Estate, every day especially in the evening.

o These wagons are parked in the bus stop behind Riverside Road, and all down Dumers
Lane. This is a issue with visibility when turning in and out of Riverside Road. This week
| have noticed a number of Amazon Prime vans parked on Riverside Road, blocking
driveways.

e Will the new residents of the proposed new houses, be made aware that Bealey Trading

Estate, is becoming increasing busy, with wagons moving in & out of the site at all

times?

Statutory/Non-Statutory Consultations
Traffic Section - To be updated in supplementary

Waste Management - No response received.

Environmental Health - Contaminated Land - Conditions requested in relation to site
characterisation and risk assessment, remediation strategy and verification, unexpected
contamination, imported soil, EV charge points and dust management.

Greater Manchester Ecology Unit - Conditions requested in relation to the submission of
a CEMP, updated protected species survey, nesting birds, precautionary measures method
statement of common toad, hedgehog, badger, otter and other mammals, management
strategy for Himalayan Balsalm, verigated yellow - archangel, virginia creeper and
monbretia.

In terms of Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) an updated metric and BNG assessment have been
provided. An on-site 30 year Habitat Management and Monitoring Plan (HMMP) will be
required for the other neutral grassland, mixed scrub and urban trees. For the off-site
proposals, on land within their ownership elsewhere in the Borough, an HMMP will also be
required in order to register the site with Defra along with a legal agreement with a third
party such as the Local Planning Authority.

Environment Agency - No objection to this proposal subject to conditions in relation to
finished floor levels, ground water and contaminated land and informatives in relation to

Page 15



model procedures and good practice.

Mining Remediation Authority - No objection to the proposed development. Requested
informative in relation to what should be done should a coal mining feature be encountered
during development. May be prudent for the LPA to remove Permitted Development Rights
for the erection of any extensions or curtilage buildings at Plot 59 & 60. This will enable the
safety and stability implications of coal mining legacy to be considered by the LPA in the
event of future householder development proposals for these specific plots.

Greater Manchester Police - designforsecurity - No response received.

United Utilities (Water and waste) - Can confirm that whilst the proposals are acceptable
in principle, there is insufficient information on the detail of the drainage design. SuDs
condition requested.

Drainage Section - No response received.

Greater Manchester Fire - The proposal should meet the requirements for Fire Service
access.

Transport for Greater Manchester - No objections raised to the amended layout and
updated Transport Assessment. Informative requested in relation to the proximity of new
dwellings to the existing bus stop.

Environmental Health - Pollution Control - In accordance with the noise impact
assessment carried out, it is recommended that the acoustic fencing (shown in the
proposed site layout) along the northern and western boundaries of the development is
included as a condition for the development.

In line with the noise impact assessment carried out, the living room and bedroom windows
for the houses indicated should be fitted with enhanced glazing as well as double glazing
for the other properties included in the development. Also, to achieve the acceptable
internal noise criteria, all living rooms and bedrooms for the indicated properties will require
an acoustically treated means of ventilation, instead of standard window frame slot vents.

G M Archaeological Advisory Service - Having checked records satisfied that the
proposed development does not threaten the known or suspected archaeological heritage.
On this basis there is no reason to seek to impose archaeological requirements upon the
applicant.

Pre-start Conditions - Sent to agent for agreement. To be updated in supplementary

Development Plan and Policies

EN1/2 Townscape and Built Design

ENG6/2 Sites of Nature Conservation Interest LNR's
ENG6/3 Features of Ecological Value

EN6/4 Wildlife Links and Corridors

EN7/2 Noise Pollution

EN7/3 Water Pollution

EN7/5 Waste Water Management

ENB8/2 Woodland and Tree Planting

H1/2 Further Housing Development

H2/1 The Form of New Residential Development
H2/2 The Layout of New Residential Development
H3 Incompatible Uses in Residential Areas

Page 16



H3/1 Assessing Non-Conforming Uses

H3/2 Existing Incompatible Uses

H4/1 Affordable Housing

EC2/1 Employment Generating Areas

EC1/1 Land for Business (B1) (B2) (B8)

RT2/2 Recreation Provision in New Housing Development
HT2/4 Car Parking and New Development

JP-J1 Supporting Long-Term Economic Growth

JP-J2 Employment Sites and Premises

JP-J4 Industry and Warehouing Development

JP-C1 Our Integrated Network

JP-C2 Digital Connectivity

JP-C3 Our Public Transport

JP-C5 Streets For All

JP-C6 Walking and Cycling

JP-C8 Transport Requirements of New Development
JP-H3 Type, Size and Design of New Housing

JP-H4 Density of New Housing

JP-S2 Carbon and Energy

JP-S4 Flood Risk and the Water Environment

JP-S5 Clean Air

JP-P1 Sustainable Places

JP-P6 Health

JP-G2 Green Infrastructure Network

JP-G7 Trees and Woodland

JP-G8 A Net Enhancement of Biodiversity and Geodiversity
JP-G1 Landscape Character

NPPF National Planning Policy Framework

SPD2 DC Policy Guidance Note 2: Wildlife Links & Corridors
SPD1 Open Space, Sport and Recreation Provision
SPD5 DC Policy Guidance Note 5: Affordable Housing
SPD6 Supplementary Planning Document 6: Alterations & Extensions
SPD11 Parking Standards in Bury

SPD14 Employment Land and Premises

Issues and Analysis

The following report includes analysis of the merits of the application against the relevant
policies of both the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), the adopted Places for
Everyone Joint Development Plan Document (PfE) and the saved policies within the
adopted Bury Unitary Development Plan (UDP), together with other relevant material
planning considerations.

The policies of the UDP that have been used to assess this application are considered to be
in accordance with the NPPF and as such are material planning considerations. For
simplicity, just the UDP and PfE Policies will be referred to in the report, unless there is a
particular matter to highlight arising from the NPPF where it would otherwise be specifically
mentioned.

Principle (Loss of Employment)

The site is located within an Employment Generating Area (EGA) under UDP Policy EC2/1
and specifically under EC2/1/10 (Eton Hill Road).

Policy EC2/1 states that in the defined Employment Generating Areas, the Council will only
allow development for the uses specified. Other uses will only be permitted where they

Page 17



constitute limited development or do not substantially detract from an area's value as an
Employment Generating Area.

Within the EGA designated under EC2/1/10, the specified uses are for B1 (now falling
under Class E(g)), B2 or B8 development.

In the context of Policy EC2/1, the proposal involves the loss of a significant proportion of
the EGA. Consequently, it is not considered that the proposal constitutes limited
development.

As such, it is considered that the proposal would conflict with UDP Policy EC2/1.

Parts of the site are also allocated for employment use under UDP Policy EC1/1 and
specifically EC1/1/21 (Former Wilds Paper Mill).

Policy EC1/1 states that the Council will only allow development for the uses specified.
Other uses will only be permitted in exceptional circumstances and in accordance with other
policies and proposals contained within the UDP.

The uses specified for UDP Allocation EC1/1/17 and Allocation EC1/1/21 are B1 (now
falling under Class E(g)), B2 or B8 development.

As such, it is considered that the proposal would conflict with UDP Policy EC1/1.

However, in considering the proposal, there is also a need to take account of paragraph
127 of the NPPF, which states that:

Planning policies and decisions need to reflect changes in the demand for land. They
should be informed by regular reviews of both the land allocated for development in plans,
and of land availability. Where the local planning authority considers there to be no
reasonable prospect of an application coming forward for the use specified allocated in a
plan:

a) It should, as part of plan updates, reallocate the land for a more deliverable use that can
help to address identified needs (or, if appropriate, deallocate a site which is undeveloped);
and

b) In the interim, prior to updating the plan, application for alternative uses on the land
should be supported, where the proposed use would contribute to meeting an unmet need
for development in the area.

In the context of the NPPF, the Council would need to be satisfied that there was no
reasonable prospect of the site being retained or redeveloped for employment uses before
being in a position where its redevelopment for housing could be supported.

In this respect, the Council has developed SPD14 and whilst the advice contained in this

SPD does not generally relate to Employment Generating Areas as identified under UDP

Policy EC2/1, it does specify that in exceptional circumstances, the Council may consider
applying the approach specified in this SPD to employment sites within EGAs.

The approach within the SPD is designed to give an opportunity for developers to
demonstrate that an existing employment site has no reasonable prospect of being retained
in that use and this reflects the requirements of para 127 in the NPPF. As such, itis
considered that this would constitute the exceptional circumstances for applying the
requirements of SPD14 to this proposal.

In basic terms, SPD14 seeks to retain sites that are suitable, in land use terms, for

Page 18



continued employment use although it does allow for a greater degree of flexibility in so far
as it considers viability issues as well as assessing the suitability of the site from a purely
land use perspective.

From a land use perspective, the site is part of an established concentration of employment
uses that remains a suitable use for this location.

An assessment is therefore required to determine whether retaining the site in employment
is viable and there is no realistic prospect of the site being used for this purpose. = SPD14
requires applications which involve the potential loss of employment land to submit robust
evidence to demonstrate that the site has been actively and comprehensively marketed at a
realistic value and for a minimum of 12 months.

Whilst evidence of specific marketing has not been provided, the Planning Statement does
set out the market demand for floorspace within Bealey's Industrial Estate. It identifies
several vacant units within the industrial estate, states that the location is tertiary industrial
market location and describes the recent investment into the estate. The Planning
Statement concludes in paragraph 5.20 that there is no proven demand for the application
site to be used for employment purposes. The buildings proposed to be demolished are
essentially poor-quality shipping containers which are not considered fit for purpose for
employment use and the allocation has not come forward for employment use since the
UDP was adopted in 1997. Given these factors, the vacant units in the remainder of the
industrial estate and recent investment, it is highly unlikely that the application site would be
refurbished or redeveloped for employment use.

In such circumstances, SPD14 specifies that consideration will be given to alternative uses
subject to a one-off financial contribution to offset this loss of the employment land.
Contributions are then used to help bring forward employment opportunities elsewhere in
the Borough.

Given that it is accepted that there is no reasonable prospect of the application site coming
forward for its allocated/designated use and the unmet housing need within the Borough
detailed below, the Council would consider an alternative use subject to a one-off
contribution for the loss of the employment land. This contribution will be discussed further
below in relation to viability.

Principle (Residential)

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is a material planning consideration in
planning decisions, and emphasises the Government's objective of significantly boosting
the supply of homes. The Framework states that local planning authorities should identify
and update annually a supply of specific deliverable sites to provide a minimum of five
years' worth of housing, with either a 5% buffer to ensure choice and competition in the
market for land, or a 20% buffer where there has been significant under delivery of housing
over the previous three years. As set out in NPPF paragraph 78, the supply of housing must
be assessed against the housing requirement set out in adopted strategic policies where
these are less than five years old.

The joint Places for Everyone Plan was adopted with effect from 21 March 2024 and sets
the up-to-date housing requirement for Bury against which the deliverable supply of housing
land must be assessed. PfE Policy JP-H1 sets the following stepped targets for Bury:

- 246 homes per year from 2022-2025;

- 452 homes per year from 2025-2030; then

- 520 homes per year from 2030-2039.

Bury's Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment is an assessment of potential sites

Page 19



for residential development and is used to assess the housing land supply. It includes sites
that have an extant planning permission, sites allocated through the joint Places for
Everyone Plan and sites that have potential to obtain planning permission in the future. This
shows that there are a number of sites within the Borough with the potential to deliver a
significant amount of housing. However, not all of these sites will contribute to the
deliverable land supply calculations as many sites will take longer than five years to come
forward and be fully developed.

The Council has carried out an assessment of the housing land supply to determine
whether sites meet the deliverability tests in the NPPF and can contribute to the five year
supply of housing land. Based on the 2025 5-year supply statement, the Council has
demonstrated a 4.3 year supply of housing land. This includes a 20% buffer (as currently
required in Bury due to past under delivery) and accounts for past oversupply when
assessed against the adopted PfE housing requirement. The Council is therefore currently
unable to demonstrate a deliverable five-year supply of housing land against the adopted
housing requirement.

The National Planning Policy Framework also sets out the Housing Delivery Test (HDT),
which is an assessment of net additional dwellings provided over the previous three years
against the homes required. Where the test indicates that the delivery of housing was
substantially below (less than 75%) the housing requirement over the previous years, this
needs to be taken into account in the decision-taking process. The latest results published
by the Government (the 2023 measurement published on 12 December 2024) show that
Bury has a HDT result of less than 75%.

The five year supply position and the housing delivery test result need to be treated as
material factors when determining applications for residential development.

Paragraph 11(d) of the National Planning Policy Framework states that where there are no
relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most important for determining
the application are out-of-date, planning permission should be granted unless:

i. The application of policies in the Framework that protect areas, or assets of particular
importance, provide a strong reason for refusing the development proposed; or

ii. Any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the
benefits, when assessed against the policies in the Framework, having particular regard to
key policies for directing development to sustainable locations, making effective use of land,
securing well-designed places and providing affordable homes, individually or in
combination.

This means that as a result of the lack of five year supply and the latest published HDT
result the 'tilted balance' set out in NPPF paragraph 11(d) applies and planning permission
should be granted unless the above points Para 11(d) i or ii apply.

The site is located within an established urban area, outside of the Green Belt. As such the
proposal is considered to be acceptable in principle.

Layout and Design

PfE Policy JP-H4 - Requires new housing development to be delivered at a density
appropriate to the location, reflecting the relative accessibility of the site by walking, cycling
and public transport and the need to achieve efficient use of land and high quality design.
Policy JP-H4 sets out minimum densities that should be considered. Therefore in
accordance with Policy JP-H4 regard should be had to a minimum net residential density of
35 dwellings per hectare at this site. The application form states that the site is 1.93
hectares, which based on a total of 87 dwellings would result in a density of 45 dwellings
per hectare. This exceeds the minimum density on site and as such it is considered that the

Page 20



proposal would achieve efficient use of land in accordance with the above Policy.

UDP Policies H2/1 and H2/2 provide the assessment criteria for detailed matters relating to
height, appearance, density and character, aspects and finishing materials for new
residential developments. UDP Policy EN1/2 seeks to ensure that development proposals
would not have a detrimental effect on the visual amenity and character of a particular area.
PfE Policy JP-P1 seeks to create a city region that consists of a series of beautiful, healthy
and varied places. High quality design is fundamental to achieving this. PfE Policy JP-H3
seeks to provide an appropriate mix of dwelling types and sizes reflecting local plan policies
and having regard to relevant local evidence. Development across the plan area should
seek to incorporate a range of dwelling types and sizes, including for self-build.

The site would be accessed from Wild Street, an existing access that currently serves
Bealey Industrial Estate. Plots 1- 6 would face Dumers Lane with the remaining plots sited
to the rear of the existing properties at 173-207 Dumers Lane. 12no. housetypes are
proposed, ranging from 1no. bed to 4no.bed and accommodated within buildings that would
be 2 - 2.5 storey in height. The Wollaton, Wollaton Alt and Alnwick + Housetypes would
provide accommodation within the loft space of the proposed dwellings. Dwellings would be
semi-detached or located within short terraced rows, with the 1no. bed units provided within
two storey blocks of flats within the north west corner of the site (Burghley).

Principle elevations would face either Dumers Lane, or the proposed internal estate roads.
Areas of private amenity space are located to the rear of each individual property with areas
of shared amenity space located to the rear of the blocks of 1no. bed properties. Parking
would be provided either to the sides of dwellings, or within small parking court areas.
Areas of landscaping are proposed to the fronts of dwellings, with additional soft
landscaping also proposed within public realm areas. Each dwelling would have an area for
bin storage within the curtilage of the dwelling house, with shared bin storage for the two
storey blocks of flats. The Waste Management plan identifies bin collection points for each
dwelling. Boundaries to the rear gardens would largely be depicted by 1.8 metre timber
fencing, with a 1.8 metre brick wall proposed to the rear of plots 1 - 6 and 3 metre acoustic
fencing proposed on the boundary with the adjacent industrial estate.

It is considered that the level of amenity space for the proposed dwellings would be
acceptable and there would be space to the side or rear of each property for bin and cycle
storage. Pedestrian access to the gardens associated with each property is provided to
allow access to the bin and cycle storage. The areas for cycle storage have not been shown
on the proposed layout however there is sufficient space in and around the dwellings, and
flats and as such it is considered that this detail could be secured by a pre-commencement
condition. The areas of soft landscaping to the fronts of dwellings are welcomed and would
provide relief between the areas of parking and roads. Proposed hard landscaped boundary
treatments would be limited to the rear of properties to depict the areas of private amenity
space.

Street scenes have been submitted, that show the properties on Dumers Lane in relation to
the existing residential properties as well as a street scene within the site that indicates the
relationship between the different housetypes. Plot 1 would be a dual aspect property with
an active frontage also located on Wild Street. The scale of these dwellings, and the
dwellings within the wider site is considered to be acceptable and would replicate the two
storey dwellings that can be found on Dumers Lane and Borough Avenue within the vicinity
of the site. Elements of interest have been added to the fronts of the proposed housetypes
in various ways including porch canopies, areas of render, headers and cills and projecting
two storey gables. Whilst varying in design, the house types are tied together through the
elements of red facing brick which replicate the materials utilised within the adjacent
housing estates.

Page 21



It is therefore considered that the proposed development would fit appropriately within the
locality and would be in accordance with Policies H2/1, H2/2, EN1/2, JP-P1 and JP-H3.

PfE Policy JP-H3 also states that all new dwelling must:

1. Comply with the nationally described space standards (NDSS); and

2. Be built to the ‘accessible and adaptable’ standard in Part M4(2) of the Building
Regulations unless specific site conditions make this impracticable.

The proposal includes a range of 1, 2, 3 and 4 bed homes. Details confirm that all the
dwellings will meet NDSS and included a table on each of the proposed house type plans.

The following house types are proposed:

e Alnwick - 3no. bed property. Bedroom 1 would comply with standards for a double
occupancy room. Bedrooms 2 and 3 would comply with standards for a single
occupancy room. Gross Internal Area (GIA) would comply with the requirements for a 2
storey, 3 bed, 4 person dwelling. In built storage complies with NDSS standards.

e Alnwick+ - 4no. bed property. Master bedroom and bedroom 1 would comply with
standards for double occupancy. Bedrooms 2 and 3 would comply with guidance for
single occupancy. GIA would comply with requirements for a 3 storey, 4 bed, 6 person
dwelling.

e Burghley Ground Floor - 1no. bed property. Bedroom would comply with double
occupancy standards. GIA would comply with requirements for a 1 storey, 1 bed, 2
person dwelling. In built storage complies with NDSS standards.

e Burghley First Floor - 1no. bed property. Bedroom would comply with double occupancy
standards. GIA would comply with requirements for a 1 storey, 1 bed, 2 person dwelling.
In built storage complies with NDSS standards.

e Chester - 3no. bed property. Bedroom 1 would comply with standards for a double
occupancy room. Bedrooms 2 and 3 would comply with standards for a single
occupancy room. Gross Internal Area (GIA) would comply with the requirements for a 2
storey, 3 bed, 4 person dwelling. In built storage complies with NDSS standards.

¢ Gainford - 3no. bed property. Bedroom 1 would comply with standards for a double
occupancy room. Bedrooms 2 and 3 would comply with standards for a single
occupancy room. Gross Internal Area (GIA) would comply with the requirements for a 2
storey, 3 bed, 4 person dwelling. In built storage complies with NDSS standards.

e Gainford Alt - 3no. bed property. Bedroom 1 would comply with standards for a double
occupancy room. Bedrooms 2 and 3 would comply with standards for a single
occupancy room. Gross Internal Area (GIA) would comply with the requirements for a 2
storey, 3 bed, 4 person dwelling. In built storage complies with NDSS standards.

¢ Knaresborough - 2no. bed property. 3no. bed property. Bedroom 1 would comply with
standards for a double occupancy room. Bedroom 2 would comply with standards for
a single occupancy room. Gross Internal Area (GIA) would comply with the
requirements for a 2 storey, 2 bed, 3 person dwelling. In built storage complies with
NDSS standards.

e Peover - 3no. bed property. Bedrooms 1 and 2 would comply with standards for a

Page 22



double occupancy rooms. Bedroom 3 would comply with standards for a single
occupancy room. Gross Internal Area (GIA) would comply with the requirements for a 2
storey, 3 bed, 5 person dwelling. In built storage complies with NDSS standards.

¢ Ripley - 4no. bed dwelling. Bedroom 1 would comply with standards for a double
occupancy room. Bedrooms 2, 3 and 4 would comply with standards for a single
occupancy rooms. Gross Internal Area (GIA) would comply with the requirements for a 2
storey, 4 bed, 5 person dwelling. In built storage complies with NDSS standards.

e Wollaton - 3no. bed property. Bedrooms 1 and 2 would comply with standards for a
double occupancy room. Bedroom 3 would comply with standards for a single
occupancy room. Gross Internal Area (GIA) would comply with the requirements for a 3
storey, 3 bed, 5 person dwelling. In built storage complies with NDSS standards.

¢ Wollaton Alt+ - 3no. bed property. Bedrooms 1 and 2 would comply with standards for a
double occupancy room. Bedroom 3 would comply with standards for a single
occupancy room. Gross Internal Area (GIA) would comply with the requirements for a 3
storey, 3 bed, 5 person dwelling. In built storage complies with NDSS standards.

The accessible and adaptable standard in Part M4(2) of Building Regulations can be
secured via condition.

Plans have also been submitted that indicate M4(3) - wheelchair user dwelling compliance
for 9no. Burghley units.

Amenity

UDP Policy H1/2 states that the council will have regard to various factors when assessing
a proposal for residential development, including whether the proposal is within the urban
area, the availability of infrastructure and the suitability of the site, with regard to amenity,
the nature of the local environment and the surrounding land uses. There are no adopted
aspect standards for new build residential properties however, Supplementary Planning
Document 6 (SPD6) provides guidance on aspect standards between residential properties
and as such, would be a reasonable guide in this case.

For clarity the following aspect standards would be applicable:

o 20 metres between directly facing habitable room windows;

e 13 metres between an existing habitable room window and a proposed two storey blank
wall

o 6.5 metres between an existing habitable room window and a proposed single storey
blank wall

e 7 metres between a proposed first floor habitable room window and a directly facing
boundary with a neighbouring property.

Any assessment takes into account significant change in levels or new accommodation to
be provided at a higher storey. In this regard, there should be an extra 3 metres of
separation for each 2.5m or one storey of height or level difference in each of the above
cases.

Plots 7-21 would be located to the rear of No. 173 - 207 Dumers Lane. The properties on
Dumers Lane are single storey units, with private gardens that back onto the rear of the
site. Kitchens appear to be located to the rear of the properties opening out onto the
gardens. Plots 7-21 represent a number of housetypes that are two storey in height.

As the housetypes proposed are two storey, and the dwellings on Dumers Lane are single

Page 23



storey sections have been provided to show the relationship between the properties to
ascertain whether there would be an over bearing relationship. Sections A-A,C-Cand D
- D confirm that whilst the land on which the proposed dwellings are sited would be at a
slightly higher level than the dwellings on Dumers Lane, this difference in levels would not
exceed 2. 5 metres in height and as such additional distances are not required to be added
to the aspect standards set out above. A minimum of 13.5 metres can be provided between
the proposed dwellings and the rear elevations of the dwellings on Dumers Lane complying
with the aspect standards set out above.

The rear first floor habitable room windows plots 7 - 8 would be located a minimum of
approximately 8.8 metres from the shared boundary with the properties on Dumers Lane
complying with aspect standards, with an onward view of the gables of No. 183 and 185
Dumers Lane rather than habitable room windows. The first floor rear habitable room
windows of Plots 9 - 18 would be located approximately 12.5 metres from the shared
boundary with the properties on Dumers Lane, and 22 metres from their rear elevations
complying with aspect standards. The blank side gable for Plot 19 would be face towards
the rear of no. 205 Dumers Lane, and partially towards the rear of Nos. 203 and 207. A
distance of approximately 14 metres can be provided between the proposed side elevation
and the existing dwellings complying with aspect standards.

Plots 1 - 6 would front Dumers Lane. These plots would face the rear elevations of 15 - 19
Riverside Road and the front elevation of No. 40 Dumers Lane. The plots would be
separated from these dwellings by a highway and as such no undue overlooking is
foreseen. The gable of Plot 6 would be offset from the front elevation of No. 175 Dumers
Lane and whilst it would project beyond the front elevation of No. 177 Dumers Lane there is
a separation distance of approximately 22 metres between the gables of the existing and
proposed plot.. As such it is considered that the location of this row of dwellings would not
be unduly over bearing.

Plots 19 - 49 would be located to the south west of the dwellings on Borough Avenue and
Seddon Avenue. Section A - A indicates that whilst the land on which the proposed
dwellings are sited would be at a slightly higher level than the dwellings on Borough Avenue
again this difference in levels would not exceed 2. 5 metres in height and as such additional
distances aren't required to be added to the aspect standards set out above.

All first floor rear habitable room windows for Plots 19 - 49 would be located over 7 metres
from the shared boundaries with the properties on Borough Avenue and Seddon Avenue
complying with aspect standards. The rear elevations of Nos. 11a, 13a, 43a and 45a
Borough Avenue would face towards the site, all other properties would have side
elevations that face the site. An area of landscaping is proposed to the rear of Nos. 11a and
13a. An area of car paring, and landscaping would be located to the rear of Nos. 43a and
45a. As such it is considered that the proposed development would comply with aspect
standards set out above.

Plots (excluding the proposed flats) located internally within the development would all have
gardens that are at least 7 metres long. Plots 32 - 26 would be located a minimum of 20
metres from the rear elevations of Plots 34 - 39. Internally 20 metres can not be provided
between the front elevations of all the properties that are separated by a highway. In this
instance however these dwellings are generally separated by a highway, and soft
landscaped frontages. These relationships proposed would be internally within the estate
and any resident's would be aware of the relationship prior to occupation.

The garden and rear elevation of Plot 33 would be located adjacent to the shared boundary

with the neighbouring industrial estate and associated noise mitigation (which will be
discussed further below). The noise mitigation at this point would comprise a 3 metre high

Page 24



acoustic fence. Plot 33 would be an Alnwick + housetype with two ground floor living/dining
room windows facing towards this fence. A distance of approximately 6 metres can be
provided for the nearest ground floor door which would increase to approximately 11 metres
for the window adjacent to the boundary with Plot 32. As such it is considered that the
location of the acoustic fence would not be unduly overbearing.

Plots 64 - 77 also have rear aspects that face towards the adjoining industrial estate and
associated noise mitigation includes a six metre high acoustic bund/fence along the
northern boundary. This noise mitigation would be located approximately 5 metres from the
ground floor windows of these plots, when measured from the edge of the bund. The
applicant's however have provided a section of the bund, and fencing which shows that the
bund slopes away from these rear ground floor windows which would lessen the impact of
the height of the proposed mitigation in terms of overbearing relationships and any future
resident's would be aware of the relationship prior to occupation. As such this element of
the layout is considered to be acceptable.

Given the above, it is considered that the proposed dwellings would comply with UDP
Policy H1/2 and would be in accordance with the intentions of SPD 6 in terms of separation
distances.

Air Source Heat Pumps

The proposal seeks to install an air source heat pumps (ASHP), to provide space and water
heating for the proposed dwellings. The main consideration in relation to this installation will
be in relation to the noise created. As such UDP Policy EN7/2 is required to be considered
for this application. This policy states that the Council will not permit development which
could lead to an unacceptable noise nuisance to nearby occupiers and or/amenity users or
development close to a permanent source of noise.

An addendum to the submitted Noise Impact Assessment addresses ASHP in particular,
and confirms that the applicant seeks to install Panasonic WH-MDCO05J3E5 5kW ASHPs
with a manufacturer's A-weighted source sound power level of 60 dB. The proposed ASHPs
would be located to the rear of the dwellings and the blocks of flats. The addendum to the
Noise Impact Assessment considers that proposed position of the equipment (at ground
level approximately 4 metres from the nearest neighbouring dwelling window), when
corrections for directivity and the screening attenuation that will be provided by garden
fences between properties are applied, the resulting noise level from any given ASHP
outside the nearest neighbouring dwelling is likely to be no higher than 35 dB which is
below the external and internal noise criteria as set out in British Standard 8233: 2014. As
such the proposed ASHP are considered to be acceptable and would comply with UDP
Policy EN7/2.

Neighbouring Uses

In addition to UDP Policy EN7/2 referenced above UDP Policy H3 seeks to restrict the
development of incompatible uses in areas which are primarily residential in nature and
where possible will seek to resolve existing conflicts. This is further supported by UDP
Policies H3/1 and H3/2 that consider factors such as noise, vibration, smell, fumes, smoke,
soot, ash, grit, dust, visual intrusion, traffic generation and parking arrangements, and hours
of operation, and seeks to implement measures to control these where possible to minimise
areas of conflict and potential nuisance.

Paragraph 198 of the NPPF confirms that decisions should also ensure that new
development is appropriate for its location taking into account the likely effects (including
cumulative effects) of pollution on health, living conditions and the natural environment, as
well as the potential sensitivity of the site or the wider area to impacts that could arise
from the development. Paragraph 200 states that decisions should ensure that new

Page 25



development can be integrated effectively with existing businesses and community facilities.

The site is located adjacent to an existing industrial estate, and the A6053 Dumers Lane. It
is likely that noise disturbances will occur to many residents of this proposed development
from activities carried out on these adjacent sites or that may be carried out in the future,
especially if these activities occur late at night or early in the morning.

A noise impact assessment has been submitted as part of the proposal. The assessment
confirms that a noise survey was carried out at at seven locations, that were considered to
be representative of the proposed dwellings at relevant points around the boundary of the
site. The purpose of the noise surveys was to determine the prevailing noise levels and
hence the potential noise impact from Dumers Lane to the east and the
commercial/industrial premises west of the development site.

Following completion of the noise surveys the initial outcome of the assessment of potential
noise impact from the industrial estate helped inform the layout and orientation of the site
particularly, in the northwest corner. A noise mitigation scheme to protect the amenity of the
new residents from both road traffic noise and noise from industrial estate (therefore
safeguarding the interests of the businesses) has been put forward and includes:

e a6 metre high acoustic bund/fence along the northern boundary;

e a 3 metre high acoustic fence along the western boundary;

¢ enhances specification glazing for the living rooms and bedrooms of Plots 1 - 11, 30 -
35and 60 - 77.

e standard double glazing for all other living rooms and bedrooms;

e acoustically treated means of ventilation for the living rooms and bedrooms of Plots 1 -
11, 30 - 35 and 60 - 77.

Environmental Health - Pollution Control have reviewed the submitted noise impact
assessment and requested that the mitigations set out above are conditioned. Subject to
the implementation of these mitigations it is considered that the proposal would comply with
UDP Policies EN7/2, H3, H3/1, H3/2 and paragraph 198 and 200 of the NPPF.

Health and Wellbeing

PfE Policy JP-P6 supports improvements in healthcare facilities. Where appropriate, the
provision of new or improved health facilities will be required proportionate to the additional
demand generated.

The applicants have provided a Health Impact Assessment which demonstrates that the
proposed development will not result in any negative impacts on the health of the existing or
future population of Bury of those residing in close proximity to proposed development site,
with the development intending to provide long-term health and wellbeing benefits for future
residents and visitors.

In addition, having better to access to housing, improvements in the environment and
access to outdoor space are considered to have a beneficial impact to health. The
proposals are therefore considered to be in accordance with Policy JP-P6.

Highways and Access

UDP Policy EN1/2 requires the consideration of the design and appearance of access,
parking and service provision. This is further supported by UDP Policy H2/2 that requires
proposals to demonstrate adequate car parking provision, access for both vehicles and
pedestrians, and provision for public transport and the existence of any public rights of way.
PfE Policies JP-C5 and JP-C6 require streets to be well designed and managed to make a

Page 26



significant positive contribution to the quality of place and support high levels of walking,
cycling and public transport.

The site would be accessed from a redeisgned Wild Street layout. This is an existing private
road that provides access to Bealey Industrial Estate with no pedestrian footway provision.
Wild Street is accessed from the A6053 Dumers Lane, a two way single carriage road. The
development is now proposed to be served from a new priority junction from Wild Street via
the existing junction of Wild Street with Dumers Lane, which would be upgraded as part of
the development.

The proposal seeks to redesign Wild Street, to include a 7.3 metre wide carriageway, with 2
metre wide footway to the north of Wild Street and 1.5 metre footway to the south of Wild
Street fronting the existing dwellings. The access road into the proposed development also
includes 2 metre wide footways on either side of the carriageway, which tie into the
proposed 2 metre wide footway on Wild Street. On street parking for the dwellings on Wild
Street would be retained and tracking provided to show that vehicles accessing the
Industrial Estate can still access the site following the redesign of Wild Street. An
uncontrolled pedestrian crossing with dropped kerbs and tactile paving is proposed across
the site access at its junction with Dumers Lane. Footway resurfacing and renewal would
also be undertaken on Dumers Lane western footway adjacent to the site boundary.

Visibility splays have been provided for Wild Street and show a splay looking left in
accordance with the 85th percentile speeds. Visibility splays to the right looking past the
existing on-street parking on Dumers Lane have also been shown.

The on site layout, predominantly features 5.5 metre wide carriageways and 2 metre
footways to both sides. Turning heads are provided at the end of cul-de-sac and swept path
drawings are included within Appendix C of the Transport Assessment to demonstrate that
a refuse vehicle is able to enter and exit the site in forward gear, carrying out turning
manoeuvres within the site. Shared private driveways within the site form 90-degree
junctions with the estate road and when accessed from the end of a turning head, they are
centred. Visibility splays and forward visibility envelopes appropriate for a design speed of
20mph have been plotted at all junctions/bends in accordance with the guidance in Manual
for Streets.

Transport Requirements

PfE Policy JP-C8 seeks to enable a reduction in the need to travel by private car and
prioritise sustainable transport opportunities ahead of capacity enhancements on the
highway network.

A traffic survey has been undertaken by the Applicant at the Dumers Lane/Wild Street
junction and is included within chapter 6 of the Transport Assessment. The Transport
Assessment considers that the proposed 77 dwellings would be expected to generate a
total of 39 two way trips during a weekday morning peak hour (0800-0900) and 35 two-way
trips during a weekday evening peak hour (1700-18000). This is equivalent to circa 1
additional vehicle every one minute and 32 seconds in the morning peak period and an
additional vehicle every one minute and 43 seconds in the evening peak period. The
Transport Assessment considers this to be extremely low.

In terms of trip distribution, the Transport Assessment forecasts 27 vehicles leaving the site
at morning peak hour with 13 travelling towards Bury, and 14 towards Radcliffe. 12 vehicles
are forecast to enter the site at this time with an even split from Bury and Radcliffe. In the
evening peak hour it is forecast that 12 vehicles would exit the site with 5 towards Bury and
7 towards Radcliffe. 23 vehicles are forecast to enter the development, with 13 from Bury
and 10 from Radcliffe. The development traffic will disburse across the highway network,

Page 27



and the traffic impacts will be further diluted at existing junctions.

The Road Safety data has been updated to include 2023 and 2024, and has been assessed
by Transport for Greater Manchester (TfGM) as acceptable.

The Transport Assessment notes that on site car parking, and a parking plan has been
submitted that sets out the layout for proposed electric vehicle charging . The proposed
development is in a sustainable location within easy access of bus routes with local
amenities close by which would encourage and enable people at the development to make
sustainable transport choices. This is further expanded on below. The proposal is therefore
considered to be in conformity with Policy JP-C8 in this regard.

PfE Policy JP-C8 also requires planning applications which are accompanied by a
Transport Assessment to consider air impacts on Holcroft Moss within the Manchester
Mosses Special Area of Conservation (SAC). Should the proposals result in increased
traffic flows on the M62 past Holcroft Moss of more than 100 vehicles per day or 20 Heavy
Goods Vehicles (HGVs) per day then a scheme-specific range of measures to reduce
reliance on cars, reduce trip generation and promote ultra-low emission vehicles may need
to be devised and a contribution towards restoration measures may need to be provided in
accordance with the Holcroft Moss Habitat Mitigation Plan. The submitted Air Quality
Assessment: Addendum confirms that:

¢ Holcroft Moss SAC is located 19km to the southwest of the Site and;

¢ the site is distant from both the local motorway network, the M62 and the SAC;

¢ the total development related vehicle movements are estimated in the order of 348
Annual Average Daily Traffic (AADT) split 50%:50% east / west on Dumers Lane from
the Site access, resulting in movements of 174 AADT on Dumers Lane either side of the
access;

e development related traffic movements would be further distributed on the wider local
road network;

o the Proposed Development would not result in any measurable increases in traffic flows
on the M62, and hence would not result in more than 100 vehicles per day or 20 HGVs
per day on the M62 past Holcroft Moss.

Given the above it is considered that the proposed development would not result in any
adverse air quality impacts on the Holcroft Moss SAC and as such would comply with the
provisions of PfE Policy JP-C8.

Proposed Parking

In terms of parking standards UDP Policy HT2/4 requires all applications for development to
make adequate provision for their car parking and servicing requirements . Supplementary
Planning Document 11 (SPD11) provides parking standards for developments.

The site is located within Zone 4 for parking standards. For clarity the following parking
standards would be applicable:

1 bed flats - 1.5 spaces per dwelling with 3 spaces for disabled parking.
2 bed - 2 spaces per dwelling

3 bed - 2 spaces per dwelling

4 bed - 3 spaces per dwelling.

A total of 161 spaces should therefore be provided throughout the site.

The Transport Assessment confirms that the applicant would provide the following spaces:

Page 28



1 bed maisonettes (x18) — 1 parking space each;

2 bed houses (x6) — 1 parking space each with 2 visitor spaces between the 6 plots;
3 & 4 bed house (x53) — 2 parking spaces each

3 x visitor parking spaces for the development adjacent to plot 33

2 visitor spaces for the development to the rear of plot 1 - 3

In total the applicant seeks to provide 135 spaces, including the visitor spaces and 3
disabled parking spaces within the parking court for the flats which would be 26 spaces less
than set out within SPD 11. This would be a 83% provision for parking on site. It is
acknowledged that the figures included within SPD 11 should be viewed as the expected
standard, however, each development will be considered on an individual basis taking into
account local circumstances and evidence. The Transport Assessment Considers that the
evidence finds that the site is highly accessible, given the good bus provision directly
adjacent to the site. It also finds that affordable homes have a lower car ownership, and the
proposals are 100% affordable. Given these site-specific reasons, the slight

reduction in parking provision is acceptable.

Loss of Parking
Whilst Wild Street would be upgraded to facilitate the development the existing on street
parking to the fronts of the existing dwellings at 1, 3 and 5 Wild Street would be re-provided.

Within the red edge site 26 marked out car parking spaces, that the applicant states are
associated with the cafe and car park which would be demolished as part of the proposal
and ad-hoc parking associated with the wider industrial estate. The applicant has confirmed
that none of the wider Bealey Industrial Estate occupants have rights of access over the
parking spaces within the red line boundary which would be removed. Given this there
would be no loss of parking for the existing users of the retained Bealey Industrial Estate
caused by the proposal.

Active Travel

PfE Policy JP-C1 requires developments to be located and designed to deliver a significant
increase in the proportion of trips that can be made by walking, cycling and public transport.
Developments should prioritise pedestrians, cyclists and public transport users.

There are good quality pedestrian routes to the site with pedestrian crossings on Dumers
Lane which provide safe links to the existing bus stops and local amenities in both Radcliffe
and Bury Town Centre. Radcliffe Town Centre and Metrolink stop are also within waking
distance of the site.

SPD 11 requires dedicated cycle parking. For flats 1 secure covered space is required per
unit, with 1 visitor space per 10 units. For the dwellings proposed 1 secured covered cycle
storage space is required per bedroom. Whilst the applicant has provided details of what
the secure cycle stores would look like, the cycle stores have not been included on the site
layouts. There is however sufficient space in and around the amenity spaces associated
with the plots and as such it is considered that this detail can be secured by condition.

A Travel Plan Framework has also been prepared which promotes sustainable travel to and
from the proposed development.

The proposal is therefore considered to be in conformity with PfE Policy JP-C1.
Ecology and Biodiversity Net Gain

PfE Policy JP-G8 states that through local planning and associated activities a net
enhancement of biodiversity resources will be sought. This is supported by UDP Policy

Page 29



ENG6/3 that seeks to retain, protect and enhance the natural environment and seeks to
retain features of ecological or wildlife value. Paragraph 187 of the NPPF states that the
planning policies and decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural and local
environment. UDP Policy EN8/2 supports and encourages new woodland and tree planting
within the borough.

The site is also adjacent to Swan Lodge Site of Biological Importance, Hutchinson's Goit
and Bealey's Goit, which are protected through UDP policies EN6/2 and EN6/4. These
Policies seek to ensure that development is designed carefully as to not damage the nature
conservation interests of the site. UDP Policy EN6/4 is further supported by Supplementary
Planning Document 2 (SPD2)

The site also currently comprises Green Infrastructure and as such, PfE policy JP-G2 is
applicable. The intention of this policy is to protect and enhance the ecosystem services
which the Green Infrastructure Network provides, including flood management.
Development within the Green Infrastructure Network is required to be consistent with
delivering major green infrastructure improvements within them, and should contribute to
improvements. Wherever practicable, opportunities to integrate new and existing green
infrastructure into new development will be taken to protect, enhance and expand the green
infrastructure network.

Proximity to Swan Lodge Site of Biological Importance

Greater Manchester Ecology Unit (GMEU) welcome the boundary amendments to avoid the
SBI, now located approximately 6m off-site according to the Ecological Survey and
Assessment. GMEU also note that no surface water drainage is proposed towards the
Bealey's Goit, Hutchinson's Goit or Swan Lodge. GMEU are satisfied that negative effects
can be avoided through a physical barrier around the proposed development footprint and
standard construction and environmental management best practices.

Being adjacent to the wildlife corridor, the development should be designed to contribute to
their effectiveness through the design, landscaping and siting of the development. Whilst
the siting of the development has been amended to reflect the SBI boundary, and
landscaping plans and schedules have been submitted with the application the submitted
information does not directly address how the application would directly meet the
requirements UDP Policy EN6/4 through the landscaping and the development. SPD 2
does say at paragraph 2.6 "However, development affecting a link or corridor may be
permitted where:
e the reasons or need for a development having adverse effects may be considered to
outweigh the harm to the nature conservation value of the site; and
e amelioration measures can be put in place which would make the proposal acceptable."

The site would provide affordable housing, with a mixture of tenure to directly address local
housing needs meeting the first point. In addition, as further set out below, the applicant is
proposing on site habitat improvements that include significant habitat creation as defined
by Defra. Mitigation for bats, nesting birds etc have also been reviewed below and
conditions proposed. It is therefore considered that the proposal would comply with this
exception set out within SPD2.

Reference to the SBI should be included with any Construction Environmental Management
Plan (CEMP) and this can be provided via condition. Given the above, it is considered that
the proposal would comply with UDP Policies EN6/2, EN6/4, SPD 2 and PfE Policy JP-G2
in this respect.

Bats and Other Protected Species
Buildings and trees on the site were assessed for bat roosting potential. All were

Page 30



assessed as having none. No further information or measures are therefore required.
GMEU have also confirmed that they are satisfied that it is very unlikely that any external
lighting would negatively impact on important bat foraging and commuting routes.

No evidence of any other protected species was identified or suspected on the site.
Precautionary working measure and surveys would be adequate to protect against the risk
to badger and otter known to be present in the wider locality. GMEU recommend a
condition that an updated protected species is provided prior to any earthworks or
vegetation clearance. Given the above, it is considered that the proposal would comply
with UDP Policy EN6/3.

Nesting Birds and Other Wildlife

It is acknowledged that trees and scrub will be lost as a result of the proposal which are
potential bird nesting habitat. All British birds nests and eggs (with certain limited
exceptions) are protected by Section 1 of the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981, as amended.
GMEU recommend a condition to ensure that no works to trees or shrubs shall occur
between the 1st March and 31st August in any year unless a precautionary working method
statement for nesting birds by a suitably experienced ecologist has been supplied to and
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority (LPA).

Common toad are known to be present in the locality, habitats on site are suitable for
hedgehog. As noted above otter and badger are also present in the wider locality. Roe
deer were recorded on the site. Precautionary working measures for common toad,
hedgehog, badger, otter and other mammals have been recommended during site
clearance and these can be required by condition.

Subiject to the conditions to address the above matters, it is considered that the proposal
would comply with UDP Policy EN6/3 in relation to nesting birds and other wildlife.

Invasive Species

Dense stands of japanese knotweed are present within the red edge along with other
species listed under schedule 9 part 2 of the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended)
including himalayan balsam, variegated yellow-archangel, virginia creeper and monbretia.
Given the site is to be remediated first, the only options for control would appear to be either
disposal to a licensed landfill as contaminated waste or burial on-site. A condition will
placed onto any permission that requires the submission of a management strategy for
himalayan balsam, japanese knotweed, vaiegated yellow archangel, monbretia and virginia
creeper prior to any earthworks.

Contributing to and Enhancing the Natural Environment & Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG)
The application is subject to the general biodiversity gain condition. A metric has been
provided and an off-site receptor site identified for the off-site compensation measures that
are required.

GMEU have confirmed there is still some conflict of opinion between GMEU and the
applicant's ecologist regarding the assessment of Japanese Knotweed within the provided
metric however they are satisfied at this stage that no further information is required.

The on-site proposals do include significant habitat creation as defined by Defra. An on-site
30 year Habitat Management and Monitoring Plan (HMMP) would therefore be required for
the other natural grassland, mixed scrub and urban trees. 2 units would be created on site
and a condition has been requested, in addition to the statutory BNG condition that sets out
what should be included within the HMMP.

For wildlife given that house sparrow and starling were recorded on the site, both UK BAP

Page 31



species associated with residential buildings, GMEU recommend that these two species are
targeted as part of the bird nesting mitigation strategy. GMEU also recommend provision
of bat boxes and swift bricks by condition.

For the off-site proposals, on land within their ownership elsewhere in the Borough, an
HMMP will also be required in order to register the site with Defra along with a legal
agreement with a third party such as the LPA. If the legal agreement is with the LPA, then
GMEU is able to advise on the suitability of the HMMP.

In order to discharge the statutory biodiversity gain condition the applicant would need to
provide:

The finalised biodiversity gain plan,

Have the off-site units are registered with defra,
Final version of the statutory metric and

An agreed version of the HMMP.

Trees

PfE Policy JP-G7 states that where development would result in the loss of existing trees,
requiring replacement on the basis of two new trees for each tree lost, or other measures
that would also result in a net enhancement in the character and quality of the treescape
and biodiversity value in the local area, with a preference for on-site provision.

An Arboricultural Impact Assessment has been submitted with the application which
includes details of a tree survey. Forty-seven trees and fifteen tree groups were surveyed
within the site and within 15m of the site boundary. The recorded vegetation consisted
predominantly of native, self-set goat willow, with ash, sycamore, and wild cherry
interspersed. The majority of the recorded vegetation is semi-mature and considered of low
or moderate arboricultural value.

To facilitate all aspects of the proposals, the majority of existing trees and tree groups on
site would need to be removed. The submitted Arboricultural Impact Assessment states that
the majority of trees proposed for removal are semi-mature and of low value, however the
author also considers that the existing vegetation provides an important landscape buffer
between the residential area in the North and the industrial premises in the South, as well
as significant green link between Swan Lodge in the Northwest and the River Irwell corridor
in the Southeast. The impact of the removal of the majority of trees on site is considered to
be high, both on canopy cover, site character and the local landscape.

The following trees would be removed:

approximately 900m? of moderate value groups (Category B)
approximately 5,050m? of low value groups (Category C),

26 low value trees (Category C),

One moderate value tree (Category B) and

two trees deemed “unsuitable for retention” (Category U)

The applicant has been asked to confirm the number of trees within the identified groups of
trees to ensure two for one replacement can be provided for the development but this
information has not been provided within the latest Arboricultural Impact Assessment dated
November 2025. The Planning Statement confirms that 67 replacement trees and shrubs
will be provided on-site. It is considered that the proposals to comply with statutory BNG,
resulting in a net enhancement of the biodiversity value in the local area, complies with the
requirements of JP-G7.

Page 32



Additionally, development is expected to protect trees and woodland during the construction
phase of development. This should be conditioned.

Flood Risk

The majority of the site is located within Flood Zone 1 however some areas of the site are
located within Flood Zones 2 and 3. PfE Policy JP-S4 seeks to provide an integrated
catchment-based approach to protect the quantity and quality of water bodies with
reference to the North West River Basin Management Plan and managing flood risk.
Chapter 14 - Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change of the
NPPF confirms that inappropriate development in areas at risk of flooding should be
avoided by directing development away from areas at highest risk.

A Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) has been submitted with the application. The FRA
concludes that the site is protected against flooding from the River Irwell by virtue of the
existing flood defences. Finished floor levels of the proposed dwellings would be set above
surrounding ground levels. The FRA acknowledges that the site is at risk from fluvial
flooding, pluvial flooding, reservoir flooding and groundwater flooding. To mitigate these
risks, the finished floor would be set above surrounding ground levels, and levels would
grade away from entrances to ensure that localised flood risk is managed.

The FRA has been supported by an ongoing dialogue by the applicant with the EA in
relation to flooding at the site. The latest letter to the EA dated 27th October 2025
confirms that the site is partially in a Flood Zone 2 and 3, however, this is on the border of
the site and the houses are not situated in the areas that flood in the 0.1% Annual
Exceedance Probability (AEP) and the 1% AEP plus climate change event. The finished
floor levels are also approximately 1m higher than the flood level.

The Environment Agency (EA) have been consulted on this document and supplementary
responses issued by the applicant throughout the application process and have removed
their original objections to the proposal confirming that they raise no objections to the
proposal subject to conditions in relation to finished floor levels, ground water and
contaminated land and informatives in relation to model procedures and good practice.
Given the response from the EA it is considered that the proposal would comply with Policy
JP-S4 and the NPPF.

Drainage
PfE Policy JP-S4 and UDP Policies EN7/3 and EN7/5 seek to protect the water courses and
other water features within the Borough, and limit surface water pollution.

The surface water drainage system and foul water drainage system have been designed to
discharge to the existing United Utilities Combined sewer in Dumers Lane. The proposed
drainage design has not been updated to correspond with the amended site layout.

United Utilities have been consulted as part of the planning application and have stated that
whilst they confirm that the proposals are acceptable in principle there is insufficient
information on the detail of the drainage design. They have therefore requested further
details in relation to the drainage design are secured by condition.

Contaminated Land and Mining remediation

Paragraphs 187 and 196 of the NPPF seek to ensure that sites are suitable for its proposed
use taking into account ground conditions, any risks arising from land instability and
contamination.

Site Investigation Report for Land Adjacent to Bealey Industrial Estate, Radcliffe, Coopers

Page 33



(Chester) Ltd, Reference: 8353si, dated 08 November 2024 has been reviewed by the
Environment Section. The report includes a description of the site including its past
historical uses. An appraisal of the site environmental setting is presented including its
geology, hydrogeology and hydrological regime, mining activities, waste management
issues, and identification of additional environmental sources, pathways and receptors. This
information has been used to compile a clear site conceptual model, which identifies
potential sources, pathways and receptors and likely pollution linkages.

The report recommends that further investigation and testing be performed on the site post
demolition and the ground gas monitoring is not yet complete. It is noted by the
Environment Section that the site was formerly occupied/associated with a paper works.
Such works/industries have been listed as a potential source of the emerging pollutant,
poly- and perfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) in various research documents. A further
assessment should also therefore be carried to establish whether or not the site maybe
impacted by PFAS.

Submission of an updated Site Characterisation and Risk Assessment and Remediation
strategy and verification are therefore required prior to commencement of development and
can be provided by condition.

The site also falls within a Mining Remediation Authority's (previously the Coal Authority)
defined Development High Risk Area. Within the application site and surrounding area there
are recorded coal mining features present at surface or shallow depths. The risk these
features may pose should be considered as part of the planning process.

The Mining Remediation Authority records indicate that probable historic unrecorded
shallow coal mining could be present within the northern tip of the site. The applicant has
assessed this within their Site Investigation Report - chapter 12.

The Mining Remediation Authority have carried out a review of the available information,
and confirmed that the report authors are satisfied that there are no coal mining features
that could affect the proposed development and therefore no mine treatments works are
required (Section 12.8 of the Site Investigation Report). As records indicate that northern tip
of the site lies within the High Risk Area, it is considered that Permitted Development
Rights for the erection of any extensions or curtilage buildings at Plots 48 & 49 should be
removed. This will enable the safety and stability implications of coal mining legacy to be
considered by the Local Planning Authority in the event of future householder development
proposals for these specific plots.

Air Quality

PfE Policy JP-P1 aims to create a liveable city region, and requires developments to
provide comfortable and inviting indoor and outdoor environments offering a high level of
amenity that minimises exposure to pollution. This is further supported by PfE Policy JP-S5
that seeks to implement a comprehensive range of measures to support improvements in
air quality, focusing particularly on locations where people live, where children lean and
play, where there are impact on the green infrastructure network and where air quality
targets are not being met.

An Air Quality Assessment has been submitted with the application. A desk-top study was
undertaken to identify worst case sensitive receptor locations adjacent to the affected road
network. The assessment concludes that the impacts of the proposal are not significant and
no measures are required to offset operational impacts. It is noted however, that the
planning application is supported by a Travel Plan Framework with the aim of encouraging
use of sustainable transport methods and all dwellings are to be provided with EV charging
points which would also be requested by condition.

Page 34



Carbon And Energy

PfE Policy JP-S2 sets out the steps required to achieve net zero carbon emissions. The
proposed development is designed to utilise a high performing thermal envelope to
minimise heat loss, as well as efficient heating and lighting systems, which will drive energy
efficiency in the building to meet the targets for space and water heating demand. This is
augmented by the use of an Air Source Heat Pump system to provide hot water to drive low
carbon, efficient energy usage within the building design. Photovoltaic panels (PVs) will be
fitted to the scheme with sufficient generation capacity to ensure that operational regulated
carbon emissions will be net zero. The proposal is therefore considered to be in conformity
with Policy JP-S2.

Digital Connectivity

PfE Policy JP-C2 requires development to have full fibre to premises connections unless
infeasible or unviable, with multiple-ducting. The policy supports the provision of free,
secure, high-speed public wi-fi connections, particularly in the most frequented areas. The
applicant has confirmed that the development will be provided with full connections in
accordance with the requirements of Policy JP-C2.

Planning Obligations

When reviewing the potential loss of employment sites as set out above SPD 14 specifies
that consideration will be given to alternative uses subject to a one-off financial contribution
to offset this loss of the employment land. Contributions are then used to help bring forward
employment opportunities elsewhere in the Borough. UDP Policy RT2/2 requires all
proposals for new housing consisting of 10 units or more to make provision for the
recreational needs of the prospective residents.

Additionally PfE Policy JP-P5 requires where appropriate new housing developments to
make a financial contribution to the provision of additional school places and/or set aside
land for a new school proportionate to the additional demand they would generate.
Education colleagues have confirmed that there is current and forecast availability in
Rad(cliffe for the potential primary yield and also in the Bury South planning area for
Secondary provision. Therefore a financial contribution towards to the provision of
additional school places is not required.

The applicant has submitted a Financial Viability Assessment in accordance with Paragraph
59 of the NPPF.

An independent review of the submitted Financial Viability Assessment has been
undertaken by Capita. The conclusion based on Capita’s appraisal on a 100% affordable
scheme as a proposed by the client is that additional asks for planning contributions would
add to the negative figure identified within the assessment and make the scheme unviable.

Affordable Housing

In accordance with UDP Policy H4/1 and Supplementary Planning Document 5 (SPG5) this
development would be required to deliver 25% affordable housing. The Affordable Housing
Statement states that all of the units proposed will be affordable housing, to be owned and
managed by a Registered Provider (RP). Bury Council's Housing Need and Demand
Assessment demonstrates a clear need for additional affordable housing in the Borough.

The tenure of the affordable homes would be a mixture of 42no. social rent units, and 35no0.
Rent to Buy (RTB) units. Social rent, as defined in the NPPF needs to meet all of the
following conditions:

(a) the rent is set in accordance with the Government’s rent policy for Social Rent;

(b) the landlord is a registered provider; and

Page 35



(c) it includes provisions to remain at an affordable price for future eligible households, or
for the subsidy to be recycled for alternative affordable housing provision.

Rent to buy, would be considered to be an affordable route to home ownership for those
who could not achieve home ownership through the market that allows first-time buyers to
rent a new-build home at a lower-than-market rent to save for a deposit to eventually buy it.

The scheme includes a range of house types/sizes for single people, couples, and families
to create a balanced and sustainable community.

The Council would wish to secure nomination rights for the affordable housing, and the
affordable housing statement confirms that the allocation of any rented units will be in
accordance with a Nomination Agreement between the RP and Bury Council. The
affordable housing should be secured through a Section 106 Agreement.

Response to Representations

It is considered that the material planning considerations raised within representations in
relation to principle of residential development, ecology, BNG, amenity, flooding, drainage
and highways have been addressed within the main body of the report and conditions
recommended in accordance with the above assessment.

The application was amended during the application process, reducing the number of
proposed units from 87 to 77. This amendment also included changes to the proposed
access to the site utilising an upgraded Wild Street rather than creating a new access onto
Dumers Lane. Internal reconfiguration also created opportunities to provide visitor parking
and reduced the numbers of parking spaces to the fronts of dwellings allowing for a larger
capacity of on street parking for any future residents.

An Ecological Survey and Assessment was included with the submission, this and other
supporting documentation has been updated throughout the application as it evolved.
Amended plans and documentation have been sent to the required statutory Consultees for
comment as required, and neighbours were notified of the reduction in dwellings and
amended access in September 2025.

As set out above, there has been an ongoing dialogue with the EA and applicant in relation
to the site, and the partial location of the site within Flood Zone 2 and 3. Following this
dialogue the EA have removed their objections to the scheme and put forward conditions.
The Radcliffe and Redvales Flood Defence Scheme was designed to protect properties and
includes flood walls and embankments with Phase 1 (Close Park, Morris Street and Dumers
Lane) completed in 2021.

The applicant does not have control of land outside of the red edge site, and would not be
able to manage any invasive species throughout the wider industrial site, or influence how
this site and the businesses within it are managed in terms of their vehicles. Any future
residents would be aware of the existing Industrial Estate adjacent to the site.

Statement in accordance with Article 35(2) Town and Country Planning (Development
Management Procedure) (England) (Amendment) Order 2015

The Local Planning Authority worked positively and proactively with the applicant to identify
various solutions during the application process to ensure that the proposal comprised
sustainable development and would improve the economic, social and environmental
conditions of the area and would accord with the development plan. These were
incorporated into the scheme and/or have been secured by planning condition. The Local
Planning Authority has therefore implemented the requirement in Paragraph 38 of the

Page 36



National Planning Policy Framework.

Recommendation: Minded to Approve

Conditions/ Reasons

1.

The development must be begun not later than three years beginning with the date
of this permission.

Reason. Required to be imposed by Section 91 Town & Country Planning Act
1990.

This decision relates to drawings numbered:

SL01 Proposed Site Layout Rev O, SL01 Proposed Site Layout with Topo Overlay
Rev O, WMPO1 Rev J, TPO1 Rev A, PV01Rev C, MLO1 Rev K, HLO1 Rev J,
EVCPO1 Rev E, BT01 Rev J, ESP Rev A, XS01 Rev C, XS02 Rev A, SS01, SS03,
SS04, TCSO01, B-12.1-03, ENG012 Rev B, 935-ALN-113 01, 1292-ALN-114 01,
BUR-M-113 01, BURALT-113 01, 946-CHE-116 01, 973-GAl-121 01, 964-GAI-A-
111 01, 769-KNA-120 01, 1023-PEO-146 01, 1112-RIP-113 01,1113-WOL-110
01, 1121-WOL-113 01, WHO062/T00b, SHD1843-SHD-HLG-BEAL-DR-EO-
Lighting Layout-R1, B054854 TTE 00 XX TR O 004 P02, B054854 TTE 00 XX DR
O 004 P04, B054854 TTE 00 XX DR O 009 P01, B054854 TTE 00 XX TR O 003-
01 P02,B054854 TTE 00 XX TR O 003-02 P02, SHF893002-ENZ-XX-XX-DR-L-
0001 PLO3, SHF893002-ENZ-XX-XX-DR-L-0002 PL03, SHF893002-ENZ-XX-XX-
DR-L-0003 PL03, SHF893002-ENZ-XX-XX-DR-L-0004 PL03, SHF893002-ENZ-
XX-XX-DR-L-0005 PL03, SHF893002-ENZ-XX-XX-DR-L-45002 PLO03,
SHF893002-ENZ-XX-XX-DR-L-45003 PL03, SHF893002-ENZ-XX-XX-DR-L-
45004 PLO3, SHF893002-ENZ-XX-XX-DR-L-45005 PL03, SHF893002-ENZ-XX-
XX-DR-L-45006 P06, 893.002-ENZ-XX-XX-DR-Z-0001 P01 Sheet 1 of 2, 893.002-
ENZ-XX-XX-DR-Z-0001 Sheet 2 of 2

Documents:

Arboricultural Survey 893.002.ENZ.XX.00.RP.AR.45.101
Arboricultural Impact Assessment 893.002.ENZ.XX.00.RP.AR.45.102
Affordable Housing Statement received 17th November 2025

Travel Plan Framework 784 — B054854 Revision 01

Planning Statement dated 29/10/2025

Draft Biodiversity Gain Plan dated 28/10/2025

Onsite Soft Landscaping Schedule HF893002-ENZ-XX-XX-SH-L-45-002
Off site soft landscaping schedule SHF893002-ENZ-XX-XX-SH-L-45-001
Assessment of Biodiversity Net Gain 2024-200b October 2025 Version 3
Statutory Biodiversity Metric received 29th October 2025

Ecological Survey and Assessment 2024-200 October 2025 Version 2
Air Quality Addendum R3407AQ Addendum-v2 02.10.25

Energy Statement Rev C October 2025

Noise Impact Assessment Version 5 13.10.25

Addendum to Noise Impact Assessment received 28th August 2025
Response to Environment Agency SO/2025/124668/02-L01

Transport Assessment 784-B054854 Revision 1 October 2025
Highways Technical Note 784-B054854 05.09.2024

Lighting Schedule SHD1843-SHD-HLG-BEAL-SH-EO-Lighting Schedule-R1
Outdoor Lighting Report dated 26th August 2025

Lighting Design Risk Assessment SHD1843-SHD-HLG-BEAL-RA-EO-Lighting
Design Risk Assessment-R1

Air Source Heat Pump Specification received 28th August 2025

Crime Impact Assessment V1.1 August 2025

Page 37



Viability Assessment Report May 2025

Non-technical Summary for Viability Assessment Report May 2025
Response to Environment Agency comments 24344

Health Impact Assessment received 8th January 2025

Statement of Community Involvement December 2024

Design and Access Statement received 6th December 2025
Broadband Connectivity Assessment received 6th December 2024
Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy

Site Investigation Report 8353si

Habitat Designations received 6th December 2024

and the development shall not be carried out except in accordance with the
drawings hereby approved.

Reason. For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of
design pursuant to the policies of the Bury Unitary Development Plan and Places
for Everyone Joint Development Plan listed.

Notwithstanding the plans approved, when it comes to matters of site layout
drawings SLO1 Proposed Site Layout Rev O and SL01 Proposed Site Layout with
Topo Overlay Rev O shall be utilised.

Reason. For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of
design pursuant to the policies of the Bury Unitary Development Plan and Places
for Everyone Joint Development Plan listed.

Notwithstanding the terms of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) (England) Order 2015, as subsequently amended, no development
shall be carried out within the terms of Classes A to G of Part 1 of Schedule 2 of
the Order, without the submission and approval of a relevant planning application
for Plots 48 and 49.

Reason. To ensure that future inappropriate alterations or extensions do not occur
pursuant to policies of the Unitary Development Plan listed.

The dwellings hereby approved shall be built in accordance with the ‘accessible
and adaptable’ standard in Part M4(2) of the Building Regulations.

Reason. To secure the satisfactory development of the site pursuant to Places for
Everyone Joint Development Plan Policy JP-H3: Type, Size and Design of New
Housing.

Details/Samples of the materials/bricks to be used in the external elevations,
together with details of their manufacturer, type/colour and size, shall be submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the
commencement of any above ground works. Only the approved materials/bricks
shall be used for the construction of the development.

Reason. No material samples have been submitted and are required in the
interests of visual amenity and to ensure a satisfactory development pursuant to
UDP Policy EN1/2 - Townscape and Built Design

No development shall commence unless and until a Construction and
Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) has been submitted to and approved by
the Local Planning Authority. The plan shall delineate the construction zone and
set out measures to be taken to minimise the possibility of pollution to the adjacent
Swan Lodge Site of Biological Importance. The approved plan only shall be
implemented prior to the commencement of any works and maintained for the
duration of the build out of the development.

Reason. Information not submitted at application stage. To ensure a safe and

Page 38



10.

11.

satisfactory development of the site in relation to the protection of Swan Lodge
Site of Biological Importance from any pollutants and construction disturbance
which may cause risk, pursuant to Bury Unitary Development Plan Policies
ENG6/2 - Sites of Nature Conservation Interest (LNR's and Grade B and C SBI's),
ENG6/3 - Features of Ecological Value, EN6/4 - Wildlife Links and Corridors, Places
for Everyone Joint Development Plan Policies JP-G2: Green Infrastructure
Network and JP-G8: A Net Enhancement of Biodiversity and Geodiversity and
Chapter 15 - Conserving and enhancing the natural environment of the National
Planning Policy Framework.

Prior to any earthworks or vegetation clearance, an updated protected species
survey shall be provided to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Thereafter, the development shall be implemented in full accordance with the
approved details and measures.

Reason. In order to ensure that no harm is caused to a Protected Species
pursuant to Bury Unitary Development Plan Policies EN6/2 - Sites of Nature
Conservation Interest (LNR's and Grade B and C SBl's), EN6/3 - Features of
Ecological Value, EN6/4 - Wildlife Links and Corridors, Places for Everyone Joint
Development Plan Policy JP-G8: A Net Enhancement of Biodiversity and
Geodiversity and Chapter 15 - Conserving and enhancing the natural environment
of the National Planning Policy Framework.

No works to trees or shrubs shall occur between the 1st March and 31st August in
any year unless a precautionary working method statement for nesting birds by a
suitably experienced ecologist has been supplied to and agreed in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. Thereafter, the development shall be implemented in full
accordance with the approved details and measures.

Reason. In order to ensure that no harm is caused to a Protected Species
pursuant to Bury Unitary Development Plan Policies EN6/2 - Sites of Nature
Conservation Interest (LNR's and Grade B and C SBl's), EN6/3 - Features of
Ecological Value, EN6/4 - Wildlife Links and Corridors, Places for Everyone Joint
Development Plan Policy JP-G8: A Net Enhancement of Biodiversity and
Geodiversity and Chapter 15 - Conserving and enhancing the natural environment
of the National Planning Policy Framework.

Prior to any earthworks or site clearance a precautionary working measures
method statement of common toad, hedgehog, badger, otter and other mammals,
will be provided to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Thereafter, the development shall be implemented in full accordance with the
approved details and measures.

Reason. In order to ensure that no harm is caused to a Protected Species
pursuant to Bury Unitary Development Plan Policies EN6/2 - Sites of Nature
Conservation Interest (LNR's and Grade B and C SBl's), EN6/3 - Features of
Ecological Value, EN6/4 - Wildlife Links and Corridors, Places for Everyone Joint
Development Plan Policy JP-G8: A Net Enhancement of Biodiversity and
Geodiversity and Chapter 15 - Conserving and enhancing the natural environment
of the National Planning Policy Framework.

Prior to any earthworks a management strategy for himalayan balsam, japanese
knotweed, vaiegated yellow archangel, monbretia and virginia creeper should be
supplied to and agreed in writing to the Local Planning Authority. The agreed
method statement shall be adhered to and implemented in full unless otherwise
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason. To ensure the removal/check the spread of species that are listed as
invasive non-native species under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 and in

Page 39



12.

13.

14.

15.

order to safeguard the biodiversity of the site and its surroundings, pursuant to
Policies JP-P1: Sustainable Places and JP-G8: A Net Enhancement of Biodiversity
and Geodiversity of the Places for Everyone Joint Development Plan Document
and the National Planning Policy Framework.

A bird and bat nesting and mitigation strategy shall be submitted to, and approved
by the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of the development.
The contents of the plan should target house sparrow and starlings and include
the provision of House Sparrow terraces, swift bricks and bat boxes. Thereafter,
the development shall be implemented in full accordance with the approved details
and measures.

Reason. To secure the satisfactory development of the site and ensure
enhancements and net gains for biodiversity pursuant to Places for Everyone Joint
Development Framework Policy JP-G8: A Net Enhancement of Biodiversity and
Geodiversity, Bury Unitary Development Plan Policy EN6/3 - Features of
Ecological Value and National Planning Policy Framework Section 15 -
Conserving and enhancing the natural environment.

The development shall not commence until a Habitat Management and Monitoring
Plan (the HMMP) for on site Biodiversity Net Gain, prepared in accordance with
the Statutory Biodiversity Gain Plan and including:

1. anon-technical summary;

2. the roles and responsibilities of the people or organisation(s) delivering the
HMMP;

3. the planned habitat creation and enhancement works to create or improve
habitat to achieve the biodiversity net gain in accordance with the approved
Biodiversity Gain Plan;

4. the management measures to maintain habitat in accordance with the
approved Biodiversity Gain Plan for a period of 30 years from the completion of
development; and

5. the monitoring methodology and frequency in respect of the created or
enhanced habitat to be submitted to the local planning authority.

has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority.
Reason. To ensure the development delivers a biodiversity net gain on site in
accordance with Schedule 7A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and
Places for Everyone Joint Development Plan Policy JP-G8 A Net Enhancement of
Biodiversity and Geodiversity.

The development hereby approved shall not be occupied unless and until:

1. the habitat creation and enhancement works set out in the approved HMMP
have been completed; and

2. acompletion report, evidencing the completed habitat enhancements, has
been submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority

The created and/or enhanced habitat specified in the approved HMMP shall be
managed and maintained in accordance with the approved HMMP.

Reason. To ensure the development delivers a biodiversity net gain on site in
accordance with Schedule 7A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and
Places for Everyone Joint Development Plan Policy JP-G8 A Net Enhancement of
Biodiversity and Geodiversity.

Prior to the commencement of any above ground works, details of a sustainable
surface water drainage scheme and a foul water drainage scheme shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The drainage
schemes must include:

Page 40



16.

17.

1. An investigation of the hierarchy of drainage options in the National Planning
Practice Guidance (or any subsequent amendment thereof). This investigation
shall include evidence of an assessment of ground conditions and the potential
for infiltration of surface water in accordance with BRE365;

2. Arestricted rate of discharge of surface water agreed with the local planning
authority (if it is agreed that infiltration is discounted by the investigations);

3. Levels of the proposed drainage systems including proposed ground and
finished floor levels in AOD;

4. Incorporate mitigation measures to manage the risk of sewer surcharge where
applicable; and

5. Foul and surface water shall drain on separate systems.

Prior to occupation of the proposed development, the drainage schemes shall be
completed in accordance with the approved details and retained thereafter for the
lifetime of the development.

Reason. The current application contains insufficient information regarding the
proposed drainage scheme to fully assess the impact. To promote sustainable
development and reduce flood risk pursuant to Unitary Development Plan Policies
EN7/3 - Water Pollution, EN7/5 - Waste Water Management Places for Everyone
Joint Development Framework Policy JP-S4 - Flood Risk and the Water
Environment and chapter 14 - Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding
and coastal change of the NPPF.

Prior to occupation of the development a sustainable drainage management and
maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development shall be submitted to the
local planning authority and agreed in writing. The sustainable drainage
management and maintenance plan shall include as a minimum:

1. Arrangements for adoption by an appropriate public body or statutory
undertaker, or, management and maintenance by a resident’s management
company; and

2. Arrangements for inspection and ongoing maintenance of all elements of the
sustainable drainage system to secure the operation of the surface water
drainage scheme throughout its lifetime.

The development shall subsequently be completed, maintained and managed in

accordance with the approved plan.

Reason. To ensure that management arrangements are in place for the

sustainable drainage system in order to manage the risk of flooding and pollution

during the lifetime of the development pursuant to Unitary Development Plan

Policies EN7/3 - Water Pollution, EN7/5 - Waste Water Management Places for

Everyone Joint Development Framework Policy JP-S4 - Flood Risk and the Water

Environment and chapter 14 - Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding

and coastal change of the NPPF.

No development hereby permitted (except demolition and site clearance) within
any approved phase shall take place until the works relating to land contamination
detailed below are fully completed:

With consideration to human health, controlled waters and the wider environment,
the following documents shall be completed to characterise potential risk to
sensitive receptors and submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval:

I.  Preliminary Risk Assessment (PRA). Submission of this document is the
minimum requirement.

II.  Generic Quantitative Risk Assessment (GQRA). Submission of this document
only if PRA requires it.

[ll. Detailed Quantitative Risk Assessment (DQRA). Submission of this document if

Page 41



18.

19.

20.

GQRA requires it.

Reason. To prevent unacceptable risk to Human Health and Controlled Waters
and to prevent pollution of the environment in accordance with the aims and
Paragraphs 187(f), 196 and 197 of the National Planning Policy Framework
(December 2024).

No development hereby permitted (except demolition and site clearance) within
any approved phase shall take place until the works relating to land contamination
detailed below are fully completed:

In accordance with the findings of site characterisation and risk assessment as
previously approved, documents from the following shall be submitted to the Local
Planning Authority for approval:

I.  Remedial Options Appraisal.
[I. Remediation Strategy.
lll. Verification Plan.

Reason. To prevent unacceptable risk to Human Health and Controlled Waters
and to prevent pollution of the environment in accordance with the aims and
Paragraphs 187(f), 196 and 197 of the National Planning Policy Framework
(December 2024).

The development hereby permitted within any approved phase shall not be
occupied/brought into use until the works relating to land contamination detailed
below are fully completed:

Where remediation is required, it shall be carried out in full accordance with the
approved Remediation Strategy.

A Verification Report must be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for
approval upon completion of remediation works. The Verification Report must
include information validating all remediation works carried out; details of imported
materials (source/quantity/suitability); details of exported materials; and details of
any unexpected contamination.

Reason. To prevent unacceptable risk to Human Health and Controlled Waters
and to prevent pollution of the environment in accordance with the aims and
Paragraphs

187(f), 196 and 197 of the National Planning Policy Framework (December 2024).

The development hereby approved within any approved phase shall not be
brought into use until written confirmation is provided to the Local Planning
Authority that unexpected or previously unidentified contamination was not
encountered during the course of development works.

If, during development, unexpected contamination is found to be present on the
site, no further works shall be carried out at the affected location until the following
are submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval:

l. Risk Assessment (GQRA or DQRA);

Il. Remediation Strategy & Verification Plan;

If remediation is required, it shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
Remediation Strategy. Upon completion of remediation works, a Verification
Report shall be submitted for approval. The Verification Report must include
information validating all remediation works carried out; details of imported
materials (source/quantity/suitability); details of exported materials; and details of
any unexpected contamination.

Reason. To prevent unacceptable risk to Human Health and Controlled Waters

Page 42



21.

22.

23.

and to prevent pollution of the environment in accordance with the aims and
Paragraphs 187(f), 196 and 197 of the National Planning Policy Framework
(December 2024).

Any soil or soil forming materials to be brought to site for use in garden areas, soft
landscaping, filling and level raising shall be tested for contamination and
suitability for use.

Proposals for contamination testing including testing schedules, sampling
frequencies and allowable contaminant concentrations (as determined by
appropriate risk assessment) and source material information shall be submitted to
the Local Planning Authority for approval prior to any soil or soil forming materials
being brought onto site.

The approved contamination testing shall then be carried out and validatory
evidence (soil descriptions, laboratory certificates, photographs etc.) submitted to
Local Planning Authority for approval prior to the development being brought into
use.

Reason. To prevent unacceptable risk to Human Health and Controlled Waters
and to prevent pollution of the environment in accordance with the aims and
Paragraphs 187(f), 196 and 197 of the National Planning Policy Framework
(December 2024).

Prior to occupation the applicant shall provide:

¢ 1 no. electric vehicle (EV) charging point (minimum 7kW™*) per dwelling
e Cable routes to be provided for all parking spaces which do not have access to
an electric vehicle charging point.

Certification and photographic evidence of the installation of the agreed electric
vehicle charge points shall be submitted to Local Planning Authority for approval
prior to the development being brought into use. The infrastructure shall be
maintained and operational in perpetuity.

*Mode 3, 7kW (32A) single phase, or 22kW (32A) three phase, and for 50kW
Mode 4 rapid charging may be required. British Standard BS EN 61851-1:2019 to
be used. Further information regarding minimum standards can be found at
https://www.gov.uk/transport/low-emission-and-electric-vehicles.

Reason. To encourage the uptake of ultra-low emission vehicles and ensure the
development is sustainable and to safeguard residential amenity, public health and
quality of life with respect to Local Air Quality, in accordance with paragraphs
112e, 117e, 187e and 199 of the National Planning Policy Framework (December
2024) and Places for Everyone Policy JP-S5 (Clean Air).

No development shall commence unless and until a scheme to minimise dust
emissions has been submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval.

The scheme shall include details of all dust control measures and the methods to
monitor emissions of dust arising from the development. The development shall
be implemented in accordance with the approved scheme with the approved dust
control measures being retained and maintained in a fully functional condition for
the duration of the development hereby approved.

Reason. To reduce the impacts of dust disturbance from the site on the local air
quality and the environment in accordance with paragraph 187e of the National
Planning Policy Framework (December 2024) and Places for Everyone Policy JP-
S5 (Clean Air).

Page 43



24. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the submitted flood risk
assessment (Response to Environment Agency/ 27th October 2025) and the
following mitigation measures it details:

e Finished floor levels shall be set no lower than 68.50 metres above Ordnance
Datum (AOD)

These mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to occupation and
subsequently in accordance with the scheme’s timing/phasing arrangements. The
measures detailed above shall be retained and maintained thereafter throughout
the lifetime of the development.

Reason. To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future
occupants pursuant to Unitary Development Plan Policies EN7/3 - Water Pollution,
EN7/5 - Waste Water Management Places for Everyone Joint Development
Framework Policy JP-S4 - Flood Risk and the Water Environment and chapter 14 -
Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change of the
NPPF.

25. No drainage systems for the infiltration of surface water to the ground are
permitted where adverse concentrations of contamination and known or suspected
to be present other than with the written consent of the local planning authority.
Any proposals for such systems must be supported by an assessment of the risks
to controlled waters. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved details.

Reason. To ensure that the development does not contribute to, and is not put at
unacceptable risk from or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water
pollution in line with paragraph 187 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

26. Piling or any other foundation designs using penetrative methods shall not be
permitted other than with the express written consent of the local planning
authority, which may be given for those parts of the site where it has been
demonstrated that there is no resultant unacceptable risk to groundwater. The
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason. To ensure that the proposed piling, does not harm groundwater
resources in line with paragraph 187 of the National Planning Policy Framework
and Position Statement J of the ‘The Environment Agency’s approach to
groundwater protection’.

27. The noise mitigation scheme as set out within chapter 5 of the approved Noise
Impact Assessment Version 5 dated 13th October 2025 shall be implemented in
full prior to occupation of the dwellings hereby approved and thereafter maintained
at all times.

Reason. To protect the amenity of the occupants of the premises once the
development hereby approved is occupied pursuant to Bury Unitary Development
Plan Policy EN7/2 - Noise Pollution.

For further information on the application please contact Helen Pressley on 0161 253 5277

Page 44



AN

g e e i

Viewpoints - 71426

N
=

{

's

te

W

ADDRESS: Land adjacent to Bealey Industrial Esta

M26 2BD

Dumers Lane, Radcliffe,
Planning, Environmental and Regulatory Services

® Crown Copyright and database right (2023). Ordnance Survey 100023063.

Page 45



71426

Photo 1

Photo 2

Page 46



71426

Photo 3

Photo 4

RN

. N

Page 47



71426

Photo 5

Photo 6

Page 48



71426

Photo 7

Page 49



71426

Photo 9

Photo 10

Page 50



71426

Photo 11

Photo 12

Page 51



71426

Photo 13

Photo 14
|

Page 52



71426

Photo 15

Photo 16

Page 53



71426

Photo 17

Page 54



71426

Photo 19

Page 55



300LBLE

30086.5!

general notes:
do not scale the drawing.

all dimensions to be checked on site prior to commencement of work and any
discrepancy shall be immediately reported and resolved prior to work commencing.
this drawing is to be read in conjunction with all relevant drawings and
specifications relating to the job whether or not indicated on the drawing.
copyright reserved to mck associates Itd. and this drawing may not be used or
reproduced without prior written consent.

407900N

LS

Page 56

LS

408200N
EASTIN N(%\(HNS\ Dﬁ(ﬂ (m)
79774276 |\ 407965.386 68.395
378762.004 |/ 49790453 8.248
97\7.09}/ 407943.741 62:g93
408100N
_ABBREVIATIONS
AV AR VALVE/VENT IC INSPECT CHAMBER
BOL  BOLLARD IL INVERT LEVEL
B8 BELISHA BEACON JKW  JAPANESE KNOTT WEED
BM  BENCH MARK LH  LAMP HOLE
BL  BED LEVEL P LAMP POST
8S  BUS STOP NP NAME PLATE
BT BRITISH TELECOM MH  MANHOLE
CL  COVER LEVEL PS  POST/SIGN POST
g.“ g:;ﬁg@w PB  POST BOX
o PX  UNKNOWN SERVICE
EL  EAVES LEVEL
RE RODDING EYE
ELE  ELEC JUNCT. BOX B0 RigE Leven
EP  ELECTRICITY POLE 25 ROM SN
FH,  FIRE HYDRANT ST SToP TAP
7 FLOOR LEVEL TH  TRIAL HOLE
FOS  FULL OF SEDIMENT T TRAFFIC LIGHT
FP FLAG POLE TP TELEGRAPH POLE
o G GULLY TV CABLE TV BOX
GM  GAS METER Ut UNABLE TO LIFT
GV GAS VALVE WM WATER METER
SYMBOLS
A SURVEY STATION @ TREE
|ey Industn I Estate —E — O\H ELEC CABLE 7 BENCH MARK
— T — O\H PHONE LINE {X} TRIAL PIT
“Y 7 CANOPY\HEDGE «3} BOREHOLE
3%
NOTES

A) ONLY MANHOLES AND SERVICES VISIBLE AT
TIME OF SURVEY SHOWN

B) O/S USED AND ORIENTATED TO TRUE NORTH
C) LEVELS IN METRES RELATED TO G.P.S.
D) DRAINAGE INFORMATION TAKEN FROM LA

RECORDS. INFORMATION MUST BE CHECKED
PRIOR TO WORK COMMENCING

A 23.10.25 PWS ADDITIONAL LEVELS TAKEN CLOSE TO
BOUNDARY OF 45 BOROUGH AV

Rov.  Da By Doscripton

Clent

! Westchurch
Homes

Project

BEALEY IND EST
RADCLIFFE

Drawing Tite:

EXISTING SITE PLAN

Orawn Checked:  Scale Dae:
PWS 1 NOV 2024
Job No: Draving No Rev:
1025 ESP A

>




/G abed

FRONT ELEVATION

5575

9102

GROUND FLOOR PLAN +

Chenl:

Westchurch
Homes

Project;

CORE HOUSE TYPES
ALNWICK
AS - 935ft*

REAR ELEVATION

FIRST FLOOR PLAN |

Grawing Title;

ALNWICK EBH
(ALN-EBH)

gendrat notes:

do not scale the drawing,

all dimensions ¢ be checked on site priar to commencement of work ang any dlsarepancy shall e
immedigtely reported and resolved prior to work commencing, this drawing is to be read in
canjunction with all refevant drawings and specifications relating ko e job whether or not indicated
an the drawing, Copyright reserved to mck assoctates Ird. and this drewing may not be used or
repradiced without prigr written consent.

=
L]
[ %]
£
| 2—I

10m

!

}-_ii____.____—'_-.__.......:_..._ — e 1| — W
e e e e ——
SIDE ELEVATION F

E
Ie]
£
g
ND3S Compliance £
Area Width 3
Cumenl | Fret 1o | Cumenl Reguired £
m e mw m m o
Bedigom 1 1244 | 113 115 275 275
Bedfroom & 2.85 106 15 262 FAL
 Bedreom 3 7.51 [0 7.5 2.18 2.15 [=
Storags 1.51 6 T b o
Under-stales Storage | 100 in 2.5 °
Colirmfar SL .9 3 = E ‘___
Tatal B33 Nns 4.0 Comphiant o — -—
[+3 I P 7S R T DV HUDSS sompliance (able addad P LA N N I N G
REV DATE BY BESCRIPTION
Job No: Erawing Mo Rev: B
L ociates limited
Drawn: Chacked: Scate @ AZ: Data: . L . .
SK - 1:100 FEB 2025 architecture b building surveying krban design

burnaby villa ® 48 watling street road 8 fulwood ® preston ® pr2 8bp
tel: 01772 774510 fax: 01772 774511 email mek@mckassociates.co.uk




85 ebed

general notes:

do not scale the drawing.

all dimensions to be checked n site prior 1 commencentent of work and any discrepancy shall be
immediately reported and resalved prior o work commendcing. this drawing is to be read in
conjunction with all refevant drawings and specifications relating to the joby whether or not tndicatad
on the drawing. Copyright reserved to mek assaciates Itd. and this drawing may not e used or
reproduced without prior written consent,

', — &
I | o
| | N e
1 |
I t
I 1
| - |
! |
: l
| i
T — —
E - I
s T |
=
) _I
REAR ELEVATION ! £ I
O —
[
l I
Dining StudyfDressing I
||
-
E I
- —
NDSS Compliance E
E— Ases : Widlh ]
Cureny R’"‘;’;“S;m Curienl |_Requ|rcc £
- L [[id m¥ _- m i m o
| Masier Bedroom 22.83 245 1.5 397 275
Bedroom 1 | 12.08 | 130 75 265 215 e
| Bedwom? 398 | 107 7.5 265 | 215 - =]
Bpgroom3 | 752 51 7.5 2.2 2,15 <
{ Storage | 1485 16 - . El ‘_
| Undcr-stal'rsil.urage 1.04 107 3.0 | - (=] -—
= [ Cpingerst | 0752 & | i — -
= | | | Total T 7 | T | vz Comphant 1 |
FIRST FLOOR PLAN i SECOND FLOOR PLAN :
i Liy] 1711525 o MOSE compliance lable added P LAN N I N G
REV LATE BY DESCRIPTION
Cham: = ] -Pro]ed: Drawlng Tite: 1 :lab Mot Orawing Mo Rev:
CORE HOUSE TYPES ALNWICK+ EHRG 1292-ALN-114 01 . . |
Westchurely ANwicks (ALN+ -EHRG) ] | associates limited
I E (e AS - 1292ft* gf(m: %hifcm ??1’5?”‘ m}R 2025 architecturel building surveying lirban design
- burnaby villa ® 48 watling street road ®m fulwood B preston ® pr2 8bp

tel: 01772 774510 fax: 01772 774511 email mek@mckassociates.co.uk




generdl noes:

~re-aBp-—i
05 ovctg

Clianit:

W

6012 '

10678

GROUND FLOOR PLAN

FIRST FLOOR PLAN

NDSS Compliance

SIDE ELEVATION

[ Afsa Widin 1
61 Cusrent Roamwie ™ | Cumant Requlred |
|
W c E ft* mt m H [
Badreom 1 256 | 135 115 J.ad 275
Storage 2.506 27 15 -
Tatal 574 616 50 Camphant
NDSS Compliance
Area _ Widih
562 Current oo™ | Comant | Hequired
i n:‘__ 7 m’ m m
Bedroom 1 12.56 125 115 342 275
Storage 252 27 1.5 0
~ Tota 5061 545 0 Compdiant

do not scale the drawing.

il gimenstons ko be checked on site prior to commencement of work and any discrepancy shall be
immediately regorted and resofved prior to work commencing. this drawing is to be read in
conjunction with all relevant drawings and specifications refating to the job whether ar not indicated
on the drawing. Copyright resarvad to mck associates ftd. and this drawing may not be used or
renroduced without priar written consent.

£
&
I |
£
i
1
S |

Im 4m  5m
U B |

2m

m

Oom
=
1:100

PLANNING

Westchurch
I 1|1711131

(i3} RELER IPd] oy NS5 compliance table added

REY DAYE BY BESCRIPTION
Project: Qrawlng Thie: Aoty Mo Drawirdg Mao: = Renr
CORE HOUSE TYPES BURGHLEY M - BUR-M-113 01 . a .
BURGHLEY M (BUR-M-EBH) | | associates limited
AS - 834ft* & 562ft* gri?wn e ?c_-?imoo@mz gaElsé 2025 architecturel building surveying kirban design

burnaby villa ® 48 watling street road @ fulwood ® presion ® pr2 8bp
tel: 01772 774510 fax: 01772 774511 email mck@mckassociates.co.uk |




gEneral notes.

o4 net scale the drawing.
& dvenzions o be checkad of Silg eor 10 commaneaTatt ¢f work and any discrepancy shall be
Inmitistity coring il fishivied Pror $3 mor cowTmRTRTL ths drawing is to be read in
comunction witl o rela drmsings il speticaBion reketing to the job whether or not indicated
o U dramiy, Sopyrioht reserved fo mok Jesuisley Rd. I G drawing may not be used or
TROAOCUCE] WA D IOF v TR CDOMRE,
£
o
o~
l I
£
e _I
| |
|
SIDE ELEVATION
6464
; 7 S l
iR _'“-:" R Fire Ground Flaor Plan 7
- o b 74 i L NOSS Compllance
g 2 -.-:"f. BED = Area Viidth i
g i .-.f: lj Currand “‘W;,";;‘;u‘ Cuyrtan] Requited
o = o fe E_ o o m m m
i | S Bedroom 1 1554 | 167 1.5 236 275
At '\\ ¥ Cyfinder 81 | 210 22 1.5 -
[DINING i | Tow | 5509 | sez | 00 Compliant
o
N E 5 7 , - -t First Floor Plan
S| ;:,ff 2 uviNG 7 ol NDSS Compliance |
|g ;ﬁ:_ ?é — I ] | Area | Wit il u'E)
'I: . i — Current foraed ¥ | Cument | Requlred ]
B 1 | ! S | ] ] ] E
it i £ m 1} m m m
i .:_:! | 1 S { Bodoom 1 43,26 | 150 115 384 2.75 -
i Cylinder 8. | 1.75 18 [FI | -
; Total D147 | 861 500 Compfiant E
‘\l ()
1] & \3 H e]
u% E N
! I"\.l :\""\-H-. £
i A [
=
E ] _
[aw] —
FIRST FLOOR PLAN
M TS oV WGSS compliance tabke sdded
REV DATE &Y DESCRIPTION P LAN N I N G
Project: Drawing Tige: Orawing Mo Rew: =
CORE HOUSE TYPES BURGHLEY ALT M4(3) BURALT-113 01
Westchurcly BURGHLEY ALT Ma@) (BUR ALT-EBH) ] | associates limite
- 2 2 Drawn: Checked: Scate @ AL Date:
I i DIIeEsS (> - 6671 & 604Mt oV SK “ 1:10? Jun 2025 architecturel building surveying lirban design
burnaby villa ® 48 watling strest road ® fulwood ® preston ® pr2 8bp
| tel: 01772 774510 fax; 01772 774511 email mck@mckassociates.co.uk




| FRONT ELEVATION f
K
g 5460
@D
&
O
fais ]
P
1
E GROUND FLOOR PLAN i
|leten: Project;

CORE HOUSE TYPE

Westchurch  cHESTER
& —— AS - 9461t2

i
| FIRST FLOOR PLAN I
|

Drawing Titfa:

CHESTER MB
(CHE-MB})

Job No:

Drawn:

SCK

gereral notes:

do not scale the drawing.

all dimensions to be checked an site prior to commencement of work and any discrepancy shall be
trarnediately reported and resobved prior to wark commencing. this drawing is 1o be read in
conjunction with all relevant drawings and spedfications refating to the job whether gr not indicated
on the drawing. Copyright reserved to mck associates Itd, and this drawing may not be used ar
reproduced withoul prior writhen consent.

o
™
7]
) _ﬁ
NDSS Compliance g I
Area | Widith )
|
Curcont faumed 9% | Cureant Required
m’ Li me m m
Bedropm 1 | 1244 | 1233 | 115 275 2,75
Badroom 2 S.85 06 .5 262 .95
Bedroom 3 7.52 80.9 7.5 218 | 295 |
Storage 151 16.2 ; ; 2.9
Undee-siales Sterags | 1.0 10,7 5 L -
Cylinder St 0.8 96 | |
Total 85.3 418 84 ) Complan

LA Y7 B Erd GO WDES compliance table added
REY DATE BY QESCRIPTION

Checked:

5m

am 4dm
B me E.

Zl’mi

m

Om
.
1100

PLANNING

Orawing No; Rev,

946-CHE-116 01

.Scam @Ak .Dale:
1:100 FEB’ 2025

associates limited

architecture] building surveying lurban design

burnaby villa ®m 48 watling street road ® fulwood B preston m pr2 8bp
tel: 01772 774510 fax: Q1772 774511 email mck@mcekassociates.co.uk




Z0-26p 4

genoral notes:
do not scale the drawing.
all disnensions t6 be checked on site paor to commencement of work ard any discrepancy shall ba
immediately reported and resolved prior to work commencing. this drawing is to be read in
corahction with aib Miivant dlacars and spedifications refating to the job whether or not indicated
on the drawing. Cogyright reserved to mek asseciates td. and this drawing may not be used of

| reproduced without prior writters corsent,

=
)
]
£
E‘“‘! r
'''' — I
-
i e f:

10m
g

FRONT ELEVATION REAR ELEVATION SHIE ELEVATION
. . 5835 "
9]
D
2
D
§ I
D
i - 7
w i
e
A
.'.-E-:."i.-....i:
; g
= =
=
NDSS Compliance
] Area i idth £
Current Reqverd 0% | Cument | Reauiced N
Bedreor 1 1:.1;a 11:5 |T.=s 330 ] zr.:s ] E - o
Bedroom 2 764 | 82 75 250 218 =]
Sedroam 3 7.55 a4 7.5 247 | 215 £ I T
Cylinder S1 3 . o K
Under-stairs Ss;orage 2;13 292 s - = I:I .
I e { Tolal 5780 | 945 | 84D Comgiant
GROUND FLOOR PLAN FIRST FLOOR PLAN ¢ 17425 DV NDSS complanca ablo added
HEV DATE 8Y  DESCRIPTION
Cliend: Project: Drawing Tithe: — Job Mo, Crawing Mo Rew;
CORE HOUSE TYPE GAINFORD 973-GAl-121 01 . o
I
/' Westchurch GaNFORD (GAI-ERG) | | | associates limited
[ l Omes AS - 973ft? ﬁ'é“": cshé“‘“; ??31[{51% » Eaésa 25 architecturel building surveying Lrban design
: burnaby vilia ® 48 watling street road m fulwood ® preston ® pr2 8bp

tel: Q1772 774510 fax: 01772 774511 email mck@mckassociates.co.uk




general notes:

de not scale the drawing.

all dimensions to be checked on site prior to commencement of work ang any discrépancy shall be
immediately reported and resobved prior to work commencing, this drawing is to be read in
conjunction with all relevant drawings and specifications refating to the Job whether or not indicated
on the drawing. Copyright reserved to mrk assoctates Itd. and this drawing may not be used ar

reproguced without prior wiitten consent.

FHomes

e ——— 5 E
o
| ) _‘_‘
I
F—=
¥
5_ JELTT AT 5| = - % )
E = —___ = — " l
FRONT ELEVATION SIDE § END ELEVATION IREAR ELEVATION
. §_I
(Q
(]
(o)}
) I
Kitehen ‘
£
& -
(1=
2 £ I
b8 5 -
NDSS Compliance
I_ fsea widn £
== : &
Cutrant Rutire > | Cowent Raquired
1 i H* m m m e l
Badroom 1 1527 | 164 15 2.00 235 N
Bodroom 2 7.56 1] 7.5 2.43 2.45
Eedroom 3 755 | 81 5| 24 215 £
;Undecrir:l.:?::;mge ??: l‘: 23 : = 8
| ola 4 ompliEn Lo
Tolat 88.04 948 84.0 Compliznt e T
for —
GROUND FLOCR FPLAN FIRST FLOOR PLAN )
01 17125 OV NDSS comgliancs table added
REV DATE BY  DESCRIPTION
Chiwri: Project: Orawing Tite: Jab Mg =3 Drarwing Na: Rev:
CORE HOUSE TYPE RANGE GAINFORD ALT 964-GAI-A-11101 . .
’ a
Westehurely GAINFORDALT (GAI-ALT-EBH) | | | associates limited
AS - 964ft* gar e Ime™ “arch 2024 architecturell building surveying Lirban design

burnaby villa ® 48 watling street road 8 fulwood B preston m pr2 8bp
tel: 01772 774510 fax: Q1772 774511 email mck@mckassociales.co.uk




19 abed

Chen:

general notes:

do not 5¢ale the drawing.

a1 dimensions to be checked on site prior ¢ commencement of work and any discrepancy shall be
imrnediately reported and resalved priar to work commendng. this drawing is to be read In
conjuriction with 2!l relevant drawings and specifications relating to the job whather or not indicated
on the drawing. Copyright reserved to mek associates Itd. and this drawing may not be used or
reproducad without prior written consent.

= E
— S
I S
\.{b‘x& >
. N Z
iy _.-"'- o
: \“‘-““\q “
T - . i — I
-I =05 AT N E
! z . == 5|
= —— l
= I ] : | i =
00 f
i : L i |
= em\Y lE:: =:
——— ——— | | T,
FRONT ELEVA TN REAR ELEVATION SIDE ELEVATION
E I
A 4664 . P
Dining I
£
[ w0 —
E
2 g_l
E
g
NDSS Compliance
1 Area Wwidth ] & l
Cuirant R.q;g;m Curent I Requited LY By
| [Z m | oom | m £
i Budroom 1 18] 124 115 3.00 275 = o
| Bodrom2 1024 | 10 7.5 299 2.15 S
o e e Bl £ _' -
1 Total 7021 | 756 700 Comphant
o1 1714425 o WDSS compliance lable addad
GROUND FLOOR PLAN FIRST FLOOR PLAN REV DATE BY  DESCRIPTION
Project: Dirawing Tithe: Job Na: Drawing Me: Rew:
_ CORE HOUSE TYPES KNARESBOROUGH 769-KNA-120 01 , . .
Westchurch KNARESBOROUGH (KNA-EBH) associates limited
} I TS AS - 769 f? v S S Nov 2024 architecturel building surveying kirban design

burnaby villa ® 48 watling street road W fulwood ® preston ® pr2 8bp
tel: 01772 774510 fax: 01772 774511 email mck@mckassociates.co.uk




g9 offed

Chient:

FRONT ELEVATION

+ 5743

DINING i

GROUND FLOOR PLAN

Westchurch
Homes

genersl notes:

do not scale the drawing.

all dimensions to be checked on site prior to commenSKment of work and any discrepancy shiall be
immediately reported and resobved prior te work commencing. this drawing is to be read in
conjunction with all relovant drawings and specifications relating to the job whether or not indicated
on the drawing. Copyright reserved 1o mck assodates itd. and this drawing may not be used or
reproduSid without prior wrilten cansent,

20m

SIDE ELEVATION

=1 I

15m

.

10m
J
B N B .

im  5m
e

NOSS Compliance E
& —
Aica — W:'j_lh
Curait a““,:&g;“* Curmrani I Requirad £ l
m* S m i} B m ™~
| Bedroom 1 13.28 | 133 1.5 2.72 2.55
| Bedroom 2 i2.0% 144 11.5 297 AL E
| Bedioom 3 76 a4 7.5 237 | 215 — P
| Understais Storage | 1.0 10.7 - r ‘c‘_')_
| Cylader Siore [\E1N3 “.8 25 S ..
| Blocage 1.85 19.91 - ] —
r Tetal | 2318 | 0063 93 Campliari
FIRST FLOCR PLAN
o1 TS o NDES compRance tabla addad
REY DATE BY DESCRIPTION
Prajgct: Drawdng Titte: Job Mo Dhrapwitig Mo | Rev,
CORE HOUSE TYPES PEOVER - 1023-PEO-14601 . . .
PEOVER (PEO-ERH) associates limited
- 2 | Brawn: Chocked:  Scsle @ AZ: Date: , o :
AS - 10231t s’&“’“ ’ 1?150 Jan ‘25 architecturel building surveying Lirban design

burnaby villa m 48 watling street road ® fulwood ® preston m pr2 8hp
tel: 01772 774510 fax: 01772 774511 email mck@mckassociates.co.uk




ao-aBo-

4.T_____.__ 1
|

LA N RN LAY R LA RN (LAY P TR e T Y BTN A TRV b

|I|.-_-\.

REAR ELEVATION

U L
D
»]
D
D)
2>]
GROUND FLOOR PLAN | FIRST FLOOR PLAN
Chant: = 1 Project: " Drawtng Tige:
o - CORE HOUSE TYPE RIPLEY
Westchurch [RIPLEY (RIP-ERH)
AS - 1112182
Homes

SIDE ELEVATION

generat notes:

do not scale the drawing.

2t dimenstons to be checked on site prior to commencement of wark and any discrepancy shall ba
immeadiately reported and resolved prior 10 work commenting. this drawlng is to be read In
conjunction with 2l relevant drawings and specifications cedating to the job whether or not indicated
an the drawing. Copyright reserved to mek assoviates fid. and this drawing may not be used or
reproduced without prior written consent,

£
[=3
o~ —

I

15m
|

10m
|
Il B B B B

4m  5m
.

NDSS Compliance
I Area : Widih
Cyrrent | m,:gsm* Currant Required g !
m’_T fi2 it  m m
Bedioom{ | 190 | 128 | N5 | 303 | 275 | £
Bedroom 2 7.50 | 80 X3 269 | 215 | o
Badroom 3 752 80 1.5 227 215 |
Bedmomi 768 82 1.5 2.52 215 E
Slgraga 1.84 19 | B = - -
Under-stairs Storage | 100 10 3.0 i o
Cyfinder St 107 1 —
Tolal 10108 | 1083 | 970 | Compliant £ l .-
I o =

LRI A R oV

083 conciane i PLANNING

REV DATE ay DESCRIPTION
1 JabE Drawing No: Rav:

- 1112-RIP-113 01 . o
| | | associates limited
Orawm: Chackad: Seala @ AT Data: . . . .
SCK Bl 1:100 MARCH 25 architecturel building surveying Lirban design

burnaby villa ® 48 watling street road & fulwood ¥ preston ® pr2 8bp
tel: 01772 774510 fax: 01772 774511 email mck@mckassociates.co.uk




/9 abed

Client:

W

} ]HHH_"-

general notes:

do not scale the drawing.

all dimensions o ba checked an site prior to commencament of work and any discrepancy shall be
knmediatedy reported and resolved prier o work commencing. this drawing is to beread in
conjunction with all relevant drawings and specifications refating to the job whether or not indicated
on the drawirg. Copyright reserved to mek associates {id, and this drawing may not be used or
reproduced without prior written cansent,

5 £
1 1 <
| | &
! i
i |
E| E—
i |
[ = l
. = E £
Ll 2
i = =
1 s S— — i : _—
- m. E 17
| E i
!
- l_._ ._ —— = Z
‘OIE <00 = i
r | m—— — — e — -_— —— = e — e
E l ::‘A‘FJ‘"Q‘
FRONT ELEVATION ! REAR ELEVATION SIDE ELEVATION I
s
P 4945 1
£
o —
g I
5 £
NOSS Comptiance o
i | Ao Width o
Living i Currant Foaoae™™ | Current Required £
I e [ ot m m s
[ Begroom 1 1854 | 245 s 329 275
| Budroom 2 1168 | 107 15 285 2.55 =
Bedroom 3 1 752 21 .5 21 1% — )
Storage 264 28 - L 52
Under-stairs Slorzge | 100 i? 25 E j .
Cylindar 5t 4,703 8 M o .
Total 100.986| 1087 | 93 | Comgilant
i i
FIRST FLOOR PLAN i SECCND FLOOR PLAN [
I | o1 1TMEs v HOSS compliance tatie addad P LAN N I N G
REV DATE BY DESCRIPTION p - |
a E Pro]ec!:- I Dirawing Tida: Job Mo, -Drawing Mo: Rav:
CORE HOUSE TYPE WOLLATON 1113-WOL-11¢ 01 . . ,
I
Westchurch woLLaToN (WOL-EBG) _ associates limited |
AS - 1113 sq.ft o - oY May 25 architecture building surveying hirban design

burnaby villa ® 48 watling street road # fulwood 8 preston m pr2 8bp
tal: 01772 774510 fax: 01772 774511 emall mck@mckassociates.co.uk |




g9 ofied

Clieni:

i |
| SECOND FLOOR PLAN i
|

general notes:

do not scale the drawing.

all disnensions to be checked on site prior by commencement of wark 8nd any discrepancy shall be
immediatcly repurted and resolved priar to work commencing. this deawing Is to be read in
conjunction with all relovant drawings and spedfications relating to the jobr whether ar not indicated
on the drawing, Copyright reserved to mak assodiates ftd. and this drawing may not be used or
repraduced without prior wiitten consent.

20m

15m

T E Ee .

10m

l
ISIDE ELEVATION

£

>

E

<

MDSS Compliance E

[xp]

|__ Asea Width
Cument Ragdrad 100% | Cusrent Required £
m? i m* m " N
Bedreom 1 12,35 133 1.5 3.03 275

Badroom 2 13.3% 134 7.5 3.3 2.55 =
Eadroon 3 13.39 144 75 303 215 - - f
Under-stairs Siorage | 4.295 14 i - = 9
Storage 1205 | 13 ' - ] £ il
Total 10253 | 103 99 Complianl o -

GROUND FLOOR PLAN ! FIRST FLOOR PLAN o1 1T2E Dv NDSE comptiance tabte added PLAN N I N G
REYW DATE BY DESCRIPTION
Project: Drawing Tilg: Job Mo Dirawaing No: Fav:
CORE HOUSE TYPES WOLLATON ALT+ EBG 1121-WOL-113 .01 . . .
WOLLATON ALT+ (WOL ALT+ EBG) | associates limited
AS - 112112 E’E”": ‘é"&“""; ??1“66@” gaéeié’ 2025 architecturel building surveying lrban design

burnaby villa ® 48 watling street road ® fulwood W preston ® pr2 8bp
tel: Q1772 774510 fax, 01772 774511 email mck@mckassociates.co.uk




LAND OFF DUMERS LANE,
RADCLIFFE

rl

2] 5 Sl * 0
T S sl ] T BT
W e e 1 Py ah
o y . S
L i Foa s o -
o W e R T “WEiH  BEALEY IND EST
T W4 Ea F i #: 3] RADCLIFFE
o - T jrie] TN
T e o
T W R E #EE  PROPOSED SITE LAYOUT
T [ (E-1 il
ey = R E L e 7
&m ccccccccccccc

nnnnnnnnnnnnnnn

AﬂuE GGGGG

AY




SECTION A-A
SCALE-1:200

[LTA R
?‘.-‘I MR 3 B P sfer S TG AT sAgehe e - 2 LR P sk I'““" o U B deami: WL - B KR L LR Y AT DT WHLY - BATH L AT HLTT T TO0 - T S WA DT e PUFT B JT AL CAMTRY - L o LIS R N Lo R e T LU LR LR MLIGCE 43 WNLGE: avEMEs MIT SDNENT i
[ |
S m | — - [ ' S
A e A 8 ek i B Bk ek e Rk B L 8 8 £k d 8 e kB ke b B & Bk kB 8 B i 8k o e 8 &k R ek B R A A A A R N A A4 R AAMASALAL RSN SEmmSEmE.m— . '
ok PR e mmmeem e ————- mammemsssmamm s mmmmemem———ae. e
- -
e
-
| S
.. = |
e |
f 1 e
—r—t
[
S -
[ L L] " L

A G SIME e FECTRN AT VIK Sad B

it SmTy A TR T AL R

Oy )

o - B

- SECTION B-B
SCALE-1:200

A I =

1025 X541 c

£ 5 - £ e = Hn s ! (=
é
P e Se Pl T TR ORAT st D CUTTPRTH, 1 A SDaX. Ju TR B - PRt Gt A - Btk aEs F) 1 ﬂ“‘w-m(nw’w‘ 9 DR LA etz Ctamaa e ch BHIN I 8 GO L
v . ¥ T e whe ¥ PR - [ TEET 3 Rt =AY i
- . o ~ Il
- H B [T
=k g - & & % B 3 = -
s
ol |
SECTION C-C
. ﬂ;p"
<% SCALE-1:200
—-—
II .
!, 4 8
=4 = 3 Lk g q?uw- v ket
5 3 OB D R e
Fa:ETERD S MR - WA ST RCRATTW TIRIT M RTY O T WA L] Rt T L A P T ;; AT, e VG i b R & A Ty DT LE Y LLY Foe. L
e e e R R e R e e e e e S SR e e e S e s AR e e | W B T Lot WY LR e | el
B RO RO omerrrerr=rrrprrmrprrerrr=rd OO
] o S T T T T T T TR T T T TR T T T = = = T T | S oo oo mmmmsEse=ss—s
LY - . 1 oy -
L } iy I Vi tchurch
l-aa!sy!nduslrir.Esla!a 1 1 | = Liyg . I
- } ; } : b RUIRNLES -
L ] LS - - - - - - - fmm—= —m— - ——— 'y
i ol ! ! 'l
1 -l ¥ ——— - - 5
. } oy
b 1 1 - —— DUMERS_LANE
- o | N ] 1 = 1 Rt i BEALEY_INDUSTRIAL_ESTATE r'g‘
T i 1 i L s #’ I Wl e e e s m e n - a -
1 i = & i A e e A R A A A A A A L A A A AR R R R R N AR AR A A A A R A A AR B A B A A R R A A R LA AR LA AR LA A A A L L B R L A L L i i i M mm T
! ; By : e ooy ye———------—— Suwa T pred
T /! g ! LR - ! A . “1 ! ! SITE =
L PO ‘I.- R Sy, 2 I R b :- = - - = g T x5 CROSS-SECTIONS =z
| i G | ey~ = o T ey L PO B el
d ' - f j T e - k) 1A & e '”-,nl-_:.“'\-' oy
k| i - ! o i ke L - - e s ™
e W L i A - PWE  CAECKLD SHOWHEal AlKES
—

LOCATION PLAN - SCALE 1:1000  eCALE-1:200



T/, 8bed

e
= EEk e oeergs
¥ ErewTEre T rrmkez e prer b esrrrerarrm o s ol
g i man @ wl b el glip i e smsiced R e mEb s ieeg ey
FE M T B RE e T w8 T O e
reliiry iz ithe Eh st oo reisnie o e SveTm
o i Tmre] o seerurch o e aes STy Sy reew o b Lol o
ke £ TR i v A

L
BEALEY IMNDLUSTRIAL ESTATE

ey

STREET SCEMES

b [ e

1025 =50t ¥

ONINNY1d



WILD STREET

SNINNY I

TR - s
o U " I [
- e __'_“'—'-I':':":-// .-"'"- Y .<; —m :

-
£ KNS s 5




[ = ._\__--II
=t e =

Bealey Incustrial Estate | |
} ! f

SNINNY Id



Notes:
N : . o
/\, 1. All dimensions in metres unless stated otherwise.

2. This drawing is to be read in conjunction with all
relevant architects, engineers and specialists drawings
and specifications.

3. This drawing is based on a Topographical Survey
provided by Westchurch Homes. Tetra Tech does not
take responsibility for any discrepancies.

x

EXISTING BUILDING

Key:

RIDGE=73.08

EXISTING BUILDING

—— Approx site boundary
— — Approx adopted highway

— — Land ownership outside of applicant's control and
outside of adopted highway

¢/ abed

Existing footway

PRELIMINARY ISSUE

Uncontrolled tactile
crossing

On-street car parking spaces /
. . / Ny,
for existing residents 2 S 12
EXIS NG BUILDING " ) o =

RIDGE=78.19

@) ’ =
~
1.5 ~
7] =
~

2 G
@ P04 |Minor edits 01.12.2025 | AB | MT | AK
O P03 |Updated red line boundary 11.08.2025 | AB | MT [ AK
P02 [Highway comments incorporated 09.07.2025 | AB | MT | AK

H /

Access C is not used by P01 _|Preliminary first issue 01.05.2025 | AB | MT | AK
Rov Descrpion Daic O Chic /o

Document Control

HGVs N

Issuing Office

Tetra Tech Manchester
11 York Street, TETRA TECH
Manchester, M2 2AW

Tel: +44 (0)161 872 3223
www.tetratecheurope.com

Client

Existing residents driveway Westchurch Homes

On-street car parking spaces
for existing residents

Proposed Residential Development, Land
off Dumers Lane, Radcliffe

Uncontrolled tactile crossing

/ 3.6 X/ General Arrangement: Potential Improvements

/

0 3.5 7 105 14 175 m / / T T EVR ) Ty P perro vy
T 1 1 1 el 784-B054854 AB Apr 25 MT  Apr'25 AK  Apr'25 | As Sh S0
=_=_= i Existing car parking bay / e or or pr 25 | As Shown
Client Project Number  Originator ~ Volume/System Level/Location Type/Code Role Number Revision

@
EXISTING BULDING ~ )
L /4 {0
Existing footway \/k. o) / to Wild Street/Dumers Lane Junction

SCALE 1:350 / / B054854 - TTE - 00 - XX -DR - O - 004 P04

/ / / @ Copyright Tetra Tech TTE_MT_ut




Ward: Radcliffe - East ltem 02

Applicant:
Location: 25 Thomas Street, Radcliffe, Manchester, M26 2UH

Proposal: Change of use from public house (Sui Generis) to a 15 Bedroom (18 Persons) HMO
together with first floor extension at side/rear and single storey extension at rear

Application Ref: 72127/Full Target Date: 01/10/2025
Recommendation: Approve with Conditions

Description

The application relates to a former public house which is located in Radcliffe Town Centre
which has been vacant since 2022.

The property is a part two storey, part single storey detached building with an external
staircase and side entrance on the southern elevation and an enclosed yard and patio area
at the rear.

The property is located fronting Thomas Street directly between two public car parks (to the
north and south) with a further car park to the east accessed from Seymour Street. To the
west is a cobbled back street beyond which are shops and business premises fronting
Blackburn Street.

Planning permission was granted in January 2025 for the conversion of the public house to
a 10 bed HMO. Internally, 6 bedrooms and a communal room were proposed at the
ground floor with 4 bedrooms at the first floor. Externally, it was proposed to demolish the
external staircase and side entrance and provide a 10 cycle bike store and bin store an area
for outdoor amenity.

This application seeks the conversion of the building to a 15 bed/18 person HMO with a first
floor extension at the side/rear and a single storey rear extension.

The proposed first floor side/rear extension would be located on the southern side on top of
the existing single storey element and the single storey rear extension attached to the
existing outrigger. Materials would be render to match the existing.

At the ground floor it is proposed to provide 7 bedrooms - 6 no single occupancy and 1 no.
double occupancy. A communal kitchen/ diner would be located in the rear outrigger and
new extension to provide 31.2sqm of communal space.

At the first floor would be 8 bedrooms - 6 no. bedrooms in single occupancy and 2 no.
bedrooms in double occupancy.

Each bedroom would have en-suite facilities, desk, kitchenette facilities fridge/storage and
cupboard.

It is proposed to provide 3 parking spaces in total, 1 parking space on the back street at the

rear of the building and 2 parking spaces within the rear yard area which would be accessed
from the back street. The outdoor space would also provide a cycle store for 20 bikes and

communal seating area with bench seating. The existing paved area at the front of the site
would be used to house a bin store.

Page 75



Certificate C has been signed and the application advertised in the press as the site
includes land outside the applicant's ownership.

Relevant Planning History
71353 - Change of use from Public House (sui generis) to a 10 Bedroom (single occupancy)
HMO - approved 29/1/25.

Publicity
Letters sent to 32 properties on 8/8/215.
Site notice posted 14/8/25.

4 objections received which raise the following issues -

e The building is located directly opposite a children's nursery

e Currently the local area is already having flats being developed, this additional housing
isn't necessary for the area

e The area hasn't even finished the high school or the leisure facilities adding a HMO to

this area would not be in Radcliffe's our local occupiers best interest

We do not need any more HMO's in the Radcliffe area.

Develop the area for flats for working people or affordable housing.

We don't have enough doctors or dentist to accommodate more people.

Insufficient parking provision and the resulting impact on local residents and visitors.

While there are public car parks nearby on Thomas Street, Cross Street, and at the

Civic Centre, these facilities are already heavily used, particularly during weekdays and

frequently reach full capacity which pushes overflow parking onto surrounding side

streets such as Halstead Close.

e It also places additional pressure on parking availability for visitors to local amenities,
including the nearby health centre, which is an essential community facility.

¢ An HMO of this scale is unlikely to have a positive impact on the town which is currently
undergoing very expensive regeneration.

e HMOs generally add to anti social behaviour in an area including littering/fly tipping.

e | don't think the council should encourage low quality renting. It is well known that
people living in HMOs often have poor landlords.

Those who have made representations have been notified of the Planning Control
Committee meeting.

Statutory/Non-Statutory Consultations

Traffic Section - No objections subject to conditions.

Environmental Health - Pollution Control - No comments to make
Environmental Health - Commercial Section - No response received
Waste Management - No objection.

Greater Manchester Police - designforsecurity - No response received.
Adult Care Services - No response received

Housing - Public Protection - No objection.

Pre-start Conditions - Not relevant

Development Plan and Policies

NPPF National Planning Policy Framework

H1/2 Further Housing Development

H2/1 The Form of New Residential Development
H2/2 The Layout of New Residential Development

Page 76



H2/4 Conversions

H5/1 Area Improvement

EN1/2 Townscape and Built Design

EN7/2 Noise Pollution

HT2/4 Car Parking and New Development

S1/2 Shopping in Other Town Centres

S2/3 Secondary Shopping Areas and Frontages

Area Blackburn Street/Dale Street/Church Street West
RD1

SPD11 Parking Standards in Bury

SPD13 Conversion of Buildings to Houses in Multiple Occupation
JP-C2 Digital Connectivity

JP-C5 Streets For All

JP-C6 Walking and Cycling

JP-C8 Transport Requirements of New Development

JP-S2 Carbon and Energy

JP-P1 Sustainable Places

Issues and Analysis

The following report includes analysis of the merits of the application against the relevant
policies of both the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), the adopted Places for
Everyone Joint Development Plan Document (PfE) and the saved policies within the
adopted Bury Unitary Development Plan (UDP), together with other relevant material
planning considerations.

The policies of the UDP that have been used to assess this application are considered to be
in accordance with the NPPF and as such are material planning considerations. For
simplicity, just the UDP and PfE Policies will be referred to in the report, unless there is a
particular matter to highlight arising from the NPPF where it would otherwise be specifically
mentioned.

Principle

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out the governments objective of
significantly boosting the supply of homes in all kinds of size and tenures. With regard to
HMOs, the conversion of large houses into flats or bedsits can make an important
contribution to the local housing stock and can utilise vacant or underused space more
efficiently.

At para 11, the NPPF is clear that decisions should be in favour of sustainable development
and at para 61 states that the overall aim should be to meet an areas's identified housing
need, including with an appropriate mix of housing types for the local community.

Policy H1/2 states that the Council will have regard to various factors when assessing a
proposal for residential development, including whether the proposal is within the urban
area, the availability of infrastructure and the suitability of the site, with regard to amenity,
the nature of the local environment and the surrounding land uses.

The property is located within a town centre setting where there are a mix of commercial
and business premises as well as residential flats and houses, notably above shops or
directly opposite the site on Halstead Close. The site is in a highly sustainable area with
access to public transport and local services and amenities.

The property and site benefit from an extant permission for the change of use to an HMO
and as such the principle for this tenure of housing has been established.

Page 77



The issues of this application concern the intensified occupation of the building and resulting
associated facilities of communal spaces, bin and cycle store and parking.
These issues are discussed below.

Layout

There would be 15 bedrooms (3 in double occupation) over two floors with a single
communal kitchen/diner located at the ground floor.

All the bedrooms for both the single and double units would comply with national minimum
space standards for HMO's and licensing standards and the communal kitchen would be of
a size and provide adequate kitchen facilities to meet Bury Council's HMO Guidance.

The yard area would be of an adequate size to facilitate 2 parking spaces and cycle store
plus an area for sitting out and drying washing.

The bin store would be located at the front of the site on an existing paving area and
accessed directly from Thomas Street on collection days.

The HMO Licensing Section have no issues subject to the applicant obtaining an
appropriate license.

It is therefore considered the proposed development would comply with H2/4, EN1/2 and
SPD13.

Impacts on residential amenity

The property is detached and there are public car parks either side of the building. The
nearest residential dwelling would be the flats over the shop to the rear of the site on
Blackburn Street over 10m away and houses to the east on Halstead Street more than 20m
away.

There would be acceptable separation distances from habitable room windows in the
proposed HMO to nearby residential properties in compliance with SPD6 and it is therefore
considered that there would not be a significant impact on overlooking or privacy of
neighbours.

The property was formerly a public house which would itself have generated a level of
activity , noise and disturbance and at different times of the day. =~ Whilst there would be an
increase in occupation of 8 people from the previously approved 10 person HMO, it is
considered that comparative to a pub, the proposed use and number of occupiers would not
cause undue noise and disturbance to the area nor intensify the use of the building to a
significantly harmful degree.

The proposed outdoor communal space would be provided in the former pub beer garden
and would be used for parking for two cars, provide cycle storage and areas to sit out,
comparative to a pub use it is considered that impacts on the surrounding area would not be
exceptionally harmful compared to the previous use. The site is also in a town centre
location where there would be an expectation of comings and goings in the area and it is
considered the proposed use would not significantly add to activity and disturbances.

The proposed use would also bring back into use a vacant building and therefore
occupation would benefit from natural surveillance over the area and upkeep of the
grounds.

It is therefore considered the proposed development would not have an adverse impact

upon the residential amenity of neighbouring properties and would be in accordance with
Policies EN1/2 and H2/4.

Page 78



Highway issues

The site is located in Zone 2 for parking and SPD11 requires 0.25 unallocated spaces per
bedroom which would equate to 3.75 spaces (rounded up to 4). The application proposes 3
spaces.

SPD11 does however state that alternative provision levels are considered on a case-by-
case basis.

It is generally recognised that car ownership tends to be lower for those who occupy an
HMO compared to other types of residential households. There are two public car parks
either side of the property and another public car park opposite.

Located within a town centre and a highly sustainable area, there are good links to public
transport and a wide range of shops, local services and facilities to meet the needs of future
occupiers.

The development also proposes a cycle store with space for 20 cycles which would comply
with SPD11 which requires one secure covered space per bedroom.

The property previously operated as a public house without any parking and it is considered
that given the sustainable town centre location, links to transport systems and nearby public
car parks, dedicated parking for the development would not be necessary in this instance.
The NPPF at para 117 states that applications for development should give priority to
pedestrian and cycle movements and facilitate access to high quality public transport.

PfE Policy JP-P1 Sustainable Places advocates efficient uses of land and development
which is well connected to local facilities and public modes of transport.

The bin store would be located at the front of the site and a new drop kerb would be
installed to facilitate access for waste management on collection days.

The Highway Authority have raised no objection subject to a condition for the provision of
the cycle and bin store prior to commencement of the use.

It is therefore considered that given the sustainable location and access to good transport
links and local amenities, in addition to the benefits of providing housing in the area, the
proposed development is considered to be acceptable and would comply with the principles
of sustainable development.

Policy JP-S2: Carbon and Energy

In compliance with Policy JP-S2 of the Places for Everyone (PfE) plan, the development
proposes to minimise energy demand and maximise energy efficiency including measures
to achieve a high APC, smart thermostats, energy saving lights and to align with 2022 Part
L Building regulations.

The development would comply with JP-S2.

Policy JP-C2: Digital Connectivity
The development would support high quality infrastructure by including full fibre broadband.
the proposed development would comply with policy JP-C2.

Response to objections

e The 'type' of occupier of an HMO is not a material consideration. There is no evidence
to suggest that the proposed development would result in associated issues of noise,
littering or anti social behaviour, which are covered in any event by other legislation and
by council services.

e With regards to parking, an HMO tends to have lower car ownership levels, within a
sustainable town centre location is considered acceptable.

Page 79



¢ Interms of the location of HMQ's, whether it be Radcliffe or any other area, applications
are assessed on a site by site basis and on merit.

¢ An HMO offers an alternative type of housing tenure to meet the areas housing needs.

e Radcliffe has a range and number of local facilities and services and it is considered that
an additional 18 residents (or an additional 8 above the approved HMO) would not put
significant pressure on local services.

o All other issues have been covered in the above report.

Statement in accordance with Article 35(2) Town and Country Planning (Development
Management Procedure) (England) (Amendment) Order 2015

The Local Planning Authority worked positively and proactively with the applicant to identify
various solutions during the application process to ensure that the proposal comprised
sustainable development and would improve the economic, social and environmental
conditions of the area and would accord with the development plan. These were
incorporated into the scheme and/or have been secured by planning condition. The Local
Planning Authority has therefore implemented the requirement in Paragraph 38 of the
National Planning Policy Framework.

Recommendation: Approve with Conditions
Conditions/ Reasons

1. The development must be begun not later than three years beginning with the date
of this permission.
Reason. Required to be imposed by Section 91 Town & Country Planning Act
1990.

2. This decision relates to drawings
Project number GSS24124 -

Existing plans 002A

Existing and proposed site plan 502 rev 5
Revised proposed floor plans 003A rev 3

Revised proposed elevations 003B rev 2

20 space Amazon TT Shelter rev 00
Bike shelter specification by the Bike Storage Company

and the development shall not be carried out except in accordance with the
drawings hereby approved.

Reason. For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of
design pursuant to the policies of the Bury Unitary Development Plan and Places
for Everyone Joint Development Plan listed.

3. The use hereby approved shall not be commenced unless and until the footway
and verge crossing shown indicatively on approved plan reference GSS24124.2
502 Revision 5 required to access the relocated bin storage facilities has been
implemented to a specification and in a position to be agreed with the Highway
Authority and the Local Planning Authority pursuant to policies EN1/2, H2/4, JP-C5
and JP-C8.

4, The car parking, cycle and bin storage facilities indicated on approved plan
reference GSS24124.2 502 Revision 5 shall be made available prior to the use

Page 80



hereby approved commencing and maintained thereafter.

Reason. To ensure adequate car and cycle parking/storage and the storage and
disposal of refuse within the curtilage of the site, clear of the adopted highway, in
the interests of highway safety pursuant to Policies EN1/2, H2/4 and JP-C8.

For further information on the application please contact Jennie Townsend on 0161 253-5320

Page 81



Viewpoints - 72127

Childrens

Car Park

ADDRESS:
25 Thomas Street, Radcliffe, M26 2UH

Planning, Environmental and Regulatory Services

© Crown Copyright and database right (2023). Ordnance Survey 100023063,

Page 82




72127

Photo 1

Photo 2

Page 83



72127

Photo 3

Photo 4

] -

Page 84



72127

Photo 5

Page 85



Site Key

|:| Paving Stones
- Driveway

Timber Fencing

v/ /) Brickwork

QO  Trees
[ cexisting Buiding
- Proposed Building

% Car Park %
? ?
m o &, S Secure Gate (D
W Secure Gate 2| g )
2 : = 2
m m
— ° —
External steps 7 25
?er:!wr;ighﬂmber Bin Stores E
/1 5  Revised - Site Plan 13/11/2025 JB
Seoure Gate T ; 4 Planning - Revised 01/10/2025 JB
, . 3 Planning - Revised 29/09/2025 JB
ed Kerp ———— . .
proppedierd = 2 Q\ 2 Planning - Revised 18/09/2025 JB
Collection 4‘:;5—4 1 Planning - Revised Plans  27/08/2025 JB
THOMAS STREET THOMAS STREET No. Description Date Inital
M=Morning Star, 25 Thomas Street,
Site - Existing Site - Proposed Radcliffe
1:200 1:200
. TITLE . e
Bike Store _ Site - Existing & Proposed
20 Space Amazon Eco Two Tier Cycle Shelter
STATUS
Refer to documents attached for DESIGN
proposed bike store information:
- 20-Space-Amazon-Eco-Two-Tier-Shelter DRAWNBY | DATE SCALE(@ A1)
- TBSC_20_Space_Amazon_Eco_TT_Shelter_ GA_MS_00 JB 27/06/2025 | As indicated
PROJECT NUMBER DRAWING NUMBER REV
(GSS24124.2 502 5
Legend - Boundaries @ G ﬂ L D 5 K E T c H
Site Boundary =~ —— u,m,' ‘m..k ¥ g 1nuk li0161 79;9595
Site Ownership ——
1:200 COIRIENBEN T OF A R AL O AND JATLITALS 1515 ACSORDACE i GURRENT STATUTORY|
0 5 10 20m 317 CODES OF PRACTICE AND BRTIH STANDARDS AL DINENSICHS ONTHE DRAING AR N MLLIETRES (£




18 abed

a LEVEL ROOF o o
5600

e LEVEL1
3090

a LEVELO

0

a LEVELB1
-2000

Front - Proposed
1:100

Rear - Proposed

1:100

Left Side - Proposed

1:100 1:100

v Ehe room b for the sole sseof 1 2 {cohabiting) Hismimusm sizes of other shared - e 5 -18  |11-15 |16+
| nedinoom i, %m? 10,3 | ERchen Sml | ! ode (135w | 165w
|kEchen |am? P | | | | | ! | {
} ' |Uhiing oo or dining mgens which | B.5m" |11m 10.7m (16 Teer | ZEmd [ 2dme
fcmﬁrﬂudw:hﬁdlmnnrm L1 15! | @i addnanal bo kitchen Jrea
_Emmmmkuhm L Lm? 15 :mm-nﬂﬂnrqlrﬂ 10m? |15 |10 [19% |D4md
| Comzines bedrmom and Iring mom L0’ | o= | Commbined Kiichan, ling & dining | 13.5m! | 17m!  [18.3md |269m' |34.Gmd |d0.Sm! |
I ' |rpEra | whsng BEdroSme ang ksl
| Coemizined bedroom, lying room & kitchen | 13m) 70.5m

Bury Council Houses in Multiple Occupation Guidance and Amenity Standards

|Ehan 10.2m*)

Right Side - Proposed

Kitchen facilities will include the following, in
accordance with the 1:5 ratio outlined in the Bury
Council Houses in Multiple Occupation Guidance
and Amenity Standards document:

- 4 sinks (dishwasher)

- 4 four-ring hobs

-4 ovens

Wash hand basins in ensuites to be at
minimum size of 380mm x 240mm and
depth of 130mm

Each bedrooms will serve as a combined
bedroom and living room, in compliance with
Bury Council's HMO guidelines

All proposed habitable rooms are in
compliance wih the Bury Council Houses in
Multiple Occupation Guidance and Amenity
Standards document.

Key

1 Bed/ 1 Person

1/Bed/ 2 Person

Kitchen/ Dining

Total - 15 Bedrooms/
18 Perons HMO

Bedroom Ensuite Combined

(excluding ensuite)
Bedroom 1 12.0m? 3.1m2 15.4m?2
Bedroom 2 12m?2 2.8m? 15.0m?2
Bedroom 3 13.3m? 3.6m? 17.3m?
Bedroom 4 10.2m? 3.0m2 13.4m?
Bedroom 5 10.8m? 2.4m? 13.6m?
Bedroom 6 10.0m? 2.6m? 13.0m2
Bedroom 7 15.9m? 2.6m? 18.8m?2
Bedroom 8 12.3m? 2.7m? 15.2m?
Bedroom 9 14.1m? 3.5m? 17.9m?2
Bedroom 10 12.4m? 2.5m? 15.2m2
Bedroom 11 15.4m? 2.9m? 18.4m?2
Bedroom 12 12.9m? 2.8m? 16.3m2
Bedroom 13 10.7m? 3.1m? 16.1m?2
Bedroom 14 11.4m? 2.5m? 14.3m?2
Bedroom 15 13.4m? 2.5m? 16.1m?2

A fire risk assessment is to be provided,
in compliance with HMO licensing and
the Fire Safety Order 2005, prior to the
construction phase.

2 Planning - Revised 18/09/2025 JB

1 Revised Plans 08/05/2025 JB
No. Description Date Initial
M=Morning Star, 25 Thomas Street,
Radcliffe

TITLE

Proposed Elevation

STATUS

DESIGN
DRAWNBY | DATE SCALE (@ A1)
JB | 19/02/2025 | As indicated
(GSS24124.2  003B 2

GOLDSKETCH

0161792 9595

WWw. co.uk co.uk




| Bedroom Ensuite Combined
| (excluding ensuite)
\
Bedroom 1 12.0m? 3.1m2 15.4m?2
‘w‘ Bedroom 2 12m?2 2.8m? 15.0m?2
|
1 Bedroom 3 13.3m? 3.6m? 17.3m2
|
|
|
\ Bedroom 4 10.2m? 3.0m2 13.4m?
!
|
‘\‘ Bedroom 5 10.8m? 2.4m? 13.6m?
|
‘\
‘ Bedroom 6 10.0m2 2.6m?2 13.0m2
i Bedroom 7 15.9m? 2.6m? 18.8m?2
4
9 / Bedroom 8 12.3m? 2.7m? 15.2m?2
oP2 B /
Kitchen/ Dinii -
R 1BP;gr°;rF:]1 1P13-1P1 Bedroom 9 14.1m2 3.5m2 17.9m?
134 Bedroom .
Single Qooupancy 1 !
OP3 - 0P1 & g
Redroon 2 g Bedroom 10 12.4m? 2.5m2 15.2m2
Single Occupancy | 0P2 - OP1 (= 182?1;02;1 .
i Bedroom E 2
\ . 120m g o e Bedroom 11 15.4m? 2.9m? 18.4m?
i Single Occupancy 3 ‘é’,’ Double Occupancy
Bedroom S
L. Bedroom 12|  12.9m? 2.8m? 16.3m?
3
2 =
2 & Bedroom 13 10.7m? 3.1m? 16.1m?
g g
L g
8
° Bedroom 14 11.4m? 2.5m? 14.3m2
Bedroom
10.1 m?
Single Ocoupany| Bedroom 15 13.4m? 2.5m? 16.1m?2
3
X g Landing
oPT>QP2 ‘
/ N\ Ensuite ]l %}
i

Sy

OP5 - 0P1
Bedroom
108 m?

abei0i5/26pu

Fridge/Storage

Fridge/Storage

Single Occupancy

—]
=
preogdnd

A fire risk assessment is to be provided,
in compliance with HMO licensing and
the Fire Safety Order 2005, prior to the
construction phase.

1P8 - 1P1

Bedroom
123 m*

Single Occupancy

0P7 - OP1

Bedroom
Bedroom 15.9 m*
10.0m* | Double Occupancy
Single Occupancy.

0P6 - OP1

1P12-1P1
Bedroom
129m 1P10 - 1P1
OP1-0P1 Single Occupancy Bedroom
Bedroom |
12.0m

124m?
Single Occupancy
Single Occupancy —

Level 0 - Proposed

3 Revised - Site Plan 13/11/2025 JB
2 Planning - Revised Plans  27/08/2025 JB
Level 1 - Proposed 1 Revised Plans 08/05/2025 JB
1:50 1:50 Key No. Description Date Initial
M=aMorning Star, 25 Thomas Street,
Kitchen facilities will include the following, in Radcliffe
accordance with the 1:5 ratio outlined in the Bury 1 Bed/ 1 Person
Council Houses in Multiple Occupation Guidance e
and Amenity Standards document: PrOposed Plans
I | Hember of persons I Mumbar of persoms - 4 sinks (dishwasher) P
oo e e L SR T i TR ——, | - 4 four-ring hobs DESIGN
‘Whera ihe reom i for the sole wse of 1 2 {coksbiting) |Himimem sires of other shared 23 |4 5 B-1 11-1% |16+ - 4 ovens 1/Bed/ 2 Person
'Iﬂl-.il} i ifm
3 3 Eikchen sml | Trev! 102 (125 | 165 Wash hand basins in ensuites to be at N sosien
.Mm .h g o minimum size of 380mm x 240mm and JB 19/02/2025 | 1:50
K kchen am’ Syt I r 1 t t 1 1 - depth of 130mm PROJECT NUMBER DRAWING NUMBER REV
LUwing roome or dining o wihich. | B.5m" | 1im? 1.3 | L6 T | FEime 2Am . L.
Comined kAchen s lsing room 11m 15! are adAEonal 1o ke brea | Kitchen/ Dining (GSS241242  003A 3
| J 1 | | ] } | . Each bedrooms will serve as a combined :
Comtined Badtoam and kiches Lim! 15! Combined kitchen and dining srea | 10m' | 11L.5' 106 150507 |HMm bedroom and living room, in compliance with GOLDSKETCH
Comgined bedroom and living reom 10m’ | [pa=r Combined Kitchen, lvieg & dining | 13.5m![17m" | 183m' |26.5m' |M.5m' |40.Sm Bury Council's HMO guidelines . % W B i - 4
¥ ' Foo | whsns Bedrssime ang lieid WWw. co.uk co.uk
Coenisined bedmom, lying room & kitchen | 13m! 20, 5m! than 10.2m%) All proposed habitable rooms are in Total - 15 Bedrooms/ - T
! : compliance wih the Bury Council Houses in 18 Perons HMO
Bury Council Houses in Multiple Occupation Guidance and Amenity Standards Multiple Occupation Guidance and Amenity
Standards document.




Ward: Whitefield + Unsworth - Unsworth ltem 03

Applicant: Watson
Location: Spurr House, Pole Lane, Bury, BL9 8QL

Proposal: Demolition of existing buildings, site clearance works including removal of areas of
hardstanding and the erection of two blocks of apartments, comprising 60 no.
residential units, relocation of existing site access, and associated landscaping

Application Ref: 72240/F ull Target Date: 25/11/2025
Recommendation: Minded to Approve

It is recommended that this application is Minded to Approve subject to the signing
and completion of a S106 Agreement for Affordable Housing in accordance with UDP
Policy H4/1 and SPD5. If the agreement is not signed within a reasonable timeframe,
then delegated authority is sought by the Development Manager to determine the
application.

Description

The application site area is approximately 0.67ha and comprises a vacant single storey
building which previously operated as a care home. The car park is located on
hardstanding at the front of the site with grassed areas, tree planting and informal
landscaping along the frontage and around the outside of the building.

There is one access into and out of the site and a pedestrian path which leads to the main
entrance.

The site is bounded by Unsworth Cricket and Tennis Club at the south, Unsworth Academy
to the east and a pair of semi-detached dwellings with three/four storey residential flats to
the north. Opposite the site are two storey suburban dwellings.

The application proposes the demolition of the existing buildings and redevelopment of the
site to provide 2 blocks of apartments comprising 15 x 1 bed and 45 x 2 bed with associated
parking and access.

The apartment blocks would have an 'L' shaped arrangement. Block A would front Pole
Lane and would be 3 storey high and provide 23 units 5 x 1 bed and 18 x 2 bed). Block B
would be 4 storey in height and positioned to the rear of the site to create a parking court
and vehicular access between the two buildings and would provide 37 apartments (10 x 1
bed and 27 x 2 bed).

The design of the buildings would be modern and contemporary in approach with a vertical
emphasis to elevations and window placements.  Areas of the buildings would be
recessed and balconies provided to some of the apartments.

Elevations would comprise contrasting brickwork with a lighter brick to the balconies and
entrance. Windows and doors would be black upvc frames.

The apartments would incorporate sustainable features including thermal efficient windows
and doors, thermal insulation, air source heat pump and mechanical ventilation and heat
recovery system.

Vehicular access and egress to the site would be from the existing entrance which is

Page 89



located at the south western side of the site and a separate pedestrian access from Pole
Lane would be provided to the north of the site.

A total of 63 parking spaces for the apartments would be provided with an additional 7
spaces for visitors. A secured cycle store would be provided on the ground floor of each of
the blocks to provide a total of 70 cycle spaces. Two communal bin stores would be located
at either end of the site.

The development would require the removal of 16 trees, four groups of trees and the partial
removal of one group. The remaining 23 individual trees and 8 groups of trees would be
retained and a landscaping plan has been submitted with proposals for tree planting around
the site and particularly to the frontage and boundaries.

Relevant Planning History

02997/E - Demolish existing single storey building and construct 15 new houses, including
10% affordable homes - Enquiry completed 31/07/2024

03025/E - Two blocks of apartments, delivering 60 residential units. The development
includes the relocation of the site access further south on Pole Lane, 62 parking spaces and
associated landscaping. - Enquiry completed 14/11/2024

57662 - Externally illuminated single sided totem sign (retrospective) - Approve with
Conditions 18/07/2014

69361 - Conversion of short stay residential home (Class C2) to a pupil referral unit (Class
F1) for educational use; Single storey extensions and associated landscaping, additional
parking and external works - Approve with Conditions 28/06/2023

71384 - Demolition of existing buildings, site clearance works including removal of areas of
hardstanding, tree removal, disconnection of existing services and site levelling - Withdrawn
by Applicant 16/01/2025

Publicity

Letters sent to 73 properties on 1/89/25.

Site notice posted 3/9/25.

Press advert 5/9/25.

32 objections received with the following issues raised-

Environmental impact

¢ Removal of established trees would negatively affect the local environment.

e These contribute to local character, improve air quality and provide habitats for wildlife
including bats, a protected species.

e Impact of local amenity and would reduce quality of life for existing residents.

¢ Increase in traffic will worsen air quality due to additional fumes from cars queuing and
idling on a road that is already gridlocked at busy times.

e Loss of trees would increase surface water run-off and raise the risk of drainage
problems. Replacement planting cannot compensate for the decades of maturity that will
be lost.

e Construction will bring years of noise, dust, and heavy vehicle movements, directly
affecting the quality of life of families, older residents, and pupils at Unsworth Academy.

Pressure on local infrastructure

e Limited local facilities - a post office, a doctors' surgery, a dentist, and a few small
shops. These services are already stretched.

¢ Aninflux of new residents on this scale would place significant additional pressure on
essential resources, making it harder for existing residents to access appointments and
local amenities.

Page 90



Traffic Congestion

Already heavily congested area and suffers high traffic volume, school traffic and
roadway layout around Pole Lane.

Pole Lane is already extremely difficult to navigate. Drivers with blue badges (and many
others who don't) park on the double yellow lines outside the Post Office which creates
a bottleneck which has led to many altercations over the years.

60 flats will bring a large increase in traffic in the area with potentially up to 120 new
vehicles. This will impact pedestrian safety. Pole Lane was not designed for this volume
of traffic.

The roads cannot cope and children will be put at risk

Compounded by deliveries and servicing of the site

Inadequate parking/parking pressure

More flats will just make this parking pressure worse.

60 car parking spaces is not enough for 60 households.

The Office for National Statistics reported that in 2021, 34% of households in the
Unsworth area had two or more vehicles. If we apply the percentage (34%) to the 60
proposed new households then there will be 80 vehicles requiring parking spaces.
Vehicles will probably be parked on Pole Lane or Willow Drive. Pole Lane is already
congested daily with parked vehicles on both sides outside the Spurr House site.
Additional vehicles will make the roads even more dangerous.

Should negotiate additional parking on John Holts car park.

Footfall / Pedestrian safety

This area has heavy pedestrian footfall. There are a number of local schools and Pole
Lane is a cut through for young people and families.

Potential for additional parked cars which can't be accommodated on the Spurr House
site.

Willow Drive is blind exit / entrance; further parked cars will increase this hazard.
Traffic will cause safety issues for school children

There is a school at the top of the road where pedestrian safety is already a concern.
Bury Council need to monitor traffic in the area

Development out of keeping with the area

Not opposed to the redevelopment of the site, the previous plan to use the site for
special education provision was an ideal use and the existing building relatively simple
to re-purpose

The building of these flats will ruin the area, they should not be allowed to build high rise
flats as it is not in keeping with the area.

More suitable to semi or detached properties and family homes.

The area cannot sustain so many properties.

Fails to respect the scale, density and character of the area

Out of keeping with the character of the area

Impacts on amenity

Overlooking

Fundamentally undermine a peaceful, safe family friendly environment
Dominate the landscape

Overshadow homes and remove natural light

Page 91



¢ Over development - plain and simple

Other

e This is a formality and prelims have already started - just for maximum profits for
developer and Bury MBC.

e Suggested Alternatives/Conditions -

1. The end of the road must be opened up to provide a second access/exit point to

alleviate congestion;

2. Parking should be properly managed with opening up the use of the car park behind the

Bay Horse Pub;

3. A thorough traffic and environmental impact assessment must be carried out, with

measures to protect residents and local wildlife from the adverse effects of such a large

development.

Those who have made representations have been informed of the Planning Control
Committee meeting.

Statutory/Non-Statutory Consultations

Traffic Section - No objection subject to conditions

Waste Management - No response received

Borough Engineer - Drainage Section - No objection subject to condition
Environmental Health - Contaminated Land - No objection subject to condition
Greater Manchester Ecology Unit - CHECK ANITE

Greater Manchester Police - designforsecurity - No objection subject to implementation
of the Crime Impact Statement

United Utilities (Water and waste) - Recommend the submission of a drainage scheme.
Planning & Building Regs Consultation Fire Protection Dept - No response received
Public Health - No response received

Transport for Greater Manchester - Comments provided and would defer to the Local
Highway Authority on parking, access and servicing.

Pre-start Conditions - To be confirmed

Development Plan and Policies

NPPF National Planning Policy Framework

H1/2 Further Housing Development

H2/1 The Form of New Residential Development

H2/2 The Layout of New Residential Development

H4/1 Affordable Housing

EN1/2 Townscape and Built Design

RT2/2 Recreation Provision in New Housing Development

HT2/4 Car Parking and New Development

HT5/1 Access For Those with Special Needs

JP-C1 Our Integrated Network

JP-C2 Digital Connectivity

JP-C5 Streets For All

JP-C6 Walking and Cycling

JP-C8 Transport Requirements of New Development
JP-D2 Developer Contributions

JP-G8 A Net Enhancement of Biodiversity and Geodiversity
JP-H1 Scale of New Housing Development

JP-H2 Affordability of New Housing

JP-H3 Type, Size and Design of New Housing
JP-H4 Density of New Housing

Page 92



JP-P1 Sustainable Places

JP-S1 Sustainable Development

JP-S2 Carbon and Energy

JP-S3 Heat and Energy Networks

JP-S4 Flood Risk and the Water Environment

JP-S5 Clean Air

SPD1 Open Space, Sport and Recreation Provision
SPD5 DC Policy Guidance Note 5: Affordable Housing
SPD11 Parking Standards in Bury

ENG6/3 Features of Ecological Value

Issues and Analysis

The following report includes analysis of the merits of the application against the relevant
policies of both the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), the adopted Places for
Everyone Joint Development Plan Document (PfE) and the saved policies within the
adopted Bury Unitary Development Plan (UDP), together with other relevant material
planning considerations.

The policies of the UDP that have been used to assess this application are considered to be
in accordance with the NPPF and as such are material planning considerations. For
simplicity, just the UDP and PfE Policies will be referred to in the report, unless there is a
particular matter to highlight arising from the NPPF where it would otherwise be specifically
mentioned.

Housing Land Supply and Principle of Residential Development

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is a material planning consideration in
planning decisions, and emphasises the Government's objective of significantly boosting the
supply of homes. The Framework states that local planning authorities should identify and
update annually a supply of specific deliverable sites to provide a minimum of five years'
worth of housing, with either a 5% buffer to ensure choice and competition in the market for
land, or a 20% buffer where there has been significant undelivery of housing over the
previous three years. As set out in NPPF paragraph 78, the supply of housing must be
assessed against the housing requirement set out in adopted strategic policies where these
are less than five years old.

The joint Places for Everyone Plan was adopted with effect from 21 March 2024 and sets
the up-to-date housing requirement for Bury against which the deliverable supply of housing
land must be assessed. PfE Policy JP-H1 sets the following stepped targets for Bury:

- 246 homes per year from 2022-2025;

- 452 homes per year from 2025-2030; then

- 520 homes per year from 2030-2039.

Bury's Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment is an assessment of potential sites
for residential development and is used to assess the housing land supply. It includes sites
that have an extant planning permission, sites allocated through the joint Places for
Everyone Plan and sites that have potential to obtain planning permission in the future. This
shows that there are a number of sites within the Borough with the potential to deliver a
significant amount of housing. However, not all of these sites will contribute to the
deliverable land supply calculations as many sites will take longer than five years to come
forward and be fully developed.

The Council has carried out an assessment of the housing land supply to determine

whether sites meet the deliverability tests in the NPPF and can contribute to the five year
supply of housing land. Based on the 2025 5-year supply statement, the Council has

Page 93



demonstrated a 4.3 year supply of housing land. This includes a 20% buffer (as currently
required in Bury due to past under delivery) and accounts for past oversupply when
assessed against the adopted PfE housing requirement.??The Council is therefore currently
unable to demonstrate a deliverable five-year supply of housing land against the adopted
housing requirement.

The National Planning Policy Framework also sets out the Housing Delivery Test (HDT),
which is an assessment of net additional dwellings provided over the previous three years
against the homes required. Where the test indicates that the delivery of housing was
substantially below (less than 75%) the housing requirement over the previous years, this
needs to be taken into account in the decision-taking process. The latest results published
by the Government (the 2023 measurement published on 12 December 2024) show that
Bury has a HDT result of less than 75%.

The five year supply position and the housing delivery test result need to be treated as
material factors when determining applications for residential development.

Paragraph 11(d) of the National Planning Policy Framework states that where there are no
relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most important for determining
the application are out-of-date, planning permission should be granted unless:

i. The application of policies in the Framework that protect areas, or assets of particular
importance, provide a strong reason for refusing the development proposed; or

ii. Any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the
benefits, when assessed against the policies in the Framework, having particular regard to
key policies for directing development to sustainable locations, making effective use of land,
securing well-designed places and providing affordable homes, individually or in
combination.

This means that as a result of the lack of five year supply and the latest published HDT
result the 'tilted balance' set out in NPPF paragraph 11(d) applies and planning permission
should be granted unless the above points Para 11(d) i or ii apply.

The site is a brownfield site in a sustainable location and residential development is
considered acceptable in principle.

Housing

Type, Size and Design of New Housing

PfE Policy JP-H3 - Seeks to provide an appropriate mix of dwelling types and sizes. All new
dwellings must 1. comply with the nationally described space standards and 2. be built to
the 'accessible and adaptable standard in Part M4(2) of Building Regulations unless specific
site conditions make this impracticable.

All the units would meet NDSS and comply with accessible and adaptable standards in Part
M4(2) of Building Regulations which would be secured by condition.

Density

PfE Policy JP-H4 - Requires new housing development to be delivered at a density
appropriate to the location, reflecting the relative accessibility of the site by walking, cycling
and public transport and the need to achieve efficient use of land and high-quality design.
Policy JP-H4 sets out minimum densities that should be considered. The site falls in an area
where a minimum density of 35 dwellings per hectare applies.

Page 94



The site covers an area of approximately 0.6725 hectares, so 60 dwellings would equate to
89 dwellings per hectare, which would comply with Policy JP-H4.

Affordable Housing

In accordance with UDP Policy H4/1, SPG5 and the current NPPF a development of 60
units would be required to deliver 25% affordable housing which equates to 15 units.

This scheme is for 100% affordable housing and therefore exceeds the planning policy
requirement.

The applicant has confirmed that there would be a mix of affordable tenures of social rent
and rent to buy.

The affordable housing would be secured through a Section 106 Agreement. The
Agreement would be appropriately worded to ensure it does not restrict an RP from
securing Homes England Affordable Homes Programme funding. The Council would wish to
secure nomination rights for the affordable housing, and ensure that the allocation of any
rented units will be in accordance with a Nomination Agreement between the RP and Bury
Council.

Layout, scale and design
The development proposes two blocks of apartments, Block A and B.

Block A would be 3 storey in height and would be situated to front Pole Lane set back
approximately 6.6m from the footway and as such would provide a degree of relief to the
street scene. This would be a similar arrangement to the 3 and 4 storey flats at Pole Lane
Court which are located to the north and which are similarly set back from the road. The
houses on Pole Lane are 2 storey in height and as such it is considered that the scale of the
a 3 storey apartment block set back from the road would assimilate within the streetscape.

Block B would be located at the rear of the site and this would be predominantly 4 storey
stepping down to 3 storey at the front of the building. When viewed from the streetscene
which would be approximately 37m away, the additional storey would not be unduly
perceptible or considered to over-dominate the area.

Between Blocks A and B would be a parking court with the remainder of the parking spaces
located at the side of the buildings. It is proposed to provide 70 parking spaces in total, 63
spaces for residents which includes 3 accessible spaces and 7 for visitors which given the
sustainable location and proximity to the local centre is considered to be an acceptable
apartment to parking ratio for his type of Affordable Housing development (see further
analysis in the Highway section below).

The site would also provide two communal bin store areas for each Block enclosed by a
1.8m high timber boarding.

The existing access would be utilised and acceptable levels of visibility provided in
accordance with Highway requirements.

The development would require the removal of 16 trees but a significant portion of the
overall landscaping would be retained along the boundaries, which would be strengthened
by additional planting and vegetation. A low native hedge would be planted along the front
of the site behind 1.2m high black railings and the additional tree planting along the front
boundary would further soften the development within the streetscape.

The proposed layout is considered to make optimal use of the land available to provide

Page 95



much needed affordable Housing for the Borough whilst retaining a large part of the existing
vegetation and trees and the scope to further enhance the site by proposals to plant trees,
hedges and create green spaces. and maintain a sense of openness.

The scale of development is considered commensurate with the area, which hosts a mix of
development form 3/4 storey flats to 2 storey dwellings.

It is therefore considered that the proposed layout would be acceptable and comply with
policies H2/1, H2/2, EN1/2 and JP-H3.

Design and appearance

In terms of design, the development would have a contemporary and modern appearance
with a vertical emphasis to the elevations incorporating full height windows and the massing
of the blocks would be broken down by stepping in parts of the elevation.

The surrounding dwellings are largely red brick builds and this approach would be reflected
in the development which would comprise two types of red bricks different red bricks to
provide a contrast within the facade. Visual interest would also be achieved by the use of
a grey brick type to balconies which area proposed on some parts of the building.

The roof would be flat which would not only reflect the design of the adjacent apartment
building but would allow for the provision of solar panel across a proportion of the
roofscape.

Windows and doors would be black upvc which would contrast well with the red brick tones
of the building.

The height variations of the 3 and 4 storey elements would also add interest to the building
when viewed from Pole Lane.

It is therefore considered the proposed development would assimilate and integrate well
within the area and streetscene and would accord with policies EN1/2, H2/1, JP-H3 and the
principles of the NPPF.

Impact upon residential development

SPD6 provides guidance on aspect standards between residential properties and would be
relevant in this case. The aspect standards are based on a two storey building and for each
additional storey in height a further 3 metres should be added onto the aspect standard.
There should be a distance of 13m between a ground floor habitable room window and
blank elevation and 6.5m between directly facing windows and 7m is used as the minimum
distance between first floor habitable room windows and a directly facing boundary.

In terms of separation distances to surrounding houses, there would be a distance of 22m
from the front elevation of Block A and the side gable of No 1 Willow Drive and as such
aspect standards would be exceeded.

There would be a distance of between 23.5m and 25m from the front elevations of the
houses opposite the site on Pole Lane and Block A and as such there would be acceptable
levels of separation.

To No 241 Pole Lane to the north, there would be 21m from a directly facing window on
Block A and to flats on Pole Lane Court there would be a distance of 27m from Block B and
as such considered not to cause significant privacy issues.

At the rear of the site is Unsworth Academy and to the south Unsworth cricket and tennis
club and given the separations to the boundary and additional tree planting it is considered

Page 96



the development would not affect these areas in terms of impacts on amenity.

The applicant has carried out a sunlight/daylight assessment at 3 times during the day
during Spring, Summer, Autumnal and Winter Solstice to determine the level of shadowing
by the proposed development to the surrounding area. The assessment demonstrates that
there would be no significant overshadowing or impacts on light to the surrounding
properties.

As such, it is considered the proposed development would not have a significantly harmful
impact on the privacy of adjacent occupiers or result in an overbearing relationship to
surrounding properties.

The proposed development is therefore considered to be acceptable and would comply with
Policies H2/1 and EN1/2

Highways

Access

The development proposes to utilise the existing access as the in/out route with works to
form new radius kerbs at the site entrance. The new access would lead to a courtyard
area where the parking for the development is proposed and would be wide enough to
accommodate refuse vehicles and emergency vehicles.

There would be a pedestrian access into the site towards the northern end of the
development which would lead to the entrance at the rear of Block A and across the
courtyard to access Block B.

The Highway Authority have been consulted and subject to conditions have no objection to
the access arrangements.

Parking
For this scheme, SPD11 would require 1.5 spaces per unit to be provided which would

equate to 90 parking spaces.

The applicant originally proposed to provide a total of 63 parking spaces which included
visitors. Following negotiations, the development now proposes to provide 70 parking
spaces in total. There would be 60 spaces, one for each of the units, 3 accessible spaces
and 7 visitor spaces.

The development would provide 100% affordable accommodation which statistically tends
to generate lesser car ownership than other types of residential schemes, with reliance
being more on public transport and alternative means of travel and the proximity of local
amenities and services. The NPPF emphasises the principles of sustainable development
and advocates lesser reliance on parking, and development where appropriate, should
encourage alternative means of travel.

The NPPF at para 116 also states that development should only be prevented or refused on
highway grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the
residual impacts on the road network, following mitigfation, would be severe, taking into
account all reasonable future scenarios.

The proposed development is in a sustainable location within easy access of bus routes
with local amenities close by which will encourage and enable people at the development to
make sustainable transport choices. The development would be located within walking
distance of a Local Shopping Centre (circa 100m away) where there are a good range of
facilities, services and shops. There are bus stops on Parr Lane and Sunnybank Road
which are also within walking distance and provide public transport to the town centre to the
north and areas of the borough to the south.

Page 97



The site benefits from good levels of accessibility by foot, with Unsworth and some areas of
Whitefield, as well as numerous local facilities being only a short walk from the site, allowing
walking to be a viable alternative to private car use for prospective residents.

In terms of cycle provision, the development would provide 70 covered and secured cycle
spaces (32 in Block A and 38 in Block B) which would be located at the ground floor level
and which would be in compliance with SPD11.

Given the benefits of providing 100% affordable accommodation which would contribute to
the housing needs of the borough, the location of the site close to a local centre with a
range of shopping facilities and services, proximity of bus stops and the emphasis on
sustainable development and travel it is considered that 70 spaces for the 60 unit
development would be acceptable.

The proposed development would therefore comply with policies JP-C1, JP-C5, JP-C6 and
JP-C8.

Trip generations and impacts on the Local Highway Network are assessed in the response
from TfGM below.

TfGM

Development Impact

TfGM HFAS (Highways Forecasting Analytical Services) and TfGM UTC (Urban Traffic
Control) have reviewed the Transport Statement (TS) issued

in support of the proposed residential development and have provided comments in
respect of the relevant sections.

I. Trip Generation

The development is replacing a current or closed Care Home, so the TS has examined
the TRICS database to determine the trip generation for the previous use which are a
handful of trips but an acceptable approach.

TRICS trip rates have then been applied to determine the trip generation for the
proposed 60 residential dwellings. The selection criteria is generally sensible but the
trip rates/generation for residential use appear lower than expected. TfGM HFAS have
therefore undertaken additional sensitivity testing by altering the selection criteria.

This doesn't increase the trip generation to over 30 pcus in either peak hour (11-12
two way trips in both the AM and PM Peak periods).

As such, TfGM HFAS concur with the TS conclusion that the development is unlikely to
have a material impact on the local highway network.

Il. Internal Access Arrangements

The TS confirms that the site will be served by a new priority junction from Pole Lane.
The existing redundant access will be reinstated accordingly. The new access should be
designed to ensure the provision of tactile paving and dropped kerbs. The TS states that
visibility splays in accordance with standards contained within Manual for Streets are
achievable in both directions from the site access.

The TS notes that car parking provision will be provided in accordance with Bury
Council’'s adopted Parking Standards.

Swept path plans contained within Appendix D of the TS demonstrate that a refuse
vehicle can enter and exit the site in a forward gear. However, the manoeuvres do
appear constrained and in other separate vehicle tracking drawings, appear to rely upon
the use of parking bays to carry out manoeuvres.

TfGM would refer to the LHA to determine whether the proposed access, car parking
and servicing arrangements are considered acceptable.

Page 98



[ll. Traffic Regulation Orders

It may be beneficial for a review to be undertaken of the Traffic Regulation Orders in
the vicinity of the development, with a view to introducing additional parking
restrictions as appropriate, as well as ensuring adequate parking restrictions remain in
place and are refreshed accordingly. This will help to discourage pavement parking
associated with the development and therefore assist in improving the quality of the
surrounding public realm.

In particular, the applicant should review the requirement for TROs covering the site
access and visibility splays on Pole Lane in liaison with the LHA.

IV. Other
A robust Construction Traffic Management Plan should be employed as part of the
development.

Site Accessibility

|. Public Transport

The nearest bus stops to the site are located on Parr Lane, around a 3-minute walk
away. These stops provide services to Pendleton, Shudehill and Bury at half hourly
intervals. It is therefore considered that there is some access to public transport
services from the site.

Il. Active Travel

In order to encourage walking and cycling, it should be ensured that the pedestrian and
cycling environment, within and around the site, is designed to be as safe, attractive
and convenient as possible, including natural surveillance where possible. This should
provide sufficient links to the surrounding pedestrian and cycle networks.

To establish travel patterns at the beginning of occupation and encourage modal shift

to sustainable modes of travel, it is important to ensure the facilities are in place to

support sustainability. Therefore, improvements to the pedestrian environment are required
to help encourage the uptake of active travel modes by future residents, as

follows:

» Footway resurfacing and renewal undertaken as appropriate.

» Ensure the provision of tactile paving and dropped kerbs across the site access

and internal access junctions.

* Reinstate any redundant vehicle access points which served the former site.

* Ensure the provision of continuous 2-metre-wide footways serving the site.

[ll. Cycle Parking

The TS confirms that 70 cycle spaces will be provided to serve the development, which
is welcomed.

The cycle store(s) should be lockable and covered — suitable for long stay parking and
should have sufficient security measures in place such as CCTV and lighting.

IV. Travel Plan

It is noted that a Framework Travel Plan has been submitted to support the application.
TfGM recommends that a full Travel Plan is produced for the development, with the
objective of reducing reliance on the private car, particularly single occupancy use. The
Travel Plan should be designed to raise awareness of opportunities for reducing travel
by car and should feature a range of measures and initiatives promoting a choice of
transport mode, and a clear monitoring regime with agreed targets.

In order to encourage sustainable journeys to mitigate the traffic impact of the
development, through the Travel Plan, incentives should be offered to encourage users
of the site to use public transport and active travel modes through measures such as

Page 99



discounted bus fares, discounted cycles, journey planning etc.

Design for security
Subject to the details contained within the CIS being adequately addressed, the Design for
security team would be supportive of the application.

Should the Council be minded to approve the application, the design for security team
would recommend the inclusion of a condition requiring the scheme is design and
constructed in accordance with Sections 3.3 & 4 of the submitted Crime Impact Statement
(Ref: 2022/0482/CI1S/02, Version B: 25/07/2025) and/or achieves the Secured by Design
(SBD) Award.

Ecology

Summary

Potential ecological issues include bats, great crested newts, nesting birds, other wildlife,
invasive species and biodiversity net gain.

Validity of Ecological Reports

The preliminary ecological appraisal is now approaching 3 years in age and more than 3
years since the original field survey and the last review in January 2023, under best practice
guidance the report is no longer valid. GMEU have however been on-site and accept that
the baseline habitats are generally unchanged, other than the grassland likely to be slightly
more rank and with evidence of some natural succession and are therefore willing to accept
the general findings of the PEA are unchanged.

Specific issues regarding species surveys are below.

Bats

Current guidance states it is essential that the presence or otherwise of protected species
and the extent that they may be affected by the proposed development is established before
the planning permission is granted otherwise all relevant material considerations may not
have been addressed in making the decision (UK Government Guidance within the ODPM
Government Circular 06/2005)

Given the passage of time and the recommendations in the Ecological Assessment to carry
out further bat surveys, GMEU requested the surveys be carried out prior to determination.
Emergence surveys have been provided. No evidence of bats roosting was recorded.
Whilst one survey was outside the optimal survey season but arguably acceptable and the
other very late in the season, this is additional evidence that points to the buildings not
being utilised as a bat roost. Given the long history of failure to find bats, without quite
meeting best practice, GMEU are satisfied that overall the risk appears very low.
Precautionary conditions should however be applied to any permission. GMEU recommend
a condition that if demolition has not occurred prior to April 2026 further dusk emergence
bat survey be carried out between May and July in any year and the findings provided to
and agreed in writing by the LPA.

Hibernation surveys of the building found no evidence of bats. GMEU have no reason to
doubt the findings of the report. No further hibernation surveys are required.

Trees previously assessed as having bat roosting potential have now been subject to tree
climbing inspections.  Two trees could not be ruled out as requiring further survey, T1 and
T2. However, both are within the wooded area and currently shown as retained. No further
surveys are therefore required at this stage. Six additional trees, T3 - T8, also in the
woodland were assessed as requiring soft-felling techniques should removal be required.
Whilst some are clearly retained, others are on the edge of the wood, and as different tree

Page 100



numbering systems have been utilised in the arb report and aerial bat assessment report, it
is not totally clear whether all will be retained.

A condition is therefore recommended to require further surveys are carried out for trees T1
and T2 or precautionary working measures for removal of trees in the case of T3-T8 have
been provided.

Great Crested Newts

For previous applications entry into District Level Licensing (DLL) has been accepted, given
the presence of known great crested newt ponds just off-site. The applicant has confirmed
that before any vegetation clearance an Ecological Clerk of Works would check vegetation
for GCN and any other amphibians and hedgehog. If a GCN or other protected species is
found, under the DLL it can be moved to an area of suitable habitat that would not be
impacted by the works.

GMEU have recommended a condition that confirmation is provided to state whether there
have been any changes on site or provide furtehr oinformation if changes have occured.

Nesting Birds
Trees and shrubs will be lost, potential bird nesting habitat.  The buildings also appear to

provide potential bird nesting opportunities. All British birds nests and eggs (with certain
limited exceptions) are protected by Section 1 of the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981, as
amended. GMEU recommend a condition be applied to any permission to restrict the time of
tree and shrub works.

Other Wildlife

It appears likely that some cutting back of scrub will be required, potential habitat for
species such as hedgehog and common toad both UK Biodiversity Species as well as other
amphibians and small mammals. During a site visit GMEU also noted raised flags around
the building that would provide potential refuge for amphibians and therefore agree with the
consultant that reasonable avoidance measures should occur during site clearance to avoid
unnecessary suffering. GMEU recommend a condition is applied to any permission that
prior to any vegetation clearance or earthworks a reasonable avoidance measures method
statement for mammals such as hedgehog, amphibians and other wildlife covering both the
site clearance and construction phases will be provided to and agreed in writing by the LPA

Himalayan Balsam and other invasive species

This invasive species listed under schedule 9 part 2 of the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981
(as amended) was recorded on the site. During my site visit, | also noted the presence of a
Cotoneaster spp, certain Cotoneaster are also listed under schedule 9 part 2. There is a risk
that seed or plant material could be translocated off-site and an offence committed. GMEU
therefore recommend a condition be applied to any permission for a method statement
detailing eradication and/or control and/or avoidance measures for himalayan balsam and
Cotoneaster spp.

Contributing to and Enhancing the Natural Environment & Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG)
Section 187 of the NPPF 2024 states that the planning policies and decisions should
contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment. 10% BNG is mandatory under
Schedule 7A of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 (as inserted by schedule 14 of the
Environment Act 2021).

The development would result in the loss of the existing buildings, low to moderate value
grassland, individual trees and minor losses to scrub habitat. Wildlife issues include loss
potential bat roosting habitat, nesting bird opportunities, and potential amphibian terrestrial
habitat.

Page 101



A biodiversity net gain assessment and metric have been provided.  These indicate a
failure to achieve 10% net gain on-site. With the purchase of off-site units proposed to cover
the shortfall. GMEU have no issues with the broad over-arching strategy but questioned
elements of the baseline.

With regards post development, GMEU also raise some issues and recommend that prior to
determination the BNG assessment is reviewed and amendments advised by GMEU either
incorporated or rebutted. GMEU do though note that overall this will not significantly
change the overall outlook, with potential minor amendments to the units required off-site.

With regards to the on-site proposals, some of the proposals are significant as defined by
defra, therefore a 30 year Habitat Management and Monitoring plan controlled by condition
or legal agreement will be required. GMEU have no strong views if my recommendations
are taken on board whether a condition or section 106. If the developer is determined to
stick with their proposals GMEU would recommend a section 106 as the other neutral
grassland is significant and high risk.

GMEU have other minor technical issues regarding tree identification on the site and tree

planting proposals although neither impact on the net gain calculations. With regards the
tree planting proposals, GMEU would recommend more locally native species are utilised

which could be resolved via condition.

The applicant has revised their BNG proposals to address the above issues.

GMEU have responded that the amendments to the metric are in-line with their
recommendations. There are further issues at this stage, with any further amendments dealt
with at discharge of the statutory biodiversity gain condition and production of a habitat
management and monitoring plan.

With regards discharge of the statutory biodiversity gain condition the applicant would need
to provide:

e The biodiversity gain plan on the defra template,

e Have registered the off-site purchase of units with defra,

e The final version of the statutory metric with their sections of the start page completed
and

e The final version of the HMMP.

With regards to wildlife, GMEU recommend bird and bat box provision on either the new
build or retained trees and recommend creation of hibernacular in the woodland for
amphibians.  The details can be provided via condition.

Drainage
A drainage scheme has been submitted and United Utilities (UU) have been consulted.

UU have commented that the drainage proposals would not be acceptable as surface water
is proposed to be directed to the public sewer and there has not been a robust evidence
that the drainage hierarchy has been fully investigated.

The applicant has revised their proposals and UU have been consulted and confirm that
whilst the strategy for the disposal of foul and surface water is acceptable in principle, there
are elements of the detailed drainage design which are missing from the submitted details.

As such, a condition is recommended for the submission of a detailed drainage design.

Page 102



Carbon and energy

JP-S2 - Carbon & Energy sets out the steps required to achieve net zero carbon emissions.
The proposed development is designed to utilise a high performing thermal envelope to
minimise heat loss, as well as efficient heating and lighting systems, which will drive energy
efficiency in the building to meet the targets for space and water heating demand. This is
augmented by the use of an Air Source Heat Pump system to provide hot water to drive low
carbon, efficient energy usage within the building design. The proposal is in conformity with
Policy JP-S2.

Digital connectivity

JP-C2 - Digital Connectivity - this policy requires development to have full fibre to premises
connections unless infeasible or unviable, with multiple-ducting. The policy supports the
provision of free, secure, high-speed public wi-fi connections, particularly in the most
frequented areas. The applicant has confirmed that the development will be provided with
full connections in accordance with the requirements of Policy JP-C2.

Education

JP-P5 - Education, Skills and Knowledge - this policy requires where appropriate new
housing developments to make a financial contribution to the provision of additional school
places and/or set aside land for a new school proportionate to the additional demand they
would generate.

Education colleagues have confirmed that there is current and forecast availability in
Unsworth for both potential primary and secondary provision. Therefore, a financial
contribution towards the provision of additional school places is not required.

S$106 Obligations
In accordance with UDP Policy RT2/2 and SPD1, a contribution for recreation provision
would usually be required. For a scheme of 60 apartments, this would equate to £93,717.

The application proposes a development for 100% Affordable Housing.

The applicant has submitted a viability assessment that demonstrates that it would not be
viable for the development to deliver further S106 contributions in addition to the delivery of
100% affordable housing. In view of the viability evidence and the benefits of delivering
affordable housing, on balance this is considered acceptable, subject to the affordable
housing being secured through a Section 106 Agreement in perpetuity, as set out above.

Response to objections

e The development would be for 100% Affordable Housing. This type of tenure tends to
have lower car ownership and where occupiers rely on the sustainability of location and
accessibility to serves and facilities which are within walking distance. In terms of trip
generations, for those who would own a car, people's routines differ with different
working patterns and the carrying out of daily duties and as such trips to and from the
site would be staggered as occurs on other housing developments or estates for
example. TfGM have been consulted and have not identified there would be a significant
increase in trips to and from the area or raised concerns in this respect. Given the
emphasis on sustainable travel and promoting sustainable development it is therefore
considered the proposal would be acceptable.

e Local residents have raised the concern that the proposed development would add to
vehicular movements, existing parking pressures and problems in the area. A
condition (condition 24) would therefore be included that the applicant carry out a review
of the need to provide any Traffic Regulation Orders in the vicinity of the site, with a view

Page 103



to including necessary road markings and signage, in addition to ensuring the existing
restrictions remain in place. TfGM and the LHA have no objections to the scheme.

e Issues relating to wildlife, residential amenity impacts, visual impacts and character of
development and ecology and wildlife have been covered in the above report.

Statement in accordance with Article 35(2) Town and Country Planning (Development
Management Procedure) (England) (Amendment) Order 2015

The Local Planning Authority worked positively and proactively with the applicant to identify
various solutions during the application process to ensure that the proposal comprised
sustainable development and would improve the economic, social and environmental
conditions of the area and would accord with the development plan. These were
incorporated into the scheme and/or have been secured by planning condition. The Local
Planning Authority has therefore implemented the requirement in Paragraph 38 of the
National Planning Policy Framework.

Recommendation: Minded to Approve
Conditions/ Reasons

1. The development must be begun not later than three years beginning with the date
of this permission.
Reason. Required to be imposed by Section 91 Town & Country Planning Act
1990.

2. This decision relates to drawings -

Location plan 0001 P2

Existing site plan 0002 P5

Proposed security fencing 0003-P1

Proposed site plan 0010 P13

Proposed site plan showing roof plan 0011 P10
Proposed ground floor plan GA 0050 P8
Proposed first floor plan GA 0051 P7

Proposed second floor plan GA 0052 P7
Proposed third floor plan GA 0053 P7

Proposed roof floor plan GA - Block B 0054 P5
Proposed elevations - Block A 0060 P9

Proposed elevations - Block B Sheet 1 0065 P8
Proposed elevations - Block B Sheet 20066 P8
Proposed site section and street scene elevation 0067 P7
Design sections 0070-P1

Fire plan Block A - ground and first floor 0080 P2
Fire plan Block A - second floor and roof 0081 P2
Fire plan Block B - ground and first floor 0082 P1
Fire plan Block B - second and third floor 0083 P1
Fire plan Block B - Roof plan 0084 P1

Proposed landscaping plan by tba 7560.01 rev H

and the development shall not be carried out except in accordance with the
drawings hereby approved.

Reason. For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of
design pursuant to the policies of the Bury Unitary Development Plan and Places
for Everyone Joint Development Plan listed.

Page 104



No development hereby permitted (except demolition and site clearance) within
any approved phase shall take place until the works relating to land contamination
detailed below are fully completed:

In accordance with the findings of site characterisation and risk assessment as
previously approved, documents from the following shall be submitted to the Local
Planning Authority for approval:

I.  Remedial Options Appraisal.
II. Remediation Strategy.
. Verification Plan.

Reason. To prevent unacceptable risk to Human Health and Controlled Waters
and to prevent pollution of the environment in accordance with the aims and
Paragraphs 187(f), 196 and 197 of the National Planning Policy Framework
(December 2024).

The development hereby permitted within any approved phase shall not be
occupied/brought into use until the works relating to land contamination detailed
below are fully completed:

Where remediation is required, it shall be carried out in full accordance with the
approved Remediation Strategy.

A Verification Report must be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for
approval upon completion of remediation works. The Verification Report must
include information validating all remediation works carried out; details of imported
materials (source/quantity/suitability); details of exported materials; and details of
any unexpected contamination.

Reason. To prevent unacceptable risk to Human Health and Controlled Waters
and to prevent pollution of the environment in accordance with the aims and
Paragraphs

187(f), 196 and 197 of the National Planning Policy Framework (December 2024).

The development hereby approved within any approved phase shall not be
brought into use until written confirmation is provided to the Local Planning
Authority that unexpected or previously unidentified contamination was not
encountered during the course of development works.

If, during development, unexpected contamination is found to be present on the
site, no further works shall be carried out at the affected location until the following
are submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval:

l. Risk Assessment (GQRA or DQRA);

Il. Remediation Strategy & Verification Plan;

If remediation is required, it shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
Remediation Strategy. Upon completion of remediation works, a Verification
Report shall be submitted for approval. The Verification Report must include
information validating all remediation works carried out; details of imported
materials (source/quantity/suitability); details of exported materials; and details of
any unexpected contamination.

Reason. To prevent unacceptable risk to Human Health and Controlled Waters
and to prevent pollution of the environment in accordance with the aims and
Paragraphs 187(f), 196 and 197 of the National Planning Policy Framework
(December 2024).

Page 105



Any soil or soil forming materials to be brought to site for use in garden areas, soft
landscaping, filling and level raising shall be tested for contamination and
suitability for use.

Proposals for contamination testing including testing schedules, sampling
frequencies and allowable contaminant concentrations (as determined by
appropriate risk assessment) and source material information shall be submitted to
the Local Planning Authority for approval prior to any soil or soil forming materials
being brought onto site.

The approved contamination testing shall then be carried out and validatory
evidence (soil descriptions, laboratory certificates, photographs etc.) submitted to
Local Planning Authority for approval prior to the development being brought into
use.

Reason. To prevent unacceptable risk to Human Health and Controlled Waters
and to prevent pollution of the environment in accordance with the aims and
Paragraphs 187(f), 196 and 197 of the National Planning Policy Framework
(December 2024).

Remedial measures shall be carried out to the proposed development that are
commensurate with the measures employed on the existing property. These
measures shall be carried out without compromising existing remedial measures.
Any variation or modification of existing or proposed remedial measures shall be
subject to the approval of the Local Planning Authority prior to development
commencing. Where remedial measures are to prevent ground gas ingress, details
of how the gas resistant membrane will be joined to the existing membrane to
create a continuous barrier shall be submitted for approval.

A Verification Report detailing the design and installation of the remedial measures
must be submitted to the LPA for approval upon completion of remediation works.
Reason. To prevent unacceptable risk to Human Health and Controlled Waters
and to prevent pollution of the environment in accordance with the aims and
Paragraphs 187(f), 196 and 197 of the National Planning Policy Framework
(December 2024).

Prior to occupation the applicant shall provide:

e 1 no. electric vehicle (EV) charging point (minimum 7kW*) per dwelling
e Cable routes to be provided for all parking spaces which do not have access to
an electric vehicle charging point.

Certification and photographic evidence of the installation of the agreed electric
vehicle charge points shall be submitted to Local Planning Authority for approval
prior to the development being brought into use. The infrastructure shall be
maintained and operational in perpetuity.

*Mode 3, 7kW (32A) single phase, or 22kW (32A) three phase, and for 50kW
Mode 4 rapid charging may be required. British Standard BS EN 61851-1:2019 to
be used. Further information regarding minimum standards can be found at
https://www.gov.uk/transport/low-emission-and-electric-vehicles.

Reason. To encourage the uptake of ultra-low emission vehicles and ensure the

development is sustainable and to safeguard residential amenity, public health and
quality of life with respect to Local Air Quality, in accordance with paragraphs

Page 106



10.

11.

12.

112e, 117e, 187e and 199 of the National Planning Policy Framework (December
2024) and Places for Everyone Policy JP-S5 (Clean Air).

Prior to the commencement of development, details of a sustainable surface water
drainage scheme and a foul water drainage scheme shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The drainage schemes must
include:

(i) An investigation of the hierarchy of drainage options in the National Standards
for Sustainable Drainage Systems (or any subsequent amendment thereof). This
investigation shall include evidence of an assessment of ground conditions and
the potential for infiltration of surface water;

(i) A restricted rate of discharge of surface water agreed with the local planning
authority (if it is agreed that infiltration is discounted by the investigations);

(iif) Levels of the proposed drainage systems including proposed ground and
finished floor levels in AOD;

(iv) Incorporate mitigation measures to manage the risk of sewer surcharge where
applicable; and

(v) Foul and surface water shall drain on separate systems.

The approved schemes shall be in accordance with the National Standards for
Sustainable Drainage Systems (2025) or any subsequent replacement national
standards.

Prior to occupation of the proposed development, the drainage schemes shall be
completed in accordance with the approved details and retained thereafter for the
lifetime of the development.

Reason. The current application contains insufficient information regarding the
proposed drainage scheme to fully assess the impact. To promote sustainable
development and reduce flood risk pursuant to Policies EN7/3 - Water Pollution
and EN7/5 - Waste Water Management, JP-S4 - Flood Risk and the Water
Environment and chapter 14 - Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding
and coastal change of the NPPF.

No development shall commence unless and until a detailed and comprehensive
arboricultural method statement for tree protection measures including details of
‘no-dig’ methodologies, incorporation of a suitable cellular confinement system and
timetable for implementation has been submitted for approval. The development
shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved method statement
and the approved timetable and all measures required shall remain in situ until the
development has been completed.

Reason. To avoid the loss of trees which are of amenity value to the area pursuant
to Policy EN1/2 and Policy JP-G8.

If demolition has not occurred prior to April 2026 further dusk emergence bat
survey shall be carried out between May and July in any year and the findings
provided to and agreed in writing by the LPA. Demolition timings shall then be
subsequently carried out in accordance with approved timetable.

Reason. In order to ensure that no harm is caused to a Protected Species
pursuant to policies EN6 — Conservation of the Natural Environment and EN6/3 —
Features of Ecological Value of the Bury Unitary Development Plan and Section
11 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

The removal of trees T1- T8 may have the potential to cause harm to bats as

identified in the Aerial Tree Assessment Thomson Environmental Consultants
ref. WAT005-001-009/001/001. No tree under any circumstances shall be felled

Page 107



13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

unless for that tree, further surveys in the case of T1 or T2 have occurred or
precautionary working measures for removal of trees in the case of T3 -T8 have
been provided to and agreed in writing by the local planning authority. The
approved measures only shall thereafter be implemented.

Reason. To ensure the works would not damage the surrounding woodland or
trees and ensure the safe and satisfactory development of the site pursuant to
policies EN8/2 and JP-G7.

No works to trees or shrubs shall occur or building works commence between the
1st March and 31st August in any year unless a detailed bird nest survey by a
suitably experienced ecologist has been carried out immediately prior to clearance
and written confirmation provided that no active bird nests are present which has
been agreed in writing by the LPA.

Reason. In order to ensure that no harm is caused to a Protected Species
pursuant to policies ENG6/3 - Features of Ecological Value and National Planning
Policy Framework Section 15 - Conserving and enhancing the natural
environment.

Prior to any vegetation clearance or earthworks a reasonable avoidance measures
method statement for mammals such as hedgehog, amphibians and other wildlife
covering both the site clearance and construction phases shall be provided to and
agreed in writing by the LPA. The approved measures shall thereafter be
implemented.

Reason. In order to ensure that no harm is caused to a Protected Species
pursuant to policies ENG6/3 - Features of Ecological Value and National Planning
Policy Framework Section 15 - Conserving and enhancing the natural
environment.

The development hereby approved shall provide bird and bat provision on either
the new build or retained trees, provision of swift bricks in the new build and
creation of hibernacular in the woodlands for amphibians prior to the occupation of
the development hereby approved.

The provisions shall be thereafter maintained.

Reason. To secure the satisfactory development of the site and in the interests of
visual amenity pursuant to Policies H2/2 - The Layout of New Residential
Development, EN1/2 - Townscape and Built Design and EN8/2 - Woodland and
Tree Planting of the Bury Unitary Development Plan and chapter 15 - Conserving
and enhancing the natural environment of the NPPF.

Prior to any earthworks a method statement detailing eradication and/or control
and/or avoidance measures for himalayan balsam and Cotoneaster spp should be
supplied to and agreed in writing to the LPA. The agreed method statement shall
be adhered to and implemented in full.

Reason. The scheme does not provide full details of the actual extent of invasive
species pursuant to National Planning Policy Framework Section 15 -
Conserving and enhancing the natural environment.

The development shall not commence until a Habitat Management and Monitoring
Plan (the HMMP), prepared in accordance with the approved Statutory Biodiversity
Gain Plan and including:

1. anon-technical summary;

2. the roles and responsibilities of the people or organisation(s) delivering the
HMMP;

3. the planned habitat creation and enhancement works to create or improve
habitat to achieve the biodiversity net gain in accordance with the approved

Page 108



18.

19.

20.

21.

Biodiversity Gain Plan;

4. the management measures to maintain habitat in accordance with the
approved Biodiversity Gain Plan for a period of 30 years from the completion of
development; and

5. the monitoring methodology and frequency in respect of the created or
enhanced habitat to be submitted to the local planning authority.

has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority.
Reason. To ensure the development delivers a biodiversity net gain on site in
accordance with Schedule 7A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and
Places for Everyone Joint Development Plan Policy JP-G8 A Net Enhancement of
Biodiversity and Geodiversity.

The development hereby approved shall not be occupied unless and until:

1. the habitat creation and enhancement works set out in the approved HMMP
have been completed; and

2. acompletion report, evidencing the completed habitat enhancements, has
been submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority

The created and/or enhanced habitat specified in the approved HMMP shall be
managed and maintained in accordance with the approved HMMP.

Reason. To ensure the development delivers a biodiversity net gain on site in
accordance with Schedule 7A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and
Places for Everyone Joint Development Plan Policy JP-G8 A Net Enhancement of
Biodiversity and Geodiversity.

The development has the potential to cause harm to great crested newts and is
proposed for entry into District Level Licensing.

Prior to development confirmation that:

e no changes to this mitigation approach have occurred or;

e if changes have occurred further information on the new mitigation approach to
gcn should be provided to and agreed in writing by the LPA. The agreed
details shall thereafter be implemented.

Reason. In order to ensure that no harm is caused to a Protected Species

pursuant to policies ENG6/3 - Features of Ecological Value and National Planning

Policy Framework Section 15 - Conserving and enhancing the natural

environment.

Details/Samples of the materials to be used in the external elevations, together
with details of their manufacturer, type/colour and size, shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before the development is
commenced. Only the approved materials shall be used for the construction of the
development.

Reason. No material samples have been submitted and are required in the
interests of visual amenity and to ensure a satisfactory development pursuant to
UDP Policy EN1/2 - Townscape and Built Design

No development shall commence unless and until a 'Demolition/Construction
Traffic Management Plan', has been submitted to and agreed in writing with the
Local Planning Authority and shall confirm/provide the following:

1. Photographic dilapidation survey of the footways and carriageways
leading to and abutting the site in the event that subsequent remedial works are

Page 109



22.

required following demolition operations, construction of the development and as a
result of any statutory undertakers connections to the site/new dwellings;

2. Access route for all demolition and construction vehicles to the site
from the Key Route Network;
3. Access point(s)/arrangements for construction traffic from Pole Lane,

taking into consideration the need to maintain safe pedestrian and/or vehicular
access to adjacent residential properties and all temporary works required to
facilitate access for demolition/construction vehicles;

4, If proposed, details of site hoarding/gate positions, taking into
consideration the need to maintain safe pedestrian and/or vehicular access
adjacent to residential properties and retention of adequate levels of visibility onto
Pole Lane;

5. The provision, where necessary, of temporary pedestrian
facilities/protection measures on the adopted highway;

6. A scheme of appropriate warning/construction traffic speed signage in
the vicinity of the site and its access onto Pole Lane;

7. Confirmation of hours of operation and number of vehicle movements;
8. Arrangements for the turning and manoeuvring of vehicles within the

curtilage of the site and/or measures to control/manage demolition/delivery vehicle
manoeuvres;

9. Parking on site or on land within the applicant's control of operatives'
and demolition/construction vehicles, together with storage on site of
demolition/construction materials;

10. Measures to ensure that all mud and other loose materials are not
spread onto the adjacent adopted highways as a result of the
demolition/groundworks operations or carried on the wheels and chassis of any
vehicles leaving the site and measures to minimise dust nuisance caused by the
operations.

The approved plan shall be adhered to throughout the construction period and the
measures shall be retained and facilities used for the intended purpose for the
duration of the construction period.

Reason. Information not submitted at application stage. To mitigate the impact of
the construction traffic generated by the proposed development on the adjacent
highways, ensure adequate off street car parking provision and materials storage
arrangements for the duration of the construction period and that the adopted
highways are kept free of deposited material from the ground works operations
pursuant to Policies EN1/2 - Townscape and Built Design and JP-C8.

Notwithstanding details of the pedestrian and vehicular access alterations shown
indicatively on the approved plans, no development shall commence unless and

until full details of the following have been submitted to a scope and specification
to be agreed with the Highway Authority on a topographical based survey of the

site and adjacent highways to the Local Planning Authority:

1. Reinstatement of the redundant site access to adjacent footway levels;
2. Reconstruction of the easterly Pole Lane footway abutting the site as a
result of the proposed demolition works, construction of the development,
boundary treatment alterations and any statutory undertakers connections to the
site;

3. Demarcation of the limits of the adopted highway;

4. Formation of the new vehicular access perpendicular to Pole Lane;

5. Formation of the new pedestrian access, level with the back of footway
on Pole Lane;

6. Provision of a tactile paved pedestrian crossing point at the junction;

Page 110



23.

24.

25.

26.

27.

7. 2.4m x 43m visibility splays at the junction with Pole Lane;

8. Measures to prevent the discharge of surface water from the proposed
access/car park onto the adopted highway;
9. All associated highway and highway drainage remedial works,

including the relocation/replacement of any affected highway gullies.

The details subsequently approved shall be implemented to an agreed programme
and to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority and fully completed prior to
first occupation of the development. The visibility splays shall be implemented
before the access and parking area is brought into use and subsequently
maintained free of obstruction above the height of 0.6m.

Reason. To secure the satisfactory development of the site in terms of highway
safety, ensure good highway design, ensure the intervisibility of the users of the
site and the adjacent highways and maintain the integrity of the adopted highway,
all in the interests of highway safety JP-C5, JP-C6 and JP-CS8.

The development hereby approved shall not be commenced unless and until a
review of the need for any Traffic Regulation Orders in the vicinity of the site, with
a view to introducing additional parking restrictions as appropriate, including, if
required, all necessary road markings and signage, in addition to ensuring that
existing parking restrictions remain in place and are refreshed accordingly. The
details subsequently approved shall be implemented to an agreed programme.
Reason. To ensure good highway design in the interests of road safety and
mitigate any overspill parking from the proposed facility pursuant to policies JP-C5
and JP-C8.

The turning facilities within the curtilage of the site indicated on the approved plans
shall be provided before the access and car park is brought into use and the areas
used for the manoeuvring of vehicles shall subsequently be maintained free of
obstruction at all times.

Reason. To minimise the standing and turning movements of vehicles on the
highway in the interests of road safety pursuant to policies JP-C5 and JP-C8.

The car and cycle parking indicated on the approved plans shall be surfaced,
demarcated (as appropriate) and made available for use prior to the development
hereby approved being first occupied and thereafter maintained at all times.
Reason. To ensure adequate off street car parking provision in the interests of
road safety pursuant to policy HT2/4 - Car Parking and New Development of the
Bury Unitary Development Plan.

Bin storage arrangements shall be provided within the curtilage of the site in
accordance with Waste Management's 'Guide to Refuse Collection Requirements
& Storage Methods for New Developments'.

Reason. To ensure that adequate bin storage arrangements are provided within
the curtilage of the site pursuant to policies H2/2 and JP-C8.

The dwellings hereby approved shall be built in accordance with the ‘accessible
and adaptable’ standard in Part M4(2) of the Building Regulations.

Reason. To secure the satisfactory development of the site pursuant to Places for
Everyone Joint Development Plan Policy JP-H3: Type, Size and Design of New
Housing.

For further information on the application please contact Jennie Townsend on 0161 253-5320

Page 111



Viewpoints - 72240

w E

APBRESS 'S purr House, Pole Lane Bury BL9 8QE

Planning, Environmental and Regulatory Services

® Crown Copyright and database right (2023). Ordnance Survey 100023063.

Page 112




Photo 2

Page 113



Page 114



Aerial photo - 72240

Page 115




91T abed

{01 | Proposed Site Plan

Plawss rviyrin Landioaps Propost by
Trauos Bridge Axsaclures for detaiby of 4l
el landucaping propotil

Arewicted dovekprant bo SE comer
i b 2jot alEHR chub {dachiad
i ikt 0 IFEm amed

pranpa fie
et ke on]

| 0010 | Scale 1:250 @ A1

Propossd Boundaly Tiestran] Lagend

= nuwe hadp g e
At |

1B, by ovatal chrbi bistidvd
Brwkar bence: with conerele graued boaad &
wrman above grounid vl

o {0, igh el e boarded

e 1500 Pagh post a0 1l £ meah 4 ek
i 1

e wiha hand i
A 200men hagh

R BSk QMY

[z | Proposed Boundary Treatments

G| Notes.

o1 D N t b iw drwwineg. I In doubt, please avh

02 AN ‘B0 dn I g EY noted otharaies.

03 Al dimenkieng shoadd be verifed on aite bafore procewding with the wafk,
i e in wriling of any d

0a: T b
15; 4 TADMY Linvitad {UIK) 2015

00 | Heale 1:25 @ A1

£
[T

an ~
Maah HIGHT

TEAON 1M ELEE
TREATED

BEACE PAHKL WTIH
T00MM POC TORCEETE
CRAVEL BOAAD,

TR TORERCE
CONGRETE BRHEHT 1O
Sairy

B — 5

S pLannew

LTS 10 BEE
LONCRETE PROGAT T0
um H-

1_ L i

ELEVATIOH

Lagend
Schedule of Accommodation

15 x 1B2P apartments (50sgm
each)

[ 45 x 2B4P apartments (70sqm
each)

Total 60 units

Al hard surfacing matarials to be 1o LA approval

1 - Tarmac

2 - Buff Coloured Tarmac.

3 - Block Paving. AG Homepave Cove Smaoath, of
Slmitar Approved

4 - Concreta paving stabs. Colour Natural

P13 | LN added o black A 1225 | AM | MH

prg | Jpdatedto satlatest 3ok 273125 | AM [wm

Pit ﬁ‘;{.’.‘.’;‘.‘.{‘.ﬁ-‘é".";ﬁ'; T loanzs AW |MH

Fi0 | Puarking provislon increased 271025 | AM | MH

Fo | Block paving spec amended 050625 | AM | MH
By | Descripbon Dade Drawn | Chacked
Drawing Status

P - Planning | T - Tender | © - Constuction | R - Az Record

For Approval

Aor 5L Patersgate Stockpont Chashine $K1 1HD
PROTEY 477 8158 Fy 61 480 5347 madftade couk wiastade, oo, uk

Cliont Watson Homes

Job Pole Lane
Bury

Titke Proposed Site Plan

Seale 1:250 @ A1

Nake - Prinks from POF files may ned be 1o scile, check itcuracy aganet 408

10 =nm
5 1250
Job Ha. Orginator ~ Fh Lwvel Yitw Fal Dwn  Stius Rav.

241352-TADW- 00- XX- DR- A- 0010- P- 13




Shamimia japamica A0Alicm
|8 [ raen annica nshany Walerer [ F-40om
D R ] I040cm
VTE Vilramum s Eve Price’ A0-Eem

Em&1m. o R s i
PR Fhodinen Bronze Bab|Doutle Cyomn | T3 LF

[Tetal 42 -

[Ctcus cheypsanthua "Sncwr Bundmng’

“Tate x Tak'

N

EXISTING TREE TC BE RETAMNED
(REFER T ARBORMAN TURAL IMFACT
ASBESSMENT)

FROPOSED TREE PLANTING

HEDGE PLANTING

ORHAMENTAL
SHRUE PLANTING

EH1-Hedgaraw mixture
EWi-Wosdiand miniure

DECURATIVE GRAVEL f SLATE
CHIFFINGS OVER MEMBRANE

SPECIMEN PLANTIHG

1.2m ESTATE RAILING WITH
ACCESS MAINTENANCE GATE

1.5m POST AHD
RAILMESHSTOCK, FENCING
While nalive hedoe makras

HATIVE SHRUBISCRLE PLANTRNG MY
[T b notch plantad by hand &g only To avcid
misling 1wt repds}

Fmter o anchulocts drawing far al
v landscape materials

Bl b s gl ot pnalibed
[P
ﬁ i ol s A ki e 1
. , m bty

) \ 8 e ) < " Bl -1 wo.ry

r—qe WETS

1 Wy BEST
Savgal p whrg nape Y He TS 'y
\ \ . ? Dimind s e Witlo s a " by b |

. R e B 1 - 1
3 - 2 Toph e e
Darieplizg ath
r by et s

N

55

]
JgBIFAPAE

i

Propuiad Binsdary Traamem Lige
¥ powst iy 5L m e B s d g
Tro o Qi 4o am Doe A -ty v il
P 1 T e 1)

AW At TR R A
e

190 o, gl rraull B Favpched
il R ARG - |
ket e ¥ e

B, b s s B €3 Pk
Wi by A it el IR
TRRn Dt F vt bl

15 Wi Py, 7 v o i
Jirsa o o I b

[FE T T T
R e T

N ==
[ . .|

]

il AT L

Fiapag sl

R} B A 22 il 1 i P =i . H Tk s 3, B
b et 2k

AT PO L D e L

wr by e BT o Gt
A WA iyl b g, T, b s e . PPTHA
Hrr e e . AT e By T L e vy bl W T
sty - el b
[
St
S e
w B
by
et 4a e e
Mkt vt o Al . By W I i 5 e A,
Wom el 3 iard My W
oo W peesn
»

il i, W it W vt
fri ey

Sty o ek
Tl e i et sl i il £ e et o ki 1l
vt

s W o Wl 4 e o b e By by A
oo e M ks ey e P =it md &
- Lo T i as Whe
e e - "
byt g ey i g I B v # R  Mee] R  mE
b e i L i T8 o B B8 4 gt i,
—i=
oy it bt
Trm ooy i1 sy miape. o et skl v byt ot sl v PO
o e AL, Sy . T e U s g by £ v up
ke Fimaa cark
e
pryn ey
& Trwmtu~, o
= . defie g Tuad, e v o e P e e 4
. oy

Srvet il b et
oy o Ml i a3 e b s 2o o

i i e b ik,

[ e
e e ik e e b e W P e e e

e Wit 1 B o b af T Lol 4L e Gl g e

e e, M
i) s e v i i
o [
PP
ey
Cummimn prahin R bl
v
T el St i B v i 808 et

wu -
T sl b m-::‘n“nmnﬂhﬁ A A e R A
L) i b Sl LA Ll o J
o e e et o I e
by By i
e
- L P s v B S0 T T feelel
il b B ] ke I R T D SR dht T vl B et
i1, o e e e B,
T o | gy e o Slame nr -
. e bty e ot 24 W A T s, b ey wes- et v, Beed el
e Eorie

et

- wibh
b, Bt <}, Tormil b e e 1 T i i ot

T L Too T o oo o s st b sy et i e u
g
ety e
" Wi

i o 3 i AT, 7 APt 4 e e A i parr L it i ~ =
el dylr e yn e bl =Ly gl sl ety FTMR T b i i e g e it ol D
Ty G § B radre fry 4 i 1 Pty ety An] i ot T, oo o . S
ey 1 B 1 3 e SR b Py 4
T Tl a1+ fum g m o ks et B2 [y T "
e o ¥k 20 i 3 4 3mr P

o e tpter - v
ok 0 B A Pl Pt el . ol L ot s . bt i e e n s
ot T T
e i 1 ot = e 4 s ) e =
e b it e e Ty p— .

sy s et -,
o bt vt
it g B A1 714 e, (Rmgi? ey
g iy A gt g Pt g gt et
i i
o - T 40 friodirioiririn . -
firerpd Sl g Arkim il 1 LAA | YR o, S 3 A gt

Eorpreite sy o

il wacs

i - = ke e iy 2. 1 i
T 8 2o i cn e Ay

.
Tord by 03
Estrind e
Hars el 44, M ez - W

Bttt
Bl e el e, e e P, s s sk

e
38 B AL bt e e Forl i,
T VS PR v il

Frarwetms

et
bioadrs Rt . Lairs e b ey £ T W 3,
mas

e
Frh g rom - e [ b

o - A L

Pt il e o s 7 i )

ey ey e AL sl
W i 3 PR s 3 B e

T -
g A e

.
[ PO o) —
Tam i P k. it bt s et 1 08 L e

ke P v . T T ———

s o e o e et T il T
v, et it b i
Fasbrewd svratel

b ol Trih - bl
[rimrnbetacu e PR

e el

Py sl

o e .

o
Do o b s g e 3 .l e s, il et S
R o et A At i TS

P At B

e Y i kg 4 i

— vl
it el (bl i S ad b U MR B ey, bk 3
s A
e eiried
ket tad o o -
i i
& Pirrcurparicae s
4 i T s et T st v s m 2 K s e
ey dhaly — T B et ey e e T Ay o T R e
4 140 A T it e o il o AR SR AR syt e
L -
st ey e ke e, ] g o e o 1 At
L] )

B
i il i vy W AT AT W F AL Dt
b . s (A5 T, i b ey, Fru Cakren ek

Faaind

=

L

Jowm

Tt e p ct bin ara sl e . pobe e

imabwvan s s il dahy e b He el vt e
s

Dt e iy

Fon s ek -

s tetaty oy

s ol

e

s ot et i, T e, e e Al . o 434 o, Pre

e e e ety T 18 5l vt e Foe At a8 ek

e rormg e et et g sawmry Tn e -8 B Wy

iy el i P i, ot st s i A WA

Lyt srvmss it
Tkl o s s G B P Pt
Waksieg

i sk e vl
T ¥ rrvia LAY 0 8 W L s T e B B T il
i

iy i

Bt L
Pl b, by s, el e 1B b Sakin. vk
Tt s e sy i bt o o,z g vy
i T v e e A e e, Tt g § i ',
i . hevated

o P 3 s A P Fid il T e Pl e
w P

el s
e o o Hoi et hoing 18 St ) ity 31 e, k]

preu?
st Aparp iy

—y

mm 8 b ————,

oy
- mpr— e
i v e ke

rariiy
= o ik A 4 Gl i ) ] b e
e Ptk ) 7 T IR B ek M L S

cplagmn s i
Bevardn, e [anc

e £
o] m kg cerry kEzed

e
[omrds womemied 200126
|6 et et [1n2e

Jm e honne

i’.‘dﬂﬂin

Tuorrr Bigm foowcietm L
bk
wgd_lldu
Lunes U8 TRW

Tal- |t
gt kol rtridon

Pty
POAE LG, WAHIWORTH (5Pl HOUSE)
WATSON HOMEE

Tae

Landecaps Proposal

waes |1 |Teeot [
v @A
H3




8TT abed

A

Existing building to

B ke d 2
s

Trees marked red proposed to
be removed, Please refer to
Arboriculfural Impact
Asgessment by Thomson
Environmental Consultants

| Existing Site Flan
0002 | Scale 1:250 @ Al

adjacent cricket club - potential
for rastricted development area
due to ball strike risk {dashed
orange line indicates 80m from
assumed crease location}

;-f;_ = .‘}.:.'.;’,.4"
‘._‘I-i" 4-___-#"‘#
ol

be demolished % :
*._.-"‘ % Site Area 6738m* -
= % "
& 'u'- 1‘;] -
i

Gansral Hotea

01: Dimensdonk musl not be scaled from this drawing. If in doubL phesdw 310
kAl o ars in S i

03 Al damansieng shoukd b v on 3y bafons procedEng wih Iha wor.
0d: TADW Archelacts shall B notifled inowiting of any dlssrepanclas.

05 © TADW Limiled (UK} 2015

Leogand

FS | 11k be removed 2700.28 | AW | MH

P4 | She sreanated 0725 | A | MH

P3| Ske med edge thuifcd 280125 | AM | MH

Pz | pnsed laloing Rnges OB agrzs (A |k

Pl Hiewad for commeht 221124 |AM | KH
Issue | Dascrplion Dalz Crarm | Chedisd
Drawing Status

P - Planning | T - Tender | G - Construction | R - As Record
For Approval

Sie 5L Pelwrsgdte Skockporl Cheshies SK11HD
PhoO161 477 6I58 Fu D161 db0 R332 mallikadier. co,uh, wisie, ot ook

Chent Watson Homes

doh Pole Lane
Bury

Tite Existing Site Plan

Saale 1:250 @ A1

Hota - Frints irom FDF fles may not be 1 acale, chack sconacy apainat scela

10 26m
5 120

Job Ha, Orighnater Fho  Lewsl ‘fim Robe Owp  Slews Rew

241352-TADW- 00- XX~ DR- A- 0002- P- 5




:

6TT abed

2 , . -
. Il
— T |
- o |
] . ! ' Bedroom 124 m e
——— 14.2 m2 I —
Bedroom —
B?ggongm Bedroom Bedroo 15.9 m? . . 1
Bedroom 11.5 m? l | 11.6 m? = - Living / }_(ltchen /
14.0 m? I = D|n|ng
i l . - IR Living / Kitchen / 25.5m?
“—Living / Kitchen / Living / Kitchen / 0 . 26“}'”9 |
~ Dining = i Dining i L — |
P11 m Living / Kitchen / B4m Plot 28 T Plot 29 |
Dini e r— | [
26"2)'229 Plot 27 L Bathroom 1
r BRI f | 37me .Bathroo
Plot 26 \Bathroom i ] [ ey |
| = 3.7 m? = . - -
'+ Bathroom a i 1 B Bathroom .. Bedroom
L e | | s8m* 7=
1
. ! Smok Smok . :
o 2 —
2m?
Plot 30 '
— _— Lobby =1 r——
1oy 16.7 m? B??gorgm
Plot 25 ' I- I i
f Lobby |- Plot 32 Bathroom Bathroo Plot 31 !
l 13.0 m? el | | |Fire | 3.7 me 3.7 m | Lt
Bedroom - : | !;t:td
1B Bay}rg? i I } { | | boxes i | i = e
' { I - Living / Kitchen / Living / Kitchen /
fﬁ" ey L T/ Dining ! Dining
I- T 246m i : 246m : i
1T Dry rised] Double height & - L8 Bedoom | BN | Bedroom fo L !
e outiet J§ Space over, 1 13om i i 13.9 m? | | Living / Kitchen /
— 2 = open to i ! ..
B??gomqm L Bagrérg? Smoke - stf:lirwell B | I | | | 93@.)' 229 |
5 shaft ™ | | I | l - Lobby 1 40066
= ! | I' | | Double height space
— - = | over, open to.stairwell |
] | Plot24 : . i
Bedroom Bike Store
11.5m 29.5 m?
-
38 bikes (20 high level,
plus 9 Sheffield stands
at low level)
- o |
-
| ek Pt Room 1 L0 Proposed Ground Floor GA - Block B
- e Dry riser 1:100
| Living / Kitchen / infet
i Dining
1 1l 33.5m?

Elec Plant Room
14.0 m?

|

()

Living / Kitchen /

| Dining | |
33.7m? 1
Double height space .
. over, open to stairwell k. i ]
I |
| | Lobby © Bedroom I
| 7.9 m? | 13.9 m?
| - u
| = ! '
|
P = Bathroom
| Bedroom = L 3Tme
11.6 m?
B Plot 7
| — I
" | I Plot 6
i S Lobby
| 19.3 m?
Bedroom - Bathroo
12.0 m2 P | 3.7m? Smoke
B 1 shaft Bathroom ;
= 3.6 m?
| I F i
i - LT Plot 4
L] | = Plot 5 e
0060p 4 . Bathroo —
. 55m
Living / Kitchen / ' i Bedroom —prstBedroom
Dining
25.9 m? A |
| i i
Bedroom Bedroom
11.5 m? 13.3 m?
i1 |
B |
= E—

/

@ L0 Proposed Ground Floor GA -BlockA
1:100 | | | |

J;Living / Kitchen J

Dining
249 m?

! =
T f—t

Dry‘ riser
inlet -

Water Meters

32 bikes
(18 high
level,
plus 7
Sheffield
stands at
low level)

Bike Store
26.1 m?

Living / Kitchen / Living / Kitchen /
~+Dining Dining «
33.3m?

i. | 33.3m?

Double height space
over, open to stairwell

Lobby
4.9 m?
Fire rated I%%bngy
post boxes ’
Dry riser
outlet
)
' = g 5
n6
Lobby
6.8 m?
] Bathroom
b o 36me
o \. vl ey \. )
Plot 3 k E 1
—
Bedroom | Bedroom
11.8 m? 12.1 m2

1
—
Living / Kitchen /|
Dining '|
33.1m?
/ I |
Y {
3 Bedroom
‘~‘ 11.6 m?
Plot 1 N\ 1 IR
Bathroojr-ﬁ 5 Bedroom
36m? ;- 12.0 m?
(=l
_d
Bathrooml? Bedroom
36m? 12.0 m?
s 1N
I
‘ ‘Bedroom
Plot 2 11.6 m?
' |
-
[ | 1
! —
Living / Kitchen /
Dining
33.1m? -
|
——

General Notes
01: Dimensions must not be scaled from this drawing. If in doubt, please ask
02: All dimensions are in millimetres unless noted otherwise.
03: All dimensions hould be verified on site before proceeding with the work.
04: TADW Architects shall be notified in writing of any discrepancies.
05: Copyright to remain the property of TADW Architects in accordance with
Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988.

Legend

8 Lift added to block A 04.12.25 AM KM

7 Block A - corridor subdivisions, roof AOVs 06.08.25 AM MH

amended, affecting flat entrance door
locations. Block B - AOV to corridor end, 1
no. riser omitted.
6 Block A bike store / plant rooms layout 28.01.25 AM MH
revised
5 Building design amended to reduce 24.01.25 AM MH
corridor widths

4 Plot numbers added 13.01.25 AM MH

Issue Description Date Drawn Checked
Drawing Status
P - Planning T - Tender C - Construction R - As Record

Six St.Petersgate Stockport Cheshire SK1 1HD
Ph 0161 477 6158 Fx 0161 480 8342 mail@tadw.co.uk www.tadw.co.uk

Client  \Watson Homes

Job Spurr House, Bury

Title Proposed Ground Floor Plan GA
Scale 1:-100 @ A1

Note - Prints from PDF files may not be to scale, check accuracy against scale

-----5_10m
1:100

Job No. Originator Ph. Level

View Role Dwg

241352-TADW- 00- 00- DR- A- 0050- P- 8

Status Rev.




gLiving / Kitchen /

i [}” Dining

H[ 31.1m?
[| Rl

[ |

Bathroom

[ [ ]

Bedroom

Bedroom - %

12.2 m? N

%u

Plot 35
~Bedroom
13.1 m? Bathroom
3.7 m?
[ ] ]
Bl
[ Bedroom
16 { Bathroo
Ne—"1
[ ] ]
[ 1 ] Plot 34
N
Bedroom
11.5 m?

0zT abed

i
0
_

Living / Kitchen /
Dining
33.5m?

=

H

Bedroom

13.2m?

Plot 36

[ [ |

Living / Kitchen /
==

Smoke

M
Living / Kitchen /
Dining__ |

| Dining
Living / Kitchen / 33.5m

Dining

26.0 m?

: . Riser

(= Riser
%@ —
N/
/N
Veid /N
DN up—
Stud wall to
1100mm above FFL
Dry riser NS
outlet Veid
VAN
@a;grgg Bedroom
14.5 m?
Plot 33
[ 1 ]

23.4 m?

HP Oyl

Living / Kitchen /

Bedroom‘ ]

11.6 m?

Plot 37

Plot 42

[ T ]

i
|

|
Living / Kitchen

Dining
26.2 m*

I

==
e

%Bagh;ozo
@ A m

[ ] ]
L 1]
N

_C%A:J

Plot 41
L

|

Bedroom
13.2 m?

Plot 38

Bedroom
14.0 m?

[

Bathroo
3.7 m?

L _

Living / Kitchen /
Dining

246 m

1 Proposed First Floor GA - Block B

]

Bedroom
15.9 m?

)

Bathroo
3.6 m?

HP

upP

\/
£

[\
T

DN

\Citud\wall to 11 OO/mm/

above FEL -
N
— Void ™~

15

: 100

Living / Kitchen /
Dining
33.7m?

Ll ‘\kfﬂflr
Living / Kitchen /
Dining

259 m?

Stud walffo —_
4100mm above FFI~

—DN

—

=]
Bedroom ‘
12.4 m?
am Living / Kitchen
Dinin
—fll | Sining
Plot 39
=t
Bathroom Bedroom
3.8 m? 12.2m
9/
[ [ ]
Plot 40
L[ |
Bedroom
11.5 m?

Living / Kitchen /
Dining
33.5m?

=1

F—Living / Kitchen /]

JJ[Living / Kitchen
1

]

Dining
24.9m?

@ L1 Proposed First Floor GA - Block A
1:100

]][Living / Kitchen /JH
L

0 im|
===

Living / Kitchen /
===_Dining m
P 9317 m?

Dining
33.1m?

Bedroom
13.9 m?

Living / Kitchen /
m Dining ===
333m?2 [ q

0 im|
===

Bedroom .‘

B

L[]

:‘l

General Notes

01: Dimensions must not be scaled from this drawing. If in doubt, please ask

02: All dimensions are in millimetres unless noted otherwise.

03: All dimensions hould be verified on site before proceeding with the work.

04: TADW Architects shall be notified in writing of any discrepancies.

05: Copyright to remain the property of TADW Architects in accordance with
Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988.

Legend
7 Lift added to block A 04.12.25 AM KM
6 Block A - corridor subdivisions, roof AOVs  06.08.25 AM MH

amended, affecting flat entrance door
locations. Block B - AOV to corridor end, 1
no. riser omitted.

5 Building design amended to reduce 24.01.25 AM MH
corridor widths
4 Plot numbers added 13.01.25 AM MH
3 Updated following fire engineer input 02.01.24 AM MH
2 Plant and lobby areas revised 22.11.24 AM MH
Issue Description Date Drawn Checked

Bedroom
12.0 m?

|

Drawing Status

P - Planning T - Tender C - Construction R - As Record

Bedroom

PLANNING

12.0 m?

1
[ [ |

Living / Kitchen /

Dining
33.1m?

ta | W architects

Six St.Petersgate Stockport Cheshire SK1 1HD
Ph 0161 477 6158 Fx 0161 480 8342 mail@tadw.co.uk www.tadw.co.uk

Client  \Watson Homes

Job Spurr House, Bury

Title Proposed First Floor Plan GA

Scale 1 :100 @ A1

Note - Prints from PDF files may not be to scale, check accuracy against scale

- - 10m
1100

Job No. Originator Ph. Level View Role Dwg Status Rev.

241352-TADW- 00- 01- DR- A- 0051- P-7




12T abed

gLiving / Kitchen /

m)

" Dining

I
I

31.1m?

L[]

Bedroom
12.2 m?

L |

rBedroom
13.1 m?

HP Oyl

[ [ |

[ Bedroom
11.6 m?

Ne——1
[ [ |
L 1 ]

Bedroom
11.5 m?

-

[ |

Bathroom
3.7m?

Plot 45

Bathroom
3.7m?

Bathroo
3.6 m?

Plot 44

HP

Living / Kitchen /

Dining
33.5m?

| —]

Bedroom
14.0 m?

H

13.2m?

Plot 46

» [@=

Bedroom %

%:ving / Kitchen /

Dining
26.0 m?

==
==

Il

Veid /
DN UP
Smoke
shaft
’T@aﬂrﬂ?? Bedroom
14.5 m?
Plot 43
L 1

>~—71

711
Living / Kitchen /

D Bedroom
D 13.2 m?
Bedroom D Bedroo
11.6 m? 11.7 m? D
D Living / Kitcherx
Living / Kitchen / [ Dining
Dining [~ § ()
33.5m? Plot 48
—‘IE“EIF
Plot 47
=5 I
Bathroom Il
= 3.6 m?
-
|
. Smok . Smok = ]
Riser s::f)t © Riser s:;(f)t © l:” %D eHP
Riser
Plot 52 Bathroo ﬁBathroo Plot 51
3.7m? 3.7m? [
; N r
Living / Kitchen /

Dry riser
outlet

|| Dining

24.6 m? D D

][ — Il Bedroom Bedroczm I

[ 1 ]
[ [ ]

Bedroom
14.0 m?

[

VR
Bathroo
3.7 m?

Living / Kitchen /

Dinin
246 mQJJ

i
|

HP

Bedroom
15.9 m?

e

=)
Bedroom H[ Jﬂ
12.4 m? HL jﬂ
1
Living / Kitchen /
Dinin
| 255
Plot 49
B
oilf
Bedroom |
Bathroom 2
3.8m? } 12.2 m
@)
Plot 50

Bathroo
3.6 m?
N
ol
UP

— — Void

DN

@ L2 Proposed Second Floor GA - Block B
1:100

=

Living / Kitchen /

Living / Kitchen /

Dining
33.5m?

=

2 Proposed Second Floor GA - Block A

O

Dining
33.7m?
T [ D
I Il Bedroom
DN 13.9 m?
L] i L
Il
— \/ U
— /\
.
— Baggrgzom
Bedroom REH
11.6 m? Plot 2
—T Plot 21
1 ]
A:
Bedroom Bathroo
12.0 m? @ 3.7 m? Smoke =
shaft Bathroom
— 3.6 m? =/,
:@;-e
— Plot 19
=) Plot 20
—— Bathroo
5.5 m?
== ’ ‘ ! ‘ = Bedroom Bedroom
Living / Kitchen / 121 m? 11.8 m?
Dining D D(
25.9 m? D D
][ Bedroom D Bedroom D
11.5 m? D 13.3 m? D
J

HP Oyl

100

Dining
24.9 m*

Living / Kitchen /

!

H[Living / Kitchen /][ ][Living / Kitchen /M

Dining —

249 m?

_ Dining

31.7m?

0 i}
===

| |

HP

Plot 23

Bedroom

=

13.9 m?
L

Bathroo

3.7 m? @
L

.

Living / Kitchen /

Dining
33.3m?

==
) 0

= O

I

[ [ |

Dry riser
outlet

ool

Plot 18

Bedroo

i

i
i

Smoke
shaft

Bathroom
3.6 m? ‘

Bedroom
12.1 m?

1
o

Plot 16

Bathroom

3.6 m?

L _ @

[ o

Bathroo
3.6 m?

Plot 17

HP Oyl
[l

Living / Kitchen /

[—]

Living / Kitchen /

Dining
33.1m?

==
==

General Notes

01: Dimensions must not be scaled from this drawing. If in doubt, please ask

02: All dimensions are in millimetres unless noted otherwise.

03: All dimensions hould be verified on site before proceeding with the work.

04: TADW Architects shall be notified in writing of any discrepancies.

05: Copyright to remain the property of TADW Architects in accordance with
Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988.

)
[

Bedroom

Bedroom

Bedroom=—

’7
11.6 m?

NEe———
[ [ |
L 1 |
———

12.0 m?

I

Bedroom

12.0 m?

—
L [ ]
1

11.6 m?

Legend
7 Lift added to block A 04.12.25 AM KM
6 Block A - corridor subdivisions, roof AOVs  06.08.25 AM MH
amended, affecting flat entrance door
locations. Block B - AOV to corridor end, 1
no. riser omitted.
5 Building design amended to reduce 24.01.25 AM MH
corridor widths
4 Plot numbers added 13.01.25 AM MH
3 Updated following fire engineer input 02.01.24 AM MH
2 Plant and lobby areas revised 22.11.24 AM MH
Issue Description Date Drawn Checked
Drawing Status
P - Planning T - Tender C - Construction R - As Record

PLANNING

' al( | W architects

Six St.Petersgate Stockport Cheshire SK1 1HD
Ph 0161 477 6158 Fx 0161 480 8342 mail@tadw.co.uk www.tadw.co.uk

Dining
33.1m?

Client  \Watson Homes

Job Spurr House, Bury

Title Proposed Second Floor Plan GA

Scale 1 :100 @ A1

Note - Prints from PDF files may not be to scale, check accuracy against scale
T m w C— 10

1:100

Job No. Originator Ph. Level View Role Dwg Status Rev.

241352-TADW- 00- 02- DR- A- 0052- P- 7




General Notes
01: Dimensions must not be scaled from this drawing. If in doubt, please ask
02: All dimensions are in millimetres unless noted otherwise.

[ ] ] =) 03: All dimensions hould be verified on site before proceeding with the work.
= 04: TADW Architects shall be notified in writing of any discrepancies.
05: Copyright to remain the property of TADW Architects in accordance with
Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988.
D BedroorrL D H[ Jﬂ Legend
D 13.2 m? Bedroom H[ Jﬂ
Bedroom D 12.4 m? S
H D 14.0 m?
Bedroom D Bedroom
2 Bedroom Bedroo 15.9 m? Lo .
— Bedroom 132m D 11.6 m? 11.7 m? D | L|V|ngD{ Kitchen /
14.0 m?
E m Tl bvina Kitche;\ | 255me
Living / Kitchen / Living / Kitchen / I ‘ Dining
H[J 7 Dining | Dining & () —
1 1 o Living / Kitchen / 33.5m H Plot 56 — Plot 57
— Ié)grg)igg = Plot 55 J:L Bathroo L h—
' R 3.7 m? athroo =
[ Plot 54 [ ] Salse] % % ot &
=) — — — = 3.6m: b = _
Bathroom — D @ Bathroom B?ggongm
[ 1 ] 3.7 me H[ }ﬂ : 3.8'm? :
H[ }” Smoke [ ] S
h 4 i Smok . 5.
segroom |, e i NN : i
T £) Plot 58
2 ° 1 ]
— — Riser Y —
= Bedroom
11.5 m?
Plot 53 N =y
R Plot 60 Bathroo Bathroo Plot 5
3.7m? 3.7 m? L .
~Bedroom R ~ < =
12.5 m* Ba;l';rozom Vieid o i 5~ @ -3 / =
o DN Living / Kitchen / =l Living / Kitchen / \/
[ Dining e e g g
M Becroom SR ] E— a
‘ 139m 13.9 m* i Living / Kitchen /
Dry riser D D DN Dining
Smoke outlet 33.5m?
shaft  mm D D —

=

Access hatch

@ L3 Proposed Third Floor GA - Block B
1:100

ZeT abed

) . |
A
@ L3 Proposed Roof Plan GA - Block A o
1 .
-
A4
|
7 Lift added to block A 04.12.25 AM KM
6 Block A - corridor subdivisions, roof AOVs  06.08.25 AM MH
amended, affecting flat entrance door
= 1:40 locations. Block B - AQV to corridor end, 1
| N\ - no. riser omitted.
I — m ™ — 5 Building design amended to reduce 24.01.25 AM MH
| corridor widths
4 Plot numbers added 13.01.25 AM MH
3 Updated following fire engineer input 02.01.24 AM MH
2 Plant and lobby areas revised 22.11.24 AM MH
Issue Description Date Drawn Checked
G o Drawing Status
.
Stairwell AOV 1m? - P - Planning T - Tender C - Construction R - As Record
Extent and layout of solar PV to roof to be agreed
Stairwell AOV 1m? S , , 1:40
Roof to be provided with pop-up perimeter guarding for Top Floor Corridor ) S
maintenance purposes Vent min. 1.5m2 Lift shaft |
head ! Wy hu ; :
| JV architects
< Vent min. 1m?2 : ; !
Top Floor Corrid
Vgr;t n?i;).r 1.(5):22” Roof Access Hatch
A Smoke Shaft
Vent min. 1m? Six St.Petersgate Stockport Cheshire SK1 1HD
o Ph 0161477 6158 Fx 01614808342 mail@tadw.co.uk www.tadw.co.uk
b
o .
g Client  \Watson Homes
1:40 d
Job Spurr House, Bury
1:40
4—;
- Title Proposed Third Floor / Roof Plan
J
Z GA
N ——————————— " | | e
Scale 1 :100 @ A1
—_——————— = Note - Prints from PDF files may not be to scale, check accuracy against scale

e I s 10m
[ [ ] 1100

Job No. Originator Ph. Level View Role Dwg Status Rev.

241352-TADW- 00- 03- DR- A- 0053- P-7




€21 abed

2 Section 1
1:200

Street Scene Elevation - Pole Lane

1 1:200

General Notes

01: Dimensions must not be scaled from this drawing. If in doubt, please ask

02: All dimensions are in millimetres unless noted otherwise.

03: All dimensions hould be verified on site before proceeding with the work.

04: TADW Architects shall be notified in writing of any discrepancies.

05: Copyright to remain the property of TADW Architects in accordance with
Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988.

Legend

7 Lift added to block A 04.12.25 AM MH

6 AOVs amended to suit floor plan changes  06.08.25 AM MH

5 Louvre panel height to windows amended  23.07.25 AM MH

4 Revised to suit landscaping scheme 28.01.25 AM MH

3 Building design revised to reduce corridor  24.01.25 AM MH

widths

2 Levels revised 21.01.25 AM MH

1 Drawn 13.01.25 AM MH
Issue Description Date Drawn Checked

Drawing Status

P - Planning T - Tender C - Construction R - As Record

PLANNING

Six St.Petersgate Stockport Cheshire SK1 1HD
Ph 0161 477 6158 Fx 0161 480 8342 mail@tadw.co.uk www.tadw.co.uk

Client  \Watson Homes

Job Spurr House, Bury

Title Proposed Site Section and Street
Scene Elevation

Scale 1 :200 @ A1

Note - Prints from PDF files may not be to scale, check accuracy against scale

-----5_1Om
1:100

Job No. Originator Ph. Level View Role Dwg Status Rev.

241352-TADW- 00- ZZ- DR- A- 0067- P- 7




¥21 abed

General Notes
01: Dimensions must not be scaled from this drawing. If in doubt, please ask
02: All dimensions are in millimetres unless noted otherwise.
i i i i 03: All dimensions hould be verified on site before proceeding with the work.
N N N 04: TADW Architects shall be notified in writing of any discrepancies.
/ 4 4 4 AR 05: Copyright to remain the property of TADW Architects in accordance with
\ Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988.
Legend
Level 2 Second Floor
e Plan
99275.0
Level 1 First Floor
;/. Plan
96275.0
. Level 0 Ground Floor
1 Elevation A1 i Plan
1100 93275.0
- N N
Level 2 Second Floor
'/! Plan
99275.0
Level 1 First Floor
;/. Plan
96275.0
. Level 0 Ground Floor
2 Elevation A2 o Plan
1100 93275.0
Level 2 Second Floor 9 Lift added to block A 041225  AM KM
; B Plan 8 Rooftop AOV's relocated to suit floor plan  06.08.25 AM MH
E— _— amendments
99275.0 7 Height of louvres above windows amended 23.07.25  AM MH
6 Building design amended to reduce 24.01.25 AM MH
corridor widths
5 Levels revised 21.01.25 AM MH
. 4 Double plinth brick detail to head of 13.01.25 AM MH
Level 1 First Floor window surrounds
3 Updated following fire engineer input 02.01.24 AM MH
;/. Plan
96275.0 Issue Description Date Drawn Checked
Drawing Status
P - Plannin T - Tender C - Construction R - As Record
. Level 0 Ground Floor 9
3 Elevation A3 Plan
1:100 B PLANNING

Six St.Petersgate Stockport Cheshire SK1 1HD
Ph 0161 477 6158 Fx 0161 480 8342 mail@tadw.co.uk www.tadw.co.uk

Level 2 Second FIoor‘\

- Plan
< 99275.0 |

—— — Client  \Watson Homes

\ " :
HTE P Job Spurr House, Bury
Level 1 First Floor |l |
@7 ~ Plan . 3 ] . s
96275.0 II. N E-I R — Title Proposed Elevations - Block A

. Level 0 Ground Floor I I Scale 1:100 @ A1
4 E I evatl 0 n A4 ; B o Plan ‘1\ o ==.! = = | Note - Prints from PDF files may not be to scale, check accuracy against scale
: e § - 5 10m
1:100 93275.0 ---_1:100
Job No. Originator Ph. Level View Role Dwg Status Rev.

241352-TADW- 00- ZZ- DR- A- 0060- P- 9




GZT abed

Elevation B1

Level 3 Third Floor

@7 | Plan
102650.0

Level 2 Second Floor

@7 | jjg—tan
99650.0

Level 1 First Floor

@7 ] Plan
96650.0

Level 0 Ground Floor

@7 ] Plan
93650.0

1:100

Elevation B2

1:100

General Notes

01: Dimensions must not be scaled from this drawing. If in doubt, please ask

02: All dimensions are in millimetres unless noted otherwise.

03: All dimensions hould be verified on site before proceeding with the work.

04: TADW Architects shall be notified in writing of any discrepancies.

05: Copyright to remain the property of TADW Architects in accordance with

Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988.

Legend
8 AOQV to corridor end 06.08.25 AM MH
7 Height of louvres above windows amended  23.07.25 AM MH
6 Building design amended to reduce 24.01.25 AM MH

corridor widths
5 Levels revised 21.01.25 AM MH
4 Double plinth brick detail to head of 13.01.25 AM MH
window surrounds

3 Updated following fire engineer input  02.01.24 AM MH
2 RWPs shown 22.11.24 AM MH
1 Drawn 14.11.24 AM MH

Issue Description Date Drawn  Checked

Drawing Status
P-Planning T-Tender C -Construction R - As Record

Six St.Petersgate Stockport Cheshire SK1 1HD
Ph 0161 477 6158 Fx 0161 480 8342 mail@tadw.co.uk www.tadw.co.uk

Client  \Watson Homes

Job Spurr House, Bury

Title Proposed Elevations - Block B
Sheet 1

Scale  1:100 @ A1

Note - Prints from PDF files may not be to scale, check accuracy against scale

| | || 5 10m
1:100

Job No. Originator Ph. Level View Role Dwg Status  Rev.

241352-TADW- 00- ZZ- DR- A- 0065- P- 8




This page is intentionally left blank



Ward: Prestwich - Holyrood ltem 04

Applicant: Hello Property Group
Location: 263 Bury Old Road, Prestwich, Manchester, M25 1JA

Proposal: Change of use from hot-food takeaway (Use Class Sui Generis) to part ground floor
office (Use Class E) and part ground floor and all first floor 3 bedroom (single
occupancy) House in Multiple Occupation (HMO) (Use Class C4)

Application Ref: 72327/Full Target Date: 07/11/2025
Recommendation: Approve with Conditions

Description

The application site comprises a vacant corner semi-detached property located on Bury Old
Road at the junction of Newtown Street. The property was formerly in use as a Hot-Food
Take-away.

Immediate neighbours include a hairdresser, attached, with a flat above, accessed from the
rear of the application site via an external street staircase, social housing opposite on
Newtown Street; Heaton Park opposite across Bury Old Road; and a carpet warehouse to
the rear.

Access to the rear of the property and the rest of the terrace is via a narrow passageway
between the rear of the terrace and the boundary of the site with the building occupied by
'Carpet Warehouse'.

Permission is sought for a change of use of the building from a Chinese/ hot-food take-away
(Use Class Sui Generis) to a mixed use, comprising a ground floor office (Use Class E)
within the front half of the ground floor of the property and to use the rear part of the ground
floor and all of the first floor of the property as a 4 bedroom (single occupancy) House in
Multiple Occupation (HMO) (Use Class C4).

The proposed office would occupy the front ground floor room of the property (17.3 sq.m).
The office would have a single W.C. The proposed HMO use would occupy the rear half of
the ground floor of the property which is proposed to be a 21.2 sq.m Kitchen-Diner/ Living
Area. At first floor level, three ensuite bedrooms are proposed.

Within an existing single storey rendered rear extension it is proposed to utilise the space to
store refuse storage bins to serve both proposed uses, and at least 4 bicycles. It would be
accessed from Newtown Street by a roller shutter door being inserted into the south facing,
Newtown Street elevation of the building. The submitted plans indicate that the render is to
be removed from this element of the building and the brick walling revealed.

The application site is located approximately 45m north of the northern edge of the allocated
Whittaker Lane/ Bury Old Road Local Shopping Centre, and approximately 85m from
Heaton Park Tram Stop, which is located on the corner of Bury Old Road and Whittaker
Lane.

Relevant Planning History
58157 - Lawful Development Certificate for the existing use of the ground floor as a hot food

Page 127



take-away (Class A5). - Lawful Development, 19/12/2014

70844 - Change of use of existing ground floor take-away (Sui Generis) to commercial
(Class E) and HMO with new glazed shopfront and elevational treatment at side; First floor
rear extension; Loft conversion with rear dormer - Withdrawn - Invalid, 26/07/2024

Publicity
35 nearby neighbours have been notified by letter.

3 representations have been received which raise the following concerns:
e Unsuitable location for a HMO.

e Adverse impact on on-street car parking provision

Asserting there is a lack of car parking in the local vicinity as it is and that there is no
parking available for this property which would force multiple residents from the HMO to
park down Newtown Street. Asserting it is already very difficult for residents of Newtown
Street to park on their own road.

It is across from a block of 18 council flats where the car park only accommodates 6 cars,
leaving many residents relying on on-street parking. The area is already strained with many
visitors to Heaton Park using residential roads for parking, especially when there are events
on.

¢ Insufficient space to provide the bins required to support the proposed uses/ occupation

e As this property has no outside space, this is not a suitable location in terms of waste
disposal. It would not be appropriate for enough waste and recycling bins to serve 4
people to be stored on a public footpath which is already narrow.

Statutory/Non-Statutory Consultations
Traffic Section - No objections, subject to a condition ensuring opening

Waste Management - No comments or observations received

Adult Care Services - No comments or observations received

Housing - Public Protection (HMO Licensing) - No objections.

Environmental Health - Pollution Control - No comments or observations received

Greater Manchester Police - designforsecurity - Raised the following concerns to the
proposals as initially submitted:

1. The access to the first floor HMO is recessed and taken from the rear where it is
obscured from view, and this will potentially leave residents/visitors vulnerable as
they cannot view any potential treats when arriving/leaving. It will also allow an
offender to conceal themselves from view, affording them additional time to force
entry.

2. One shared toilet/bathroom will likely be a source of conflict between residents
which can easily escalate into more serious issues.

Prestwich Village Neighbourhood Forum - Raises objections for the following reasons:

3. The proposed accommodation is a complete over-development of a relatively small
building, with minuscule bedrooms, just one small bathroom / WC and limited shared

Page 128



space. There is no outside amenity space or off street parking provided. The
proposals plan (the only plan provided) indicates a bike store - that would struggle to
accommodate more than one bike and would necessitate bringing the bike into the
single shared space for all kitchen / dining / living.  This would impact on the quality of
that space for residents low quality accommodation is only likely to attract very transient
groups who will have no commitment to the local community.

4. The building is located at the junction of Bury Old Road with Newtown Street and the
lack of off street parking means that visitors to the property or residents having a car is
likely to increase on street parking, making this junction more dangerous.

5. The plans for the conversion of the building are inadequate and there is an almost total
lack of information regarding any alterations to the external alteration of the building
which need to take place for any residential conversion of this property and which
should be in line with PVNF's Design Code

6. PVNF also recently commissioned a Housing Needs Assessment for the
Neighbourhood area and it clearly shows that the need within the area is for two and
four bedroom properties, with least need (or demand) for small and one bedroom
properties, particularly those of such low quality

7. Whilst the existing building is vacant this does not justify its conversion for such low
quality development. The building would be better re-used for retail / food & drink use
at ground floor with possibly the conversion of the upper floor for a single flat, ensuring
that the elevational treatment of the building is improved. A conversion on this basis
would not just make effective use of the building but would support the many other
policies within the PfE and the NPPF, including those of good design, regeneration of
local centres, the development and regeneration of sustainable neighbourhoods and the
development of good quality housing in line with local needs.

The application has been amended throughout the course of the application to address
most of the concerns raised above in the following ways:

¢ Removing the existing rear door of the property that is accessed between the rear of the
property and the shared boundary of Carpet Warehouse and which is hidden around a
concealed rear corner. Access for future occupiers of the HMO would therefore be via
the proposed new door opening on the gable elevation of the property.

e The number of proposed bedrooms, at first floor level, have been reduced from four to
three.

e As aresult of the above, the proposed bedrooms have been increased in size and each
bedroom would now have an en-suite bathroom, rather than sharing a bathroom as
initially proposed.

e The storage of bikes would no longer be via the narrow rear access and through the
existing rear door, nor would it be through the shared kitchen area. The proposed
combined bin and bike store would now be accessed from a roller shutter doorway on
Newtown Street that would be inserted into the side elevation of the existing single
storey rear extension

¢ A combined kitchen with a table for 4 people and living area has also been provided.

e The proposed new door onto Newtown Street would have brick arch detailing over the

Page 129



opening, so that it would reflect the architectural features of this property.
Pre-start Conditions - Not applicable.

Development Plan and Policies

H2/1 The Form of New Residential Development
H2/2 The Layout of New Residential Development
H2/4 Conversions

EN1/2 Townscape and Built Design

EN7/2 Noise Pollution

HT2/4 Car Parking and New Development

EN7/2 Noise Pollution

H1/2 Further Housing Development

JP-C1 Our Integrated Network

JP-C2 Digital Connectivity

JP-C5 Streets For All

JP-C6 Walking and Cycling

JP-C8 Transport Requirements of New Development
JP-H3 Type, Size and Design of New Housing
JP-H4 Density of New Housing

JP-S2 Carbon and Energy

JP-P1 Sustainable Places

JP-S1 Sustainable Development

SPD11 Parking Standards in Bury

SPD13 Conversion of Buildings to Houses in Multiple Occupation
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework

Issues and Analysis

The following report includes analysis of the merits of the application against the relevant
policies of both the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), the adopted Places for
Everyone Joint Development Plan Document (PfE) and the saved policies within the
adopted Bury Unitary Development Plan (UDP), together with other relevant material
planning considerations.

The policies of the UDP that have been used to assess this application are considered to be
in accordance with the NPPF and as such are material planning considerations. For
simplicity, just the UDP and PfE Policies will be referred to in the report, unless there is a
particular matter to highlight arising from the NPPF where it would otherwise be specifically
mentioned.

Principle of Development

The application site is located approximately 45m to the north of the Whittaker Lane/ Bury
Old Road allocated Local Shopping Centre, but it forms part of a group of properties in
commercial use and which includes both The Commercial Public House, Heaton Park
Methodist Church and the former Parkside Hotel site, in use as L'Aquila ltalian Restaurant.

The present use is a hot food takeaway and proposes to introduce a mix of uses including
Office (Class E) within part of the ground floor with HMO in the rear part of the ground floor
and the floor above. The former HFTA use to Class C3 use (up to 150m2 and prior approval
process) and Class E (commercial, business and service) is permitted development.

The proposal would introduce Class E floorspace within part of the ground floor of the

property and of a very conservative size of 17sgm. Retaining the ground floor commercial
use, preserves the active commercial frontage of this group of properties and supports the

Page 130



mixed-use character of Bury Old Road. There is no loss of a local/ town-centre function and
thus no adverse impact on the local high street as the commercial element remains in situ.

In relation to the proposed HMO use within the rear part of the ground floor of the property,
the property is located in walking distance of both the allocated Local Centre and Prestwich
Tram Stop. Bury Old Road is also a key Bus route and bus stops exist within 160m to both
the north and south of the application site. The site is therefore considered to be in an
accessible location.

Taking all of the above into account, the proposal is sustainably located and acceptable in
principle.

Housing Needs

Paragraph 63 of the NPPF confirms that "size, type and tenure of housing needed for
different groups in the community should be assessed and reflected in planning policies.
These groups should include (but are not limited to) those who require affordable housing
(including Social Rent); families with children; looked after children; older people (including
those who require retirement housing, housing-with-care and care homes); students; people
with disabilities; service families; travellers; people who rent their homes and people wishing
to commission or build their own homes" however no direct reference is made to HMOs or
buildings of multiple occupation.

Prestwich Village Neighbourhoods comments relating to the Housing Needs Assessment
they are preparing which the Council has not been involved in preparing can be given very
no weight at this stage as the survey has not been subject to any formal public consultation
and has not been adopted by the Council as part of the Local Plan. The Assessment will
not carry any weight in planning decisions until the Neighbourhood Plan has been
examined.

The Bury Housing Needs and Demand Assessment does not specifically identify the need
for HMOs. It does however show that Prestwich has the highest level of need for 1-bed
affordable properties. Whilst HMOs are not affordable housing as defined by the NPPF, they
do contribute to meeting needs by providing a lower cost housing option and play important
role in the housing market, particularly for people who have limited housing choices or are
looking for short stay accommodation. This is therefore the adopted position of the Local
Planning Authority and not that which is asserted by the Prestwich Village Neighbourhood
Forum.

Character of the Area and concentration of flats and HMOs

Whilst there is no specific policy in relation to HMOs within the UDP, Policy H2/4 -
Conversions takes into consideration the concentration of building conversions for multiple
occupancy and the impact this can have to the character of an area. The justification for this
policy makes it clear that it is necessary to ensure that dwelling standards are maintained
and to ensure that, generally, an over provision of building conversions does not adversely
affect the need to maintain a good mix of housing types or adversely affects the character
and amenity of residential areas.

Officers have obtained information from the Council's HMO Officer as to where existing
licensed HMOs are located in relation to the existing application site. According to the
Council's records, with the exception of a 5 bedroom HMO property on Robert Street (within
a 100m of the application site), there are no other HMO within a 100m radius, therefore,
over concerntration is not a concern for this site.

It is therefore considered that this proposal would not cause an over concentration of HMO
or flat/ apartment development in this location and thus the proposal is considered to accord

Page 131



with the relevant criteria within UDP Policy H2/4.

Impact on neighbouring businesses

Paragraph 200 of the NPPF states existing businesses and facilities should not have
unreasonable restrictions placed on them as a result of development permitted after they
were established and suitable mitigation before the development has been completed
should be provided.

The application site is attached to a health and beauty business, 'Skulpt' and the Carpet
Warehouse business exists to the rear of the application site.

Given the occupation of the property would intensify as a result of the proposed mix use
proposal and a communal Kitchen-Living-Dining area is to be located against a shared wall
with the hairdressers it would be reasonable to secure soundproofing along the party wall by
planning condition. This protection would work both ways insofar as maintaining a level of
control from surrounding commercial uses and potentially reducing the likelihood of noise
complaints from new residents.

Access, parking & movement

The site sits on a highly accessible corridor with frequent buses on Bury Old Road and in
close proximity to Heaton Park Metrolink Station. Bus Stops exist within 60 metres of the
application site. Day-to-day trips can be made by public transport, walking and cycling to
both the boroughs Town Centres and Manchester City Centre. The accessible location of
this proposed development accords with the locational requirements of PfE Policy JP-C1.
Whilst no car parking supports this proposal, given its highly accessible location and the fact
that only three occupants would live in the proposed HMO, occupants would not need a car
to live here.

Given the site is within walking distance of the Bury Old Road/ Whittaker Lane Local Centre,
combined with the proposal to provide a secure and enclosed/ covered on-site cycle store
within the existing single storey extension, which would support active travel, the proposal
also accords with PfE Policy Jo-C6: 'Walking and Cycling' and the cycle parking provision
required by SPD11.

The proposal seeks to introduce a 3 bedroom HMO use at first floor and within part of the
ground floor. Separate access is provided for each use, with access to the proposed office/
commercial use remaining at the front of the property and access to the proposed HMO use
being by a new door proposed to be located on the gable elevation of the property. The
two separate accesses would ensure clear operation and good natural surveillance. This is
consistent with UDP H2/4 (Conversions) and townscape aims in EN1/2 and the NPPF.

Refuse & Servicing

The existing single storey rear extension to the property would accommodate sufficient
refuse storage within it. This would be accessed both internally and externally. A roller
shutter door would be fitted to the Newtown Street access. A condition is recommended to
be imposed to ensure that this roller shutter door has no external shutter box and that it is
coloured black.

The insertion of the new doorway onto Newtown Street would allow refuse bins to be easily
put in and out, and for bicycles to be taken in and out easily. In the interests of highway
safety/ the safety of pedestrians, the Local Highway Authority has recommended a condition
securing no doors open outwards onto the adopted highway. Subject to this condition, the
proposal thus complies with the relevant aspects of PfE Policy JP-C8 and SPD11.

Design and Visual Amenity

Page 132



UDP Policy EN1/2 seeks to ensure proposals would not have an unacceptable adverse
effect on the particular character and townscape of the boroughs towns, villages and
settlements.

The main external changes proposed are on the Gable elevation of the property. Itis
proposed to insert a new doorway to create a separate access for the proposed HMO use
and to insert a door opening within the single storey addition to the building.

During the course of the application, amendments have been secured amendments to both
openings. In respect of the main access doorway, this has been amended to provide the
brick arch detailing over the head of the door to reflect this architectural feature that is
present over the existing windows of the property. Regarding the new doorway within the
rear single storey extension; this was initially proposed as a standard door. Due to
concerns that this door would both open outwards onto the pavement thereby causing an
obstruction and that two doors in close proximity would have looked out of keeping with the
existing property, this opening is to be fitted with a roller shutter door. Provided no roller
shutter box is fitted externally and provided the roller shutter door is black in colour, which
can be secured by planning condition, the proposed external changes are considered to be
acceptable and in compliance with UDP Policy EN1/1.

Whilst Prestwich Village Neighbourhood Forum (PVNF) has stated the property should be
altered in line with the Design Code they have commissioned and which will form a part of
their Neighbourhood Plan, given the PVNF Design Code has not been subject to formal
consultation, and indeed not adopted, it can only be given very limited weight in this
decision. Notwithstanding this, as demonstrated above, subject to this condition being
imposed, the proposal is considered to have an acceptable impact on the visual amenity of
the streetscene. The proposals therefore comply with UDP Policy EN2/1 and the design
requirements of the NPPF.

Residential Amenity

UDP Policy H2/4 requires applications for conversion to have regard to the effect on the
amenity of the neighbouring properties through noise, visual intrusion, the position of
entrances, impact of parking areas, extensions and fire escapes.

Directly opposite the gable end of the property, which would be used to access both the
proposed HMO accommodation and the combined bike and bin store, are Council flats at
Newtown Court. Some of these flats have windows facing onto Newtown Street and the
gable of the application site. Given only three occupants are proposed to live at the
property, their comings and goings would not cause demonstrable harm to the amenity of
these closest residents. The proposal therefore accords with UDP Policy H2/4.

Amenity of future occupants

Communal activity is focused at ground floor and three single ensuite bedrooms sit at first
floor with simple circulation. Room sizes meet Bury’s HMO amenity expectations, and
shared facilities meet small-HMO ratios, consistent with the Councils HMO Guidance &
Amenity Standards. The proposed en-suite bedrooms themseves accord with the Nationally
prescribed Space Standards.

During the course of this application has been amended to move the entrance for the HMO
element of the proposals from the recessed rear of the rear of the property to the side
elevation on Newtown Street. This will result in better sight lines/ visibility, lighting and
surveillance within the street to resolve the security point raised by GMP. Finally, the initial
proposal to access the proposed bike storage area from the proposed kitchen area. This
was considered to be unacceptable from both a practical point of view given the existing
rear door to the property is via the very narrow access to the rear and around a recessed

Page 133



corner and from an amenity perspective. Alternative arrangements now provide covered
storage accessed from within the yard area and separate to the internal space.

For these reasons, the amended arrangement accords with UDP Policies H2/1 (Form) and
H2/4 (Conversions).

HMO management, Licensing & Safety

At 3 occupants, the scheme does not require a licence; however, all HMOs are subject to
the Management Regulations, including duties for fire safety, maintenance of common
parts, and provision/management of waste. Compliance would be secured through Building
Regulations approval.

Carbon and Energy

A statement accompanies this application advising that the proposed HMO will minimise
energy demand through new roof insulation, internal wall insulation and upgraded high-
performance double glazing. LED lighting with PIR sensors, efficient heating and hot water
systems, and water-saving sanitary fittings will be installed, that will further reduce energy
and resource use. A SAP calculation will be provided at Building Control stage. This
approach follows the energy hierarchy and supports Greater Manchester’s target of carbon
neutrality by 2038. The proposal therefore accords with the requirements of PfE Policy JP-
S2: Carbon and Energy.

Digital Connectivity

A supporting statement advises the property will be fitted with full fibre to the premises
connections and ducting and cabling will be installed to current standards and to allow for
future upgrades, ensuring reliable high-speed broadband and compliance with PfE Policy
JP-C2: Digital Connectivity.

Statement in accordance with Article 35(2) Town and Country Planning (Development
Management Procedure) (England) (Amendment) Order 2015

The Local Planning Authority worked positively and proactively with the applicant to identify
various solutions during the application process to ensure that the proposal comprised
sustainable development and would improve the economic, social and environmental
conditions of the area and would accord with the development plan. These were
incorporated into the scheme and/or have been secured by planning condition. The Local
Planning Authority has therefore implemented the requirement in Paragraph 38 of the
National Planning Policy Framework.

Recommendation: Approve with Conditions
Conditions/ Reasons
1. The development must be begun not later than three years beginning with the date
of this permission.
Reason. Required to be imposed by Section 91 Town & Country Planning Act
1990.

2. This permission relates to the following plans:

Drawing no. A1.1 Rev. PL1: Existing Plans; and,
Drawing no. A1.2 Rev. PL7: Proposed Plans.

Page 134



Except as provided for by other conditions to this permission, the development
shall be carried out in complete accordance with the approved drawings.

Reason. For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of
development in accordance with the policies contained within the Fylde Borough
Local Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.

3. The sound insulation of both party walls of the property shall be improved in
accordance with Building Regulations Approved Document E (or similar method),
the details of which shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning
Authority and implemented to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority prior to the HMO use commencing.

Reason. To reduce nuisance from noise to the occupiers of the adjoining dwellings
pursuant to Policy EN7/2: ' Noise Pollution' and H2/4: 'Conversions' of the Bury
Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.

4. The bin store/ bike store indicated on approved plan A1.2 Revision PL7 shall be
fitted with a roller shutter door or a similar approved type which does not project
outwards at any time during or after operation to the satisfaction of the Local
Planning Authority and shall thereafter be maintained.

Reason. To enable a vehicle to stand clear of the highway whilst the garage door
is opened and to allow adequate space to maintain a vehicle clear of the highway
in the interests of road safety.

5. The roller shutter door to serve the bin store/ bike store indicated on approved
plan A1.2 Revision PL7 shall be painted black in colour. No external roller shutter
box shall be fitted on the building.

Reason. In the interests of visual amenity and securing good design, in
accordance with Policy EN1/2: Townscape and Built Design of the Bury Unitary
Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.

6. The refuse storage facilities and covered and secure cycle storage provision
indicated on the approved plans shall be implemented and made available for use
to the written satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority prior to the development
hereby approved becoming first occupied and shall thereafter remain available at
all times.

Reason. In order to ensue that the development would maintain adequate
facilities for the storage of domestic waste, including recycling containers, and
sufficient cycle storage provision is secured, in the interests of amenity and to
promote modal shift and encourage travel to the site by more sustainable modes
of transport in accordance with Policies JP-C6: 'Walking and Cycling' and
JP-C8: Transport Requirements of New Development of the Places for Everyone
Development Plan.

For further information on the application please contact Claire Booth on 0161 253 5396

Page 135



Viewpoints - 72327

1

griflsh
Legion

w = E
ADDRESS: 263 Bury Old Road Prestwich ‘

Planning, Environmental and Regulatory Services

© Crown Copyright and database right (2023). Ordnance Survey 100023063,

Page 136



72327
Photo 1

Front Elevation

Photo 2

Gable Elevation facing Newton Street

Page 137



72327
Photo 3

Rear Elevation

ALPLSLEELAARANNNNNNEN

Page 138



72327
Photo 4

Street View of Rear Elevation

Page 139



72327
Photo 5

Staircase to rear elevation leading to first floor flat on adjoining property — Carpet
Warehouse to the left.

Page 140



| | ||

b

s>

Mapping contents © Crown copyright
and database rights 2024 Ordnance

Survey 100035207

Location Plan

1:1250

1

Redline denotes property boundary

NEWTOWN wiﬂWﬂ.

7 3 2 7
9 6 5

Site Plan

2

[y a
ol TR 2
e g a . <
4 -l mu |
3 m MPM
-3
(% m 2
< [~} —
s 28 @ E
PR T m
s 8 8 -
~3d Im ia il

Project Address:

263 Bury O

ich, Manchester M25 1JA

d R, Prestw

Checked by:

Drawn by:

ic

aled

Scale on Al:

As indic

West' Elevation

Roof Plan
9 1:100

1:50

5

Sdﬁth Elevation

1:100

First Floor Plan

1:50

8

4

Ground Floor Plan

1:50

3

North Elevation

1:100

7

o

East Elevation .

1:100

6

15 20

10

05

05

SCALE1: 500

SCALE1: 100

SCALE1: 50



25 1A
Checked by:
.

& CIAT

BL6
PROPOSED PLANS
P L
Ry

ISSUED FOR PLANNING

indicoted

263 BURY OLDRD

3c33s
Ki

Project Address:

263 Bury O Rd, Prestwich, Manchester M25 1JA
Scale on A1: .

00

Project No:
Tile:

Stamp:
Project:

SCALE™: 500

West Elevation

1:100
'

9

SCALET: 100

Roof Plan

1:50

HAEA A AR A AR A A A A AR AR A AR A e

|

SCALE™: 50

;:::u / . [

L
i
e

South Elevation

First Floor Plan

1:50

8

4

Kitchen/Living/Dining
.

Ground Floor Plan

1:50

Offi
— [

|

North Elevation

1:100

7

L1
AT

<&
A

Mapping contents © Crown copyright
and database rights 2024 Ordnance

East Elevation .

1:100

6

500

Location Plan

1:1250

Site Plan

Page 142

Survey 100035207
Redline denotes property boundary

1

2




Ward: Bury West ltem 05

Applicant: Sussex Coastal Property Ltd
Location: 8 Stephen Street South, Bury, BL8 2NT

Proposal: Change of use from existing 6 bedroom (single occupancy) HMO to 6 bedroom (6-8
occupants) HMO (House in Multiple Occupation) (Use Class Sui Generis)

Application Ref: 72425/Full Target Date: 25/11/2025
Recommendation: Approve with Conditions

Description

The application site forms the southern end of a row of four, two storey terraced properties
on the south-west side of Stephen Street South which is in use as a house in multiple
occupancy. Itincludes a basement and a loft conversion and rear dormer extension. The
lawful use of the premises is as a 6-bedroom House in Multiple Occupation (HMO), under
the permitted change allowed between Use Class C3 (Dwellinghouses) and Use Class C4
(Houses in multiple occupation) which allows small shared houses occupied by between
three and six unrelated individuals, as their only or main residence, who share basic
amenities such as a kitchen or bathroom.

The gable end of the application site forms the boundary where there is a significant drop in

levels between the application site and the Daisyfield Court apartments complex. The rear
of the property backs onto Back Hulbert Street, a cobbled street providing access to the rear
of properties on both respective streets.

The property is within a cul-de-sac of terraces (4 on each side) which sit between Back
Bolton Road South and the boundary of the site described above.

The property has a flat roof dormer extension on the rear roof slope, which was erected
utilising permitted development rights. It also has a rear yard area. The conversion works
were completed in September 2025, and the property is currently being let out for
occupation, with 4 out of the 6 bedrooms currently rented out.

Planning permission is sought for the change of use from an existing 6 bedroom (single
occupancy) HMO to a 6 bedroom, 6-8 occupants, HMO (House in Multiple Occupation)
(Use Class Sui-Generis). Permission is being sought for 2 more occupants to reside within
the property.

Relevant Planning History
Not applicable.

Publicity

The application has been advertised by Site Notice on the 24 October 2025, and 24 nearby
neighbours have been notified by letter on the 21 October 2025. 3 representations have
been received which raise the following concerns:

o Adverse effect on the character of this part of the street. The street's character is made

up of family homes with many residents having lived here for 20 years, contributing to a
close-knit and peaceful community. The streets character is defined by its low levels of

Page 143



activity and limited vehicle movements. Our street is very quiet and is a residential cul-
de-sac consisting of only 8 houses.

e Since the property has been occupied by 4 tenants, we have already noticed an
increase in disruption and activity with people constantly coming and going at all hours.
This has changed the peaceful nature of the street. This is before the property has
even reached 6 occupants never mind 8.

e Parking on Stephen Street South is already extremely limited. Even with only 4
occupants (below the PD allowed 6 occupants), parking pressures have noticeably
increased. Residents now frequently struggle to find a space and access for larger
vehicles can be difficult.

e The increase in occupants has already put a strain on the already limited on-street
parking provision particularly given the care home present at the end of the street and
parishioners of the Church. Doubling the number of occupants would cause existing
residents' difficulty for residents trying to park anywhere near their homes.

e The current occupancy and proposed increase in occupancy exacerbates existing
parking problems.

¢ Due to Stephen Street South being a small cul-de-sac, even one large HMO has a
noticeable impact on the area. The proposed increase would have a disproportionate
impact due to the limited size and capacity of the street. Residents are already
experiencing higher levels of noise, parking stress and general disruption since the
property began operating as a HMO. Increasing occupancy would further erode the
balance of this settled residential area.

e Fails to comply with planning policies relating to character, amenity and highway safety.

e Urges the Council to refuse the application in order to preserve the established
character and amenity of Stephen Street South and to protect the quality of life of its
long-standing residents.

The objectors have been notified of the Planning Control Committee meeting.
Statutory/Non-Statutory Consultations

Traffic Section - No objections, subject to a condition securing the bin storage facilities
shown on the submitted drawings.

Waste Management - No objections.

Adult Care Services - No comments or observations received.

Housing - Public Protection - No comments or observations received.

Greater Manchester Police - designforsecurity - No comments or observations received.
Canal & River Trust - No objections.

Pre-start Conditions - Not applicable.

Development Plan and Policies
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework

H1/2 Further Housing Development

H2/1 The Form of New Residential Development
H2/2 The Layout of New Residential Development
H2/4 Conversions

EN1/2 Townscape and Built Design
EN7/2 Noise Pollution
HT2/4 Car Parking and New Development

Page 144



SPD11 Parking Standards in Bury

SPD13 Conversion of Buildings to Houses in Multiple Occupation
JP-C2 Digital Connectivity

JP-C5 Streets For All

JP-C6 Walking and Cycling

JP-C8 Transport Requirements of New Development

JP-S2 Carbon and Energy

JP-P1 Sustainable Places

Issues and Analysis

The following report includes analysis of the merits of the application against the relevant
policies of both the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), the adopted Places for
Everyone Joint Development Plan Document (PfE) and the saved policies within the
adopted Bury Unitary Development Plan (UDP), together with other relevant material
planning considerations.

The policies of the UDP that have been used to assess this application are considered to be
in accordance with the NPPF and as such are material planning considerations. For
simplicity, just the UDP and PfE Policies will be referred to in the report, unless there is a
particular matter to highlight arising from the NPPF where it would otherwise be specifically
mentioned.

Permitted Fallback Position

A dwelling can change to a 6 bed HMO is Permitted Development, as defined by the Town
and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended) to a House in Multiple
Occupation (HMO) is Permitted Development. The applicant has therefore utilised the
existing property as a 6 bed HMO without the need for planning permission. This is the
permitted fallback position of the property.

Principle of Development

UDP Policy H1/2: "Townscape and Built Design' states that the Council will have regard to
various factors when assessing a proposal for residential development, including whether
the proposal is within the urban area, the availability of infrastructure and the suitability of
the site, with regard to amenity, the nature of the local environment and the surrounding
land uses.

UDP Policy H2/4: 'Conversions', has specific regard to effects on amenity of neighbouring
properties, general character of the area, amenity of occupants, effects from external
changes on the street scene, car parking, and servicing requirements. This is supported by
SPD 13: 'The Conversion of Buildings to Houses in Multiple Occupation', that seeks to
ensure that properties are of a sufficient size to accommodate the proposals and are large
enough to offer satisfactory levels of accommodation for future residents. This document
also seeks to ensure that HMO's are located in suitable locations. SPD 13 is rather dated
in absolute terms (adopted in May 2007) and in some of the assumptions expressed (e.g.
HMO's tend to attract residents in their teens and twenties who by their nature can be a little
more energetic than older people, leading to a more active social life in the evenings).
However, some of the general factors against which proposals should be assessed at UDP
Policy H2/4 remain relevant.

PfE Policy JP-H3: 'Type, Size and Design of New Housing' seeks to provide an appropriate
mix of dwelling types and sizes reflecting local plan policies and having regard to relevant
local evidence. Development across the plan area should seek to incorporate a range of
dwelling types and sizes, including for self-build.

Page 145



Paragraph 63 of the NPPF confirms that "the size, type and tenure of housing needed for
different groups in the community should be assessed and reflected in planning policies.
These groups should include (but are not limited to) those who require affordable housing;
families with children; older people (including those who require retirement housing,
housing-with-care and care homes); students; people with disabilities; service families;
travellers; people who rent their homes and people wishing to commission or build their own
homes". However, no direct reference is made to HMOs or buildings of multiple
occupation.

The applicant has utilised their permitted development right to change the use of the
dwelling to a 6 bedroom HMO lawfully and for the rear roof dormer.

Houses in Multiple Occupation is a form of housing tenure, where occupants live together
forming more than one household (i.e. where facilities such as kitchen, living areas and/or
bathrooms can be shared with other tenants.

Given that the existing use of the building is as a HMO, the principle of the use has already
been established. However, the proposed development seeks to increase the number of
occupants to 8 people, which creates a sui generis use. As such, given the permitted
fallback position of an HMO with 6 people, the Council has to assess the impacts of an
additional 2 occupants within the property and the impacts arising.

Accessibility of the site to services, jobs and amenities

PfE Policy JP-C1 seeks to deliver an accessible, low carbon Greater Manchester with
world-class connectivity, by, amongst other things, delivering a pattern of development that
minimises both the need to travel and the distance travelled by unsustainable modes to
jobs, housing and other key services, including healthcare, education, retail, recreation and
leisure facilities, green space and green infrastructure; and locating and designing
development, to deliver a significant increase in the proportion of trips that can be made by
walking, cycling and public transport.

The application site is located within walking distance of Bolton Road, where there are bus
stops, which provide access to regular bus services to Bury and Bolton. The site is also
within walking distance of the local centre on Bolton Road, where there are a variety of
shops, hot food takeaways and a small supermarket. As such, the proposed development
would be located in a sustainable location and would be in accordance with Policy JP-C1 of
the Places for Everyone Joint Development Plan.

Character of the area

UDP Policy H2/4 - 'Conversions' takes into consideration the concentration of building
conversions for multiple occupation and the impact this can have to the character of an
area. The justification for this policy makes it clear that it is necessary to ensure that
dwelling standards are maintained and to ensure that, generally, an over provision of
building conversions does not adversely affect the need to maintain a good mix of housing
types or adversely affects the character and amenity of residential areas.

Having visited the application site, checked the Planning register and the HMO Licensing
register, there are no other properties in use as homes in multiple occupancy within 100
metres of the application site. Therefore, the proposal would not result in an over
concentration of HMOs in this area and therefore the area would maintain a good mix of
housing types.

The proposed development would not result in any external alterations and as such, the
proposed development would not be a prominent feature in the streetscene.

Page 146



The representations received highlight the particular character of this group of 8 properties
on Stephen Street South, which exist at the cul-de-sac end of the street and that this part of
the street is characterised by family dwellings, is quiet and peaceful in nature and has
limited vehicular movements. The representations received, state that given the cul-de-sac
nature of this part of Stephen Street South, the increasing the number of occupants of the
HMO, along with the associated consequences of increasing movements to and from the
property by existing occupiers and proposed occupiers and the associated pressure on on-
street parking provision and bin storage needs and such a large HMO would adversely
change the character of this street.

Whilst the concerns of local residents are understood, the Permitted Development fallback
position of 6 occupants is a strong fallback position which has to be taken into account in
this decision. The proposal does not propose to increase the number of bedrooms within
the property but seeks to have have the ability to be let to couples. It is considered that such
an uplift is minor and two more occupants would not cause such demonstrable harm to the
character of the area to justify refusal of the application on this basis. Therefore, the
proposed development would be in accordance with Policies H2/4 and EN1/2 of the Bury
Unitary Development Plan.

Amenity of neighbouring occupiers

UDP Policy H2/4 requires applications for conversion to have regard to the effect on the
amenity of the neighbouring properties through noise, visual intrusion, the position of
entrances, impact of parking areas, extensions and fire escapes.

The proposed development is located in an end terrace in a row of 4 properties and there
are 4 dwellings located opposite. There are residential properties at the rear, which front
onto Hubbert Street.

As stated above, the proposed development would not result in any external alterations, so
the proposed development would not have an adverse impact upon the privacy of the
neighbouring properties.

The objectors have referred to noise from comings and goings at the property. Whilst the
number of occupiers would increase by 2, the number of bedrooms would not increase. As
such, the addition of 2 occupiers in rooms, which are already in use, it is considered that the
uplift would not have a significant adverse impact upon the amenity of the neighbouring
properties.

Therefore, the proposed development would be in accordance with Policies H2/4, EN1/2
and EN7/2 of the Bury Unitary Development Plan.

Amenity of future occupiers

All bedrooms proposed would comply with the national prescribed space standards. The
proposed development would utilise the existing communal space of a kitchen and dining
room, which is located within the rear two storey outrigger. The basement area of the
property would have two washing machines and a dryer. Two washing machines would
meet the needs of all occupants of the property.The level of communal accommodation
would be acceptable for 8 occupants in 6 bedrooms.

The National Design Guide states that an aspect of ensuring development is well designed
by ensuring that refuse bins are accessible and well-integrated into the design of streets,
spaces and buildings, to minimise visual impact, unsightliness and avoid visual clutter.

The proposed site plan indicates sufficient refuse storage provision can be provided within
the rear yard area. The agent has confirmed that this area is within the applicant's

Page 147



ownership and as such, would be acceptable. A covered and secure cycle store for up to 8
bikes is proposed in the corner of the rear yard area, as well as an outside seating area is
within the rear yard area, which would provide an appropriate level of external amenity
space. Therefore, the proposed development would not have an adverse impact upon the
occupiers of the proposed development and would be in accordance with Policies H2/4 and
EN1/2 of the Bury Unitary Development Plan.

Waste Management

The proposed scheme includes the provision of bins within the rear yard area, which is
accessed from the rear cobbled street.  Sufficient space exists within the rear yard area to
allow for the segregation of refuse and recyclable waste and would ensure the storage of
bins would not adversely impact on the street scene. The number of bins provided has been
shown as eight, which is considered satisfactory for the numbers of occupants proposed.

Bins would continue to be collected from the rear of the terrace as they are currently and it
is therefore considered that there would be a no detrimental effect on the safety and
operation of the local highway network, as it would operate in the same manner as the
existing site and surrounding properties.

Bins would continue to be collected from the rear of the terrace as they are currently and it
is therefore considered that there would be a no detrimental effect on the safety and
operation of the local highway network, as it would operate in the same manner as the
existing site and surrounding properties.

The concern raised about bins being left out on the rear street is a management issue and
in this regard the applicant has submitted a management plan which states that tenants are
advised to take bins out for collection on the respective day and bring them back into the
yard area in much the same way as any other residential property would. Local residents
should contact the management company of the application site if they have any concerns
around unneighbourliness. If any odour, fly or pest issues arise neighbouring occupants
could report this issue to the Council's Environmental Health, Public Protection section.

Highway Safety

There are no specific car parking standards for HMO's in SPD11: 'Parking Standards in
Bury'. SPD 13: "The Conversion of Buildings to Houses in Multiple Occupation' gives some
general advice. It states that parking and road safety issues will be important considerations
when assessing a planning application and any proposal that is considered to have a
detrimental impact on highway safety or harm to amenity will not be permitted.

PfE Policy JP-C1: 'An Integrated Network' seeks to deliver an accessible, low carbon
Greater Manchester with world-class connectivity. It seeks to achieve this by a range of
measures, including, amongst other things, delivering a pattern of development that
minimises both the need to travel and the distance travelled by unsustainable modes to
jobs, housing and other key services, including healthcare, education, retail, recreation and
leisure facilities, green space and green infrastructure; and locating and designing
development, to deliver a significant increase in the proportion of trips that can be made by
walking, cycling and public transport.

SPD11: 'Parking Standards in Bury' identifies the application site is within Parking Zone/
Accessibility Zone 2. In this location two car parking spaces should be provided.

No off-road car parking is possible at the property.
Although the concerns raised by local residents are noted and understood, the existing

lawful use of the building is a 6-bedroom HMO (use class C4). The proposals would not

Page 148



create additional bedrooms, but propose to increase the level of occupants in two of the
existing bedrooms by up to 2 additional people.

Based on Bury Council's parking standards within Zone 2, there is no differentiation in a 6-
bedroom, 6-occupants and a 6-bedroom, 8-occupants HMO with regards to the SPD11
parking requirement.

It is also noted that each 3-bedroom property on the street would require 1.5 car parking
spaces, but none of the properties have any allocated / off-street parking provision, street
wide. This is the same level of parking requirement for a 6-bedroom HMO (0.25 unallocated
space per bedroom). SPD11 also does not automatically support the conversion of front
gardens into tarmacked car parking spaces due to their negative impact on the character of
the area.

On this basis, there is no additional parking requirement for the proposed development
(compared to the existing 6-bedroom HMO) to make the proposal acceptable from a car
parking perspective, in accordance with SPD 11.

Carbon and Energy
PfE Policy JP-S2 sets out the steps required to achieve net zero carbon emissions.

The existing HMO was refurbished to prioritise the minimisation of energy demand and
maximisation of energy efficiency through the following measures:

e The development features highly insulated walls and ceiling cavities to reduce heat loss
and enhance thermal efficiency.

e Double glazing to improve insulation and reduce energy consumption. This ensures
compliance with Part L Building Regulations.

e Passive performance has been enhanced through improving the fabric efficiency with
double glazing and insulation as well as the efficiency of the existing internal layout.

The applicant has advised that due to the building's orientation and lack of solar gain on the
roof, the installation of solar PV panels is not a feasible prospecton this property.

Digital Connectivity

PfE Policy JP-C2 requires all new development to have full fibre to premises connections
unless technically infeasible and / or unviable. The policy supports the provision of free,
secure, high-speed public wi-fi connections, particularly in the most frequented areas.

In compliance with Policy JP-C2 of the PfE plan, the submission advises that the proposed

development would support high-quality digital infrastructure through the following

measures:

e Full Fibre Superfast Internet will be installed to the development

e Mesh network throughout the property, ensuring consistent high-quality internet
coverage in every corner and on every floor.

e Cat 6 network points on each floor, providing robust and reliable wired internet
connections for high-speed data transfer.

Therefore, the proposed development would be in accordance with Policy JP-C2 of the
Places for Everyone Joint Development Plan.

Response to objections
Many of the points raised have been responded to within the main report.

Page 149



Conclusion

The property has utilised its permitted development rights to convert from a dwellinghouse
to a 6 person HMO without planning permission and also to erect the dormer extension
present on the property, permitted under Schedule 2, Part 1, Classes A-H of the Planning
(General Permitted Development) Order 2015, as amended. This is therefore the
permitted fallback position and has been taken into account in assessing the
appropriateness of the proposal.

The addition of up to two more occupants at the property would not result in conditions that
would be demonstrably worse than the permitted fallback position allowed under Permitted
Development regulations.

Given the site's location on a main transport route between Bury Town Centre and Bolton
Town Centre, close to the Bolton Road/ Bury Bridge Local Centre and Bus Stop(s), the
proposal is considered to be suitably located for the use.

Statement in accordance with Article 35(2) Town and Country Planning (Development
Management Procedure) (England) (Amendment) Order 2015

The Local Planning Authority worked positively and proactively with the applicant to identify
various solutions during the application process to ensure that the proposal comprised
sustainable development and would improve the economic, social and environmental
conditions of the area and would accord with the development plan. These were
incorporated into the scheme and/or have been secured by planning condition. The Local
Planning Authority has therefore implemented the requirement in Paragraph 38 of the
National Planning Policy Framework.

Recommendation: Approve with Conditions
Conditions/ Reasons

1. The development must be begun not later than three years beginning with the date
of this permission.
Reason. Required to be imposed by Section 91 Town & Country Planning Act
1990.

2. This permission relates to the following plans and documents:

Drawing no. 8SSS/299/PL: Site Location Plan and Existing Site Plan;
Drawing no. 8SSS/303/PL Rev. C1: Proposed Plan Layout;

Drawing no.8SSS/300/PL Rev. C1: Proposed Site Plan;

Document ref. Planning Statement; and,

Document ref. Management Plan

Except as provided for by other conditions to this permission, the development
shall be carried out in complete accordance with the approved drawings and
documents.

Reason. For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of
development in accordance with the policies contained within the Bury Unitary
Development Plan, Greater Manchester Places for Everyone Joint Development
Plan, and the National Planning Policy Framework.

3. The bin store/ bike store indicated on approved plan A1.2 Revision PL7 shall be
fitted with a roller shutter door or a similar approved type which does not project

Page 150



outwards at any time during or after operation to the satisfaction of the Local
Planning Authority and shall thereafter be maintained.

Reason. To enable a vehicle to stand clear of the highway whilst the garage door
is opened and to allow adequate space to maintain a vehicle clear of the highway
in the interests of road safety.

4. The refuse storage facilities and covered and secure cycle storage provision
indicated on the approved plans shall be implemented and made available for use
prior to the development hereby approved becoming first occupied and shall
thereafter remain available at all times.

Reason. In order to ensure that the development would maintain adequate
facilities for the storage of domestic waste, including recycling containers, and
sufficient cycle storage provision is secured, in the interests of amenity and to
promote modal shift and encourage travel to the site by more sustainable modes
of transport in accordance with Policies JP-C6: 'Walking and Cycling' and
JP-C8: Transport Requirements of New Development of the Places for Everyone
Development Plan.

5. The maximum number of residents occupying the premises shall not exceed 8
(eight) people.
Reason. To avoid an over-concentration of people living in the property and
ensure satisfactory living accommodation for existing and future occupiers, in
accordance with Policy H2/4-Conversions of the Bury Unitary Development Plan,
Policies JP-C5: Streets for All and JP-C8: Transport Requirements of New
Development of the Places for Everyone Joint Development Plan.

For further information on the application please contact Claire Booth on 0161 253 5396

Page 151



N

wz
ADDRESS:

8 Stephen Street South, Bury, BL8 2NT

Planning, Environmental and Regulatory Services

© Crown Copyright and database right (2023). Ordnance Survey 100023063.

Page 152




72425

Photo 1

Page 153



72425

Photo 2

Photo 3

Page 154



72425

Photo 4

Page 155



72425

Photo 5

Page 156



/ST abed

6
&
@&
%
/g\d‘
7
2
25N
P
EXISTING BLOCK SITE PLAN
1:200@A3
0 5 10 15 20m

—— e ——

1:200

0 25 50 75 100 125m

— e —

1:1250

Shelter

v -
93.6m - %
&
o Abbeydale é‘\% %
O &
KN
?}k d’/\
NS
@ N
R P
% A
&
)
S > >
b‘\?' o
& %‘*‘
%
o N &
S % S Y,
& % $
S LA
%@’
%“d-
SITE LOCATION PLAN (166sqm)
1:1250@A3
Design + Associates

Project

8 STEPHEN STREET SOUTH,
BURY, BL8 2NT

Drawing Title

SITE LOCATION PLAN
EXISTING SITE PLAN

8SSS,/299/PL

Drawn MG Checked _
Date  SEPT 2025 Scale@A31 . 100
Drawing No. Rev.




8GT abed

6
PROPOSED BLOCK SITE PLAN
1:2000A3
0 5 10 15 20m
1:200

—r

CYCLE SHELTER SIDE ELEVATION CYCLE SHELTER FRONT ELEVATION
1:500A3 1:500A3

[ 7
2 v 7
550 900 900 550 || &
&) 1) )]
3150

GALVANISED STEEL FRAMED CYCLE STORAGE SHELTER, FOR 6 CYCLES, 3150mm
LONG x 2100mm DEEP/WIDE x 2200mm HIGH, WITH ANTI-VANDAL, LV STABLE
POLYCARBONATE ROOF AND SIDE PANELS ALONG WITH SECURE LOCKABLE DOUBLE
GATES. PROVIDE 3no  SHEFFIELD STANDS, FIXED TO TO HARD STANDING. WITH
900MM GAP BETWEEN SHEFFIELD STANDS AND 5500MM BETWEEN THE STANDS
AND SIDE FRAME OF SHELTER, AS DIMENSIONED

CYCLE SHELTER PLAN LAYOUT
1:500A3

C

4no additional bins added

04.12.25

8 STEPHEN STREET SOUTH,
BURY, BL8 2NT

|Rev Date Ints
Design + Associoates
Project

Drawing Title

PROPOSED SITE PLAN

Drawn Checked _
bate  SEPT 2025 Seale@A3 ¢ . 100
Drawing No.

8SSS/300,/PL



AutoCAD SHX Text
Ints

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
Project

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
Rev

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
Amendments

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
Date

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
Scale@A3

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
Checked

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
Rev.

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
Drawing No.

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
Date

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
Drawn

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
Drawing Title

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
8 STEPHEN STREET SOUTH,

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
BURY, BL8 2NT

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
PROPOSED SITE PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
MG

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
SEPT 2025

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
-

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
1 : 100

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
8SSS/300/PL

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
C1

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
PROPOSED BLOCK SITE PLAN 1:200@A3

AutoCAD SHX Text_22
STEPHEN STREET SOUTH

AutoCAD SHX Text_23
BACK HULBERT STREET 

AutoCAD SHX Text_24
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_25
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_26
GALVANISED STEEL SECURE LOCKABLE CYCLE STORAGE UNIT FOR MIN 6NO CYCLES. 

AutoCAD SHX Text_27
BENCH  SEATING

AutoCAD SHX Text_28
POTTED  PLANTING

AutoCAD SHX Text_29
AREA FOR BIN STORAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_30
GALVANISED STEEL FRAMED CYCLE STORAGE SHELTER, FOR 6 CYCLES, 3150mm LONG x 2100mm DEEP/WIDE x 2200mm HIGH, WITH ANTI-VANDAL, UV STABLE POLYCARBONATE ROOF AND SIDE PANELS ALONG WITH SECURE LOCKABLE DOUBLE GATES. PROVIDE 3no  SHEFFIELD STANDS, FIXED TO TO HARD STANDING. WITH 900MM GAP BETWEEN SHEFFIELD STANDS AND 5500MM BETWEEN THE STANDS AND SIDE FRAME OF SHELTER, AS DIMENSIONED 

AutoCAD SHX Text_31
CYCLE SHELTER PLAN LAYOUT 1:50@A3

AutoCAD SHX Text_32
CYCLE SHELTER FRONT ELEVATION 1:50@A3

AutoCAD SHX Text_33
CYCLE SHELTER SIDE ELEVATION 1:50@A3

AutoCAD SHX Text_34
REAR YARD

AutoCAD SHX Text_35
FRONT YARD

AutoCAD SHX Text_36
MG

AutoCAD SHX Text_37
C1

AutoCAD SHX Text_38
4no additional bins added

AutoCAD SHX Text_39
04.12.25


65T abed

|

| =
L)

O

BASEMENT
26sqm

PROPOSED BASEMENT FLOOR PLAN

1:100 @ A3

BED 1 - 1 PERSON
BED 2 - 1 PERSON
BED 3 - 1 PERSON
BED 4 - 1 PERSON
BED 5 - 2 PERSON
BED 6 — 2 PERSON

6 BED, 8 PERSON

| ENT [ B
. 5085 %N oD 3
- 10.3sqm
oL oo
20.7sqm ] | 2m
| lsg mo
g E
) msim \r 800
EEH !
| LAl g
BED 4 \\
13.4sqm BED 6
§ 24.7sqm
udb&
‘ g \%
85
Ommmm0
H
PROPOSED FIRST FLOOR PLAN PROPOSED SECOND FLOOR PLAN
1:100 @ A3 1:100 @ A3
PROPOSED GROUND FLOOR PLAN
1:100 @ A3
0 2 4 6 8 10m

1:100

[3

Additional washing machine in b t[ 17.11.25| MG

Rev | Amendments Date  [Ints

Design + Associates

Project

8 STEPHEN STREET SOUTH,
BURY, BL8 2NT

Drawing Title

PROPOSED PLAN LAYOUTS

Drawn MG Checked _
Date  SEPT 2025 Scale@A3 . 100
Drawing No.

8SSS/303/PL | C1




09T abed

D

PROPOSED FRONT ELEVATION
1:100 @ A3

LN

N

PROPOSED REAR ELEVATION
1:100 @ A3

BED 6
25sqm
|
E/S BED 4 BED 5
3.6sqm 13.45qm| 15.1sqm
KITCHEN/ BED 2 BED 1
DINING 13.55qm 13.55qm
20.7sqm
PROPOSED SECTION A-A
1:100 @ A3
0 2 4 6 8 10m

1:100

Rev Date

Ints

Project

BURY, BL8 2NT

8 STEPHEN STREET SOUTH,

Drawing Title

PROPOSED ELEVATIONS
AND SECTION

Drawn MG Checked

Date  SEPT 2025 Seale@A3 1 . 100

Drawing No.

8SSS/304/PL

Rev.




Agenda Item 5

Classification Item No.
Open

Meeting: Planning Control Committee.

Meeting date: 16 December 2025

Title of report: Article 4 Direction proposal — Houses in Multiple Occupation

Report by: Chief Planning Officer

Decision Type: Non Key Decision

Ward(s) to which Boroughwide

report relates

Executive Summary:

This Report seeks authorisation for the making of an immediate Article 4 Direction to give
greater planning controls over proposals for change of use from Use Class C3
(dwellinghouse) to Use Class C4 (HMO).

The effect of an Article 4 Direction is that planning permission would be required for
conversion from a Use Class C3 (dwellinghouse) to a Use Class C4 (small HMO) if there
Is a material change of use. This change would not otherwise require planning
permission as a result of being classed as permitted development. Proposals for HMOs
for 7 or more people already require planning permission and will continue to do so and
therefore would be unaffected by this Direction.

Recommendation(s)

That: Planning Control Committee is recommended to:

1. Authorise the making of an immediate direction under Article 4 of the Town and
Country (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 to remove the
permitted development rights for the change of use from Use Class C3 dwellinghouses
to Use Class C4 small Houses in Multiple Occupation for the entire Borough of Bury
as identified within the Direction.

2. Authorise the Director of Legal and Governance to issue the relevant Direction and
Notices to support the immediate Article 4 Direction.

Page 161




1.

11

1.2

2.1

2.2

2.3

To note the content of the Houses in Multiple Occupation report: Background Evidence
report, as appended to this report, that has been prepared to support the proposed
making of the Direction.

Authorise the Executive Director (Place) to consider comments received in relation to
the Notice and to confirm the Direction.

Key considerations

The effect of introducing an Article 4 Direction would be to remove permitted
development rights to convert a Use Class C3 dwellinghouse to a Use Class C4
House in Multiple Occupation for between 3 and 6 occupants. The Article 4
Direction would not prevent the conversion of dwellings to small HMOs but would
mean that property owners / landlords proposing to convert a dwelling to a Class
C4 HMO would need to apply for planning permission where such development
constitutes a material change of use.

The proposal is to introduce an immediate Boroughwide Article 4 Direction. The
implication of an immediate Article 4 Direction is that the Council would be liable to
claims for compensation. The alternative would be to have a 12 month run in
period before the Article would come into effect and this would avoid
compensation claims.

Background

Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) are properties that are rented out by at
least three unrelated individuals who are not from one household (such as a
family) but share facilities such as a kitchen or bathroom.

HMOs form part of the Borough’s housing supply and contribute to meeting
housing needs. They can provide a cost-effective form of accommodation for
younger people and those on low incomes. They also provide flexible
accommodation for people with short-term housing requirements, and a social
environment for those seeking to live with other people. They can be home to
young professionals, people on low incomes, students and those on short-term
contracts.

HMOs can be purpose-built, but most inthe Metropolitan Borough of Bury have
been created through the conversion of existing properties that were previously in
residential or other uses. Most HMOs in the Borough are well managed and
provide decent homes, but poorly managed or poorly located properties and over
concentrations of such properties have the potential to lead to issues for both
occupants and neighbours.

Page 162



2.4

2.5

2.6

2.7

3.

3.1

Under current legislation, dwelling houses (Use Class C3) can be converted to
small HMOs with between three and six residents (Class C4) without the need for
planning permission. This means that the council, as Local Planning Authority
(LPA), has no control over the numbers or locations where these occur. HMOs for
three or four occupants also fall below the threshold for mandatory HMO licensing,
so the location and accommodation standards of such properties is unknown
unless complaints are received by the Council.

Local Planning Authorities have the ability to remove permitted development rights
where they can provide evidence to justify such a restriction. This is done through
the introduction of an Article 4 Direction. This has been done by an increasing
number of neighbouring councils, including Bolton, Rossendale, Blackburn with
Darwen, Manchester and Salford in recent times. The effect of introducing an
Article 4 Direction is that within the area in which the Direction applies,
conversions to small HMOs require full planning permission, where such
development constitutes a material change of use.

The number of HMOs in the Borough has been increasing. When an area has a
high concentration of HMOs, this can negatively impact the amenity of the area
and lead to a lack of available properties for families, couples and individual
occupiers. Introducing an Article 4 Direction would help manage the concentration
of HMOs and support the delivery of homes that are better regulated and
controlled by the planning process, therefore issues such as space standards,
amenity, management and quality can be assessed and considered by planning
officers.

If an Article 4 Direction is considered appropriate, it can be implemented as an
immediate Direction or a non-immediate Direction. The implications of these
options are set out below. However, an Article 4 Direction cannot apply
retrospectively. It would have no effect on any existing HMOs and would not
require landlords of existing HMOs to do anything. They could, however, choose to
apply for a Lawful Development Certificate to confirm that the use as an existing
HMO is lawful. If the works to create a new HMO are substantially complete by the
date the Article 4 Direction comes into effect, these would be accepted as
permitted. There would be a number of ways of proving this, including building
control applications, tenant rental agreements or a HMO licence (for properties of
5 or more people).

HMO evidence base

A separate background evidence document has been prepared and is provided as
a background paper alongside this report. Given that planning permission is not
currently required for conversion of a dwellinghouse to a small HMOs occupied by
up to six residents, and licences are not required for HMOs housing less than five

Page 163



3.2

3.3

3.4

4.

4.1

4.2

4.3

residents it is not possible to determine the exact number of existing small HMOs
and their distribution within the Borough.

In order to establish as good an understanding as possible of the number and
distribution of HMOs, data has been collected from various sources, including data
on licensed HMOs, knowledge of the Private Rented Sector enforcement team,
Council Tax data, planning application data and Local Land and Property
Gazetteer data. The evidence shows that there has been a significant increase in
the number of new HMOs in recent years.

Small HMOs for fewer than seven people represent 69% of all licensed HMOs,
and it is reasonable to assume that if three and four person HMOs (that fall below
the threshold for licensing) were included, this proportion would be considerably
higher.

In terms of the location of HMOs, whilst there are concentrations in parts of the
Borough (particularly around Bury and Radcliffe town centres), HMOs are not
restricted to specific areas. The HMO Background Evidence report illustrates a
broad spread of HMOs across many parts of the Borough. In those parts of the
Borough where concentrations are lower, the importance of ensuring the quality of
HMOs, preventing future over concentration, protecting the amenity of neighbours
and character of the area remains.

Proposal

The proposal is to introduce an immediate Boroughwide Article 4 Direction to
remove permitted development rights to convert a Use Class C3 dwellinghouse to
a Use Class C4 House in Multiple Occupation for between 3 and 6 occupants. The
Article 4 Direction would not prevent the conversion of dwellings to small HMOs
but would mean that property owners / landlords proposing to convert a dwelling to
a Class C4 HMO would need to apply for planning permission where such
development constitutes a material change of use.

It is important to note that proposals that do not amount to a material change of
use, would remain outside of the local authority’s control. There is no statutory
definition of ‘material change of use’, however, itis linked to the significance of a
change and the resulting impact on the use of land and buildings. Whether a
change of use from a dwelling house to use as a Use Class C4 House in Multiple
Occupation amounts to a material change of use is a matter of fact and degree
and this will be determined on the individual merits of the particular case.

The key advantage of an immediate Article 4 Direction is that following the making
of the Article 4 Direction, new conversions from dwellings to small HMOs would
immediately require planning permission, bringing more control over the location

Page 164



4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

and quality of HMOs in the Borough. The Council is also bringing forward an
updated supplementary planning document which, on adoption, would apply to all
planning applications for HMOs. Together with the Article 4 Direction this would
enable the LPA to ensure that proposals provide a good standard of
accommodation for their occupants, as well as seeking to avoid unacceptable
impacts on the amenity of neighbours or the character of the area. Bringing
forward the Article 4 Direction on an immediate basis would avoid the risk of
property owners rushing to bring forward potentially sub-standard HMOs ahead of
the requirement for planning permission.

A key risk of introducing an immediate Article 4 Direction is that within the first 12
months after the direction is introduced, property owners may be potentially
eligible for compensation if they have planning permission refused for a
conversion which would otherwise be permitted development or if conditions are
attached to a planning permission which make the conversion more onerous than
itwould have been were it to have been undertaken under permitted development
rights. Claims for compensation would be limited to applications submitted within
12 months of the direction coming into force. The grounds on which compensation
can be claimed are limited to abortive expenditure or other loss or damage directly
attributable to the withdrawal of permitted development rights.

It is unknown how many planning applications will be received and the outcome of
these planning applications. It is therefore not possible to accurately quantify the
potential liability resulting from this decision. Any claim would divert resources. No
budget has been identified to cover the cost of any subsequent potential
compensation claims. It is equally to be noted that of the two Local Planning
Authorities who introduced immediate Article 4 Directions relating to HMOs more
than 12 months ago (Trafford and the London Borough of Merton) Trafford
received no compensation claims, and the London Borough of Merton received
one compensation claim outside of the claim period.

The Article 4 Direction would also generate planning fees, with a planning fee of
£568 currently being payable for a change of use application. For illustration
purposes, in the past 12 months 40 new licences have been issued for small
HMOs for 5 or 6 people. If 40 change of use applications were submitted, this
would amount to planning fee income of £22,720.

Immediate Article 4 Directions have recently been introduced for Bolton,
Rossendale and Tameside, and Wigan have given less than 12-months notice for
their new direction. At this stage it is too early to tell whether these areas will have
to make any compensation payments. Bolton’s immediate Article 4 Direction took
effect on 13 June 2025, and to date no claims for compensation have been
received.

Page 165



4.8

4.9

5.

5.1

5.2

Immediate Directions require evidence that the permitted development presents
an immediate threat to local amenity or prejudices the proper planning of an area.
This is a higher threshold to cross than the evidence base needed for a non-
immediate Direction, where the Council only need prove that the Article 4 Direction
is necessary to protect local amenity or the well-being of the area. In view of the
continuing growth in the number of HMOs, public concerns about the impact on
amenity and local character, and the need to ensure that new HMOs provide
suitable living standards for future occupants, the Council considers that there is
sufficient evidence to justify an immediate Article 4 Direction.

In accordance with NPPF, any Direction must be based on robust evidence and
apply to the smallest geographical area possible. A Boroughwide Article 4
Direction is considered necessary in the interests of protecting against the spread
of HMOs beyond those areas where they are currently concentrated. This has
been seen in a number of areas, where localised Article 4 Directions have
subsequently been broadened to include a wider area / Boroughwide. The risk of
introducing the direction Boroughwide rather than in a geographically focused area
is that it increases the potential number of compensation claims, as well as the risk
of challenge.

Procedure

The process of introducing an immediate Article 4 Direction is as follows:

e The Local Planning Authority (Bury Council) makes the Direction and notifies
the Secretary of State.

e The Article 4 Direction is publicised by placing a notice in the Bury Times,
displaying Article 4 Direction site notices in at least two locations in the
Borough and placing a notice on the Council’'s website.

e The Article 4 Direction comes into effect on the date on which the notice is first
published or displayed as above.

e The notice must specify a period of at least 21 days within which any
representations concerning the direction may be made to the LPA (which must
be considered before formal confirmation).

o After the representation period has ended and at least 28 days after all notices
have been published or such longer period as may be specified by the
Secretary of State, and within six months of the date on which it comes into
force, the Direction needs to be formally confirmed, otherwise it will expire.

The legislation requires notice to be served on the owner and occupier of every
part of the land within the area, unless the local planning authority consider that -

Page 166



5.3

6.

(a) individual service on that owner or occupier is impracticable because it is
difficult to identify or locate that person or

(b) the number of owners or occupiers within the area to which the direction
relates makes individual service impracticable.

It is considered impracticable to serve individual notices on every owner or
occupier in the Borough, due to both the difficulty of identifying or locating those
people and the number of owners or occupiers.

Other alternative options considered

Option 1: Not to authorise the making of an Article 4 Direction

6.1

The decision not to authorise the making of an Article 4 Direction would allow
conversion of C3 dwellings to C4 HMOs to continue without the need for planning
permission. The Council would be unable to restrict the concentration of HMOs or
ensure that they meet appropriate standards. HMOs for five or more occupants
would continue to be subject to mandatory licensing, and smaller HMOs are duty
bound to adhere to the requirements laid out by the Management of Houses in
Multiple Occupations (England) Regulations 2006. However, the Council would not
be aware of most small HMOs for 3 or 4 occupants unless they receive complaints
from either tenants (for example regarding housing standards) or the local
community. Concentration of HMOs in certain areas could continue.

Option 2: Non-immediate Boroughwide Article 4 Direction

6.2

6.3

6.4

For non-immediate directions, the Council must publicise the direction as soon as
possible and give a period of at least 21 days for representations to be made on
the direction. They must also specify the proposed date for bring the Direction into
force, which can be up to two years after notice has been given.

A non-immediate Article 4 Direction that gives 12 months’ notice before it comes
into effect would remove the risk of compensation claims. If less than 12 months’
notice is giving, claims for compensation could still be made for whatever remains
of the 12-month period.

A non-immediate direction would reduce the risk of challenge on whether the
evidence base is sufficient. Immediate Article 4 Directions require evidence that
the permitted development presents an immediate threat to local amenity or
prejudices the proper planning of an area. This is a higher threshold to cross than
the evidence base needed for a non-immediate direction, where the Council only
need prove that the Article 4 direction is necessary to protect local amenity or the
well-being of the area.

Page 167



6.5

Taking a non-immediate approach means that in the period before the Direction
takes effect, property owners could continue to exercise their permitted
development rights to change the use of dwellings to small HMOs without the
need for planning permission, and may be incentivised to do so at an increased
rate ahead of the Direction taking effect. This could have potential negative
impacts on local areas and a lack of oversight of housing standards for those that
fall below the requirement for a mandatory HMO licence. That is not to say that if
an immediate Article 4 Direction was pursued that these properties would not be
converted to HMOs, but they would require planning approval, so the Council
would be aware of their location and have the ability to assess their impact and
ensure appropriate standards are met.

Option 3: Immediate Article 4 Direction for parts of the Borough, non-immediate Article 4

Direction for the rest of the Borough and variations thereof.

6.6

6.7

Introducing an immediate Article 4 Direction for parts of the Borough and a non-
immediate Article 4 Direction for the rest of the Borough would reduce the potential
number of properties eligible to make compensation claims. However, it would
leave those parts of the Borough where the non-immediate Direction applies
vulnerable to the proliferation of new HMOs without any LPA control over their
location or standard for a longer period.

A non-immediate Direction for parts of the Borough and no Article 4 Direction in
some areas would also leave areas at risk of displacement of new HMO
development from areas where the Article 4 Direction applies to other parts of the
Borough, without any Local Planning Authority control over locations and
standards. An area specific Article 4 Direction could lead to a concentration of
HMOs in excluded areas and the Council potentially having to consider a further
Article 4 Direction at that time, as opposed to dealing with the matter on a
proactive basis and addressing HMO standards and concentrations Boroughwide.

Community impact/links with Community Strategy

The Let's Do It Strategy sets out the Council’s corporate priorities. This Article 4
Direction will support the Local element of the strategy: Ensuring future proposals
for HMOs provide suitable living standards for future occupants and the potential for
detrimental impacts on local communities is reduced will help to ensure sustainable
communities and support community cohesion.

Equality Impact and considerations:

A full Equality Impact Analysis has been completed. The analysis has identified
several potential impacts across multiple characteristics however these impacts are

Page 168



not anticipated to cause disadvantage or detriment directly or indirectly due to a
protected characteristic or circumstance but instead drive up accommodation
standards for dwellings some characteristics are proportionately more likely to live

n.

9. Environmental Impact and Considerations:

9.1
effects.

The Article 4 Direction is not expected to give rise to any significant environmental

10. Assessment of Risk:

The following risks apply to the decision:

Risk / opportunity

Mitigation

If the Council proceeds with an Article 4(1)
Direction without allowing a 12-month lead in
period, then there is a risk of compensation
claims from property owners and / or
developers who have incurred abortive
expenditure or losses due to the withdrawal
of permitted development rights.

The level and nature of compensation is
broadly unknown due to the lack of data on
current levels of conversion from C3 to C4
through permitted development rights.

The only way to mitigate this risk is for
the Council to opt for a non-immediate
Article 4 direction with a lead-in time of
12 months before it comes into effect.
There is no recourse to compensation
after 12 months.

However, a non-immediate Article 4
Direction comes with a risk of an
acceleration in HMO development ahead
of the Article 4 Direction coming into
force, with the associated risk that
properties may not meet appropriate
standards.

There could be other unintended risks related
to an Article 4 Direction coming into effect in
terms of an increase in the cost of HMO rents
or potential reduction in the delivery of HMO
properties that are used by groups such as
single homeless or low-income people, or by
key workers in sectors such as health care.

The effect of the Article 4 Direction is to
bring such properties into planning
control and ensure they meet
appropriate standards, not to prevent
their development.

As with any decision of a public body, there is
a risk of Judicial Review. A successful
Judicial Review challenge would result in the
quashing of the decision and a requirement
for a new decision to be taken, addressing the

The Council's Monitoring Officer has
provided comments below.

All legal requirements will be complied
with.

Page 169




Risk / opportunity

Mitigation

grounds on which the initial decision had
been found to be unlawful.

Risk of increase in planning appeals where
applications for HMOs are refused.

The Council cannot avoid the risk of
planning appeals, however all decisions
are made in accordance with adopted
planning policies and other material
considerations.

Risk of increase in enforcement enquiries
regarding new and existing HMOs. Potential
for enforcement officers to be diverted from
other areas of work.

Planning enforcement enquiries will be
investigated in line with the Council’s
customer charter for planning
enforcement.

Reputational risk if residents think that an
Article 4 Direction will prevent all HMOs,
however it will only remove permitted
development rights.

Applications for small HMOs may generate
significant neighbour concern.

The Article 4 Direction gives the Council
a greater degree of control over the
development of HMOs, reducing the risk
of negative impacts on local
communities.

11. Consultation:

111

The Article 4 Direction will be subject to a statutory representation period for a

minimum of 21 days. The Article 4 Direction will be publicised by placing a notice
in the Bury Times, displaying Article 4 Direction site notices in at least two
locations in the Borough and placing a notice on the Council’'s website.

12. Legal Implications:

12.1

12.2
be followed.

12.3

The recommendation in the report is within the legal powers of the Council.

The statutory process in making and bringing into effect the Article 4 Direction will

It is to be noted that the boroughwide and immediate nature of the proposed

Article 4 Direction introduces a right to compensation and although officers are
satisfied that the evidence base is sound, it is at least possible that could be

subject to legal challenge.

Page 170




13. Financial Implications:

13.1 There is a potential risk with regard to the receipt of compensation claims from
purchasers of properties in the 12 months following the Direction. This is limited to
directly attributable losses where an application is refused or conditions applied
under the Direction, e.g. the abortive costs of preparing plans. This risk is
anticipated to be low in regard to both number of claims and their financial value in
the 12 month period.

Report Author and Contact Details:
Name: David Marno
Position: Head of Development Management

Email: d.marno@bury.gov.uk

14. Background papers:

Houses in Multiple Occupation Background Evidence — December 2025

Please include a glossary of terms, abbreviations and acronyms used in this
report.

Term Meaning
HMO House in Multiple Occupation
LPA Local Planning Authority

Page 171




This page is intentionally left blank






(070131 (=] 01 £= U UTT RO PPRPRPRRN 2

S 1) yo Yo (3o o] o PRSP 3
2 POHCY CONIEXL. ... .. nnee 4
National policy and legislative context ............cooooiiiiiii e, 4
Exempt Accommodation (Properties that are not considered to be HMOs). ................... 5

Y= Te (o] F= 1 I @7 ] o1 (=« AP PRPPPRRTPIN 5
LOCal POlICY CONEXE ...t seneenne 7
HIMO LICENSING ...ttt ssnsnnnes 8

3 Evidence and Justification .............coooiiiiiiii e 10
Locations and numbers Of HMOS ............oo oo, 10
LiCeNSEA HIMOS ...ttt ettt e e e e e e e e et e e e e e e eeeens 10
CoUNCIl TAX DAta c.covveeiiieeeeee et 12
Planning application and planning enforcementdata ................cccccoviieii e, 12

[ AV @ o Toz= 110 o 1< PSPPI 14
Other data SOUICES ..... oo e eeenaas 16
CeNSUS data......cceeiiiiiii e e ———— 16
HMOs provided and managed by Government Partnership ...........cooovvvvvviviiiiiiiiiiinnnnns 18
LettingS dat@ .....ooeeeeiieieieeee s 18
Housing Need and Demand.............coiiiiiiiiiiiiiico e 18
Amenity, crime and anti-social behaviour ... 19
Accommodation Standards..............uueiiiii i 20
170 [ 1110 o SRR 20

4 Process of Making an Article 4 DireCtion ..........ccooooeeeiiieeeeeeeeeeee 21
Immediate and non-immediate directions...........ccooviiiiiiiiii 21
Non-Immediate DIr€CHONS..........uui i e 22
Immediate Article 4 DireClioN .........oovuiiii i 22
Boroughwide or area-specific Article 4 Directions ............cccoeeeiiiiiiiiiiicciiee e, 23
Notice and representation procedures............cooouiiiiiii i, 23
Appendix 1: Table of HMO planning applications (2015-2025) .........ccoovriiiiiiiinennnn. 25
Appendix 2: HMO roomsS tO €1 .......oeueieieeee e 43
Rooms to let on www.openrent.co.uk (24/09/2025)..........uceeiiieiiiiiiiiieee e 43
Recent let agreed listed on www.openrent.co.uk (24/09/2025).........ccccceeevvvveiiiiiieneeennne. 43
Rooms to let on www.openrent.co.uk (18/11/2025).......ccccooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieieeeeeen 43

Page 174



1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) are properties that are rented out by
at least three unrelated individuals who are not from one household (such as
a family) but share facilities such as a kitchen or bathroom.

HMOs form part of the Borough’s housing supply and contribute to meeting
housing needs. They can provide a cost-effective form of accommodation for
younger people and those on low incomes. They also provide flexible
accommodation for people with short-term housing requirements, and a social
environment for those seeking to live with other people. They can be home to
young professionals, people on low incomes, students and those on short-
term contracts.

HMOs can be purpose-built, but most in Bury have been created through the
conversion of existing properties that were in residential or other uses. Most
HMOs in Bury are well managed and provide decent homes, but poorly
managed or located properties and over concentrations of such properties
have the potential to lead to issues for both occupants and neighbours.

This paper provides the evidence base and policy context for the proposed
introduction of an Article 4 Direction to remove the permitted development
(PD) right which allows the conversion of dwelling houses (Use Class C3) into
Houses of Multiple Occupation (HMOs) for up to six residents (Use Class C4)
without the need for a planning application'. An Article 4 Direction would not
amount to a ban on the creation of new HMOs, but it would bring them into
Local Planning Authority control. Applications for HMOs could only be refused
where they are contrary to planning policy or other material planning
considerations that would justify their refusal.

The Article 4 Direction would be made under the provision of the Town and
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (as
amended). The proposed Article 4 Direction would apply to the whole borough
of Bury and would enable the Council to have greater control in managing
conversions of dwellings to HMOs.

" Planning permission is already required for HMOs for seven or more residents.

Page 175



2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

2.5

2.6

In 2010 legislation was introduced allowing the conversion of a dwelling house
(Use Class C3) into a small HMO (Use Class C4) without the need to apply for
planning permission. Use Class C4 covers small shared houses or flats which
are occupied by three to six unrelated individuals who share basic amenities.
The current legislation is set out in Class L of the Town and Country Planning
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015.

Larger HMOs occupied by seven or more individuals are classed as sui
generis HMOs and require full planning permission.

Although conversion of a dwelling (C3) to a small HMO (C4) is classed as
permitted development, local circumstances may require that this permitted
development right be restricted. Local planning authorities have the power to
remove specified permitted development rights across a defined area through
a direction under Atrticle 4 of the Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015.

Although Article 4 Directions introduced by local planning authorities do not
require approval from the Secretary of State, the Secretary of State for
Housing, Communities and Local Government can intervene to stop Article 4
directives taking effect should they deem it appropriate. Both the type of
restriction and the extent of the area the restriction is being applied to must be
justified.

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) paragraph 54 advises that
Article 4 directions should be limited to situations where the direction is
necessary to protect the amenity or local wellbeing of the area, and in all
cases be based on robust evidence and applied to the smallest geographical
area possible. Article 4 directions should be applied in a measured and
targeted way. The potential harm that the Article 4 direction is intended to
address needs to be clearly identified, and if applied to large areas (such as
the majority of a local planning authority) there needs to be a particularly
strong justification. That said, Article 4 Directions relating to HMO
development that cover an entire Local Planning Authority Area are not
uncommon.

It is important to note that an Article 4 direction would not mean that
conversion of C3 to C4 is not allowed — it only means that it cannot be carried
out under permitted development and therefore needs a planning application.
This gives the local planning authority the opportunity to consider the proposal
in more detail.

Page 176



Exempt Accommodation (Properties that are not considered to be
HMOs).

2.7  Within the Town & Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as
amended), C4 HMOs have the same meaning as that given in Section 254 of
the Housing Act 2004. Certain types of shared properties are not categorised
as HMOs, according to Schedule 14 of the Housing Act 2004. This includes
the following:

e two person flat share: a property or part of a property, lived in by no more
than two households each of which consist of just one person;

e a property where the landlord and their household is resident with up to
two tenants;

e buildings managed or owned by a public body, such as the police, NHS,
Local Housing Authority or Registered Social Landlord;

e where the residential accommodation is ancillary to the principal use of
the building, for example; religious establishments or conference centres;

¢ student halls of residence, where the education establishment has signed
up to an Approved Code of Practice;

e buildings controlled or managed by a co-operative society;
e buildings occupied by religious communities;

e buildings regulated otherwise than under the Act, such as children’s
homes, care homes and bail hostels?

e buildings entirely occupied by freeholders or long leaseholders.

2.8  Any properties falling into the above categories cannot be identified as a HMO
and therefore cannot be considered as falling with Use Class C4.

2.9  Other local planning authorities in the immediate vicinity of Bury have already
introduced Article 4 directions which restrict permitted development rights for
HMO conversions.

Local Authority | Status

Bolton Immediate Boroughwide Article 4 Direction came into effect on
13 June 2025.

Blackburn with | Article 4 direction introduced in February 2012 which covered a
Darwen small number of wards.

2 As set out in Schedule 1 of the Licensing and Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation and
Other Houses (Miscellaneous Provisions) (England) Regulations 2006 (as amended).

Page 177


https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2006/373/schedule/1
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2006/373/schedule/1

Local Authority

Status

In August 2023 an Article 4 direction covering all urban areas
of Blackburn and Darwen (excluding only more rural areas of
the borough) was introduced.

Policy DMOG in the local plan adopted in January 2024 states
that proposals for new HMOs will not be permitted in any part
of the Borough during the plan period.

Rossendale

Immediate Boroughwide Article 4 Direction made 19
September 2025.

Salford

Non-immediate Article 4 direction covering inner areas came
into effect in 2018. From November 2024 a new Article 4 came
into effect which covers further areas of the city. There are 3
remaining wards which are not covered by HMO Article 4
Directions.

Additional licensing was introduced on 19 July 2021 requiring
small HMOs with 3 or 4 tenants to obtain an HMO licence.

Manchester

Non-immediate Article 4 direction which covers the whole city
came into force on 8th October 2011. The primary reason for
introducing the Article 4 direction was issues caused by
student housing. The Article 4 direction covers the whole city in
order to prevent HMOs spreading into other areas.

Selective licensing applies in some parts of the city which
requires landlords of all types of private rented homes to apply
for a licence.

Tameside

Immediate Boroughwide Article 4 came into effect on 2
October 2025. Representation period from 2 October — 24
October 2025.

Trafford

Immediate Boroughwide Article 4 direction came into force in
December 2017. Primarily implemented to mitigate the
potential impacts of students moving into the borough following
proposed opening of University Academy 92, avoid
overconcentration and ensure student accommodation is of
good quality.

Wigan

Introduced two Article 4 directions in 2020 covering small
areas in Leigh and Swinley.

On 15 July 2025 a Boroughwide non-immediate Article 4
Direction was made removing permitted development rights for
changes of use from individual dwellinghouses to small houses
in multiple occupation (HMOs).

Consultation was held from 22 July to 12 August 2025. The
Article 4 Direction was then confirmed on 21 August 2025 and
came into force on 31 August 2025.

This means from 31 August 2025 all HMOs, regardless of size,
will need planning permission in the Borough of Wigan.

Page 178




2.10

2.1

212

2.13

2.14

2.15

Local Authority | Status

Hyndburn Non-immediate Article 4 Direction for 9 selected wards — will
come into effect on 15 March 2026, subject to confirmation by
the Council.

Halton Immediate Article 4 Direction for parts of the Borough brought

in with effect from 11 September 2025.

Chorley Immediate Boroughwide Article 4 Direction took effect from 24
September 2025.
Burnley Non-immediate area specific Article 4 Direction came into

effect 14 October 2024.

Rochdale, Oldham and Stockport do not currently have Article 4 directions
which restrict conversions from dwellings (C3) to HMOs (C4), however on 22
September 2025 Oldham Council resolved to introduce a boroughwide non-
immediate Article 4 Direction, which will come into effect on 1 January 2026 or
such other later date as considered appropriate.

There are not currently any parts of the Borough covered by an Article 4
Direction relating to HMOs.

UDP Policy H2/4 — Conversions relates to the conversion of buildings to into
two or more self-contained units, or the conversion of a building into an HMO.

Bury SPD13 — Conversion of buildings to houses in multiple occupation
relates to HMOs, however it was adopted in May 2007 and is currently in the
process of being updated.

The Draft Bury Local Plan (March 2025) Policy LP-H11 sets out proposed
requirements for applications for HMOs, seeking to avoid over-concentrations
of such uses, ensure they do not have an unacceptable impact on the local
area, and provide suitable living standards for future occupants.

It is important to note that an Article 4 Direction will not stop the conversion of
dwellings into small HMOs. It will simply mean that such conversions would
require a full planning application, which will need to be determined in
accordance with adopted planning policies and other material considerations.
The updated HMO SPD and future local plan policies will help to ensure that
applications for new HMOs meet certain standards.

Page 179



2.16

2.17

2.18

2.19

2.20

2.21

Mandatory Licensing of HMOs was introduced under the 2004 Housing Act.
HMOs which need to have a licence are those where there are five or more
tenants, forming two or more households, which use shared facilities such as
toilets, bathrooms, kitchens and so on. Under HMO licensing legislation, a
lack of planning permission is not a relevant factor when making a decision on
whether to grant or refuse an HMO licence. Conversely, having planning
permission in place (or not requiring it) does not mean a premises is licensed
to operate an HMO and this may need to be applied for separately.

Unlicensed HMOs relate to those smaller HMOs of 3 or 4 unrelated people, or
where there is an exemption to licensing under Schedule 14 of the Housing
Act 2004. Exemptions include properties owned or managed by a public body
(such as the NHS or police), a local housing authority or a registered social
landlord; student accommodation managed directly by an educational
establishment; and buildings which are already regulated (and where the
description of the building is specified in regulations), such as care homes and
bail hostels.

Although smaller HMOs do not require a licence, they are duty bound to
adhere to the requirements laid out by the Management of Houses in Multiple
Occupations (England) Regulations 2006. These regulations stipulate
management arrangements for all HMO’s and where those in control of the
HMO are found to be failing to meet their duty/ies, the Council has powers to
issue civil penalty notices up to £30,000 per offence.

Under Part 2 of the 2004 Housing Act, local authorities are able to introduce
an ‘Additional HMO licensing scheme’ which requires owners of all smaller
HMOs (3 or 4 people) within the designated area to be licensed as HMO by
the authority, just like the larger (5 or more people) mandatory HMO licensed
properties. To justify having an additional licensing scheme, the council must
be satisfied that a significant proportion of 3 and 4 person HMOs across the
Borough are being managed sufficiently ineffectively as to give rise, or to be
likely to give rise to one or more particular problems either for those occupying
the HMOs or members of the public.

The use of additional licensing must be consistent with the Council’s housing
strategy and should be co-ordinated with the local authority’s approach on
homelessness, empty properties and antisocial behaviour. Although fees
would be payable for licences, there would be significant cost to the local
authority in setting up such a scheme.

Local authorities also have the power to introduce ‘selective licensing’ of
privately rented homes in order to tackle problems in their areas, or any part
or parts of them, caused by:

Page 180



2.22

2.23

2.24

¢ low housing demand (or is likely to become such an area);

e asignificant and persistent problem caused by anti-social behaviour;
e poor housing conditions;

¢ high levels of migration;

¢ high level of deprivation; or

¢ high levels of crime.

Subject to certain exemptions, selective licensing would require all private
landlords in a designated area to have a licence from the local housing
authority to rent out a privately-rented property (unless the property is a
House in Multiple Occupation to which mandatory or additional licensing
already applies). Properties let by registered social landlords or managed
directly by an educational establishment would be exempt. Selective licensing
can only be introduced in a limited range of circumstances, and in conjunction
with other measures to help address the problems.

As a landlord, failure to obtain the necessary licences can lead to severe
consequences:

¢ fines up to £30,000 through a Civil Penalty Notice (CPN), or prosecution,
which could result in an unlimited fine;

e The Council may apply for a banning order, preventing rogue landlords
from letting residential properties;

e tenants could claim up to 12 months' rent back through a Rent
Repayment Order (RRO).

It is important to note that HMO licensing (be that mandatory, additional or
selective licensing) can only consider whether the individual property meets
prescribed standards and it is suitably managed — it cannot be used to
address issues such as a concentration of HMOs resulting in changes to the
character of an area.

Page 181



3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

As set out in National Planning Practice Guidance, Article 4 Directions
restricting permitted development rights must be justified by evidence, and
applied to the smallest geographical area possible. In view of this guidance,
quantitative and qualitative data from various sources have been analysed to
allow the Council to determine whether an Article 4 Direction is justified, and
for which geographical area.

Given that planning permission is not currently required for small HMOs
occupied by up to six residents, and licences are not required for HMOs
housing less than five residents it is not possible to determine the exact
number of existing small HMOs and their distribution within the Borough.

In order to establish as good an understanding as possible of the number and
distribution of HMOs, data has been collected from various sources, including
data on licensed HMOs, reports to the Private Rented Sector enforcement
team, Council Tax data, planning application data, and Local Land and
Property Gazetteer data. There is some overlap between the sources of data,
so summing each source will not equate to the total number of HMOs.

Licensed HMOs

There are currently (as of 14/11/2025) 154 licensed HMOs in the Borough as
set out in Table 1 below. These licensed HMOs have the ability to
accommodate a total of 978 households / 981 people.

Table 1: Current HMO licences by start year and size

Licence start 5 or 6 people 7 or more Total Cumulative
year people total

2019 2 0 2 2
2020 2 6 8 10
2021 11 7 18 28
2022 7 2 9 37
2023 15 4 19 56
2024 33 14 47 103
e o 37 14 51 154
TOTAL 107 47 154

Page 182



3.5 Figure 1 illustrates the increase in the number of licensed HMOs in recent
years.

Figure 1: Licensed HMOs by licence start date®

Current HMO licences by start date and size

60
51

47
50
40
30
18 19
20
8 9
o e R
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 to

14/11/25
B 5or6persons M7 or more persons

3.6 Figure 1 illustrates the continuing growth in the number of HMO licences
issued annually, including those for 5 or 6 people. 69% of currently licensed
HMOs are for 5 or 6 people and therefore fall below the threshold for requiring
planning permission for change of use from C3 to C4. It is important to
remember that HMOs for three or four people do not require a licence so will
not be included in these figures.

Figure 2: Cumulative total number of HMO licences

Cumulative total number of HMO licences

180
160
140
120
100

80

60

40

20 = =

0 _— e
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 to
14/11/25

B 5 or 6 persons M7 o0r more persons

3 2025 figures are for the year to 14/11/2025. The figures include renewals of existing
licences as well as new HMO licences.



3.7

3.8

3.9

3.10

3.1

A further 73 HMOs have been identified by the Council’s Private Rented
Sector enforcement team. These are likely to be small HMOs and properties
that are otherwise exempt from licensing requirements. The team’s view is
that this will only represent a small proportion of all unlicensed HMOs.
Potential additional properties have been identified from housing benefit data,
however further investigation is required to confirm whether these are HMOs,
so they are not included in the mapping or total numbers.

Council Tax Data

For Council Tax purposes from 1 December 2023 all HMOs are valued as a
single property, and legal liability for paying the bill rests with the owner of the
HMO.

As of May 2025, a total of 162 HMOs were identified on the Council Tax
register. Of these, 102 were licensed HMOs and 60 were not licensed (these
are included within the number of unlicensed HMOs known to the Private
Rented Sector enforcement team).

Planning application and planning enforcement data

Applications relating to HMOs are typically submitted as full applications or a
request for a lawful development certificate. A Lawful Development Certificate
(LDC) is a legal document issued by the Council that confirms that an existing
or proposed use (or proposed building work) is lawful under current planning
legislation (and therefore does not require full planning permission). It is
important to note that the conversion of a dwelling to an HMO for six people or
fewer would not currently require a full planning application, so would not be
included in the table below unless an LDC application had been approved.
Conversions from other non-C3 uses to an HMO for six people or fewer would
require planning permission so will be included.

The table below illustrates the increase in HMO applications in recent years,
following a fall around the time of the Covid pandemic. Since 2015 a total of
76 HMO approvals and lawful development certificates have been granted —
this includes applications to increase the number capacity of existing HMOs,
as well as some alternative permissions on previously approved sites.

Table 2: HMO Planning and LDC applications

Year Full Appeal | Lawful Total Application | Application | Total HMO
Applications | allowed | develop- | approvals | withdrawn | Refused applications
approved ment

2015 1 0 0 1 1 0

2016 2 0 1 3 0 1

2017 1 0 1 2 0 2

2018 10 0 0 10 0 1 11

Page 184



Year Full Appeal | Lawful Total Application | Application | Total HMO
Applications | allowed | develop- | approvals | withdrawn | Refused applications
approved ment

2019 11 0 0 1 0 1 12

2020 3 0 2 0 0

2021 1 0 1 0 2

2022 3 0 1 4 1 0

2023 6 0 1 2 6 15

2024 8 1 3 12 1 9 22

2025 (to 13 0 6 19 1 5 25

17/11/2025)

TOTAL 59 1 16 76 6 27 109

Figure 3: HMO applications

30

25

20

15

10

wv

HMO Applications

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 (to
17/11/2025)
M Full Applications approved H Lawful development m Appeal allowed
Application withdrawn M Application Refused

Figure 4: HMO approvals and LDCs

20

15

10

wv

HMO approvals and Lawful Development Certificates

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 (to
17/11/2025)
M Full Applications approved M Lawful development B Appeal allowed




HMO Locations

3.12 A total of 274 individual HMOs have been identified from the data sources
above and are plotted on Figure 5 below. It is important to note that this will
not represent a complete picture of all HMOs, given the limited data
particularly for small three or four person HMOs. Figure 6 illustrates the
number of known HMOs in each lower super output area.



Figure 6: Number of known HMOs per LSOA

Figure 5: Location of known HMOs

Page 187




3.13 Figure 7 shows the Index of Multiple Deprivation 2025. Whilst there are
concentrations of HMOs in deprived areas, they are not restricted to these
areas.

Figure 7: Index of Multiple Deprivation 2025

® HMO
Index of Multiple Deprivation 2025

B e 00n ,  Most
o o o0 | oPTvel
200 to 30.0%

[30.1% to &0.0%
40.1% 1o 50.0%
50.1% to 60.0%
60.1% to T0.0%

-'mm 1o 80.0%

o o so0 § Least
deprived

| RIS

Crown Copyright and database rights 2025 05 100023063
IMD data provided by Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government

Other data sources

Census data

3.14 The 2021 Census provides data on the number of dwellings that are houses in
multiple occupation. The Census definition of an HMO is a dwelling where
unrelated tenants rent their home from a private landlord and at least three
unrelated individuals live there, forming more than one household and sharing
toilet, bathroom or kitchen facilities with other tenants. The Census defines a
small HMO as shared by 3 or 4 unrelated tenants, and a large HMO as shared



by 5 or more unrelated tenants (so is not consistent with Planning definitions).
Census data for HMOs is not available below local authority level.

3.15 Although the 2021 Census data will not reflect the more recent increase in the
number of HMOs, it does provide comparable data with other local authorities,
regionally and nationally. However, investigations by Bolton Council found
Census data to be a significant under-estimate of the current number of
HMOs in the area, with their 2025 investigations identifying 720 HMOs.
Similarly, 2022 research by Blackburn with Darwen Council identified a total of
390 HMOs (compared to the 2021 Census total of 29).

Table 3: 2021 Census data on the number of HMOs

Area Small HMOs Large HMOs Total HMOs | % of total dwelling
stock

Bolton 88 29 117 0.09%
Bury 75 14 89 0.11%
Manchester 3,739 1,789 5,528 2.37%
Oldham 83 5 88 0.09%
Rochdale 33 8 41 0.04%
Salford 1,137 273 1,410 1.13%
Stockport 129 15 144 0.11%
Tameside 68 11 79 0.08%
Trafford 167 27 194 0.19%
Wigan 94 13 107 0.07%
GM total 5,613 2,184 7,797 0.62%
Blackburn with

Darwen 25 4 29 0.05%
Rossendale 15 2 17 0.05%
North West 10,653 4,717 15,370 0.46%
England 130,733 44,928 175,661 0.70%

3.16 The private rented sector (PRS) has experienced significant national growth in
recent years, becoming the second-largest tenure in England and
accommodating 19% of all households. Bury reflects this national trend; within
the borough, the PRS is also the second-largest tenure, accounting for 17% of
households, second only to owner-occupiers who dominate at 67%. Analysis
of census data from 2011 and 2021 shows a 32% increase in the size of the
sector in Bury over 10 years, rising from 10,774 properties to 14,249. In
reality, in 2025, it is reasonable to assume that the actual figure is even
higher.

Page 189



3.17

3.18

3.19

3.20

3.21

3.22

3.23

HMOs provided and managed by Government Partnership

It is understood that certain Government partnerships acquire properties
within the Borough to provide temporary accommodation. Whilst we are
unable to access data on all such arrangements, we are aware that as of
September 2025 one such provider had contracted 41 HMOs in Bury with less
than 5 service users.

Lettings data

A search of rooms to rent on www.openrent.co.uk provides a snapshot of
available HMO properties. The search revealed that of 18 properties with
advertised rooms available on 24/09/2025, only one had more than 6
bedrooms. Of 18 with advertised rooms available on 18/11/2025, four had
more than six bedrooms. In most cases the total number of occupants of the
property was not provided, but the majority of rooms were for single occupiers
and are therefore likely to fall below the current large HMO threshold for
requiring planning permission.

Details of properties are provided in Appendix 2.

The website HMO Sales suggests that 70% of HMOs have six bedrooms or
fewer, and there are around 13,500 licensed HMOs in Greater Manchester.
The website notes that peripheral areas are seeing rising demand from HMO
investors due to Article 4 restrictions in central zones.

Housing Need and Demand

The 2025 Housing Need and Demand Assessment provides the latest
available evidence of housing needs across the Borough. The HNDA does not
specifically identify the need for HMOs. It does, however, identify that in terms
of bedroom numbers, the lowest level of need is for 1-bedroom properties (10-
15%). The greatest needs are for 3-bed properties (35-40%), followed by 2-
bed (30-35%) and 4+ bed (15-20%). Overall, the HNDA identifies a need for
50-60% of new properties to be built in the Borough to be three or four+
bedroom properties, illustrating the strong need for family housing. For market
housing specifically (which HMOs would be classed as), the HNDA indicates a
need for only 2-5% 1-bedroom properties, compared to 30-35% 2-bed, 35-
40% 3-bed and 20-25% 4-bed.

Across Bury, the proportion of households renting increased from 8.5% in
2001 to 17.8% in 2021 (ONS Census data), illustrating the importance of the
rental sector in meeting housing need.

The HNDA considers the comparative cost of renting different types of
properties in the Bolton and Bury broad market area (BRMA) and the Central

Page 190


http://www.openrent.co.uk/
https://www.hmosales.com/hmos-for-sale-manchester/

Greater Manchester BRMA* compared to the Local Housing Allowance rate
that can be claimed by eligible households for assistance with rental costs.

Table 4: Broad rental market area LHA rates (April 2024) - Bolton and Bury
BRMA

No. of bedrooms Monthly LHA rate | 2024 lower quartile | Variance between
(LQ) rent — Bolton LQ rent and LHA
and Bury BRMA

Shared accommodation £341 £650 -£309

1 bedroom £474 £598 -£124

2 bedroom £573 £802 -£229

3 bedroom £698 £997 -£299

4 bedroom £947 £1,311 -£364

Table 5: Broad rental market area LHA rates (April 2024) - Central Greater
Manchester BRMA

No. of bedrooms

Monthly LHA rate

2024 lower quartile
rent — Central
Greater Manchester
BRMA

Variance between
LQ rent and LHA

Shared accommodation £410 £849 -£439
1 bedroom £773 £724 £49
2 bedroom £873 £901 -£28
3 bedroom £947 £1,192 -£245
4 bedroom £1,346 £1,599 -£253

3.24 The tables show that shared accommodation (such as HMOs) are not
necessarily providing an affordable form of accommodation for those in need.
This is also illustrated by the advertised rents for the properties listed in
Appendix 2. Market rented HMOs would not fall within the NPPF definition of
affordable housing.

3.25 With regard to matters of amenity, it is unlikely that small scale HMOs, on an
individual basis, would lead to detriment to the surrounding area. Indeed,
there are existing HMOs in the Borough which have no adverse impact on
their surroundings. However, a concentration or concentrations of properties
in HMO use by between three and six unrelated individuals has the potential
to result in undue disturbance to residents of neighbouring and nearby
dwellings. In particular, this could be through increased noise levels, an

increased number of comings and goings and general disturbance caused by

4 Broad Rental Market Areas are used to set Local Housing Allowance (LHA) rates. The Borough of
Bury is located within both the Bolton and Bury BRMA and the Central Greater Manchester BRMA.

Page 191



3.26

3.27

3.28

3.29

3.30

3.31

patterns of use which are more intensive than could normally be expected at a
C3 dwellinghouse.

The Council has very limited data on the location and quality of smaller HMOs
with three or four occupants that fall below the mandatory licence
requirements. The Council has no means of proactively ensuring that such
properties are providing a safe and suitable environment for their occupants
and may only become aware of them when complaints are received. Existing
occupants may be less likely to report poor conditions if they only intend to
stay for a relatively short period.

Whilst many HMOs are providing a high standard of accommodation, when
inspecting unlicensed HMOs, the PRS enforcement team have found issues
relating to layout and fire risk, possible overcrowding and provision of
insufficient bathroom and kitchen facilities for the number of occupiers. Whilst
it will not address standards in existing HMOs, requiring planning applications
for proposals for conversion from C3 to C4 where such development
constitutes a material changes of use will help to ensure standards are met in
new C4 HMOs.

Examples from elsewhere also suggest that HMOs are not always meeting
appropriate standards. For example, Rochdale Council introduced additional
licensing for three and four person HMOs in October 2024 after finding that a
significant number of smaller HMOs fell seriously short of fire safety
requirements, were overcrowded or lacked suitable management
arrangements.

The Article 4 direction will have the direct impact of bringing proposals for
small HMOs into planning control where there is a material change of use.
This will allow for better regulation and monitoring.

There is a need to appropriately manage the delivery of small HMOs to
ensure the provision of good quality accommodation and to minimise and
potential adverse effects on local communities.

The change of use of a large number of dwellinghouses to C4 HMOs would
have a significant impact on the supply of family homes in the Borough. The
loss of existing C3 dwellinghouses to C4 HMOs would reduce the supply of
the house types that the Housing Need and Demand Assessment suggests
are in greatest need, and would be detrimental to meeting identified housing
needs.

Page 192



3.32

3.33

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

The evidence demonstrates a recent increase in the number of HMOs in the
Borough, and in view of the number of surrounding districts where Article 4
Directions have already been introduced there is a prospect of numbers
increasing further if landlord demand is displaced.

A Boroughwide Atrticle 4 Direction is considered necessary in the interests of
guarding against new concentrations of HMOs beyond those areas where
they are currently most heavily concentrated. This has been seen in a number
of areas, where localised Article 4 Directions have subsequently been
broadened to include a wider area / Boroughwide. An immediate Boroughwide
Article 4 Direction would enable the Council to proactively manage HMO
standards and concentrations, rather than waiting for issues to arise.

Where it considers it necessary, a local planning authority can make a
direction under Article 4 of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) Order 2015 (as amended) (known as an Article 4 direction) to
override the national granting of permission from permitted development
rights.

An Article 4 Direction is a planning tool that can be adopted for all or part of an
area by a local planning authority to remove specific permitted development
rights for a particular type of development. This would mean that in future,
planning permission would be required from the local planning authority for
this specific type of development.

Article 4 Directions can only be used in exceptional circumstances where it is
considered necessary to protect the local amenity and wellbeing of an area,
and there is a legal process that needs to be undertaken to introduce them.

The introduction of an Article 4 Direction does not mean that the proposed
development would not be able to take place or would automatically be
refused. However, it does provide the local planning authority with an
opportunity to apply its local plan policies to determining whether the
development is acceptable and should be granted permission.

There are two types of directions under the General Permitted Development
Order: non-immediate directions and directions with immediate effect.

Page 193



4.6

4.7

4.8

4.9

4.10

4.1

412

Non-Immediate Directions

A ‘non immediate’ Article 4 Direction means that permitted development rights
would only be removed upon confirmation of the direction by the local
planning authority following local consultation. This would take place at least
28 days and at most 2 years after notice of the direction is served. A non-
immediate Article 4 Direction would enable consultation comments to be
considered prior to confirming the direction.

If a non-immediate article 4 direction is made and 12-months’ notice is given
from the time the Article 4 Direction is made to the time it comes into effect,
then liability for compensation is avoided (see below for further details of
compensation). A non-immediate direction could also be made giving less
than 12-months’ notice, but would still leave the Council open to
compensation claims for the remainder of the 12-month period.

Immediate Article 4 Direction

An immediate direction can withdraw permitted development rights straight
away; however it must be confirmed by the local planning authority within 6
months of coming into effect to remain in force. Confirmation occurs after the
local planning authority has carried out a local consultation. The Local
Planning Authority will take account of comments made before deciding
whether the confirm the Direction (but cannot make changes to the direction in
response to comments).

The circumstances in which an immediate direction can restrict HMO
development are limited - development must present an immediate threat to
local amenity or prejudice the proper planning of an area.

If a local planning authority makes an Article 4 direction, it can be liable to pay
compensation to those whose permitted development rights have been
withdrawn, but only if it then subsequently:

¢ Refuses planning permission for development which would otherwise
have been permitted development; or

e Grants planning permission subject to more limiting conditions than the
General Permitted Development Order.

Claims for compensation would be limited to applications submitted within 12
months of the direction coming into force. The grounds on which
compensation can be claimed are limited to abortive expenditure or other loss
or damage directly attributable to the withdrawal of permitted development
rights. Compensation provisions are set out in sections 107 and 108 of the
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and the Town and Country Planning
(Compensation) (England) Regulations 2015 (as amended).

Immediate Article 4 Directions have recently been introduced for Bolton,
Rossendale and Tameside, and Wigan have given less than 12-months notice

Page 194


https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/part/IV/crossheading/compensation-for-revocation-of-planning-permission-etc
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/part/IV/crossheading/compensation-for-revocation-of-planning-permission-etc
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/598/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/598/contents/made

4.13

4.14

4.15

4.16

417

for their new direction. At this stage it is too early to tell whether these areas
will have to make any compensation payments.

Article 4 Directions can be introduced to cover specific areas, or if appropriate,
as a Boroughwide direction. Boroughwide Article 4 Directions for HMOs are
not uncommon, for example they are in place in Wigan, Bolton, Manchester,
Trafford, Rossendale and Tameside.

Evidence from other districts shows that when an Article 4 Direction is
introduced in a smaller area that this displaces demand and moves the focus
of potential issues to other areas of a borough. For instance, in 2024 Salford
expanded its Article 4 Direction to cover a much wider area, recognising the
displaced demand that had subsequently arisen following the original direction
that came into force in more limited parts of Salford in 2018. In 2023
Blackburn introduced a new Direction to cover all urban areas of the Borough,
having first introduced restrictions in limited parts of the Borough in 2013.
Wigan introduced an Article 4 Direction in January 2020 for Swinley and
central Leigh, but in July 2025 it authorised the making of a Boroughwide
direction citing growth in HMOs across all but five wards and overspilling in
areas surrounding the original direction.

An Article 4 Direction must be subject to a statutory representation period for a
minimum of 21 days. The Article 4 Direction would need to be publicised by
placing a notice in the Bury Times, displaying Article 4 Direction site notices in
at least two locations in the Borough and placing a notice on the Council’s
website. The LPA must also send a copy of the direction, notice and map of
the area to which it relates to the Secretary of State.

The legislation requires notice to be served on the owner and occupier of
every part of the land within the area, unless the local planning authority
consider that -

(a) individual service on that owner or occupier is impracticable because it
is difficult to identify or locate that person or

(b) the number of owners or occupiers within the area to which the direction
relates makes individual service impracticable.

It is considered impracticable to serve individual notices on every owner or
occupier in the Borough, due to both the difficulty of identifying or locating
those people and the number of owners or occupiers.

Page 195



4.18

4.19

4.20

In the case of an immediate Article 4 Direction, after the representation period
has ended and at least 28 days after all notices have been published or such
longer period as may be specified by the Secretary of State, the Direction
needs to be formally confirmed within six months of the date on which it
comes into force otherwise it will expire. Any representation submitted must
be considered before formal confirmation.

For non-immediate directions, the Council must publicise the direction as soon
as possible and give a period of at least 21 days for representations to be
made on the direction. They must also specify the proposed date for bring the
Direction into force, which can be up to two years after notice has been given.
In order for the non-immediate Article 4 Direction to come into effect on the
date specified in the notice, it must be confirmed by the LPA, taking into
account any representations received during the specified period. The notice
cannot be confirmed until at least 28 days after all notices have been
published or such longer period as may be specified by the Secretary of State

For both immediate and non-immediate Article 4 Directions, as soon as
practicable after a direction has been confirmed the local planning authority
must give notice of confirmation (via press notice, site notices in at least two
locations and on the Council’s website); and send a copy of the direction as
confirmed to the Secretary of State.

Page 196



Appendix 1: Table of HMO planning applications

(2015-2025)

Decision: WDN = withdrawn; AC = approved with conditions; A = approved; LD = lawful development; R = refused.
Appn. Location Proposal Decision | Decision Total Bedrooms | Occupancy | Net Net Net
number date HMOs (where HMO bedroom | change in
known) change | change occupancy
59180 | 1 Glenmere Single storey side extension to link WDN 04/11/2015 1 8 8 0 2 2
Close, existing garage with main house to
Prestwich, increase existing 6 bed HMO to 8 bed
Manchester, HMO; New roof to garage and creation of
- M25 3BH 2 no. new car parking spaces and 6 no.
2 new bicycle storage spaces
@ 59333 | 2 Cook Street, Change of use of second floor from AC 20/11/2015 1 4 1 4
§ Bury, BL9 ORP offices to residential (HMO)
59951 | 1 Glenmere Change of use from 6 bed HMOto 8 bed | AC 26/10/2016 1 8 8 0 2 8
Close, HMO with creation of additional car
Prestwich, parking space and 6 no. cycle spaces
Manchester,
M25 3BH
60490 | 132 Change of use from social club (Sui R 03/11/2016 1 8 1 8
Walmersley Generis) to 8 bed HMO (Class C4 -
Road, Bury, BL9 | House in Multiple Occupation)
6DX
60643 | 414 Bury Old Lawful Development Certificate for the LD 09/11/2016 1 1
Road, existing use of 414 Bury Old Road,
Prestwich, Prestwich as a house in multiple
Manchester, occupation (HMO) (Class C4)
M25 1PZ




86T abed

Appn. Location Proposal Decision | Decision Total Bedrooms | Occupancy | Net Net Net
number date HMOs (where HMO bedroom | change in
known) change | change occupancy
60654 | Laburnum Change of use of existing nursing/care AC 21/12/2016 1 11 11 1 11 11
House, 1-3 home (Class C2) to an 11 bedroom
Wells Street, house in multiple occupation (HMO) (Sui
Bury, BLO 0TU Generis)
61596 | 79 Bury New Conversion and extensions to existing R 28/07/2017 1 8 8 1 8 8
Road, dwelling house to form 8 bed House in
Whitefield, Multiple Occupation (HMO)
Manchester,
M45 7EG
61785 | 146 Chesham Lawful development certificate for LD 07/09/2017 1 5 1 5
Road, Bury, BL9 | proposed change of use from
6EL dwellinghouse (Class C3) to 5 bed House
of Multiple Occupancy (Class C4)
61850 | 29 Knowsley Change of use from community AC 25/10/2017 1 9 9 1 9 9
Street, Bury, centre/radio station (Class D2) to 9 bed
BL9 OST house of multiple occupation (HMO) (Sui
Generis)
61924 | 9 Stand Lane, Change of use from shop and residential | R 02/11/2017 1 8 1 8
Radcliffe, accommodation to 8 bedroomed HMO
Manchester, (Sui Generis) together with external
M26 INW alterations
62218 | 9 Stand Lane, Change of use of ground floor/rear, first AC 22/01/2018 1 6 6 1 6 6
Radcliffe, and second floors to 6 person House in
Manchester, Multiple Occupation (HMO) (Sui
M26 1INW Generis); New shop front and window
and new doorway to rear; Bin store at
rear.
62596 | 9 Stand Lane, Change of use of ground floor/rear, first AC 20/04/2018 1 7 7 1 7 7

Radcliffe,
Manchester,
M26 1INW

and second floors to 7 person House in
Multiple Occupation (HMO) (Sui
Generis); New shop front and window
and new doorway to rear; Bin store at
rear




66T abed

Appn. Location Proposal Decision | Decision Total Bedrooms | Occupancy | Net Net Net
number date HMOs (where HMO bedroom | change in
known) change | change occupancy
62615 | 1Inman Street, | Change of use from single dwelling to 6 AC 23/05/2018 1 6 6 1 6 6
Bury, BLS OTP bed House of Multiple Occupation
(HMO) with conversion of garage at rear
to living accommodation and erection of
pitched roof
62632 | 506 Bury New Change of use from a B1 Officetoan 8 AC 23/05/2018 1 8 1 8
Road, Bed House in Multiple Occupation
Prestwich, including installation of lightwell to front
Manchester, garden as escape route to basement and
M25 3AN two storey extension at rear
62634 | 4 Glebelands Change of use from residential care AC 23/05/2018 1 11 1 11
Road, home (C2) to 11 bed house of multiple
Prestwich, occupation
Manchester,
M25 1INE
62660 | 46 Manchester | Certificate of lawfulness for proposed R 23/05/2018 1 7 7 1 7 7
Road, Bury, BL9 | use from existing C4 (HMO) to C4 (Large
0SX HMO) for 7 persons.
62850 | 506 Bury New Change of use from office (Class B1)to9 | AC 09/08/2018 1 9 9 1 9 9
Road, bed House in Multiple Occupation
Prestwich, (HMO) (Sui Generis), installation of
Manchester, lightwell to front garden as escape route
M25 3AN to basement and two storey extension at
rear
62888 | 46 Manchester | Change of use from a six person housein | A 19/07/2018 1 7 7 0 7 1
Road, Bury, BL9 | Multiple Occupation (HMO) (Class C4) to
0SX a seven person house in Multiple
Occupation (HMO)
63191 | 4 Glebelands Change of use from House of Multiple AC 14/11/2018 -1 -1
Road, Occupation (Class C4) to a nursery
Prestwich, (Class D1 non-residential Institution);
Manchester, External alterations for vehicular access
M25 1INE to arear car park and drop off area;




00¢ abed

Appn. Location Proposal Decision | Decision Total Bedrooms | Occupancy | Net Net Net
number date HMOs (where HMO bedroom | change in
known) change | change occupancy
Resurfacing of car park and landscaping
to gardens
63286 | 96 Manchester | Change of use of single dwellinghouse AC 08/11/2018 1 8 1 8
Road, Bury, BL9 | (C3) to an 8 bed HMO (sui generis) with
0TH external alterations
63312 | 35 Heywood Change of use from residential (Class AC 14/11/2018 1 7 9 1 7 9
Street, Bury, C3) to 7 bed/9 person house of multiple
BL9 7EB occupation (HMO) (Sui Generis)
63520 | 14-16 St Marys | Change of use from massage institute AC 20/02/2019 2 14 2 14
Place, Bury, (Class D1) to 2 no. 7-bed houses of
BL9 0DZ multiple occupation (HMO); External
alterations to include replacement
windows/doors, bicycle/bin storage at
rear and boundary wall/gates at rear
63651 | Castle House, 7 | Change of use from bed & breakfast AC 01/03/2019 1 8 1 8
Wellington (Class C1) to 8 no. bed house in multiple
Street, Bury, occupation (HMO) (Sui Generis)
BL8 2AL
63764 | Acorn Business | Change of use of first and second floors R 10/11/2021 1 28 1 28
Centre, from office to 28 no. person house in
Fountain Street | multiple occupation (HMO) (Sui Generis)
North, Bury,
BL9 7AN
63782 | 243 Bolton Change of use from residential (Class AC 24/04/2019 1 7 7 1 7 7
Road, Bury, BL8 | C3)to 7 bedroom (7 person) house in
2NZ multiple occupation (HMO)
64222 | 18 North Circle, | Change of use from 6 no. person HMO AC 01/07/2019 1 7 0 1

Whitefield,
Manchester,
M45 7AT

(C4) to 7 no. person HMO (sui generis)
with single storey extension at rear and
alterations to existing flat roof




TOzZ abed

Appn. Location Proposal Decision | Decision Total Bedrooms | Occupancy | Net Net Net
number date HMOs (where HMO bedroom | change in
known) change | change occupancy
64387 | 96 Manchester | Variation of condition no. 2 (approved AC 23/09/2019 1 8 0 0 0
Road, Bury, BL9 | plans) of planning permission ref. 63286
0TH for Change of use of single
dwellinghouse (C3) to an 8 bed HMO (sui
generis) with external alterations;
Amendment to design of single storey
outrigger at rear
64450 | 31 Parkhills Change of use from residential (Class AC 09/10/2019 1 9 10 1 9 10
Road, Bury, BL9 | C3)to 9 bed/10 person house of multiple
9AS occupation (HMO) (Sui Generis)
64534 | 21-23 Knowsley | Change of use from offices (Class Bla) AC 03/10/2019 2 16 2 16
Street, Bury, to 2 no. 8 bed HMOs (Sui Generis) with
BLS OST external alterations
64559 | 13-15Parsons | Change of use to 2 no. 8 bed/person AC 25/10/2019 2 16 16 2 16 16
Lane, Bury, BL9 | houses of multiple occupation (HMO)
oLy (Sui Generis) with new window openings
64570 | 69 Blackburn Change of use of former public AC 18/12/2019 2 11 11 2 11 11
Street, house/retail unitto 2 no. 5 & 6 bed
Radcliffe, houses of multiple occupation (HMO)
Manchester, (Class C4) with two storey rear extension
M26 1IWG and external alterations
64617 | 9 Dales Lane, Change of use from dwellinghouse AC 11/11/2019 1 4 4 1 4 4
Whitefield, (Class C3) to 4 no. bedroom house in
Manchester, multiple occupation (HMO) (Class C4)
M45 7RL
64719 | 79 Bury New Change of use from existing 6 bed HMO R 15/11/2019 1 8 8 0 2 2
Road, (Class C4) to 8 bed (8 person) house in
Whitefield, multiple occupation (HMO) (Sui Generis)
Manchester,

M45 7EG




20z abed

Appn. Location Proposal Decision | Decision Total Bedrooms | Occupancy | Net Net Net
number date HMOs (where HMO bedroom | change in
known) change | change occupancy
64721 | 221 Change of use from dwellinghouse AC 18/12/2019 1 7 7 1 7 7
Manchester (Class C3) to 7 person house in multiple
Road, Bury, BL9 | occupation (HMO)
9H)
65271 | 37 & 37a Bolton | Change of use from shop and flat to 4 AC 21/04/2020 1 4 4 1 4 4
Road, Bury, BL8 | person house in multiple occupation
2AB (HMO) (Class C4) with alterations to
front elevation
65395 | 151 Bell Lane, Change of use from dwelling (Class C3) AC 05/06/2020 1 7 8 1 7 8
Bury, BL9 6DF to 7 bed, 8 person HMO (house in
multiple occupation) (Sui Generis) with
basement conversion and upgraded
front basement escape/lightwell
65482 | Ferngrove Change of use from house in multiple AC 25/06/2020 1 7 7 0 2 2
House, 1 occupation (HMO) for five persons
Ferngrove, (Class C4) to HMO for seven persons
Rochdale Old (Sui Generis), loft conversion with rear
Road, Bury, BL9 | dormer and alterations to external
7LS elevations
65975 | 17 Turf Street, Lawful development certificate for LD 07/12/2020 1 5 6 1 5 6
Radcliffe, proposed change of use from a
Manchester, residential dwelling (Class C3a)to a
M26 3SZ house in multiple occupation forup to 6
unrelated individual (Class C4) with
installation of a new first floor window to
side elevation
66013 | 166 Dumers Lawful development certificate for LD 07/12/2020 1 5 5 1 5 5
Lane, Radcliffe, | proposed change of use from a
Manchester, residential dwelling (class C3A)to a
M26 2GF House of Multiple Occupation (HMO) for

up to 5 unrelated individuals (Class C4)




£0¢ abed

Appn. Location Proposal Decision | Decision Total Bedrooms | Occupancy | Net Net Net
number date HMOs (where HMO bedroom | change in
known) change | change occupancy
66348 | 12A Whittaker Change of use of the first floor only to AC 11/03/2021 1 4 4 1 4 4
Lane, form a 4 bedroom/4 person house in
Prestwich, multiple occupation (HMO) (Class C4)
Manchester,
M25 1FX
67206 | 2 Monmouth Lawful development certificate for LD 18/08/2021 1 6 6 1 6 6
Avenue, Bury, existing use of a dwelling as a 6 person
BL9S 5DU HMO (C4)
67542 | 181 Tottington Change of use from 6 no. bedroom R 17/12/2021 1 7 7 0 1 1
Road, Bury, BL8 | house in multiple occupation (HMO -
1RX Class C4) to 7 no. bedroom house in
multiple occupation (HMO - Sui Generis)
67867 | 206 Change of use to 8-bedroom HMO (Sui AC 23/02/2022 1 8 8 1 8 8
Walmersley Generis) and formation of front and rear
Road, Bury, BL9 | lightwells
6LL
67914 | 9 Belle Vue Change of use from dwellingto 8 WDN 14/02/2022 1 8 8 1 8 8
Terrace, Bury, bedroom HMO; Loft conversion with rear
BLS 0SY dormer; Basement conversion with
escape well and railing/gate
68239 | 181 Tottington Lawful development certificate for LD 20/05/2022 1 7 7 0 1 1
Road, Bury, BL8 | proposed change of use from small HMO
1RX (Use Class C4) to large HMO (sui
generis) limited to 7 residents
68331 | Heaton House, | Change of Use from Training Centre AC 17/08/2022 6 23 23 6 23 23
Brierley Street, | (Class E)to 6 no. HMO's comprising 23
Bury, BLO9HN bedrooms (single occupancy)
68542 | 79 Bury New Change of use from 6 bed HMO (Class AC 14/12/2022 1 8 8 0 2 2
Road, C4) to 8 bed HMO (Sui Generis)
Whitefield,
Manchester,

M45 7EG




0z abed

Appn. Location Proposal Decision | Decision Total Bedrooms | Occupancy | Net Net Net
number date HMOs (where HMO bedroom | change in
known) change | change occupancy
69076 | 6 Sandford Change of use from mixed use; public R 27/01/2023 1 13 20 1 13 20
Street, house and 8 self-contained flats to 13
Radcliffe, bed (maximum 20 person) HMO (sui
Manchester, generis); demolition of existing
M26 2PT conservatory; formation of parking space
/ cycle store, entrance / exit at rear and
alterations to ground floor window at rear
69132 | 104 Ainsworth Change of use from existing 6 no. R 15/03/2023 1 7 7 0 1 1
Road, Bury, BL8 | bedroom house in multiple occupation
2RS (HMO - Class C4) to 7 no. bedroom (7
person) house in multiple occupation
(HMO - Sui Generis)
69329 | 281 Middleton Change of use of existing public house AC 17/04/2024 1 4 1 4
Road Service (Sui Generis) to Podiatry Clinic(Class
Road, E(e)) on ground floor and 4 bed HMO
Prestwich, (house in multiple occupation) at first
Manchester, floor (Class C4) including two storey
M8 4LY extension at side/rear, alterations to roof
layout of existing rear outbuilding;
formation of new first floor access and
door at rear with external staircase and
render to external elevations
69452 | 148 Change of use from dwelling (Class C3) | AC 31/05/2023 1 8 8 1 8 8
Walmersley to an 8 no. bedroom/ person House in
Road, Bury, BL9 | Multiple Occupation (HMO) (Sui Generis)
6LL
69475 | 240 Change of use from dwelling (Class C3) | WDN 10/05/2023 1 10 10 1 10 10
Walmersley to 10 no. bedroom HMO (single
Road, Bury, BL9 | occupancy)
6NH
69699 | 240 Change of use from dwelling (Class C3) AC 26/07/2023 1 9 9 1 9 9
Walmersley to 9 no. bedroom HMO (single

occupancy, Class Sui Generis)




G0z abed

Appn. Location Proposal Decision | Decision Total Bedrooms | Occupancy | Net Net Net
number date HMOs (where HMO bedroom | change in
known) change | change occupancy
Road, Bury, BL9
6NH
69735 | Rostrevor Change of use from hotel (C1)to2no0.9 | AC 31/08/2023 2 18 18 2 18 18
Hotel, 146-148 | bedroom (single occupancy) HMOs (Sui
Manchester Generis)
Road, Bury, BL9
0TL
69777 | 14 Higher Lane, | Lawful development certificate for LD 20/09/2023 -1 -1
Whitefield, proposed change of use from HMO
Manchester, (Class C4) to residential care home
M45 7FY (Class C2)
69794 | 5Keats Change of use from residential dwelling R 11/12/2023 1 10 10 1 10 10
Crescent, (Class C3) to 10 bedroom (single
Radcliffe, occupancy) house in multiple
Manchester, occupation (HMO) (Sui Generis)
M26 3GT
69815 | 1-7 Taylor Change of use from existing offices R 19/12/2023 1 7 7 1 7 7
Street, Bury, (Class B1(a) to: 3 No. flats and 2 no.
BLO9 6DT retail units (Class E) to ground floor, 4
no. flats to first floor and 3 no. flats to
second floor; 7 Bedroom (single
occupancy) house in multiple
occupation (HMO) (Sui Generis) to
first/second floors; Conversion of roof
space with dormers at front and rear to
form second floor; External alterations
including new windows/doors and shop
front/entrances
69826 | 45 Knowsley Change of use from offices (Use ClassE) | AC 23/08/2023 1 8 8 1 8 8
Street, Bury, to 8 no. bedroom 8 person HMO (Sui
BL9 OST Generis) with 2 no. front velux rooflights,

and 2 no. rear velux rooflights to be




90¢ abed

Appn. Location Proposal Decision | Decision Total Bedrooms | Occupancy | Net Net Net
number date HMOs (where HMO bedroom | change in
known) change | change occupancy
installed; Erection of 1.8m high boundary
fence and gated access torear.
69981 | 15 Milner Change of use from 6 bedroom HMO AC 25/10/2023 1 7 7 0 1 1
Avenue, Bury, (Class C4) to 7 bedroom (single
BLO96NG occupancy) HMO (Sui Generis)
70000 | Hawthorn Change of use from hotel to 18 bedroom | R 25/10/2023 1 18 18 1 18 18
Hotel, 137-143 | (single occupancy) HMO (Sui Generis)
Stand Lane, and single storey rear extension
Radcliffe,
Manchester,
M26 1JR
70102 | 78-80, Church Change of use from former R 19/01/2024 1 35 70 1 35 70
Street West, showroom/workshop to 35 no. bedroom
Radcliffe, M26 (double occupancy) building of multiple
2SY residential occupation (Sui Generis)
70136 | 21 Church Change of use of ground floor to 7 AC 21/02/2024 1 7 7 1 7 7
Street East, bedroom (single occupancy) House in
Radcliffe, Multiple Occupation (HMO) (Sui
Manchester, Generis); Single storey rear extension;
M26 2PG Alterations to include new windows and
doors
70178 | 27 Knowsley Change of use from existing office to 8 AC 14/12/2023 1 8 8 1 8 8
Street, Bury, bed (single occupancy) HMO (Sui
BL9 OST Generis), with 4 no. velux rooflights

installed to roof and erection of 1.8m
high boundary fence and gated access to
rear




10z abed

Appn. Location Proposal Decision | Decision Total Bedrooms | Occupancy | Net Net Net
number date HMOs (where HMO bedroom | change in
known) change | change occupancy
70187 | 193 Change of use from residential R 13/12/2023 1 9 9 1 9 9
Walmersley dwelling(Class C3) to 9 bedroom (single
Road, Bury, BL9 | occupancy) house in multiple
5DF occupation (HMO) (Sui Generis), loft
conversion with front/rear dormers,
enlargement of existing basement
lightwell and external works
70254 | 27 Knowsley Change of use from existing vacant office | WDN 14/12/2023 1 9 9 1 9 9
Street, Bury, to 9 bed (single occupancy) HMO (Sui
BL9 OST Generis), installation of 4 no. velux
rooflights, single storey rear extension
and 1.8m high rear boundary fence and
gated access
70325 | 3 Ruth Street, Change of use from residential dwelling | WDN 04/03/2024 1 9 9 1 9 9
Bury, BLO6LU (Class C3) to 9 bed HMO (Sui Generis) to
include single storey rear extension and
loft conversion with front and rear
dormers
70341 | Heaton House, | Alterations to existing first floor two HMO | R 29/02/2024 1 6 6 -1 1 1
Brierley Street, | into one HMO to include an additional
Bury, BLO9HN bedroom (single occupancy)
70343 | 147-155 Change of use from residential care AC 20/03/2024 1 13 13 1 13 13
Walshaw Road, | home (Class C2)to 13 no. bedroom
Bury, BL8 1NH (single occupancy) house in multiple
occupation (HMO) (Sui Generis) with
associated works
70351 | 116 Church Lawful development certificate for LD 22/03/2024 1 5 5 1 5 5
Street West, proposed - loft conversion with rear
Radcliffe, dormer and change of use from single
Manchester, house (C3) to 5-person 5-bed HMO (C4)

M26 2BY




80¢ abed

Appn. Location Proposal Decision | Decision Total Bedrooms | Occupancy | Net Net Net
number date HMOs (where HMO bedroom | change in
known) change | change occupancy
70354 | 388 Tottington Change of use from residential care AC 20/03/2024 1 16 16 1 16 16
Road, Bury, BL8 | home (Class C2) to 16 no. bedroom
1TU (single occupancy) house in multiple
occupation (HMO) (Sui Generis) with
associated works
70368 | 1 Ferngrove Demolition of existing garage atsideand | AC 09/08/2024 1 13 13 1 6 6
House, erection of 3 storey extension at side
Rochdale Old with roof lights at front and rear to
Road, Bury, BL9 | provide 6 no. additional single
7LS occupancy bedrooms (13 no. in total) to
existing HMO with associated parking
and refuse storage
70439 | 193 Change of use from dwelling (Class C3) AC 20/03/2024 1 8 8 1 8 8
Walmersley to 8 bedroom (single occupancy) house
Road, Bury, BL9 | in multiple occupation (HMO) (Sui
5DF Generis), loft conversion with front and
rear dormers, car parking provision, and
associated works
70536 | 1-5 Porter Part change of use of former R 12/04/2024 2 15 15 2 15 15
Street, Bury, showroom/laundrette and 1no. flat (Use
BL9 5DZ Class E/Sui Generis/Class C3) to form
1no. 7 bedroom (single occupancy) HMO
(Sui Generis) and 1no. 8 Bedroom (single
occupancy) HMO (Sui Generis) with
associated parking and refuse storage
and external alterations
70557 | 2 Ferngrove Change of use of existing 6 bedroom AC 02/05/2024 1 10 10 0 4 4

House,
Rochdale Old
Road, Bury, BL9
7LS

House in Multiple Occupation (HMO)
(Class C4) to 10 bedroom (single
occupancy) House in Multiple
Occupation (HMO) (Sui Generis)
together with external works and hard
landscaping to create car parking spaces




60¢ abed

Appn. Location Proposal Decision | Decision Total Bedrooms | Occupancy | Net Net Net
number date HMOs (where HMO bedroom | change in
known) change | change occupancy
70563 | 78-80 Church Change of use from former R 11/06/2024 1 28 28 1 28 28
Street West, showroom/workshop to 28 no. bedroom
Radcliffe, (single occupancy) building of multiple
Manchester, residential occupation (Sui Generis)
M26 2SY
70679 | Heaton House, | Alterations to first floor to combine two R 11/06/2024 1 6 6 -1 1 1
Brierley Street, | existing House in Multiple Occupation
Bury, BLO 9HN units (HMQ) into one 6 bedroom (single
occupancy) House in Multiple
Occupation (HMO)
70680 | 521 Proposed conversion of basement to an R 23/07/2024 1 7 0 1
Manchester existing 6 bedroom House in Multiple
Road, Bury, BL9 | Occupation (HMO) to form a 7-bed HMO
9SH
70742 | 31 Grosvenor Change of use from dwelling (Class C3) R 18/07/2024 1 10 10 1 10 10
Street, and Swim School building (Class E(d)) to
Prestwich, 10 no. bed House of Multiple Occupancy
Manchester, (HMO) (Class Sui Generis) to include
M25 1ES changes to the fenestration of the pool
building; Loft conversion with 2 no. rear
dormers to dwelling
70798 | 5 Keats Lawful development certificate for LD 20/06/2024 1 6 6 1 6 6
Crescent, proposed change of use of single
Radcliffe, dwelling to multiple occupancy use 6
Manchester, bedrooms (Class C4)
M26 3GT
70830 | Flats 1-4, 1-3 Lawful development certificate for LD 30/07/2024 4 12 4 12
Porter Street, proposed change of use from 4 no. flats
Bury, BL9 5DZ (Class C3) to 4no. HMO's (C4)
70842 | 29 Parliament Change of use from dwelling (Class C3) | AC 16/08/2024 1 8 8 1 8 8

Street, Bury,
BLO OTE

to 8 bedroom (single occupancy) house
in multiple occupation (HMO) (Sui
Generis), loft conversion with rear




0Tz abed

Appn. Location Proposal Decision | Decision Total Bedrooms | Occupancy | Net Net Net
number date HMOs (where HMO bedroom | change in
known) change | change occupancy
dormer, roof light at front and associated
works
71010 | 33 Knowsley Change of use from an office (ClassE)to | R 24/03/2025 1 7 7 1 7 7
Street, Bury, a7 bed/7 person house in multiple
BL9 OST occupation.
71023 | 1-5 Porter Part change of use of former R 07/10/2024 2 15 15 2 15 15
Street, Bury, showroom/laundrette and 1no. flat (Use
BL9 5DZ Class E/Sui Generis/Class C3) to form
1no. 7 bedroom (single occupancy) HMO
(Sui Generis) and 1no. 8 Bedroom (single
occupancy) HMO (Sui Generis) with
associated parking and refuse storage
and external alterations
71034 | 309 Change of use of existing 6 no. bedroom | R 01/11/2024 1 9 9 0 3 3
Walmersley House in Multiple Occupation (HMO)
Road, Bury, BL9 | (Class C4)to 9 no. bedroom (single
5EZ occupancy) House in Multiple
Occupation (HMO) (Sui Generis) with
erection of single storey outbuilding
extension at rear (to be used as bedroom
no.9)
71156 | 17 Belle Vue Change of use from a 6 bed House in R 29/11/2024 1 9 9 0 3
Terrace, Bury, Multiple Occupation (HMO) to a 9 bed
BL9 OSY (single occupancy) House in Multiple
Occupation (HMO)
71276 | 47 Knowsley Change of use from offices (Use ClassE) | AC 02/06/2025 1 8 8 1 8 8
Street, Bury, to 8 no. bedroom (single occupancy)
BL9 OST HMO (Sui Generis) with 2 no. front velux

rooflights and 2 no. rear velux rooflights;
Erection of 1.8m high boundary walls at
rear with gated access




TTC abed

Appn. Location Proposal Decision | Decision Total Bedrooms | Occupancy | Net Net Net
number date HMOs (where HMO bedroom | change in
known) change | change occupancy
71306 | Railway Hotel, Change of use from public house into a AC 19/02/2025 1 10 1 10
427 Ainsworth 10 bed House in Multiple Occupation
Road, Radcliffe, | (HMO) (sui generis)
Manchester,
M26 4HN
71330 | 12A Whittaker Change of use from restaurant (Use AC 30/05/2025 1 13 13 1 13 13
Lane, Class E) to 13 bed (single occupancy)
Prestwich, House of Multiple Occupation (HMO)
Manchester, (Sui-Generis), excavations to part of rear
M25 1FX yard area and installation of steps,
insertion of a window and door on rear
elevation at Basement level change of
rear ground floor doorway to a window,
and enlargement of a first-floor window
on the side elevation
71353 | 25 Thomas Change of use from Public House (sui AC 29/01/2025 1 10 10 1 10 10
Street, generis) to a 10 Bedroom (single
Radcliffe, occupancy) HMO
Manchester,
M26 2UH
71405 | 8 Tenterden Change of use from office (Class E) to 8 AC 11/07/2025 1 8 8 1 8 8
Street, Bury, bed (single occupancy) HMO (sui
BL9 OEG generis), with 2 no velux rooflights at
front and 2 no velux rooflights at rear and
erection of wall to define yard side
boundary
71438 | 53 Bury Street, | Change of use from care home (Class AC 25/06/2025 1 9 9 1 9 9
Radcliffe, C2) to 9 bedroom (single occupancy)
Manchester, House of Multiple Occupation (HMO)
M26 2GB (Sui Generis)




212 abed

Appn. Location Proposal Decision | Decision Total Bedrooms | Occupancy | Net Net Net
number date HMOs (where HMO bedroom | change in
known) change | change occupancy
71449 | 31 Hilton Change of use from 5 bed/ 6 person AC 19/03/2025 1 7 7 0 2 1
Crescent, House in Multiple Occupation (Class C4)
Prestwich, to 7 bed/ 7 person House in Multiple
Manchester, Occupation (HMO) (Sui Generis) and loft
M259NQ conversion with rear dormer
71567 | 31 Grosvenor Lawful development certificate for LD 24/03/2025 1 6 6 1 6
Street, proposed change of use from a
Prestwich, dwellinghouse (Use Class C3); the
Manchester, internal layout will be revised to allow the
M25 1ES use of the property as a small house in
multiple occupation 'HMO' for up to six
individuals (Use Class C4).
71619 | 156 Change of use from existing 6-bed House | AC 23/04/2025 1 8 9 0 2
Walmersley in Multiple Occupation (HMO) (Class C4)
Road, Bury, BL9 | to 8-bed, 9 person House in Multiple
6LL Occupation (HMO) (Sui Generis)
71638 | 52 Manchester | Change of use from dwelling (Class C3) AC 23/04/2025 1 8 8 1 8 8
Road, Bury, BL9 | to 8 bed, 8 person, house in multiple
0SX occupation (HMO) (Sui Generis) with loft
conversion including rear dormers and
front velux rooflight
71641 | 17 Belle Vue Change of use of existing 6 bed housein | R 25/04/2025 1 8 8 0 2
Terrace, Bury, multiple occupation (HMO) to 8 bed
BL9 OSY (single occupancy) HMO (Sui Generis)
71644 | 221 Change of use of existing 6 bed housein | AC 21/05/2025 1 8 8 0 2
Walmersley multiple occupation (HMO) to 8 bed
Road, Bury, BL9 | (single occupancy) HMO (Sui Generis)
5DF
71755 | 89 Wood Change of use from former hot food AC 30/05/2025 1 3 4 1 3 4
Street, Bury, takeaway with first floor residential flat
BL8 2QU (Sui Generis/Class C3) to 3 no. bedroom

(maximum 4 no. occupants) house in




€1z abed

Appn. Location Proposal Decision | Decision Total Bedrooms | Occupancy | Net Net Net
number date HMOs (where HMO bedroom | change in
known) change | change occupancy
multiple occupation (HMO) (Class C4);
External alterations
71842 | 527 Change of use from dwelling (Class C3) AC 03/09/2025 1 7 7 1 7 7
Manchester to 7 no. bedroom/ 7 person HMO (Sui
Road, Bury, BL9 | Generis); Rear dormer extension;
9SH Fenestration alterations to rear and cycle
storage
71944 | 44 Manchester | Change of use from dwelling (Class C3) R 10/07/2025 1 8 8 1 8 8
Road, Bury, BL9 | to 8 bed (single occupancy) housein
0SX multiple occupation (HMO) (Sui Generis)
with new velux rooflights to front/rear
71992 | 157 Bolton Change of use from commercial use R 28/07/2025 1 5 6 1 5 6
Road, Bury, BL8 | (Class E) to 5 bed, 6 occupants house in
2NW multiple occupation (HMO) (Class C4)
and associated external alterations
(including new doors and windows and
removal of advertisement hoarding)
72047 | 80 Alfred Lawful development certificate for LD 04/08/2025 1 6 6 1 6
Street, Bury, proposed change of use of dwelling
BL9 9ED (Class C3) to 6 person House in Multiple
Occupation (Class C4)
72133 | 459 Rochdale Lawful development certificate for LD 05/09/2025 1 6 6 1 6 6
Old Road, Bury, | proposed loft conversion including
BLS 7TB dormer window to rear elevation, roof
lights to front elevation and change of
use from Dwellinghouse (C3) to 6 person
HMO (C4)
72144 | 108 Rochdale Lawful development certificate for LD 29/08/2025 1 6 6 1 6 6

Old Road, Bury,
BL9 7LR

proposed conversion of dwelling into
HMO




¥Tz abed

Appn. Location Proposal Decision | Decision Total Bedrooms | Occupancy | Net Net Net
number date HMOs (where HMO bedroom | change in
known) change | change occupancy
72181 | 44 Manchester | Lawful development certificate for LD 04/09/2025 1 6 6 1 6 6
Road, Bury, BL9 | proposed change of use from C3
0SX dwelling, to 6 bed, 6 person HMO C4 use,
with internal works and new velux roof
lights to front and rear
72269 | 10 Irwell Street, | Lawful development certificate for LD 02/10/2025 1 6 6 1 6 6
Bury, BLS9 OHE proposed change of use from C3
dwelling, to maximum 6 person HMO C4
use, with Loft Conversion including
Dormer Extension to Rear Elevation and
Roof Lights to Front Elevation.
Application
states 6
but plans
17 Belle Vue Lawful development certificate for show
Terrace, Bury, existing use as small HMO (Use Class potential
72361 | BL9 0SY C4) R 03/11/2025 1 9 for 9. 1 9
Change of use from dwelling (Class C3)
to 8 bed house in multiple occupation
240 Bolton (HMO) (sui generis) including
Road, Bury, BL8 | extending/raising the roof over existing
71978 | 2PA rear garage AC 23/10/2025 1 8 11 1 8 11
7-9 Annara Change of use from offices (Use Class E)
House, Bury to 14 no. bedroom House with Multiple
Road, Radcliffe, | Occupants - HMO (Sui Generis) to
Manchester, include alterations to existing
71924 | M26 2UG elevations/openings WDN 17/11/2025 1 14 14 1 14 14




Rooms to let on www.openrent.co.uk (24/09/2025)

Location Total bedrooms | Total tenants | Monthly rent | Min tenancy
in property (if known)
Heaton house, Brierley 5 £625 6 months
Street, Bury
Irwell Street, BL9 6 6 £750 - £875 | 12 months
Stephen Street South, BL8 | 6 £695-£725 | 6 months
Rochdale Road, BL9 5 £645 - £795 | 6 months
Pine Street South, BL9 3 £700 1 month
Manchester Road, BL9 5 £575 - £620 | 6 months
Walmersley Road, BL9 3 3 £595 - £725 | 6 months
Monmouth Avenue, BL9 6 6 £695 - £875 | 6 months
Walmersley Road, BL9 8 £650 - £750 | 6 months
Milner Avenue, BL9 4 £800 6 months
Lily Hill Street, M45 6 6 £650 - £760 | 6 months
Chaucer Avnue, M26 6 £695 6 months
Charnley Mews, M45 5 £650 6 months
Radcliffe, M26 3 £625 3 months
Oaks Close, M25 4 £320 1 month
Weekend let
only
The Downs, M25 3 £650 1 month
Circular Road, M25 5 £770 6 months
(2 tenants)
George Street, Prestwich, 5 £800 10 months
M25 (2 tenants)
Recent let agreed listed on www.openrent.co.uk (24/09/2025)
Location Total bedrooms | Total tenants | Monthly rent | Min tenancy
in property (if known)
New Vernon Street, Bury, 3 £495 6 months
BL9
Bell Lane, BL9 3 3 £575 1 month
Hazel Road, M45 3 £650 6 months
Parnham Close, M26 4 £550 3 months
Rooms to let on www.openrent.co.uk (18/11/2025)
Location Total bedrooms | Total tenants | Monthly rent | Min tenancy
in property (if known)
Heaton house, Brierley 5 £650 6 months
Street, Bury
Irwell Street, BL9 6 6 £695 12 months
Mill Yard, BL9 5 £625 6 months
Parsonage Street, BL9 5 £500 - £850 | 6 months
Ruth Street, BL9 6 £657 6 months
Poplar Avenue, BL9 3 3 £500 6 months
Walmersley Road, BL9 8 £845 6 months
Walmersley Road, BL9 8 £600-£875 6 months
Ferngrove House, BL9 10 £695 6 months
Cromer Road, BL8 3 4 £550-£899 6 months

Page 215



http://www.openrent.co.uk/
http://www.openrent.co.uk/
http://www.openrent.co.uk/

Location Total bedrooms | Total tenants | Monthly rent | Min tenancy
in property (if known)
Milner Avenue, BL9 4 £800 6 months
Market Street, BL8 4 4 £550 - £625 | 6 months
Chaucer Avenue, M26 6 6 £650 - £695 | 6 months
Charnley Mews, M45 8 £550 - £750 | 6 months
Livsey Street, M45 3 3 £750 6 months
The Downs, M25 3 £650 1 month
Circular Road, M25 5 £770 6 months
(2 tenants)
Prestwich, M25 5 £800 - £850 | 6 months

(2 tenants)




Page 217




This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda lIte

Bliny,

REPORT FOR NOTING

Agenda
Item 5
DECISION OF: PLANNING CONTROL COMMITTEE
DATE: 16 December 2025
SUBJECT: DELEGATED DECISIONS
REPORT FROM: HEAD OF DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT
CONTACT OFFICER: DAVID MARNO
TYPE OF DECISION: COUNCIL
FREEDOM OF This paper is within the public domain
INFORMATION/STATUS:
SUMMARY: The report lists:
Recent delegated planning decisions since the last PCC
OPTIONS & The Committee is recommended to the note the report
RECOMMENDED OPTION | and appendices

IMPLICATIONS:

Corporate Aims/Policy Do the proposals accord with the Policy
Framework: Framework? Yes

Statement by the S151 Officer:

Financial Implications and Risk Executive Director of Resources to advise
Considerations: regarding risk management

Statement by Executive Director N/A
of Resources:

Equality/Diversity implications: No

Considered by Monitoring Officer: | N/A

Wards Affected: All listed

Scrutiny Interest: N/A
Page 219




TRACKING/PROCESS DIRECTOR:

Chief Executive/ Executive Ward Members Partners
Strategic Leadership Member/Chair
Team
Scrutiny Committee Committee Council

1.0 BACKGROUND

This is a monthly report to the Planning Control Committee of the delegated planning
decisions made by the officers of the Council.

2.0 CONCLUSION

That the item be noted.

List of Background Papers:-None

Contact Details:-

David Marno, Head of Development Management

Planning Services, Department for Resources and Regulation
3 Knowsley Place

Bury BLS OEJ]

Tel: 0161 253 5291
Email: d.marno@bury.gov.uk

Page 220



mailto:d.marno@bury.gov.uk

Planning applications decided using Delegated Powers Eﬁy

Between 10/11/2025 and 05/12/2025 coune
Ward:
Application No.: 71807 App. Type: CONDIS 28/11/2025 Approve
. Land between 18 & 24 Bradley Fold Road, Radcliffe, Bolton, BL2 5QD
Location:
Proposal: Application to discharge conditions 3 (materials), 4 (contaminated land preliminary risk
assessment), 7 (drainage) and 9 (construction traffic management plan) on planning
permission 68667
Application No.: 71912 App. Type: CONDIS 03/12/2025 Approve
] Former Bury Police Office HQ, Irwell Street, Bury, BL9 OHE
Location:
Proposal: Application to discharge statutory Biodiversity Net Gain condition on planning permission
70565
Application No.: 72096 App. Type: CONDIS 19/11/2025 Approve
. 19 Holyrood Road, Prestwich, Manchester, M25 1PD
Location:
Proposal: Discharge of condition 4 (site verification report), condition 6 (construction traffic
management plan) and condition 9 (materials) on p/p 64375
Application No.: 72318 App. Type: CONDIS 01/12/2025 Approve
. 33 Mount Pleasant, Nangreaves, Bury, BL9 6SP
Location:
Proposal: Application to discharge condition no. 3 (material sample) of planning permission 71485
Application No.: 72375 App. Type: CONDIS 05/12/2025 Approve
. Ainsworth Nursing Home, Knowsley Road, Ainsworth, Radcliffe, Bolton, BL2 5PT
Location:
Proposal: Application to discharge condition nos. 3 (materials); 4 (ground materials) and 12
(construction traffic management plan) on planning permission 68661
Application No.: 72378 App. Type: CONDIS 19/11/2025 Approve
. Land adjacent to 35 Hilton Street, Bury, BL9 6LT
Location:
Proposal: Application to discharge conditions on planning permission 69459:
Condition 3 (materials), condition 5 (contaminated land & ground/landfill gas risk),
condition 6 (remediation strategy), condition 7 (drainage scheme), condition 8
(landscaping scheme), condition 9 (details of foundations/drainage/highway remedial
works), condition 10 (construction traffic management plan)
Application No.: 72380 App. Type: FUL 28/11/2025 Approve with Conditions
] 5 Hawkshaw Lane, Tottington, Bury, BL8 41Z
Location:
Proposal: Extension / alterations to existing roof with rear dormer and patio doors to first floor level
at rear; partial render to side and rear elevations to match existing
Application No.: 72381 App. Type: FUL 19/11/2025 Approve with Conditions
. 125 Starling Road, Bury, BL8 2HF
Location:
Proposal: Single storey extension at side / rear

Page 221
Page 1 of 11 05/12/2025



Application No.: 72427 App. Type: CONDIS 19/11/2025 Approve
7 Whittaker Street, Radcliffe, Manchester, M26 2DT

Location:

Proposal: Application to discharge condition 3 (confirmation no contamination), condition 4 (soil
testing), condition 9 (servicing arrangements & turning facilities), condition 10 (car park
surfacing), condition 11 (refuse storage) on planning permission 71228

Application No.: 72453 App. Type: CONDIS 05/12/2025 Split Decision

. Land off Parkinson Street, Bury, BL9 6NY

Location:

Proposal: Application to discharge condition 5 (remediation strategy plots 1-3 and 5-11) and
condition 8 (drainage management) on planning permission 71577

Application No.: 72459 App. Type: CONDIS 19/11/2025 Approve

. Ferns Farm, Turton Road, Tottington, Bury, BL8 3QH

Location:

Proposal: Application to discharge condition 14 (materials schedule) on planning permission 71688

Application No.: 72464 App. Type: CONDIS 05/12/2025 Approve

. Meadow View, Watling Street, Tottington, Bury, BL8 3QR

Location:

Proposal: Application to discharge condition 3 (Habitat Management and Monitoring Plan (the
HMMP) and the Statutory Biodiversity Gain Plan on planning permission 72149

Application No.: 72465 App. Type: CONDIS 28/11/2025 Approve

. Bury Contract Services, Willow Street, Bury, BL9 7QZ

Location:

Proposal: Application to discharge condition 6 (remediation strategy) on planning permission 71302

Application No.: 72475 App. Type: REG5 13/11/2025 Raise No Objection

. Lakeland Discount Furnishers Ltd, York Street, Bury, BL9 7AR

Location:

Proposal: Regulation 5 notice of intention to upgrade of an existing telecommunications base station
comprising removal of 6 no antennas and replacement with 6 no new antennas, the
relocation of 1 no existing dish onto proposed support pole, and ancillary development
thereto on the rooftop of Lakeland Discount Furniture. Top height of antennas to be
16.90m AGL.

Application No.: 72477 App. Type: CONDIS 05/12/2025 Approve

. 68-70 Bury New Road, Prestwich, Manchester, M25 0JU
Location:
Proposal: Application to discharge condition 3 (highways) on planning permission 70339:

Works completed as per the agreed scope

Application No.: 72565 App. Type: CONDIS 28/11/2025 Approve

. Land at Billberry Close & Albert Road, Whitefield, Manchester, M45 8BL
Location:
Proposal: Application to discharge condition 3 (contaminated land) on planning permission 69535

Ward: Bury East

Application No.: 72231 App. Type: FUL 14/11/2025 Approve with Conditions
. Performance House, Heywood Street, Bury, BL9 7DZ

Location:

Proposal: Change of use of part car showroom (Sui Generis) to retail (Class E(a)); Two storey

extension for ground floor retail & office and first floor office use; External alterations

Page 222
Page 2 of 11 05/12/2025



Application No.: 72326 App. Type: ADV 28/11/2025 Approve with Conditions
Bury Metro Arts Association Derby Hall, Market Street, Bury, BL9 0BW

Location:
Proposal: 2 no. non-illuminated projecting / hanging signs; Vinyls to front glazing
Application No.: 72415 App. Type: P3JPA 20/11/2025 Prior Approval Required and Refused
First floor, 62 Bolton Street, Bury, BL9 OLL
Location:
Proposal: Prior approval for proposed change of use of first floor from commercial (Class E) to 1 no.
flat (Class C3)
Application No.: 72430 App. Type: GPDE 12/11/2025 Prior Approval Not Required - Extension
i 249 Rochdale OIld Road, Bury, BL9 7SA
Location:
Proposal: Prior approval for proposed single storey rear extension
Application No.: 72438 App. Type: FUL 19/11/2025 Approve with Conditions
} Fairfield General Hospital, Rochdale Old Road, Bury, BL9 7TD
Location:
Proposal: Variation of condition no. 2 on planning permission 70502 (Installation of a generator
compound containing 2 no. generators and 2 no. fuel tanks with surrounding fence): Best
Available Techniques (BAT) guidelines are no longer applicable, the generators should now
be assessed against the Medium Combustion Plant Directive (MCPD)
Application No.: 72484 App. Type: GPDE 04/12/2025 Prior Approval Not Required - Extension
i 52 James Street, Pimhole, Bury, BL9 7EG
Location:
Proposal: Prior approval for proposed single storey rear extension
Application No.: 72517 App. Type: LDCE 25/11/2025 Lawful Development
l 4 Irwell Street, Bury, BL9 OHE
Location:
Proposal: Lawful Development Certificate for an Existing 6 no. bedroom 6 no. person House in
mulitple occupany (HMO) Class C4
Application No.: 72522 App. Type: GPDE 05/12/2025 Prior Approval Not Required - Extension
i 20 Benson Street, Bury, BL9 7EP
Location:
Proposal: Prior approval for proposed single storey rear extension
Ward: Bury East - Moorside
Application No.: 72055 App. Type: FUL 20/11/2025 Refused
i 165 Walmersley Road, Bury, BL9 5DE
Location:
Proposal: Two/single storey rear extension with garage extension at rear/boundary wall
Application No.: 72379 App. Type: FUL 10/11/2025 Approve with Conditions
} 109 Walmersley Road, Bury, BL9 5AN
Location:
Proposal: Change of use from dwellinghouse (Class C3) to 8 bed (single occupancy) House in
Multiple Occupation (Sui Generis) together with proposed external alterations including
new rear dormer conversion and new roof and dormer windows
Page 223
Page 3 of 11 05/12/2025



Application No.: 72518 App. Type: GPDE 05/12/2025 Prior Approval Not Required - Extension
} The Beeches, Castle Hill Road, Bury, BL9 6UN
Location:
Proposal: Prior approval for proposed single storey rear extension
Ward: Bury East - Redvales
Application No.: 72224 App. Type: FUL 24/11/2025 Approve with Conditions
l 102 Nelson Street, Bury, BL9 9HX
Location:
Proposal: Reinstatement of mid-terraced house at no. 102 Nelson Street following collapse after gas
explosion
Application No.: 72225 App. Type: FUL 24/11/2025 Approve with Conditions
i 104 Nelson Street, Bury, BL9 9HX
Location:
Proposal: Reinstatement of mid-terraced house at no. 104 Nelson Street following collapse after gas
explosion
Application No.: 72226 App. Type: FUL 24/11/2025 Approve with Conditions
B 106 Nelson Street, Bury, BL9 9HX
Location:
Proposal: Reinstatement of end-terraced house at no. 106 Nelson Street following collapse after gas
explosion
Application No.: 72248 App. Type: FUL 18/11/2025 Approve with Conditions
i 57 Millett Street, Bury, BL9 0]JB
Location:
Proposal: Single storey extension at rear and the construction of a boundary wall at rear including a
door to rear alleyway
Application No.: 72313 App. Type: FUL 13/11/2025 Refused
i Land at rear of 354 Manchester Road, Bury, BL9 9NR
Location:
Proposal: Erection of 1 no. dwelling
Application No.: 72317 App. Type: FUL 19/11/2025 Approve with Conditions
} 30 St Peters Road, Bury, BL9 9RB
Location:
Proposal: Single storey extension at side/rear with conversion of existing garage to living
accommodation.
Application No.: 72423 App. Type: FUL 19/11/2025 Approve with Conditions
i 12 Silverdale Close, Bury, BL9 9GE
Location:
Proposal: Single storey / two storey extension at side and new door to side elevation
Ward: Bury West
Application No.: 72315 App. Type: ADV 28/11/2025 Refused
i Pavement adj Rose & Crown car park, Lowercroft Road, Bury, BL8 2EY
Location:
Proposal: Non-illuminated banner sign attached to existing telegraph pole
Page 224
Page 4 of 11 05/12/2025



Application No.: 72353 App. Type: ADV 12/11/2025 Refused

. 4 Colville Drive, Bury, BL8 2DX
Location:

Proposal: Advertisement consent for 2 no. non illuminated signs attached to side garden walls of
466 & 474 Bolton Road

Ward: Bury West - Church (Historic)

Application No.: 72489 App. Type: FUL 05/12/2025 Approve with Conditions
. 15 Garstang Drive, Bury, BL8 2]S

Location:

Proposal: Single storey extension at side/rear and front porch infill extension with external

alterations

Ward: Bury West - Elton

Application No.: 72403 App. Type: FUL 13/11/2025 Approve with Conditions
. 21 Stockton Drive, Bury, BL8 1UQ

Location:

Proposal: Single storey side extension

Application No.: 72420 App. Type: FUL 25/11/2025 Approve with Conditions

] 4 Horsham Close, Bury, BL8 1XY

Location:

Proposal: First floor extension at side with conversion of existing garage to living accommodation
and new window openings.

Application No.: 72433 App. Type: LDCP 28/11/2025 Lawful Development

. 18 Wragby Close, Bury, BL8 1XD

Location:

Proposal: Lawful development certificate for proposed single storey pitched roof rear extension.

Application No.: 72448 App. Type: FUL 24/11/2025 Approve with Conditions

. 47 Rudgwick Drive, Bury, BL8 1YE

Location:

Proposal: Two Storey Extension at Rear; First Floor Extension at Side and Extension to Existing Front
Porch

Application No.: 72456 App. Type: LDCP 04/12/2025 Lawful Development

. 9 Winchester Close, Bury, BL8 1YQ

Location:

Proposal: Lawful development certificate for proposed demolition of conservatory, partial demolition
of rear dining room extension and erection of extension to the rear of the property across
the full width of the original building in red brick and white/black windows/doors to tie in
to the existing building; Replacement of windows, fascias, gutters and soffits, new front
door

Application No.: 72479 App. Type: FUL 04/12/2025 Approve with Conditions
14 Hebburn Drive, Bury, BL8 1ED

Location:

Proposal: Side extension with rear dormer extension

Ward: North Manor

Page 225
Page 5 of 11 05/12/2025



Application No.: 72222 App. Type: FUL 03/12/2025 Approve with Conditions
1 Mayfield Road, Ramsbottom, Bury, BLO 9TB

Location:

Proposal: Single Storey Wrap Around Extension; New boundary wall

Application No.: 72283 App. Type: FUL 25/11/2025 Approve with Conditions

) Brick Barn Farm, Whipney Lane, Tottington, Bury, BL8 4HT

Location:

Proposal: Erection of self-contained granny annex ancillary to the existing dwelling

Application No.: 72417 App. Type: FUL 20/11/2025 Approve with Conditions

i Hollymount Farm, Hollymount Lane, Tottington, Bury, BL8 4HP

Location:

Proposal: Removal of condition 17 (sprinkler/misting system) from planning permission 68505
(Demolition works and redevelopment for 4no. new dwellings (3 new build, 1 barn
conversion) with car ports and two storey extension at side of existing farmhouse;
associated landscaping; access works): sprinkler system is not required

Application No.: 72498 App. Type: PIP 04/12/2025 Refused

} Land off Bentley Lane, Bury, BL9 6RZ

Location:

Proposal: Application for permission in principle for erection of up to 9 no. dwellings

Application No.: 72513 App. Type: GPDE 04/12/2025 Prior Approval Not Required - Extension

i 33 Oak Avenue, Ramsbottom, Bury, BLO 9UY

Location:

Proposal: Prior approval for proposed single storey rear extension

Ward: Prestwich - Holyrood

Application No.: 72079 App. Type: FUL 26/11/2025 Approve with Conditions

} 93 Simister Lane, Prestwich, Manchester, M25 2SU

Location:

Proposal: Single storey front extension, two/single storey extensions at rear with ground floor
balcony at rear; Render to external elevations

Application No.: 72311 App. Type: FUL 14/11/2025 Approve with Conditions

} 4 Brooklawn Drive, Prestwich, Manchester, M25 2GS

Location:

Proposal: Two/single storey extension at side/rear

Application No.: 72320 App. Type: FUL 24/11/2025 Approve with Conditions

i 32 Parrenthorn Road, Prestwich, Manchester, M25 2RL

Location:

Proposal: Single storey front/side/rear extension along with a front canopy

Application No.: 72391 App. Type: FUL 04/12/2025 Approve with Conditions

} 50 Heys Road, Prestwich, Manchester, M25 1JY
Location:
Proposal: Two/single storey rear extension
Page 226
Page 6 of 11 05/12/2025



Application No.: 72392 App. Type: FUL 12/11/2025 Approve with Conditions
6 Pine Grove, Prestwich, Manchester, M25 3DR

Location:
Proposal: Replacement single storey rear extension
Application No.: 72450 App. Type: OUT 04/12/2025 Refused
Brook Farm, Simister Lane, Prestwich, Manchester, M25 2SB
Location:
Proposal: Outline application (all matters reserved except access) for the demolition of an existing

farmstead and the erection of 9no. dwellings and associated works

Ward: Prestwich - Sedgley

Application No.: 72388 App. Type: FUL 11/11/2025 Approve with Conditions
] 26 Hereford Drive, Prestwich, Manchester, M25 0AG

Location:

Proposal: Single storey and first floor rear extensions

Application No.: 72463 App. Type: FUL 05/12/2025 Approve with Conditions
. 12A Rectory Avenue, Prestwich, Manchester, M25 1DE

Location:

Proposal: Erection of 1 no. dwelling following demolition of existing dwelling

Ward: Prestwich - St Mary's

Application No.: 72321 App. Type: FUL 28/11/2025 Refused
. 15 Barnhill Road, Prestwich, Manchester, M25 9WH

Location:

Proposal: External escape staircase to side

Application No.: 72363 App. Type: FUL 01/12/2025 Approve with Conditions
] 7 Butt Hill Avenue, Prestwich, Manchester, M25 9PN

Location:

Proposal: Extension and conversion of existing detached garage into granny flat.

Application No.: 72394 App. Type: FUL 19/11/2025 Approve with Conditions
. 6 Kingswood Road, Prestwich, Manchester, M25 3AB

Location:

Proposal: Single storey rear extension

Application No.: 72440 App. Type: FUL 01/12/2025 Approve with Conditions
] 26 Willow Road, Prestwich, Manchester, M25 3AG

Location:

Proposal: Single storey rear extension

Application No.: 72488 App. Type: LDCP 28/11/2025 Lawful Development
. 4 Hamilton Close, Prestwich, Manchester, M25 9]S

Location:

Proposal: Lawful development certificate for proposed replacement of existing garage door with part

brick work and part half-glazed pedestrian door

Ward: Radcliffe - East

Page 227
Page 7 of 11 05/12/2025



Application No.: 71917 App. Type: FUL 01/12/2025 Approve with Conditions
Fragrance Oils International Ltd, Eton Hill Road, Radcliffe, Manchester, M26 2FR

Location:

Proposal: Demolition of an existing single storey, mixed use building and steel framed warehouse;
Erection of a two storey building to provide office, research and development and
warehouse facilities

Application No.: 72335 App. Type: FUL 03/12/2025 Approve with Conditions

i Globe Industrial Estate, Darbyshire Street, Radcliffe, Manchester, M26 9TA

Location:

Proposal: Erection of industrial unit (Use Class B2/B8) with associated parking

Application No.: 72395 App. Type: LDCP 12/11/2025 Lawful Development

. 74 Bury Road, Radcliffe, Manchester, M26 2UU

Location:

Proposal: Lawful development certificate for proposed use of a (C3a) dwelling as a children's home
for a single child, with a manager and two carers who would stay overnight, working on a
rota basis (C2)

Application No.: 72398 App. Type: FUL 28/11/2025 Approve with Conditions

. Land at Green Street, Radcliffe

Location:

Proposal: Variation of condition nos. 1 (approved drawings), 4 (remediation), 8 (noise), 21
(vehicular & pedestrian arrangements), 22 (turning facilities), 23 (car and cycle parking)
and 24 (bin storage) on planning permission 70333 (Mixed-use development comprising
132 apartments, bar, commercial and office spaces) - include a phasing plan with
subsequent phasing of the remediation strategy; parking servicing and bin storage
arrangements

Application No.: 72422 App. Type: FUL 25/11/2025 Approve with Conditions

] 2 Coventry Road, Radcliffe, Manchester, M26 4FY

Location:

Proposal: First floor extension at side

Ward: Radcliffe - North and Ainsworth

Application No.: 72124 App. Type: LBC 18/11/2025 Approve with Conditions
] Ainsworth Unitarian Chapel, Knowsley Road, Ainsworth, Radcliffe, Bolton, BL2 5PZ
Location:
Proposal: Listed Building Consent for installation of ambulant disabled WC, brew area to existing
room and replacement timber single glazed side opening light in mullioned window
Application No.: 72237 App. Type: FUL 26/11/2025 Approve with Conditions
. 5 Stonedelph Close, Ainsworth, Radcliffe, Bolton, BL2 5SH
Location:
Proposal: First floor front/side extension with cladding
Application No.: 72354 App. Type: FUL 26/11/2025 Approve with Conditions
] 22 Countess Lane, Radcliffe, Manchester, M26 3WF
Location:
Proposal: Provision of a new vehicular access including a dropped kerb and creation of a new
driveway
Application No.: 72393 App. Type: FUL 05/12/2025 Approve with Conditions
. 9 Berkeley Crescent, Radcliffe, Manchester, M26 3TR
Location:
Proposal: Single storey side extension linked to existing detached outbuilding; Single storey front

extension; Formation of first floor balcony at side above existing carport

Page 228
Page 8 of 11 05/12/2025



Application No.: 72396 App. Type: PMBPA 13/11/2025 Prior Approval Required and Granted
344 Bradley Fold Road, Radcliffe, Bolton, BL2 6RL

Location:

Proposal: Prior approval for a proposed change of use from agricultural building to 1no. dwelling

Application No.: 72405 App. Type: FUL 13/11/2025 Approve with Conditions
. 41 Moss Shaw Way, Radcliffe, Manchester, M26 4WT

Location:

Proposal: Single storey extensions at front/rear and two storey side extension with conversion of

garage to living accommodation

Application No.: 72436 App. Type: PIP 14/11/2025 Refused
. Land at Gorse Hill Stables, 160 Starling Road, Bury, BL8 2HJ]

Location:

Proposal: Application for permission in principle for erection of up to 9 no. dwellings

Ward: Radcliffe - West

Application No.: 72282 App. Type: FUL 01/12/2025 Approve with Conditions
. Millwood Primary Special School, School Street, Radcliffe, Manchester, M26 3BW
Location:
Proposal: Variation of condition nos. 12 (landscaping scheme) to mitigate loss of trees/vegetation,
13 (tree removal/retention plan) revised tree retention and protection drawing to reflect
current situation, 15 (biodiversity mitigation and enhancement) updated report to reflect
mitigations for lost trees and condition 3 (materials) change of colour of profiled metal
roof system from RAL 7004 to RAL 0005500, and change of curtain walling material to
Meteon Steel Grey (Satin) A21.7.0 following approval of planning permission 70576
Application No.: 72343 App. Type: FUL 11/11/2025 Approve with Conditions
6 Fernbank, Radcliffe, Manchester, M26 1YB
Location:
Proposal: Raise roof ridge height by 500mm; Loft conversion with rear dormer
Application No.: 72478 App. Type: LDCE 28/11/2025 Lawful Development
. Unit 1, 136 Sion Street, Radcliffe, M26 3SB
Location:
Proposal: Lawful development certificate for existing general industrial use (Class B2)

Ward: Ramsbottom

Application No.: 72457 App. Type: PIP 13/11/2025 Refused
. Land off Whalley Road, Ramsbottom

Location:

Proposal: Application for permission in principle for up to 9 no. dwellings

Application No.: 72482 App. Type: LDCP 25/11/2025 Lawful Development
. 64 Fir Street, Ramsbottom, Bury, BLO 0BG

Location:

Proposal: Lawful development certifcate for proposed hip to gable and rear dormer

Application No.: 72483 App. Type: FUL 05/12/2025 Approve with Conditions
. 64 Fir Street, Ramsbottom, Bury, BLO 0BG

Location:

Proposal: Two storey side extension

Page 229
Page 9 of 11 05/12/2025



Application No.: 72485 App. Type: FUL 04/12/2025 Approve with Conditions
3 Astley Hall Drive, Ramsbottom, Bury, BLO 9DF

Location:

Proposal: Single storey side/rear extension following demolition of garage

Application No.: 72486 App. Type: FUL 05/12/2025 Approve with Conditions
. 255 Whittingham Drive, Ramsbottom, Bury, BLO 9NY

Location:

Proposal: Variation of condition no. 2 (approved drawings) on planning permission 71852 (Single

storey rear extension; loft conversion with rear dormer and raise roof ridge height): for
the addition of a high level window above head height on side of dormer cheek

Ward:  Tottington

Application No.: 72419 App. Type: FUL 18/11/2025 Approve with Conditions
. 27 Thornfield Road, Tottington, Bury, BL8 4BX

Location:

Proposal: Single storey rear extension

Application No.: 72533 App. Type: GPDE 01/12/2025 Prior Approval Not Required - Extension
. 1 Hawthorn Crescent, Tottington, Bury, BL8 3NG

Location:

Proposal: Prior approval for proposed single storey rear extension

Ward: Whitefield + Unsworth - Besses

Application No.: 71945 App. Type: FUL 27/11/2025 Approve with Conditions
. 40 Swinton Crescent, Bury, BL9 8PB

Location:

Proposal: Two storey extension at side/rear

Application No.: 72443 App. Type: FUL 04/12/2025 Approve with Conditions
] 10 Wenning Close, Whitefield, Manchester, M45 8]L

Location:

Proposal: Single storey extension at rear

Application No.: 72476 App. Type: LDCP 25/11/2025 Lawful Development
. 8 Conway Avenue, Whitefield, Manchester, M45 7AZ

Location:

Proposal: Lawful development certificate for proposed hip to gable roof extension and rear dormer

Ward:  Whitefield + Unsworth - Pilkington Park

Application No.: 72185 App. Type: FUL 19/11/2025 Approve with Conditions
. 4 Parkstone Avenue, Whitefield, Manchester, M45 7QH

Location:

Proposal: Demolition of existing dwelling and erection of 1 no. replacement dwelling

Application No.: 72306 App. Type: FUL 03/12/2025 Approve with Conditions
. 11 Marle Croft, Whitefield, Manchester, M45 7NB

Location:

Proposal: First floor front extension; Pitch roof to garage conversion; Single storey front extension;

Cedar panelling to front elevation.
Page 230
Page 10 of 11 05/12/2025



Application No.: 72344 App. Type: FUL 28/11/2025 Approve with Conditions
2 Fairhaven Avenue, Whitefield, Manchester, M45 7QG

Location:
Proposal: First floor front and side extensions; single storey rear extension; juliette balconies at
rear; rear dormer; new roof windows and all elevations to be rendered.
Application No.: 72358 App. Type: FUL 14/11/2025 Approve with Conditions
. 20 Church Lane, Whitefield, Manchester, M45 7NF
Location:
Proposal: Conversion of existing garage to lounge and erection of a single storey detached garage to
front/side
Application No.: 72421 App. Type: FUL 14/11/2025 Approve with Conditions
] 14 Philips Park Road East, Whitefield, Manchester, M45 7HJ
Location:
Proposal: Single storey extension at side
Application No.: 72432 App. Type: FUL 19/11/2025 Refused
. Whitefield Garage, 325 Bury New Road, Whitefield, Manchester, M45 7SE
Location:
Proposal: Variation of condition 11 (operating times) on planning permission 55660 (Redevelopment

of petrol filling station): to allow for 24 hour operation of site

Ward: Whitefield + Unsworth - Unsworth

Application No.: 72215 App. Type: FUL 20/11/2025 Approve with Conditions
15 Borrowdale Drive, Bury, BL9 8HT
Location:
Proposal: Hip to gable roof extension with loft conversion and rear dormer; Single/two storey side
extension and single storey rear extension
Application No.: 72270 App. Type: FUL 19/11/2025 Approve with Conditions
. McDonalds Restaurant, Little 66, Bury, BL9 8RD
Location:
Proposal: Installation of 1 no. additional rapid electric vehicle charging station; Upgrade to the 2 no.
existing EV chargers and ancillary equipment existing within the car park
Application No.: 72402 App. Type: FUL 17/11/2025 Approve with Conditions
. McDonalds Restaurant Park, Little 66, Bury, BL9 8RS
Location:
Proposal: Reconfiguration of shopfront to include new access door and refurbish existing doors and
windows
Application No.: 72452 App. Type: FUL 25/11/2025 Approve with Conditions
. 45 Randale Drive, Bury, BL9 8NF
Location:
Proposal: Demolition of the existing single storey side/rear extension and erection of a new single
storey side/rear extension.
Application No.: 72492 App. Type: AG 19/11/2025 Prior Approval Required and Refused
. Land west of Croft Lane, Bury, BL9 8QH
Location:
Proposal: Prior approval for proposed agricultural building
Total Number of Applications Decided: 97

Page 231
Page 11 of 11 05/12/2025



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT FOR NOTING

Agenda |tei§73@[ﬁy

COUNCIL

Agenda
Item 6

DECISION OF:

PLANNING CONTROL COMMITTEE

DATE:

16 December 2025

SUBJECT:

PLANNING APPEALS

REPORT FROM:

HEAD OF DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT

CONTACT OFFICER:

DAVID MARNO

TYPE OF DECISION:

COUNCIL

FREEDOM OF This paper is within the public domain
INFORMATION/STATUS:
SUMMARY: Planning Appeals:

- Lodged

- Determined

Enforcement Appeals

- Lodged

- Determined
OPTIONS & The Committee is recommended to the note the report

RECOMMENDED OPTION

and appendices

IMPLICATIONS:

Corporate Aims/Policy

Do the proposals accord with the Policy

Framework: Framework? Yes
Statement by the S151 Officer:
Financial Implications and Risk Executive Director of Resources to advise

Considerations:

regarding risk management

Statement by Executive Director N/A

of Resources:

Equality/Diversity implications: No

Considered by Monitoring Officer: | N/A

.|.
Q)

Q
©
N
o
(0V]




Wards Affected:

All listed

Scrutiny Interest:

N/A

TRACKING/PROCESS

DIRECTOR:

Chief Executive/
Strategic Leadership
Team

Executive

Member/Chair

Ward Members

Partners

Scrutiny Committee

Committee Council

1.0 BACKGROUND

This is a monthly report to the Committee of the Planning Appeals lodged against
decisions of the authority and against Enforcement Notices served and those that
have been subsequently determined by the Planning Inspectorate.

Attached to the report are the Inspectors Decisions and a verbal report will be
presented to the Committee on the implications of the decisions on the Appeals that

were upheld.

2.0 CONCLUSION

That the item be noted.

List of Background Papers:-

Contact Details:-

David Marno, Head of Development Management
Planning Services, Department for Resources and Regulation,

3 Knowsley Place ,Bury
Tel: 0161 253 5291

BLO OEJ

Email: d.marno@bury.gov.uk

Page 234




Planning Appeals Decided B
between 10/11/2025 and 07/12/2025 CMNG-,DL E:

Application No.: 71446/FUL Appeal Decision: Dismissed
Decision level: DEL Date: 11/11/2025
Recommended Decision: Refuse

Applicant: Mr & Mrs J & C Brown

Appeal type: Written Representations

Location: Twine Valley Farm, Church Road, Shuttleworth, Ramsbottom, Bury, BLO OHH

Proposal: Installation of a slurry pond
Application No.: 71451/FUL Appeal Decision: Dismissed
Decision level: DEL Date: 11/11/2025

Recommended Decision: Refuse
Applicant: Mr & Mrs J & C Brown

Appeal type: Written Representations

Location: Sheep Hey Farm, Leaches Road, Shuttleworth, Ramsbottom, Bury, BLO OEC

Proposal: Installation of a slurry lagoon
Application No.: 72009/FUL Appeal Decision: Dismissed
Decision level: DEL Date: 04/12/2025

Recommended Decision: Refuse Appeal type: Written Representations

Applicant:  Mr & Mrs Husband

Location: 177 Bolton Street, Ramsbottom, Bury, BLO 91D

Proposal: Replacement of timber windows with UPVc
Application No.: 72100/FUL Appeal Decision: Dismissed
Decision level: DEL Date: 04/12/2025

Recommended Decision: Refuse

Applicant: The Hearth of the Lamb

Appeal type: Written Representations

Location: The White Rabbit, 13 Peel Brow, Ramsbottom, Bury, BLO 0AA

Proposal: Retention of timber outbuildings for use as outdoor bar/seating areas and pizza
bar

Page 235



Planning Inspectorate

Appeal Decision
Site visit made on 24 September 2025

by P Storey BA (Hons) DipTP MRTPI

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State

Decision date: 10 November 2025

Appeal Ref: APP/T4210/W/25/3368429
Twine Valley Farm, Church Road, Shuttleworth, Bury

e The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended)
against a refusal to grant planning permission.
e The appeal is made by Messrs J & C Brown against the decision of Bury Metropolitan Borough

Council.

The application Ref is 71446.
e The development proposed is slurry pond.

Decision

1.  The appeal is dismissed.

Preliminary Matters

2. While the pond has mainly been constructed, it is not yet in use for slurry storage.
During my site visit, | observed that the pond's location broadly aligned with the
details shown on the submitted plans. However, there were some noticeable
differences in its shape, with the constructed pond appearing more angular than
the oval form depicted in the plans. That said, as the development does not
appear to be formally completed, | have based my assessment on the submitted
plans, as these are the details upon which the Council made its decision.

Main Issues

3. The main issues are:

Whether the proposed development would be inappropriate development in
the Green Belt, and if it would be inappropriate, whether the harm by reason
of inappropriateness, and any other harm, is clearly outweighed by other
considerations amounting to the very special circumstances necessary to
justify the development.

The effect of the proposal on the character and appearance of the area,
including its landscape setting.

Whether it has been adequately demonstrated that the proposal would not
lead to unacceptable impacts on land stability and soil pollution.

Whether the effects of the proposed development on the living conditions of
nearby occupiers would be acceptable, with specific regard to the effects of
noise, smell, disturbance and general activity associated with the proposal.

The effect of vehicle movements associated with the proposal on highway
and pedestrian safety.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 236



Appeal Decision APP/T4210/W/25/3368429

Reasons

Whether inappropriate development in the Green Belt

4.

10.

The appeal site is in the Green Belt. Paragraph 154 of the National Planning Policy
Framework (the Framework) establishes that development in the Green Belt is
inappropriate unless it meets one of its stated exceptions. This includes, at
paragraph 154.a), buildings for agriculture and forestry. Another exception at
paragraph 154.h) ii. is engineering operations, but only where they preserve the
openness of the Green Belt and do not conflict with the purposes of including land
within it, as set out at paragraph 143 of the Framework (the ‘five purposes’).

There is disagreement between the parties on the classification of the
development. The appellant argues that the slurry pond should be considered a
building for agriculture under paragraph 154.a) of the Framework, and therefore
not inappropriate in the Green Belt. They cite case law and appeal decisions to
support the view that the pond, due to its permanence, physical attachment, and
scale, meets the definition of a building. The Council initially assessed the
proposal under paragraph 154.a) but later clarified that the development could fall
under paragraph 154.h) ii.

The proposed development is for agricultural purposes. However, whilst the
Framework deems buildings for agriculture not to be inappropriate in the Green
Belt, it does not give the same fundamental exception to engineering operations,
given the requirement to preserve openness and ensure no conflict with the five
purposes.

Whilst there is a plausible argument for the fencing associated with the pond to be
considered as a building for the purposes of the Framework, | am less convinced
by the arguments that the slurry pond itself should be assessed in this way. It
involves significant earthworks and structural intervention into the land, and does
not exhibit the characteristics typically associated with buildings such as above-
ground enclosure or the creation of internal space.

Having considered the form, function, and method of construction, and having
regard to the relevant case law, | conclude that the excavation and lining of the
slurry pond is more accurately described as an engineering operation. | shall
therefore determine the appeal on this basis.

In this specific case, assessment of the proposal is made more complex on the
basis that some development has already taken place. Whilst Section 73A of the
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 allows for retrospective consideration, the
impact on openness is a critical factor. As such, a full assessment requires a clear
understanding of the site’s condition prior to development.

The appellant has provided samples from a 2016 topographical survey to illustrate
the pre-existing conditions. However, the information provided lacks sufficient
detalil to support a definitive ‘before-and-after comparison. Comments from
interested parties indicate that the development involved significant remodelling of
the landform, resulting in changes to the natural topography. Although the
appellant disputes this, in the absence of detailed evidence quantifying the scale
and impact of the development, particularly in terms of volume and visual impact, |
cannot conclude that the development would preserve the openness of the Green
Belt in either spatial or visual terms.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 2

Page 237



Appeal Decision APP/T4210/W/25/3368429

11.

12.

13.

14.

One of the five purposes of the Green Belt, as set out in paragraph 143.c) of the
Framework, is to safeguard the countryside from encroachment. Despite the
surrounding agricultural context, the form, scale, and visual presence of the slurry
pond result in a clear encroachment into the countryside. This is reinforced by the
uncertainty surrounding its impact on openness. Accordingly, the development
conflicts with one of the five purposes.

The appellant also introduces the argument that the appeal site constitutes “grey
belt” land. If this were established, paragraph 155 of the Framework provides that
certain development may not be inappropriate, subject to certain criteria. Most
notably, paragraph 155.b. requires there to be a demonstrable unmet need for the
proposed development. In this case, the appellant has not provided substantive
evidence to show that the site qualifies as grey belt, nor that an unmet need exists.
While operational benefits have been cited, these are not supported by compelling
evidence sufficient to meet the Framework’s threshold. In the absence of such
evidence, even if the site were considered grey belt, the development would still
be regarded as inappropriate.

Given the failure to satisfy the policy tests for an exception, the development must
be regarded as inappropriate development in the Green Belt. Consequently, it fails
to accord with Policy JP-G9 of the Places for Everyone Joint Development Plan
Document for Bolton, Bury, Manchester, Oldham, Rochdale, Salford, Tameside,
Trafford and Wigan, 2022 to 2039, Adopted 21 March 2024 (the JDP), and the
relevant provisions of the Framework, which collectively seek to avoid
inappropriate development in the Green Belt.

Substantial weight must be given to the harm caused by reason of its
inappropriateness and any other resulting harm. Following my conclusion on the
other main issues, | shall consider whether there are any other considerations that
would amount to the very special circumstances necessary to justify the
development.

Character and appearance

15.

16.

17.

The appeal site lies within the Pennine Foothills landscape character area, as
identified in Policy JP-G1 of the JDP. The Council identifies the area as a
transitional upland fringe landscape, characterised by pasture fields, wooded
stream valleys, and a strong rural identity. These characteristics reflect my
observations at the site visit. The site is also visible from several public rights of
way, including footpaths and byways. These routes offer short, medium, and long-
range views of the site, reinforcing its prominence in the landscape.

The development is on elevated ground near to an existing agricultural building.
Although the pond itself is largely sub-surface, the overall development includes a
2-metre high deer fence and a UV-stabilised plastic floating cover, both of which
contribute to its visual presence. The inconsistency between the submitted plans
and the development as built further complicates the assessment of its true impact
on the landscape.

The appellant contends that the development would be seen in the context of
existing farm buildings and would not appear isolated or incongruous. They refer to
a previously approved silage building on the site, and argue that the slurry pond
would have a lesser impact. They also suggest that the fencing is typical of rural
settings and offer to condition the colour of the cover to reduce visual impact.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 3

Page 238



Appeal Decision APP/T4210/W/25/3368429

18.

19.

20.

However, the comparison with the silage building is not directly applicable. That
building was assessed under different circumstances and policy considerations,
including those relevant to agricultural buildings in the Green Belt. In contrast, the
slurry pond is open, elevated, and partially engineered into the landscape, with
limited integration into the existing built form. While conditions could potentially
mitigate some visual effects, the development would remain visually prominent in a
sensitive landscape.

Policy JP-G1 requires development to reflect and respond to the special qualities
and sensitivities of the landscape, including topography, views, and perceptual
qualities. The Council’'s Development Control Policy Guidance Note 8 — ‘New
Buildings and Associated Development in the Green Belt’ — Adopted 10th January
2007 (SPD8) similarly advises that agricultural development in the Green Belt
should be sited to minimise harm to views and integrate with landscape features.
In this case, the elevated siting, visibility from public vantage points, and lack of
detailed plans all weigh against the proposal.

Accordingly, based on the available evidence and the level of detail shown on the
submitted plans, | conclude that the development would fail to integrate acceptably
with its surroundings and would harm the character and appearance of the area,
including its sensitive landscape setting. It would therefore be contrary to Policies
OL4/5, OL1/2 and EN1/2 of the Bury Unitary Development Plan, Adopted Plan
1997 (the UDP), Policies JP-G9, JP-G1 and JP-P1 of the JDP, the guidance
contained in SPD8 and the relevant provisions of the Framework. Collectively,
these policies and guidance seek to ensure development is appropriately sited to
minimise visual impacts, that it respects the character and appearance of its
surroundings, and to reflect landscape character.

Land stability and soil pollution

21.

22.

23.

24.

Paragraph 197 of the Framework places responsibility on the developer to ensure
safe development where land stability is a concern. Paragraph 187.¢e) further
requires planning decisions to prevent development from contributing to, or being
adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of soil, air, water or noise pollution or
land instability.

The Council has raised concerns about apparent changes in land levels at the site.
The submitted plans are limited in scope and do not include a full topographical
survey or details of adjacent land. My own site visit corroborated discrepancies
between the submitted plans and the development as built, and there is no
substantive information regarding the source or nature of any imported materials.

The appellant disputes that significant earthworks have taken place and refers to
previous topographical surveys to support their position. They argue that the pond
has held water without signs of instability and that any spillage would occur on
their own land. They also point to the lack of objection from statutory consultees,
including the Environment Agency (EA) and the Council’'s Environmental Health
Officer (EHO), as evidence that the development is acceptable in principle.

However, these assertions are not supported by technical evidence. The appellant
has not provided a full topographical survey, soil analysis, or engineering
assessment to demonstrate that the land is stable and suitable for the
development. The retrospective nature of the appeal further undermines
confidence in the adequacy of the information provided. While the EA did not

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 4

Page 239



Appeal Decision APP/T4210/W/25/3368429

25.

26.

27.

object in principle, their comments were based on general guidance and did not
constitute a detailed assessment of the site-specific risks. Similarly, the EHO
acknowledged limited expertise in this area and relied on a professional survey
that did not address land stability in detail.

Multiple representations from interested parties refer to the build-up of land, the
risk of collapse or subsidence, and the proximity of the slurry pond to springs and
watercourses. These concerns are consistent with the types of risks identified in
paragraph 187.e) of the Framework and highlight the need for a thorough and
evidence-based assessment. In the absence of such evidence, the appellant’s
reliance on general assurances and the absence of formal objections is not
sufficient to demonstrate compliance with national policy.

Although reference has been made to the General Permitted Development Order
(GPDO), this is not directly relevant to the appeal, which concerns a full planning
application rather than a lawful development certificate. The terms of the GPDO do
not remove the requirement to demonstrate that the development is safe and does
not pose risks to the environment.

In conclusion, insufficient evidence has been provided to demonstrate that the
proposal would not lead to unacceptable impacts on land stability or soil pollution.
The concerns raised by the Council and interested parties are reasonable and
have not been adequately addressed. The proposal therefore conflicts with the
provisions of paragraphs 197 and 187.e) of the Framework.

Living conditions

28.

29.

30.

31.

The slurry pond is approximately 25 metres from the closest residential properties.
Interested parties have raised extensive concerns about the potential for odour,
noise, and disturbance arising from the use of the pond. These include fears of
harmful emissions, increased fly activity, and mental health impacts. Residents
also highlight the exposed and elevated nature of the site, the absence of
intervening structures, and variable wind conditions.

The appeal is supported by a qualitative Odour Assessment (the OA) by Royal
Haskoning DHV. The OA concludes that, with the installation of a UV-stabilised
plastic floating cover, the odour impact at nearby receptors would be “not
significant.” It cites DEFRA and EU guidance indicating that such covers can
reduce ammonia emissions by up to 95%. The appellant also argues that the pond
would reduce the frequency of slurry spreading, thereby lowering vehicle
movements and associated noise. They also contend that the proposal would
reduce odour impacts compared to current practices.

While the OA is professionally prepared and carries some weight, it has notable
limitations. It does not assess cumulative impacts from the slurry pond and nearby
cattle housing, nor does it address the potential for odour release during agitation,
pumping, or maintenance. These activities would require the cover to be removed
at precisely the times when odour emissions are likely to be greatest. Additionally,
the report’'s assumptions about prevailing wind directions have been contested by
local residents who maintained odour diaries over extended periods.

The appellant places some reliance on the absence of formal objections from the
EHO and EA. However, the EHO explicitly stated that they had limited expertise in
this area and deferred to the findings of the OA. The EA comments were general

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 5

Page 240



Appeal Decision APP/T4210/W/25/3368429

32.

33.

34.

35.

in nature and did not constitute a detailed assessment of impacts on nearby
occupiers. Given the proximity of sensitive receptors, and the lack of detailed
operational information and mitigation measures, this is a significant omission.

The site lies within an established agricultural setting, and it is reasonable to
expect a degree of background odour and activity associated with farming
operations. The appellant argues that the proposed slurry pond would reduce the
frequency of slurry spreading, thereby lowering vehicle movements and associated
disturbance. They also point to the presence of other agricultural buildings on the
site and the general rural context, suggesting that nearby residents should expect
some level of odour and activity as part of living adjacent to a working farm.

However, the specific siting of the slurry pond and proximity to sensitive receptors
raises legitimate concerns. The OA does not adequately address the potential for
emissions during key operational phases, and its reliance on assumptions
regarding wind direction and lagoon contents limits its evidential weight. On this
basis, | find the supporting details insufficient to demonstrate that the development
would not result in unacceptable harm.

In contrast, the impacts in terms of noise, disturbance and general activity are less
clearly harmful. Based on the available details, and having regard to the comments
of interested parties and the site’s baseline position as a working farm, there is
limited compelling evidence to suggest that these effects would be unacceptable.

Nevertheless, for the reasons given in relation to odour, | conclude that the
proposal fails to demonstrate that it would not result in unacceptable harm to the
living conditions of nearby occupiers. The concerns raised by residents are
credible and consistent with the types of impacts that the relevant development
plan policies seek to prevent. The proposal would therefore conflict with Policy
EN7/2 of the UDP, and Policies JP-S5, and JP-P1 of the JDP.

Highway and pedestrian safety

36.

37.

38.

JDP Policies JP-C5, JP-C6, JP-C8, and UDP Policies RT3/3 and RT3/4 seek to
ensure that development supports safe, inclusive, and well-connected transport
networks, and protects the integrity of public rights of way.

The Council and interested parties have expressed concerns about a potential
increase in vehicle movements, particularly the use of tankers to transport slurry to
and from the site. They argue that the narrow and heavily parked nature of Bye
Road, combined with pedestrian use of access routes, could result in safety risks
and disruption. However, no transport assessment or quantified data on vehicle
movements was submitted with the application. The Council’s and interested
parties’ concerns are therefore based primarily on the absence of information
rather than demonstrable evidence of harm.

The appellant contends that the slurry pond would reduce vehicle movements
overall, as slurry could be stored and spread less frequently, rather than being
transported daily. They argue that this would improve operational efficiency and
reduce disturbance. Although no detailed transport data was provided, this
argument is plausible and consistent with the intended function of the pond. There
is no compelling evidence to suggest that the proposal would generate a
significant increase in traffic or result in congestion or conflict on the local road
network.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 6

Page 241



Appeal Decision APP/T4210/W/25/3368429

39.

40.

Paragraph 116 of the Framework states that development should only be refused
on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety,
or if the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe. Based
on the available evidence and my own observations, | consider it unlikely that the
proposal would generate additional vehicle movements or activity of a scale
sufficient to breach this threshold. While the concerns of the Council and
interested parties are legitimate, they are not supported by substantive evidence
demonstrating that the impacts would be unacceptable or severe.

| therefore conclude that the proposal would not conflict with the aims of the
relevant development plan policies listed above or the provisions of the
Framework. Although there is a notable absence of detailed transport information,
the available evidence does not persuade me that the development would result in
harm on highway or pedestrian safety grounds.

Other considerations

41.

42.

43.

44,

45.

46.

The appellant has advanced a number of considerations in support of the
proposal. These include the operational benefits of slurry storage for the efficient
running of the farm, the environmental advantages of reducing reliance on
chemically produced fertiliser, and the potential reduction in vehicle movements
associated with slurry spreading. The appellant also points to the absence of
objections from statutory consultees such as the EA and the EHO, and expresses
a willingness to accept planning conditions to address matters of detail.

These considerations are acknowledged and carry some weight. The operational
need for slurry storage is a legitimate aspect of agricultural practice, and the
potential environmental benefits of improved nutrient management are consistent
with broader sustainability objectives. However, these benefits must be weighed
against the harm identified in relation to the main issues.

As set out above, the proposal constitutes inappropriate development in the Green
Belt. It has not been demonstrated that the development would preserve the
openness of the Green Belt or avoid conflict with its purposes. This harm carries
substantial weight in accordance with national policy. In addition, the proposal fails
to demonstrate that it would not result in harm to the character and appearance of
the area or to the living conditions of nearby occupiers, or that it would not lead to
unacceptable impacts on land stability and soil pollution. These harms also attract
significant weight.

While no harm has been identified in relation to highway and pedestrian safety,
this is a neutral factor in the planning balance and does not weigh in favour of the
proposal.

Paragraph 153 of the Framework confirms that inappropriate development in the
Green Belt should not be approved except in very special circumstances. Such
circumstances will not exist unless the harm to the Green Belt, and any other
harm, is clearly outweighed by other considerations.

In this case, the other considerations put forward by the appellant, while
acknowledged, do not clearly outweigh the cumulative harm identified. The level of
harm to the Green Belt, in particular, is substantial and determinative. Accordingly,
the other considerations advanced do not amount to the very special
circumstances necessary to justify the development.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 7

Page 242



Appeal Decision APP/T4210/W/25/3368429

Conclusion

47. For the reasons given above, | conclude that the appeal should be dismissed.

® Storey
INSPECTOR

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 8

Page 243



Planning Inspectorate

Appeal Decision
Site visit made on 24 September 2025
by P Storey BA (Hons) DipTP MRTPI

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State
Decision date: 10 November 2025

Appeal Ref: APP/T4210/W/25/3369572
Sheep Hey Farm, Whalley Road, Shuttleworth, Bury BL0O 0EC

The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended)
against a refusal to grant planning permission.

e The appeal is made by Messrs J & C Brown against the decision of Bury Metropolitan Borough
Council.

The application Ref is 71451.
e The development proposed is slurry lagoon.

Decision

1.  The appeal is dismissed.
Main Issues

2.  The main issues are:

o Whether the proposal would be inappropriate development in the Green
Belt, and if it would be inappropriate, whether the harm by reason of
inappropriateness, and any other harm, is clearly outweighed by other
considerations amounting to the very special circumstances necessary to
justify the development.

) The effect of the proposal on the character and appearance of the area,
including its landscape setting.

o Whether the effects of the proposed development on the living conditions of
nearby occupiers would be acceptable, with specific regard to the effects of
odour.

o The effect of vehicle movements associated with the proposal on highway

and pedestrian safety.
Reasons
Whether inappropriate development in the Green Belt

3. The appeal site is in the Green Belt. Paragraph 154 of the National Planning Policy
Framework (the Framework) establishes that development in the Green Belt is
inappropriate unless it meets one of its stated exceptions. This includes, at
paragraph 154.a), buildings for agriculture and forestry. Another exception at
paragraph 154.h) ii. is engineering operations, but only where they preserve the
openness of the Green Belt and do not conflict with the purposes of including land
within it, as set out at paragraph 143 of the Framework (the ‘five purposes’).

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 244



Appeal Decision APP/T4210/W/25/3369572

4.

10.

11.

There is disagreement between the parties on the classification of the
development. The appellant argues that the slurry lagoon should be considered a
building for agriculture under paragraph 154.a) of the Framework, and therefore
not inappropriate in the Green Belt. They cite case law and appeal decisions to
support the view that the lagoon, due to its permanence, physical attachment, and
scale, meets the definition of a building. The Council initially assessed the
proposal under paragraph 154.a) but later clarified that the development could fall
under paragraph 154.h) ii.

The proposed development is for agricultural purposes. However, whilst the
Framework deems buildings for agriculture not to be inappropriate in the Green
Belt, it does not give the same fundamental exception to engineering operations,
given the requirement to preserve openness and ensure no conflict with the five
purposes.

Whilst there is a plausible argument for the fencing associated with the lagoon to
be considered as a building for the purposes of the Framework, | am less
convinced by the arguments that the slurry lagoon itself should be assessed in this
way. It involves significant earthworks and structural intervention into the land, and
does not exhibit the characteristics typically associated with buildings such as
above-ground enclosure or the creation of internal space.

Having considered the form, function, and method of construction, and having

regard to the relevant case law, | conclude that the excavation and lining of the
slurry lagoon is more accurately described as an engineering operation. | shall
therefore determine the appeal as such.

On this basis, the development must preserve the openness of the Green Belt and
avoid conflict with its purposes. The appellant argues that the lagoon would not
harm openness, as it would largely be below ground level and visually unobtrusive.
They suggest that the fencing is minor in scale and would be mitigated by planting.
However, the submitted plans lack sufficient detail to fully assess the visual and
spatial impact of the development. The location plan, topographical survey, and
cross-sections do not adequately show the lagoon’s relationship to surrounding
landform, field boundaries, or nearby buildings. There is also insufficient
information about the proposed cover, its appearance, and how it would interact
with the landscape.

Given this lack of clarity, | am not persuaded that the proposal would preserve the
openness of the Green Belt. The lagoon would be a sizeable feature, and the
fencing and cover may introduce additional visual and spatial impacts that cannot
be fully assessed based on the submitted details. In the absence of sufficient
evidence, | cannot conclude that the proposal would preserve the openness of the
Green Belt in either spatial or visual terms.

One of the five purposes of the Green Belt, as set out in paragraph 143.c) of the
Framework, is to safeguard the countryside from encroachment. Despite the
surrounding agricultural context, the form, scale, and visual presence of the slurry
lagoon would result in a clear encroachment into the countryside. This is
reinforced by the inability to conclude that it would preserve the Green Belt's
openness. Accordingly, the proposal conflicts with one of the five purposes.

The appellant also introduces the argument that the appeal site constitutes “grey
belt” land. If this were established, paragraph 155 of the Framework provides that

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 2

Page 245



Appeal Decision APP/T4210/W/25/3369572

12.

13.

certain development may not be inappropriate, subject to certain criteria. Most
notably, paragraph 155.b. requires there to be a demonstrable unmet need for the
proposed development. In this case, the appellant has not provided substantive
evidence to show that the site qualifies as grey belt, nor that an unmet need exists.
While operational benefits have been cited, these are not supported by compelling
evidence sufficient to meet the Framework’s threshold. In the absence of such
evidence, even if the site were considered grey belt, the development would still
be regarded as inappropriate.

Given the failure to satisfy the policy tests for an exception, the development must
be regarded as inappropriate development in the Green Belt. Consequently, it
conflicts with Policy JP-G9 of the Places for Everyone Joint Development Plan
Document for Bolton, Bury, Manchester, Oldham, Rochdale, Salford, Tameside,
Trafford and Wigan, 2022 to 2039, Adopted 21 March 2024 (the JDP), and the
relevant provisions of the Framework, which collectively seek to avoid
inappropriate development in the Green Belt.

Substantial weight must be given to the harm caused by reason of its
inappropriateness and any other resulting harm. Following my conclusion on the
other main issues, | shall consider whether there are any other considerations that
would amount to the very special circumstances necessary to justify the
development.

Character and appearance

14.

15.

16.

17.

The appeal site forms part of an open and largely undeveloped agricultural
landscape. It is located on sloping ground near a mature tree, and the surrounding
topography allows for views across the River Irwell valley from commercial and
industrial land to the west, and from residential properties to the southwest. The
site lies within a designated Landscape Character Area and the Green Belt,
placing it within a sensitive landscape context.

The appellant argues that the proposed slurry lagoon would not have an adverse
impact on the character and appearance of the area. They point out that the
lagoon would be set below ground level, with 45-degree slopes and surrounded by
2-metre-high deer fencing and tree planting. It is asserted that the fencing would
be visually unobtrusive and typical of rural areas, and that the planting would help
screen the development. The appellant also describes the lagoon as modest in
scale, and offers to accept conditions regarding the colour of the cover and the
details of boundary treatment.

However, as previously noted, the submitted plans and supporting information lack
sufficient detail to enable a robust assessment of the proposal’s visual impact. The
development would be of significant scale and, based on its siting and my
observations, would be prominently visible in the surrounding landscape. The
topographical survey and cross-sections do not clearly illustrate how the lagoon
would sit within the landform or how visible it would be from nearby viewpoints.
The proposed plastic cover is not adequately described or illustrated, and the
plans lack contextual information, such as surrounding field boundaries, adjacent
buildings, and the wider landscape setting.

In a sensitive landscape context, this lack of clarity is significant. Without sufficient
detail, the effects of the development on the character and appearance of the area
cannot be confidently assessed.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 3

Page 246



Appeal Decision APP/T4210/W/25/3369572

18.

| therefore conclude that the submitted details fail to adequately evidence that the
proposed development would have an acceptable effect on the character and
appearance of the area. As such, the proposal would conflict with Policies OL4/5,
OL1/2 and EN1/2 of the Bury Unitary Development Plan, Adopted Plan 1997 (the
UDP), and Policies JP-G9, JP-G1 and JP-P1 of the JDP. Collectively, these
policies seek to ensure development is appropriately sited to minimise visual
impacts, that it respects the character and appearance of its surroundings, and to
reflect landscape character.

Living conditions

19.

20.

21.

22.

23.

The site is located approximately 250 metres from the nearest sensitive receptors,
which include residential properties and a campsite. Several interested parties
have raised concerns about the potential for odour nuisance, citing previous
experiences of strong and persistent smells from slurry spreading in the area.
These concerns include health-related complaints such as headaches and
respiratory irritation, as well as impacts on local businesses and the enjoyment of
outdoor spaces.

The appellant submitted an odour assessment (the OA) prepared by Royal
Haskoning DHV. The OA concludes that, with the proposed mitigation of an
impermeable UV-stabilised plastic floating cover, the potential for odour effects at
all nearby receptors is “not significant.” The appellant also highlights that the
Council’'s Environmental Health Officer (EHO) did not object to the proposal and
deferred to the findings of the report. Additionally, the Environment Agency (EA)
has not raised any objection, and the proposed cover is said to comply with
DEFRA and EU guidance.

However, the OA is qualitative in nature and has some limitations. It does not
address the frequency or nature of maintenance activities, such as opening the
cover, which are likely to present the greatest risk of odour release. Furthermore,
the contents of the slurry are not clearly defined, raising questions about the
reliability of the assessment and its applicability to the specific circumstances of
the site.

The comments of interested parties further reinforce these concerns. While some
interested parties have raised broader concerns about site management and
historical practices, these are not substantiated and do not form part of the
evidence before me. Nevertheless, in this case, the presence of nearby receptors,
whose use and sensitivity are clearly evidenced, reinforces the need for a robust
and detailed understanding of the potential impacts of odour arising from the
proposed development. As such, although the OA carries some weight, its
limitations and the absence of robust, site-specific evidence mean that it cannot be
relied upon to demonstrate that the development would not result in unacceptable
impacts on living conditions.

It is acknowledged that the site lies within an active agricultural setting, where
some odour and activity are to be expected. This is reflected in the supporting
comments from some interested parties. However, the proposed lagoon is a
substantial facility for concentrated slurry storage, which introduces a materially
different potential for odour impacts compared to routine agricultural spreading.
Given the proximity of sensitive receptors, the effects of such a facility must be
assessed with particular rigour. While it is possible that further information and

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 4

Page 247



Appeal Decision APP/T4210/W/25/3369572

24,

controls could make the proposal acceptable, the decision must be based on the
evidence currently before me, which do not enable me to reach such a finding with
confidence.

On this basis, | conclude that the proposal fails to demonstrate that it would
safeguard the living conditions of nearby occupiers, and it would therefore conflict
with Policies JP-S5 and JP-S1 of the JDP, and Policies OL4/5 and EN1/2 of the
UDP, which collectively seek to ensure a high standard of amenity and protect
sensitive receptors from pollution.

Highway and pedestrian safety

25.

26.

27.

28.

29.

30.

JDP Policies JP-C5, JP-C6 and JP-C8, and UDP Policies RT3/3 and RT3/4 seek
to ensure that development supports safe, inclusive, and well-connected transport
networks, and protects the integrity of public rights of way.

The proposed slurry lagoon would be accessed via a combination of adopted
highways, private tracks, and public rights of way (PROW). The Council raises
concerns that insufficient information has been provided to assess the impact of
additional vehicle movements on these routes, particularly in relation to pedestrian
safety and the structural integrity of a “weak bridge” on the approach. It notes that
the submitted Construction Traffic Management Plan lacks detail on the frequency,
timing, and routing of slurry transport, and that no formal comments were received
from the Local Highway Authority or the PROW Officer.

Several interested parties also raise concerns about increased traffic, potential
conflict with pedestrians and recreational users, and the condition of the access
routes. These concerns are relevant given the mixed-use nature of the access and
the presence of walkers, cyclists, and local residents.

However, the site’s context as a working farm is an important consideration.
Although the submitted information contains limited detail on current and projected
vehicle movements, the appellant’s assertion that slurry must currently be spread
frequently due to the absence of on-site storage, resulting in regular tanker trips, is
plausible. There is no substantive evidence to suggest that the proposal would
lead to a significant increase in traffic. On the contrary, based on the nature of the
development and the operational changes it would enable, there is a reasonable
prospect that vehicle movements could decrease.

Paragraph 116 of the Framework sets a high threshold for refusal on highways
grounds. It states that development should only be refused if there would be an
unacceptable impact on highway safety, or if the residual cumulative impacts on
the road network would be severe, taking into account all reasonable future
scenarios. In this case, | am presented with no substantive evidence to
demonstrate that the proposal would result in either an unacceptable safety risk or
severe cumulative impacts. The concerns raised, while relevant, do not breach the
Framework’s threshold of demonstrable harm.

Although it would have been beneficial for the appellant to provide more
comprehensive transport information, the available evidence does not indicate that
the proposal would result in highway impacts that meet the threshold for refusal
under paragraph 116 of the Framework. The site is already in agricultural use, and
the proposed lagoon would not fundamentally alter the nature or intensity of
access.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 5

Page 248



Appeal Decision APP/T4210/W/25/3369572

31.

In conclusion, the proposal would not conflict with the aims of the relevant
development plan policies listed above or the provisions of the Framework.
Although there is a notable absence of detailed transport information, the available
evidence does not persuade me that the development would result in harm on
highway or pedestrian safety grounds.

Other considerations

32.

33.

34.

35.

36.

The appellant has advanced a number of considerations in support of the
proposal. These include the operational benefits of slurry storage for the efficient
running of the farm, the environmental advantages of reducing reliance on
chemically produced fertiliser, and the potential reduction in vehicle movements
associated with slurry spreading. The appellant also points to the absence of
objections from statutory consultees such as the EA and EHO, and expresses a
willingness to accept planning conditions to address matters of detail.

These considerations are acknowledged and carry some weight. The operational
need for slurry storage is a legitimate aspect of agricultural practice, and the
potential environmental benefits of improved nutrient management are consistent
with broader sustainability objectives. However, these benefits must be weighed
against the harm identified in relation to the main issues.

As set out above, the proposal constitutes inappropriate development in the Green
Belt. It has not been demonstrated that the development would preserve the
openness of the Green Belt or avoid conflict with its purposes. This harm carries
substantial weight in accordance with national policy. In addition, the proposal fails
to demonstrate that it would not result in harm to the character and appearance of
the area, or to the living conditions of nearby occupiers, particularly in relation to
odour. These harms also attract significant weight.

While no harm has been identified in relation to highway and pedestrian safety,
this is a neutral factor in the planning balance and does not weigh in favour of the
proposal.

Paragraph 153 of the Framework confirms that inappropriate development in the
Green Belt should not be approved except in very special circumstances. Such
circumstances will not exist unless the harm to the Green Belt, and any other
harm, is clearly outweighed by other considerations.

37. In this case, the other considerations put forward by the appellant, while
acknowledged, do not clearly outweigh the cumulative harm identified. The level of
harm to the Green Belt, in particular, is substantial and determinative. Accordingly,
the other considerations advanced do not amount to the very special
circumstances necessary to justify the development.

Conclusion

38. For the reasons given above, | conclude that the appeal should be dismissed.

® Storey

INSPECTOR

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 6

Page 249



Planning Inspectorate

Appeal Decision
Site visit made on 28 November 2025

by K Mansell BA (Hons) MPhil TP MRTPI

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State
Decision date:05 December 2025

Appeal Ref: APP/T4210/D/25/3374183
Hope House, 177 Bolton Street, Ramsbottom BL0 9JD

The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended)
against a refusal to grant planning permission.

The appeal is made by Mr and Mrs Husband against the decision of Bury Metropolitan Borough
Council.

The application Ref is 72009.

The development proposed is proposed replacement windows.

Decision

1.

The appeal is dismissed.

Main Issue

2.

The main issue is the effect of the proposal on the character or appearance of the
Ramsbottom Conservation Area (RCA).

Reasons

3.

The appeal property at Hope House is a substantial detached three-storey
Victorian-era residential villa. Its principal elevation fronting Bolton Street features a
front gable detailed with ornate timber barge boards and double-height bay
windows, which flank a decorative entrance porch. The property is constructed in
stone with a slate roof and timber windows throughout. These mainly comprise
traditional sliding sash windows with the exception of 3 casement windows to the
rear. The surrounding area is primarily residential in character. Whilst the
architectural style of dwellings within the wider area is somewhat varied, many
properties immediately surrounding Hope House are of a similar period. The appeal
scheme would replace all the existing timber windows in Hope House with double
glazed uPVC units. These would be heritage type ‘legacy’ frames.

Hope House lies within the RCA where s72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires that special attention be paid to the
desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that area.
The boundary of the RCA as a whole extends to a reasonably large area,
incorporating Ramsbottom Town Centre to the west of the appeal property and
surrounding streets and spaces. From the information before me and my
observations on site, it is the concentration of 19th-century buildings and the
traditional architectural vernacular, including the use of natural materials such as
stone, slate and timber, as well as decorative elements to elevations and the form
and detail of fenestration treatment, that contribute positively to the character and
appearance of the RCA as a whole, and thus its special interest and significance.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 250



Appeal Decision APP/T4210/D/25/3374183

5.

| acknowledge that the proposed replacement uPVC sash units would reflect the
sash format and glazing styles of the existing windows. The appeal scheme would
similarly provide casement replacements to the three rear openings. The heritage-
style profiles would also offer a reasonably slimline appearance, and the inclusion
of run-through horns where present on the existing sash windows would imitate an
existing detail. However, whilst the building is not listed nor within the setting of any
listed buildings, the use of uPVC would not fully replicate the appearance of timber
framed windows. Even with a white grained finish, compared to wood, uPVC
typically has a more uniform appearance. It would also introduce contemporary
materials into what is presently a largely intact historic property in terms of window
form and detailing. The appeal scheme would consequently appear as a modern
insertion and it would be sufficiently noticeable from the public realm to constitute
harm to the character and appearance of the building and, therefore, to the RCA.

Furthermore, the appeal scheme would remove part of the traditional fabric of the
building and consequently, it would not represent a truly like for like replacement. |
also have no substantive evidence before me, in terms of large-scale plans or
sections of the existing windows to confirm that the replacement windows would
entirely replicate the frame depth and proportions of the current fenestration. The
introduction of uPVC windows would consequently detrimentally alter the
appearance of Brook House and fail to make a positive contribution to the RCA.

The appellant has referred to similar heritage-style uPVC sash windows being
permitted within other CAs across the UK, including Bath, York, Oxford and Greater
Manchester, as well as a specific planning appeal decision in Bedford' where the
Inspector observed that conservation-style uPVC sash windows in that case would,
from normal viewing distances, be difficult to distinguish from traditional timber sash
windows. However, | have not been provided with the appeal decision in full, nor to
any specific examples elsewhere, so | cannot be certain as to the detailed
considerations that applied in those cases. | attach limited weight to them as a
result. In any event, | am required to reach conclusions based on the individual
circumstances and merits of this appeal and its impact on the immediate locality,
which cannot be directly comparable.

The appellant has also drawn my attention to the presence of uPVC windows in a
number of nearby properties, and | observed several of these during my site visit.
Nonetheless, | have not been provided with any details of the planning permissions
or circumstances relating to those installations. | therefore cannot be certain what
they replaced or what considerations applied in those cases. | also saw that some
of these modern interventions confirmed that such alterations are detrimental to the
character and appearance of the CA. My assessment must also relate solely to the
proposal before me.

For these reasons, | consider that the proposal would fail to preserve or enhance
the character or appearance of the RCA. Given its modest scale, in terms of the
National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework), the harm to the significance
of the RCA as a whole would be less than substantial. However, having regard to
Paragraph 215 of the Framework, such harm should then be weighed against the
public benefits of the appeal scheme, including, where appropriate, securing its
optimal viable use.

! APP/K0235/D/23/3318897

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 2

Page 251



Appeal Decision APP/T4210/D/25/3374183

10. I am mindful of the appellant’s assertion that the existing windows pose safety
concerns and uPVC windows would be more thermally efficient than timber, reduce
condensation and support the building’s longevity. However, | have no substantive
evidence before me to demonstrate that the existing windows are unsafe, nor that
uPVC fenestration would noticeably outperform well installed and maintained
timber windows that would also secure the building’s future. | also have nothing
before me to demonstrate that timber windows would not satisfy building regulation
requirements. | attribute very limited weight to these potential benefits as a result.

11. On my site visit | did observe the condition of some of the existing windows,
including peeling paintwork, but again, | have no substantive evidence that they are
all beyond repair. Whilst uPVC may offer a lower maintenance solution in
comparison to wood, this would be a private benefit rather than a public one. | am
also mindful that paragraphs 212 and 213 of the Framework advise that great
weight should be given to the conservation of a designated heritage asset and any
harm to its significance should require clear and convincing justification. When
taken together, the very limited public benefits that | have identified would not
amount to that and consequently, they would not outweigh the less than substantial
harm to the significance of the RCA that | have identified.

12. | therefore conclude that the proposal would have a harmful impact on the
character and appearance of the RCA, which, it follows, would not be preserved or
enhanced. Accordingly, it would be contrary to policies EN2/1 and EN2/2 of the
Bury Unitary Development Plan (1997). These policies require, amongst other
matters, that development proposals preserve or enhance the character and
significance of conservation areas, including through consideration of design and
materials.

Conclusion

13. The appeal proposal would conflict with the development plan as a whole, and
there are no material considerations that would indicate a decision otherwise would
be appropriate. For the reasons given above, | therefore conclude that the appeal
should be dismissed.

K, Mansell
INSPECTOR

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 3

Page 252



Planning Inspectorate

Appeal Decision
Site visit made on 27 November 2025
by J Smith MRTPI

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State

Decision date: 5 December 2025

Appeal Ref: APP/T4210/W/25/3374284

El Carnero, 13 Peel Brow, Ramsbottom, Bury BL0O 0AA

e The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended)
against a refusal to grant planning permission.

e The appeal is made by Mr M Oliver against the decision of Bury Metropolitan Borough Council.
The application Ref is 72100.
The development proposed is retention of timber outbuildings for use as outdoor bar/seating areas
and pizza bar.

Decision
1.  The appeal is dismissed.
Preliminary Matters

2.  The application form, decision notice and appeal form all utilise different property
names. During my site visit, it was noted that signs had been erected at the
premises which match those used on the appeal form. | have therefore utilised the
address given on the appeal form.

3. The evidence before me indicates that the appeal is retrospective. This was
confirmed during my site visit, and the development appears to conform with the
plans before me. | have assessed the appeal on this basis.

4. The appeal site lies within the Ramsbottom Conservation Area. Section 72(1) of
the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires special
attention to be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or
appearance of that area. | have had due regard to this duty within my decision.

Main Issues
5. The main issues are:

¢ whether the proposed development would preserve or enhance the character
or appearance of the Ramsbottom Conservation Area and the wider area; and,

e the effect of the development on highway safety.
Reasons
Conservation area

6. The site lies within the Ramsbottom Conservation Area (CA). The CA is situated
on the lower slopes of the Irwell Valley where historically, the rivers and streams of
the surrounding West Pennines provided water for textile processes. Its
significance is derived from a dense and compacted urban form, typically

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 253



Appeal Decision APP/T4210/W/25/3374284

10.

11.

constructed from stone, which centres around the market area of the town against
this natural backdrop of in an otherwise industrial context.

The appeal site is host to a semi-detached building which has been extended at
single storey level to the side with a glazed addition which is visible from Peel
Brow. Nevertheless, the predominant use of stone and overall traditional
appearance of the host building within the CA provides a positive contribution to it.
This is due to its overall visual similarity with the other buildings on the lower
slopes of the Irwell Valley within Ramsbottom.

The development subject to this appeal comprises a substantial, dark, flat-roofed
timber structure positioned parallel to the rear boundary of the site. A smaller, yet
similar structure accommodates a pizza oven and kitchen area. Taken together,
their combined scale in terms of length, height, and width, alongside the low
boundary wall at the front of the site, results in a pronounced level of visibility from
Peel Brow and the wider CA. The dark finish of the structures does little to mitigate
their prominence within this open and exposed setting.

The materials used in the construction of the development stand in stark contrast
to the light-coloured stone characteristic of the Irwell Valley. This discordance is
further accentuated by the application of a dark finish across the full width of the
structure. In addition, the flat-roofed design fails to integrate or harmonise with the
host stone building on the appeal site, or with the prevailing architectural character
of the CA, where pitched slate roofs are typical. Consequently, the development
appears as an incongruous intervention, markedly at odds with the established
materials and built forms of the CA and its wider setting. It therefore fails to
preserve, or enhance, the character or appearance of both the CA and the
surrounding area.

It is contended that a condition could be utilised to stipulate the colour and the
materials used on the development. However, whilst these matters would address
some areas of concern, it would not overcome my concerns with regard to its
overall design.

The development is in conflict with Policies EN 1/2, EN 2/1, EN 2/2 and EC4/1 of
the Bury Unitary Development Plan 1997 and Policies JP — P1 and JP — P2 of The
Places for Everyone Joint Development Plan Document for Bolton, Bury,
Manchester, Oldham, Rochdale, Salford, Tameside, Trafford and Wigan 2024.
Collectively, these policies seek for development which would be of an appropriate
design and appearance which preserves or enhances conservation areas within
the borough. They note that regard will be had to the nature of the development in
terms of its bulk, height, materials, colour and design.

Highway safety

12.

The development is situated on land that previously formed part of the car park
adjacent to the main host building. According to the submitted plans, the appeal
site originally accommodated six marked parking bays prior to the construction of
the development now under consideration. These bays remain positioned behind
the boundary wall at the front of the site. In addition, although not formally
delineated, the plans indicate that space was available to the rear and along the
eastern boundary of the site. This area would have been used to facilitate a
vehicle manoeuvring from the front bays, whilst also providing an informal parking
area for additional vehicles.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 2

Page 254



Appeal Decision APP/T4210/W/25/3374284

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

The manoeuvring of vehicles into and out of the marked spaces located to the
front of the appeal site, adjacent to the single-storey side extension, is impeded by
the presence of the development and its associated paraphernalia. This difficulty
would be exacerbated in circumstances where all spaces are occupied, a scenario
that is likely given the limited parking provision within the site. Consequently, the
development diminishes the availability of space for both vehicle manoeuvring and
informal parking, thereby eroding the site’s overall parking capacity.

Furthermore, the Council refer to the guidance contained within Development
Control Policy Guidance Note 11: Parking Standards in Bury 2007 (SPD). The
SPD specifies the level of parking provision required for a restaurant in this
location. | acknowledge that an informal parking arrangement would remain along
the eastern boundary of the appeal site, and that this area could be formally
marked out through the imposition of a planning condition. This would supplement
the six marked spaces already provided to the front of the site. Nevertheless,
based on the evidence before me, | am not persuaded that the marking out of
these additional spaces would achieve the level of provision required by the SPD.

Taking into account both the limited number of spaces and the constrained
manoeuvrability of those located to the front of the site, it is foreseeable that
drivers would seek alternative parking opportunities on-street, directly outside the
appeal site. During busy periods, such on-street parking could result in an
accumulation of vehicles in close proximity to the junction of Kenyon Street with
Peel Brow, as well as the exit point of the car park.

For vehicles turning right from Kenyon Street towards Ramsbottom, visibility of
traffic approaching from the direction of Bury New Road would be restricted unless
drivers made a significant ingress onto Peel Brow. Similarly, for vehicles exiting
the car park, the likely proliferation of on-street parking along Peel Brow during
busy periods would further reduce visibility of traffic approaching from
Ramsbottom, again necessitating notable ingress onto the highway.

Therefore, when considered collectively, the limited number of spaces resulting
from the development would lead to the displacement of vehicles onto the highway
during busy periods. Such displacement would have an unacceptable impact on
highway safety. Moreover, the parking provision retained within the site would
remain constrained, with certain spaces offering compromised manoeuvrability for
vehicles entering or exiting them.

To conclude, the proposed development would conflict with Policies HT 2/4 of the
Bury Unitary Development Plan 1997 and JP-C8 of The Places for Everyone Joint
Development Plan Document for Bolton, Bury, Manchester, Oldham, Rochdale,
Salford, Tameside, Trafford and Wigan 2024. The development would also conflict
with the guidance found within the SPD. Collectively, these policies and guidance
seek for development to make adequate parking provision that is well integrated
and unobtrusive which is reflective of its demand.

Heritage Balance and Conclusion

19.

The harm to the CA as a result of the proposed development would be less than
substantial in the terms of the National Planning Policy Framework (the
Framework). Paragraph 215 of the Framework notes that where a development
proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 3

Page 255



Appeal Decision APP/T4210/W/25/3374284

20.

21.

22.

heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the
proposal.

It is acknowledged that the development provides additional seating to support a
new food offering. Furthermore, economic benefits and employment opportunities
would have arisen during its construction. The structure will also provide an
employment requirement. This attracts limited, yet positive weight to these public
benefits.

The Framework makes clear that great weight should be afforded to the
conservation of heritage assets. In this case, the identified public benefits, taken
together, do not outweigh the harm that would result to the character or
appearance of the CA. In the absence of any significant public benefit, | conclude
that, on balance, the proposal would fail to preserve or enhance the character or
appearance of the CA. Accordingly, the scheme conflicts with the approach to
heritage assets set out in Section 16 of the Framework. As such, the Framework
does not lend support to the proposal.

| consider that the proposal conflicts with the development plan taken as a whole.
Material considerations do not outweigh the conflict with the development plan. A
decision should therefore be taken in accordance with it. For the reasons given
above and taking into account all other matters raised, | conclude that the appeal
should be dismissed.

9 Smith
INSPECTOR

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 4

Page 256



	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on the 18th November 2025
	Minutes

	4 Planning Applications
	Item 01_compressed
	Item 02
	Item 03_compressed (1)
	Item 04
	Item 05
	64c4b06a-df58-4861-b28c-a213d6413500.pdf
	6a5bbebd-022e-421c-a82d-fa3bf7d8026b.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Prop Site





	5 Article 4 Direction proposal - Houses in Multiple Occupation
	HMO evidence base December 2025
	Contents
	1 Introduction
	2 Policy Context
	National policy and legislative context
	Exempt Accommodation (Properties that are not considered to be HMOs).

	Regional Context
	Local Policy Context
	HMO Licensing

	3 Evidence and Justification
	Locations and numbers of HMOs
	Licensed HMOs
	Council Tax Data
	Planning application and planning enforcement data
	HMO Locations

	Other data sources
	Census data
	HMOs provided and managed by Government Partnership
	Lettings data
	Housing Need and Demand

	Amenity, crime and anti-social behaviour
	Accommodation Standards
	Conclusion

	4 Process of Making an Article 4 Direction
	Immediate and non-immediate directions
	Non-Immediate Directions
	Immediate Article 4 Direction

	Boroughwide or area-specific Article 4 Directions
	Notice and representation procedures

	Appendix 1: Table of HMO planning applications (2015-2025)
	Appendix 2: HMO rooms to let
	Rooms to let on www.openrent.co.uk  (24/09/2025)
	Recent let agreed listed on www.openrent.co.uk (24/09/2025)
	Rooms to let on www.openrent.co.uk  (18/11/2025)



	6 Delegated Decisions
	7 Planning Appeals

